Cabinet

Date & time
Tuesday, 27
November 2018
at 2.00 pm

Place
Ashcombe Suite,
County Hall,
Kingston upon
Thames, Surrey KT1
2DN

Contact
Vicky Hibbert or Angela
Guest
Room 122, County Hall
Tel 020 8541 9229 or 020
8541 9075

Chief Executive
Joanna Killian

We’re on Twitter:
@SCCdemocracy

vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or
angela.guest@surreycc.gov.uk

Cabinet Members: Mr David Hodge CBE, Mr John Furey, Mrs Clare Curran, Mr Mel Few, Mr
Mike Goodman, Mr Colin Kemp, Mrs Mary Lewis, Ms Charlotte Morley, Mr Tim Oliver and Ms
Denise Turner-Stewart
Deputy Cabinet Members: Miss Alison Griffiths, Mr Jeff Harris and Mr Cameron McIntosh

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in
another format, eg large print or braille, or another language please
either call 020 8541 9122, write to Democratic Services, Room 122,
County Hall, Penrhyn Road, Kingston upon Thames, Surrey KT1 2DN,
Minicom 020 8541 9698, fax 020 8541 9009, or email
vicky.hibbert@surreycc.gov.uk or angela.guest@surreycc.gov.uk.
This meeting will be held in public. If you would like to attend and you
have any special requirements, please contact Vicky Hibbert or
Angela Guest on 020 8541 9229 or 020 8541 9075.
Note: This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet
site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being
filmed. The images and sound recording may be used for training purposes within the Council.
Generally the public seating areas are not filmed. However by entering the meeting room and
using the public seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the representative of Legal and
Democratic Services at the meeting.

1

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 30 OCTOBER 2018
The minutes will be available in the meeting room half an hour before the
start of the meeting.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or
as soon as possible thereafter
(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or
(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any
item(s) of business being considered at this meeting
NOTES:
 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item
where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest


As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of
which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or
civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a
spouse or civil partner)



Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the
discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be
reasonably regarded as prejudicial.

4

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

a

Members' Questions
(i)

b

The deadline for Member’s questions is 12pm four working days
before the meeting (21 November 2018).

Public Questions
The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting (20
November 2018).

c

Petitions
The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and no
petitions have been received.

d

Representations received on reports to be considered in private
To consider any representations received in relation why part of the
meeting relating to a report circulated in Part 2 of the agenda should be
open to the public.

2

5

REPORTS FROM SELECT COMMITTEES , TASK GROUPS, LOCAL
COMMITTEES AND OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL

(Pages 1
- 2)

There is one report from the Environment Select Committee with reference
to Item 9 on the agenda: Update To The Surrey Transport Plan: Strategies
And Associated Developer Guidance Regarding Emissions Reduction.

6

LEADER / DEPUTY LEADER / CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS/
INVESTMENT BOARD TAKEN SINCE THE LAST CABINET MEETING

(Pages 3
- 6)

To note any delegated decisions taken by the Leader, Deputy Leader,
Cabinet Members and Investment Board since the last meeting of the
Cabinet.

PEOPLE
7

APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF A
STOP SMOKING SERVICE

(Pages 7
- 40)

This Cabinet report seeks approval to award a contract to Thrive Tribe to
commence on 1 April 2019. The recommended contract delivers best
value for money and meets the needs of service users in Surrey.
N.B. There is a Part 2 Annex at Item 12
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Health, Integration &
Commissioning Select Committee]

PLACE
8

UPDATE TO THE SURREY TRANSPORT PLAN: STRATEGIES AND
ASSOCIATED DEVELOPER GUIDANCE REGARDING EMISSIONS
REDUCTION

(Pages
41 - 234)

This paper outlines the Council’s approach to reducing transport-related
air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions through the addition of two
new strategies to the Surrey Transport Plan: the Low Emissions Transport
Strategy and Electric Vehicle Strategy. Supplementary advice documents
on car clubs and travel planning for new developments which support
sustainable development are also presented to the Cabinet.
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Environment Select
Committee]

COUNCIL
9

REVISED FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
This report presents new Financial Regulations for Surrey County Council,
providing a framework within which officers and members can carry out
their responsibilities in an open and consistent manner.

3

(Pages
235 258)

The Financial Regulations have been designed to promote and maintain
the highest standards expected of the public sector in dealing with
resources, and fully reflect the Council’s current financial position and the
requirements of the Budget Accountability Statement (BAS).
The report also recommends that approval of the Council’s annual
Treasury Management Strategy Statement be delegated to the Audit and
Governance Committee, and the Constitution be amended accordingly.

10

MONTHLY BUDGET MONITORING REPORT
This report presents the Council’s financial position for 2018/19 as at
30 September 2018 for both revenue and capital budgets. It also includes
quarter end positions for the balance sheet, reserves, debt and treasury
management.

(Pages
259 318)

[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Corporate Overview
Select Committee]

11

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following items
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of
exempt information under the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Act.

PART TWO - IN PRIVATE
12

APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF A
STOP SMOKING SERVICE

(Pages
319 322)

This Part 2 report contains information which is exempt from Access to
Information requirements by virtue of paragraph 3 – Information relating to
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including
commercially sensitive information to the bidding companies).
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Health, Integration &
Commissioning Select Committee]

13

INVESTMENT DISPOSAL
This Part 2 report contains information which is exempt from Access to
Information requirements by virtue of paragraph 3 – Information relating to
the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including
commercially sensitive information to the bidding companies).
It is also subject to a Non-Disclosure Agreement.
[The decisions on this item can be called in by the Corporate Overview
Select Committee]

4

(Pages
323 340)

14

PUBLICITY FOR PART 2 ITEMS
To consider whether the item considered under Part 2 of the agenda
should be made available to the Press and public.

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive
Friday, 16 November 2018

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 5
ENVIRONMENT SELECT COMMITTEE
Item under consideration: Low Emissions Transport Strategy and Electric
Vehicle Strategy
Date Considered: 06 September 2018
Key points raised during the discussion:








The Local Transport Programmes Manager gave details of a number of
schemes that were taking place, this included £56m which had been allocated
for major schemes including sustainable travel improvements.
It was agreed to support the inclusion of an additional performance indicator
within the Local Emissions Transport Strategy, which measured travel
behaviour as indicated within the public consultation summary. Officers also
agreed to consider the inclusion of electric bikes in the Electric Vehicle
Strategy.
Members were in support of both strategies and agreed both were clear in
aims and objectives.
Concerns were raised around air travel and the implications of the expansion
at London Heathrow on emissions in Surrey. Officers stated that as a partner
within the Heathrow Strategic Planning Group, the impacts of growth would
be sufficiently mitigated and work would be undertaken with district and
boroughs to ensure air quality is not adversely impacted by the expansion.
With regards to using lamp columns as charging points, it was stated that in
Surrey, lamp columns had been moved to the back of the footway which
meant potential health and safety issues with trailing charging cables across
the footway. This technique was currently being trialled by Oxford,
Portsmouth and the London borough of Hounslow and would be reviewed
carefully.

The Committee recommended:
I.
II.
III.
IV.
V.

For the inclusion of a specific indicator in the low emissions transport strategy
which measures travel behaviour.
For both air quality and carbon emissions data and indicators within the Low
Emissions Transport Strategy to be developed and reported back to the
Committee in the next 12 month as part of ongoing performance monitoring.
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport to lobby the DfT for
funding (where appropriate) to support the objectives of the Electric Vehicle
Strategy and Low Emissions Transport Strategy.
The Low Emissions Transport Strategy and Electric Vehicle Strategy to be
shared with partners including the County Councils approved transport
providers after Cabinet approval.
For SCC fleet vehicles to be reviewed and replaced with low emission
vehicles, electric vehicles and charging infrastructure as appropriate.

Cllr Rachael I Lake
Chairman of the Environment Select Committee

Page 1

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 6
6

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
DATE:

27 NOVEMBER 2018

REPORT OF:

N/A

LEAD
OFFICER:

JOANNA KILLIAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SUBJECT:

LEADER/DEPUTY LEADER/CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS/
INVESTMENT BOARD DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST
CABINET MEETING

COMMUNITY
VISION
OUTCOME:

COUNCIL

SUMMARY OF ISSUE:
To note the delegated decisions taken since the last meeting of the Cabinet.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
It is recommended that the Cabinet note the decisions taken by Cabinet Members /
Investment Board since the last meeting as set out in Annex 1.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:
To inform the Cabinet of decisions taken by Cabinet Members / Investment Board
under delegated authority.
DETAILS:
1.

The Leader has delegated responsibility for certain executive functions to the
Deputy Leader and individual Cabinet Members, and reserved some functions
to himself. These are set out in Table 2 in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.

2.

The Leader has also delegated authority to the Investment Board to approve
property investment acquisitions, property investment management
expenditure, property investment disposals and the provision of finance to its
wholly owned property company, Halsey Garton Property Ltd.

3.

Delegated decisions are scheduled to be taken on a monthly basis and will be
reported to the next available Cabinet meeting for information.

4.

Annex 1 lists the details of decisions taken by Cabinet Members since the last
Cabinet meeting.

Contact Officer:
Angela Guest, Democratic Services Officer, Tel: 020 8541 9075
Annexes:

Page 3

6

Annex 1 – List of Cabinet Member Decisions
Sources/background papers: Agenda and decision sheets from the Cabinet
Member meetings (available on the Council’s website)

Page 4

Annex 1
CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS
NOVEMBER 2018
CABINET LEAD MEMBER FOR PLACE
(i)

Deed of Modification Relating to Disposal of Farm Land in Guildford

Details of decision:
1. To enter into an Agreement for a Deed of Modification followed by a Deed of
Modification as set out in the submitted report.
Note: The need for entering into an Agreement for a Deed of Modification followed by
entering into an actual Deed of Modification is because this transaction will be
subject to Planning. The Agreement will be entered into at the point of exchange of
conditional contracts, whilst the actual Deed of Modification will be entered into upon
grant of planning at the point the sale completes.
2. To authorise the terms contained in the Deed of Modification that have been agreed
in principle between the professional representatives.
3. To delegate authority to the Director of Economy, Growth and Commercial, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place to agree any further variation pricing
as given in the submitted report.
Reasons for decision:
It was recommended that Surrey County Council proceeds with the proposed Deed of
Modification, on the basis that best value to Surrey County Council will have been obtained
in compliance with its statutory undertakings under Section 123 of the Local Government Act
1972.
(Decision taken by the Cabinet Lead Member for Place – 7 November 2018)
CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN
(ii)

Expert Assessment Waiver, Children and Young People Safeguarding

Details of decision:
A nine month waiver for expert assessments was approved to allow time for work to take
place that will provide a better solution to spot purchasing.
Reasons for decision:
The demand for a range of assessments has increased at a rate which the County Council is
unable to meet with its current in-house capacity. The waiver will allow for the continuation of
the service whilst in house capacity is developed and a compliant external route to market is
identified.

Page 5

6

6

The aim will be to create a mixed economy with the focus on using in-house professionals
wherever possible, however an appropriate route to market is also available when needed.
This approach will secure prompt availability of assessments for Surrey’s children, young
people and families.
(Decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Children – 8 November 2018)
INVESTMENT BOARD
Details of Decision:
The Board approved two proposed acquisitions, and specifically and subject to being
secured-

1. Approved the provision of equity investment of a set amount as set out in the
submitted report by Surrey County Council to its wholly owned property
company, Halsey Garton Property Ltd (HGP).
2. Approved that Legal Services agree the contractual arrangements for the
provision of financing on behalf of the council with funds to be released upon the
completion of appropriate due-diligence in relation to the property acquisitions.
3. Authorise HGP to acquire the freehold interest in the acquisitions as set out in
the submitted reports.
Reasons for Decisions:
The provision of financing to the Council’s property company to facilitate the proposed
investment acquisitions is in accordance with the Council’s Investment Strategy and
provides assets that will contribute to the creation of a diversified portfolio over time to
spread risk.
The investments will deliver an ongoing income to the Council, enhancing financial resilience
in the longer term.
(Decision taken by the Investment Board – 15 November 2018)

Page 6

Item 7
7

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
DATE:

27 NOVEMBER 2018

REPORT OF:

MR TIM OLIVER, LEAD CABINET MEMBER FOR PEOPLE
CHARLOTTE MORLEY, CABINET MEMBER FOR CORPORATE
SUPPORT

LEAD
OFFICER:

HELEN ATKINSON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – PUBLIC HEALTH
SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL & HEARTLANDS

SUBJECT:

APPROVAL TO AWARD A CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION
OF A STOP SMOKING SERVICE

COMMUNITY
VISION
OUTCOME:

PEOPLE

SUMMARY OF ISSUE:
Effective stop smoking services have a positive effect on the health and wellbeing
of Surrey residents and prevents the need for more intensive and costly
interventions from health, social care and the wider public service sector.
The provision of an effective stop smoking service has an active role in supporting
the Council’s Vision for Surrey in 2030 and is also a key priority within the NHS 10
Year Plan that focuses on prevention. Tobacco control and the provision of stop
smoking services are key to improving health and wellbeing and focus on the most
vulnerable communities which is strongly reflected in the Community Vision for
Surrey in 2030. The stop smoking service supports the ambition for ‘People’ and
‘Place’ by encouraging everyone to have a great start to life with smokefree
pregnancies and helping people live healthy and fulfilling lives by helping adults
and young people to quit smoking. Providing a stop smoking service supports
residents to make good choices about their wellbeing. The targeted, prioritised
service model will help to reduce the health inequalities caused by smoking,
ensuring that no one is left behind. This service is a core component of the Surrey
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, currently being refreshed as part of the work we
are doing to deliver the Surrey 10 year plan.
Funded via the ring fenced Public Health Grant, the budget for this service has
been reduced following the reduction in the overall grant distributed by the
Department of Health. The Council is aiming to maintain a quality service that
targets those residents most in need of support within the financial resource
available. The Council’s statutory responsibilities for Public Health services are set
out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012. This includes a duty to improve public
health and provide facilities for the prevention or treatment of illness such as
provision of smoking cessation services.
The service will deliver evidenced-based interventions that include a combination
of behavioural support for 6-12 weeks and access to licenced pharmacotherapy.
The support provided by the service will be flexible and will be tailored to service
users’ needs including via support online.

Page 7

7
The service will be delivered in Surrey from local bases such as community hubs
and libraries and will provide apprenticeship opportunities to young people in
Surrey whilst delivering efficiencies for Public Health services.
This Cabinet report seeks approval to award a contract to Thrive Tribe to
commence on 1 April 2019. The recommended contract delivers best value for
money and meets the needs of service users in Surrey.
Due to the commercial sensitivity involved in the contract award process, the
scoring summary and value for money details have been circulated as a Part 2
report.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
It is recommended that a contract is awarded for the provision of a stop smoking
service to Thrive Tribe. Full financial and value for money details are provided in
the Part 2 report.
The contract will be for three years from 1 April 2019 with an option to extend for
an additional three years in one year intervals.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:
The existing stop smoking contract will expire on 31 March 2019 and an
extension is not possible. A full tender process, in compliance with the
requirement of Public Contract Regulations and Procurement Standing Orders,
has been completed and the recommendations provide best value for money for
the Council following a thorough evaluation process.
Helping smokers to quit now reduces the cost of care in the future. The Care Act
2014 requires councils with social care responsibilities to put in place preventive
measures designed to reduce the need for care and support in the future.
Helping smokers quit now means that they are less likely to require paid for care
in the future1.
DETAILS:
Business Case
1. Smoking remains the biggest cause of mortality and morbidity in Surrey. It costs
the Local Authority, local businesses and the NHS an estimated £258.8 million to
society in Surrey every year2. The costs of caring for current and former smokers
with long term conditions is estimated to be £23.5 million. The total cost to the
NHS every year in Surrey is £54.4 million.
Other estimated costs associated with smoking related fires include £155,000 to
Surrey Fire and Rescue Service and costs associated in dealing with 29 tonnes
of discarded smoking related street litter every year2.

1

ASH Local Stop smoking services (2015)http://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/localresources/councillor-briefings-new/
2 ASH Ready Reckoner http://ash.lelan.co.uk/

Page 8

2. Between 2014 and 2016, there were 4,431 deaths attributable to smoking in
Surrey3. In 2016/17, there were 8,044 hospital admissions due to smoking3.
3. It is estimated there are over 100,000 adult smokers in Surrey. Whilst Surrey has
seen a reduction in the adult smoking prevalence (10.9% of the population in
20174), smoking remains high amongst certain priority groups (see point 28,
bullet 3), for example those in routine and manual occupations (25.7% in 20174).
Smoking is the single biggest cause of health inequalities resulting in people who
are the worst off experiencing poorer health and shorter lives.
4. The National Tobacco Control Plan for England (2017)5 has a clear vision to
create a smokefree generation and includes the provision of high quality local
stop smoking services as a key priority for reducing health inequalities and
improving the health of local populations6.
5. The Surrey Tobacco Control Strategy 2016-217 sets out why and how Surrey
need to work together to reduce the harmful effects of tobacco. Delivering a high
quality, specialist stop smoking service is included in one of the five local
priorities (priority 1):
1. Helping tobacco users to quit, prioritising groups who have higher rates of
use
2. Help young people to be tobacco free
3. Establishing ‘smokefree’ as the norm in homes and across organisations
and businesses
4. Tackle illicit tobacco
5. Raise the profile of tobacco control
6. Two thirds of smokers say they want to stop smoking5. Going ‘cold turkey’ has
proved to be the least effective method to quit5. Smokers who use a combination
of medication and expert behavioural support are up to four times as likely to stop
smoking successfully as those who attempt to quit unaided or with over the
counter nicotine replacement therapy5.
7. Local areas with dedicated stop smoking services have been shown to have
higher quit rates than in settings where only health professionals such as GP
practices and pharmacies provide support. This is because they are able to offer
expert advice and training across the system8.
8. Local stop smoking services are highly effective and valued by smokers9. Stop
smoking services make an important contribution to reducing smoking including
in less affluent groups10 as poorer smokers are likely to be more highly
3

Local Tobacco Control Profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobaccocontrol/data#page/1/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030
4 Local Tobacco Control Profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobaccocontrol/data#page/1/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030
5

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630217/Towards_a_Smo
ke_free_Generation_-_A_Tobacco_Control_Plan_for_England_2017-2022__2_.pdf
6 Department of Health (2008) Excellence in Tobacco Control: 10 high impact changes to achieve
tobacco control. DH.
7 Surrey Tobacco Control Strategy 2016-21
https://www.healthysurrey.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/137539/tc-strategy-134382.pdf
8 West, R. & Croghan, E. Upgrading stop-smoking service provision, Presentation at UKNSCC 2015
9 https://www.nhs.uk/smokefree
10 National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. Smoking and Health Inequalities, 2013

Page 9

7

7

dependent. Stop smoking services can greatly improve their chances of quitting
successfully. Stop smoking services follow a national guidance and quality
framework15 and services have existed in England for nearly 20 years. The
national guidance is underpinned by a strong evidence base and is considered to
be the main driver for reducing smoking prevalence15.
9. Stop smoking services are cost effective. The combination of medication and
intensive behavioural support offered by local stop smoking services is among
the most cost-effective intervention available in the healthcare sector. Services
cost under £1,000 per quality adjusted life year, by comparison, statins to prevent
heart disease cost £57,000 per quality adjusted life year11. (Quality-adjusted life
year (QALY) is the measure of the state of health of a person in which the
benefits, in terms of length of life, are adjusted to reflect the quality of life. One
QALY is equal to one year of life in perfect health. It is often measured in terms of
the person’s ability to carry out the activities of daily life and freedom from pain
and mental disturbance).
10. Despite Surrey’s low smoking prevalence the high routine and manual prevalence
clearly demonstrates the need for a dedicated, specialist stop smoking service
that will target smokers who need the most support. Decommissioning the local
stop smoking service in Surrey would see significant impact on primary and
secondary care and a possible increase in the county’s smoking prevalence
rates.
11. Current provision:
The current stop smoking provider, Quit 51 provides stop smoking support in
Surrey. They are in their third year of a three year contract. They receive
referrals, deliver stop smoking clinics, deliver brief advice and stop smoking
advisor training as well as support GPs and pharmacies that also deliver the stop
smoking programme.
The service treated 6,400 smokers between 2016 and 2018 with over 3000
Surrey residents quitting. Over 70% of service users were from priority groups in
2017/18.
Data for Surrey:
Number quit dates set
Number of 4 week quits
(Quit rate of 47% which is over the Department of
Health’s recommended quit rate)
% CO screened (Target: 85%)
% of Quit dates set from a priority group (Target
60%)
% treated by Quit 51
% treated by Pharmacy
% treated by GP

11

2016/17
2953

2017/18
3451

1551

1631

69%
56%

70%
73%

58%
9%
33%

74%
8%
18%

NICE Guidance: Stop smoking interventions and services https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92

Page 10

Background and options considered
12. The recommended contract award will deliver an evidence-based stop smoking
service that meets national guidance. It will be responsive to the needs of key
priority groups that have been identified in the Surrey Stop Smoking Service
Needs Assessment 201813 and steered by national guidance as being particularly
at risk of smoking related morbidity and mortality or, in the case of pregnant
women, where their smoking can cause harm to others.
13. The service specification has a greater emphasis on reducing inequalities caused
by smoking and reducing the difference in smoking prevalence in Surrey amongst
certain priority groups. Helping disadvantaged smokers quit is the most effective
way to reduce health inequalities. Public Health England (PHE) recommend that
commissioners identify their communities most in need and target evidencebased interventions accordingly12. Targeted, high-quality stop smoking services
are essential to the reduction of health inequalities for local populations.
14. The new service model for Surrey will transform delivery to a targeted approach
but reflect the evidenced-based recommendations from the National Institute of
Health and Care Excellence (NICE)11. Service users will be offered three routes
to quit depending on their level of need and whether they are from a priority
group. The specification also requires the provider to use digital and online
resources to deliver and promote the service. For example, the use of Skype to
deliver stop smoking sessions. Service users will also be offered a selfmanagement option where they were will be guided to access existing online
support.
Route 1: Support from specialist service for priority groups (clinics, groups,
telephone, online support e.g. Skype, home visits)
Route 2: Support delivered via GPs and Pharmacies
Route 3: Self-management route
15. The provider will be required to work in partnership with GPs and pharmacies
who also provide the stop smoking programme as part of the wider treatment
pathway. Delivery of the stop smoking programme by GPs and pharmacies under
the Public Health Agreement will remain and continue as is currently delivered.
16. This contract does not include stop smoking prevention with young people as this
is delivered within the Smokefree Surrey Tobacco Control Strategy and Alliance,
working with partners and stakeholders such as borough and districts, Trading
Standards and NHS colleagues. Trading Standards focus on illicit tobacco and
reducing underage sales. Stop smoking prevention is also delivered via the
Healthy Schools programme, Youth Service and School Nursing Service. The
new provider will be required to work closely with these partners to provide
training to professionals working with young people so they can be referred into
the service for stop smoking support.
17. According to the Tobacco Control Plan for England5, one of the most effective
ways to reduce the number of young people smoking is to reduce the number of
adults who smoke. It is known that children are heavily influenced by adult role
models who smoke which shows the importance of working with the whole family,
for example, to encourage smokefree homes. Continuing to encourage adult

12

PHE Tobacco JSNA Support pack 2018

Page 11

7

7

smokers to quit by providing stop smoking services must therefore remain an
important part of reducing prevalence amongst the young and achieving a
smokefree generation.
18. The provider will link with national campaigns such as Stoptober and the New
Year Quit campaign as well as local campaigns such as reducing illicit tobacco.
There is strong evidence that linking into the national campaigns locally has
greater impact and is more cost effective as we use the national materials from
PHE.
19. Summary of what is changing in the new specification:
a) Increased focus on smokers from priority groups. The service will see an
increase in numbers of smokers from priority groups quitting smoking.
b) Introduction of a self-management route for smokers who want a lighter level
of support. Service users will be guided to access existing online support.
c) The service continues to provide a universal offer to all smokers via provision
delivered through GPs and Pharmacies.
d) Addition of substance misuse service users to priority groups.
e) Service KPI targets have been increased and targeted to reflect priority group
focus.
f) New focus on the use of digital and online resources to deliver and promote
the service. The new provider will offer stop smoking support session via
Skype.
Procurement Strategy
20. Several options were considered when completing the Strategic Procurement
Plan prior to commencing the procurement activity. As the current provider will be
closing on exit of contract, a new provider needed to be commissioned. The
options considered included:
a) commissioning a universal stop smoking service as per the current
contract;
b) procure a targeted only service for smokers in the priority groups and offer
a universal approach via Public Health Agreement delivery;
c) commission a hospital based stop smoking service; or
d) decommission.
21. Options were considered by the Public Health Leadership Team and a decision
was made to commission a service delivering targeted specialist support for
priority groups with a universal offer delivered via Public Health Agreements and
self-care route. The reason for this decision was to ensure that targeted specialist
support is available for smokers that need the most support whilst still providing a
universal offer that fits within the reduced financial envelope available.
22. A procurement and project team was set up to develop the service specification
and procurement process. The service specification was developed based on:
a) learning from the current contact;

Page 12

b) outcomes from Surrey Stop Smoking Service Needs Assessment
2018;13
c) NICE guidance: Stop smoking interventions and services [NG92];14
d) national guidance: Stop smoking services: Service & Delivery
Guidance 2014;15
e) a survey was undertaken with Surrey smokers on what support they
would like to quit smoking. Results are included in the Surrey Stop
Smoking Service Needs Assessment 2018;13
f) a provider engagement event was held to discuss and develop the
new service specification which included representatives from the
Local Pharmacy Committee and Local Medical Committee; and
g) tender and procurement details were presented at the five Surrey
CCG Clinic Executive Meetings. Views and feedback on the service
objectives and model were collated.
23. A full tender process, compliant with EU Public Contract Regulations and the
Council’s Procurement Standing Orders, has been carried out and this included
advertising the contract opportunity in the Official Journal of the European Union.
Use of e-Tendering and market management activities
24. In order to open the tender process to a wider range of suppliers than have
previously been involved, an electronic South East Shared Services tendering
platform was used.
25. Steps were taken to stimulate interest in this new process which was introduced
to the supply base through a provider engagement event. Through the market
stimulation activities completed during the planning phase of the procurement
process a total of eight suppliers attended the Market Engagement event.
Key Implications
26. By awarding a new contract to Thrive Tribe, a reputable supplier who operates
locally and in London for the provision of a Stop Smoking service, the Council will
be meeting one of its duties in improving and maintaining the health and
wellbeing of people in Surrey whilst ensuring that it secures best value for money
for the service.
27. The staff employed by the current service providers will be offered the opportunity
to transfer to the new provider under Transfer of Undertaking Protection of
Employment (TUPE) regulations. This will help to retain local knowledge and the
local skill base that exists in the current service.
28. The contract is 80% core payment and 20% payment by results which aims to
enhance performance levels.

13

https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92
15 http://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/LSSS_service_delivery_guidance.pdf
14

Page 13

7

7

29. Service key objectives:
a) Provide a variety of evidenced-based intervention approaches that
includes a combination of behavioural support for 6-12 weeks and access
to licenced pharmacotherapy.
b) Increase numbers of smokers from priority groups making a successful
quit attempt.
c) People in priority groups should be offered support for up to 12 weeks and
followed-up at 4 and 12 weeks. Priority groups include: Black and
Minority ethnic groups including Gypsy, Roma and Traveller; Routine and
manual workers; Residents in high smoking prevalence wards; Mental
health service users (including those with mild to moderate mental health
issues); Pregnant smokers and their partners; Patients in acute settings
and those with long term conditions; Substance Misuse service users
including those in recovery.
How will this be measured?
30. Service users will be triaged on accessing the service and demographic
information collected. Service users will attend the stop smoking programme on a
weekly basis and followed up and monitored closely. In line with national
guidance (Stop smoking services: Service & Delivery Guidance 201415), service
users will be monitored against the Russell Clinical Standard to verify them as a
4-week and 12-week quitter. Definition of four-week quitter: a treated smokers
who reports not smoking for at least days 15-28 of a quit attempt and whose
carbon monoxide (CO) reading is assessed 28 days from their quit date and is
less than 10ppm).

a.

The Provider will be responsible for training, supporting and managing
delivery via GPs and pharmacies who hold a Public Health Agreement
(PHA) to deliver smoking cessation.
Manage reporting and data collection for all delivery and facilitate
performance of GPs and pharmacies
To work in partnership with a range of referral sources to develop
accessible referral pathways and systems and provide an easily
identifiable access point to the stop smoking service.
To promote, through a marketing and communications plan, the service to
smokers.
Provide professional development (training) of other service providers.
Deliver services in-line with the most recent best practice
recommendations for stop smoking services.

b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

31. The main national Public Health Outcomes Framework16 (PHOF) outcomes
associated with smoking are:




16

Smoking at time of delivery
Smoking status at age 15
Smoking prevalence in adults

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework

Page 14

32. Performance will be monitored through a series of Key Performance Indicators
(KPI) as detailed in the service specification and reviewed at monthly operations
meetings. The KPIs are set locally to reflect the priorities identified within the
tobacco control needs assessment and build on current performance. The KPIs
are also in line with national guidance, ‘Stop Smoking services: Service &
Delivery Guidance 2014’ and ensure performance contributes towards the Public
Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) outcomes. The top performance indicators
and targets for each are as follows:
KPI
Deliver 4 week quits
(Definition of four-week
quitter: a treated
smokers who reports not
smoking for at least days
15-28 of a quit attempt
and whose CO reading is
assessed 28 days from
their quit date and is less
than 10ppm)
4 weeks quits from
priority groups
12 week quits from
priority groups

52 week quits

Quit rate
Carbon monoxide
validated
Service users lost to
follow up

Target

Notes

Year 1: 1700 4-week quits Increases for additional
Year 2: 1800 4-week quits Payment By Result (PBR)
Year 3: 1900 4-week quits payment:
Year 1: 2000 4-week quits
Year 2: 2200 4-week quits
Year 3: 2400 4-week quits

Minimum of 80% of 4
week quits to be from the
priority groups
Minimum of 50% of
service users from priority
groups to be quit at 12weeks.
Minimum of 30% of
service users who have
quit at 4-weeks to be
followed up at 52 weeks.
Achieve a minimum 50%
quit rate at four weeks.
Minimum of 70% 4-weekquits to be Carbon
Monoxide (CO) validated.
Maximum 15% of service
users lost to follow-up.

Increases to 60% for
additional PBR payment:

Increases to 50% for
additional PBR payment

Increases to 85% for
additional PBR payment
Reduces to 10% for
additional PBR payment

33. Other KPIs include KPIs on training delivery, client satisfaction collection, referral
response time, data collection and recording and delivering systems leadership
for GPs and pharmacy.
34. The management responsibility for the contract lies with Public Health and will be
managed in line with the Contract Management Strategy and plan as laid out in
the contract documentation which also provides for review of performance and
costs. Public Health have over 15 years’ experience of managing stop smoking
services and the contracts. Performance will be robustly monitored locally at
quarterly contract meetings. Quarterly data submissions ensure a robust and
rigorous monitoring process which includes service user feedback and validated
results to demonstrate performance.

Page 15

7

7

CONSULTATION:
35. Key stakeholders, commissioners from Public Health, colleagues from Finance,
Legal Services and Procurement have been involved and consulted throughout
the process.
36. Relevant external stakeholders were consulted at various stages in the process
via the following communication channels:


The Local Pharmaceutical Committee and the Local Medical Committee
have been informed and have had the opportunity to comment.
Representatives from each committee attended the Provider Engagement
Event and/or received all relevant documentation.



Partners from Surrey Coalition of Disabled People, Action for Carers,
Surrey Independent Living Council, Age UK, Health Watch Surrey and
Surrey Disabled People’s Partnership have been informed of the
procurement process via the Surrey County Council Partner Update
Meeting.



A survey was undertaken with Surrey smokers on what support they
would like to quit smoking. Results are included in the Surrey Stop
Smoking Service Needs Assessment 2018.



Tender and procurement details were presented at the Surrey CCG
Clinical Executive Meetings. Views and feedback on the service
objectives and model were collated and taken on board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
37. The contract includes a ‘Termination Clause’ which will allow the Council to
terminate the contract with three month’s notice should the priorities of the
Council change or should funding no longer be available.
38. The following key risks associated with the contract and contract award have
been identified, along with mitigation activities:
Category

Financial

Reputational

Risk Description

Mitigation Activity

Further cuts to the Public
Health budget

The Council and the provider will work
together to increase efficiencies under the
contract and manage the impact of any
future cuts to both volumes and the quality
of service delivery.

Potential risk that during
the life of the contract the
provider will request an
inflationary increase
against the annual
service delivery cost.

The annual cost of the contract is fixed for
the initial term of the contract and any price
uplifts will not be allowed.

New service does not
establish in time for
commencement date.

There is a three month mobilisation period
in place.

Page 16

TUPE implications for the
incumbent staff.
Service
Delivery
Quality of service
delivered does not meet
objectives and needs.

Sufficient mobilisation period for the
incoming provider to engage early with
affected staff. Provision of TUPE
information to all bidders in the tender
process has given the successful provider
early sight of TUPE.
Strong contract management, monthly
meetings and quarterly contract review
meetings. Detailed mobilisation period.

Financial and Value for Money Implications
39. Full details of the contract value and financial implications are set out in the Part 2
report.
40. The procurement activity has delivered a solution within budget. Since February
2016 the budget for the service has reduced by 25% through in-life contract
variation and a reduction in budget for this tender.
41. Providing support for smokers to quit is highly cost effective and the evidence is
clear that smokers who receive a combination of pharmacotherapy and skilled
behavioural support are up to four times as likely to quit successfully17.
42. According to NICE, every £1 spent on smoking cessation saves £10 in future
health care costs and health gains. Smokers who manage to quit reduce their
cost to the health and social care system by almost 50%.18.
43. The service specification features a self-care element for smokers who feel they
can quit alone but ensures outcomes and remote support are still available. This
new element introduces a potential cost saving.
44. The contract will be funded via the ring fenced Public Health Grant.
Commissioning stop smoking services is a function of Public Health, as outlined
in the Health and Social Care Act.
45. There will be an allocated contract manager to monitor performance of this
contract. Any discrepancies from the set standards will be managed through the
payment by results (PbR) arrangements which will result in non-payment of the
PbR allocation if the provider does not meet the required KPIs.
Section 151 Officer Commentary
46. The County Council is facing a very serious financial situation, whereby there are
still substantial savings to be identified and delivered to achieve a balanced
budget in the current year and a sustainable budget plan for future years.

17

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/647069/models_of_delive
ry_for_stop_smoking_services.pdf
18

https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/sites/default/files/economic_case_for_local_investment_in_smoking_
cessation_printed_version.pdf

Page 17

7

7

47. The Section 151 Officer can confirm that the proposed contract award for the stop
smoking service is within the current budget set for this service in the current
Medium Term Financial Plan. It is important to recognise though that spending
reductions still need to be identified to offset pressures on other Public Health
services in order to balance within Public Health’s available financial resources in
the current year and future years. The award of this contract will mean that the
smoking service will not be able to contribute towards these spending reductions
and therefore these reductions will need to be identified across other Public
Health services.
Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer
48. As set out in this report above, following approval by the Sourcing Governance
Board, a full competitive tendering process has been undertaken by the Council
in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 and the Council’s
Procurement Standing Orders. Legal Services have advised on the Contract.
Equalities and Diversity
49. An Equalities Impact Assessment has been written and is attached as Annex 1 to
this report. It sets out the impacts of the recommendation on each of the
protected group for each service.
Other Implications:
50. Ownership of the contract at the end of the term:
At the end of the contractual term and all available or executed extension
periods, the service will be subject to a further competitive tender. This may
result in a new contract award to an incoming provider.
51. Intellectual Property / data access implications:
The General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) compliance form and Due
Diligence questionnaire were published at the tender and the winning provider
passed the minimum requirements. During contract mobilisation further
GDPR risks will be addressed (e.g. Data Protection Impact Assessments).
Safeguarding responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults implications
52. The terms and conditions of contract stipulate that the provider will comply with
the Council’s Safeguarding Adults and Children’s Multi-Agency procedures, any
legislative requirements, guidelines and good practice as recommended by the
Council. This will be monitored and measured through the contractual
arrangements.
53. The service will operate a client centred approach, working collaboratively with
other Health and Social Care Services.
Public Health implications
54. The service specification stipulates that the provider will develop links and referral
mechanisms into other health improvement programmes such as Making Every
Contact Count (MECC) and workplace wellbeing.

Page 18

7

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:
55. The timetable for implementation is as follows:
Action
Cabinet decision to award (including ‘call in’ period)
Standstill Period
Contract Signature
Contract Commencement Date

Date
5 December 2018
6 Dec – 17 Dec 2018
w/c 31 Dec 2018
1 April 2019

56. The Council has an obligation to allow unsuccessful bidders the opportunity to
challenge the proposed contract award. This period is referred to as the standstill
period.
57. The Council will work closely with the new provider and the current providers to
ensure a smooth transfer of services. The new provider will be required to put in
place a full mobilisation plan and co-ordinate the process.
Contact Officer:
Rachael Davis, Public Health Lead, 07989 663114
Joanna Madejczyk, Strategic Procurement Manager, 07973 697929
Consulted:
Jenn Smith, Senior Public Health Lead
Naz Fox, Senior Solicitor
David Cogdell, Principal Solicitor
Alison Darlow, Senior Finance Officer
Ruth Hutchinson, Deputy Director of Public Health
Stephen Inns, Commissioning Manager, NHS Surrey Heath CCG
Cllr Tim Oliver, Lead Cabinet Member for People
Cllr Charlotte Morley, Cabinet Member for Corporate Support
Annexes:
Annex 1: Equality Impact Assessment
Sources/background papers:
 All background papers used in the writing of the report should be listed, as
required by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment

Equality Impact
Assessment (EIA)

7

1. Topic of assessment
EIA title

Re-commissioning of stop smoking service

EIA author

Rachael Davis

2. Approval
Approved by

Name

Date approved

Ruth Hutchinson

30/10/18

3. Quality control
Version number

1

EIA completed

19/10/18

Date saved

19/10/18

EIA published

October 2018

Version
1

EIA
EIA
Key Changes
Completed Published
19/10/18
October
First version of EIA completed. This version of the
2018
EIA covers the period from development of service
specification and specification going out to tender
(June 2018 – September 2018).

2
3
4
5

4. EIA team
Name

Job title

Organisation

Rachael Davis

Public Health Lead

Surrey County
Council

Jenn Smith

Senior Public
Health Lead

Surrey County
Council

Page 21

Team role

1

Equality Impact Assessment
7

5. Explaining the matter being assessed
What policy,
function or
service is being
introduced or
reviewed?

This Equality Impact Assessment relates to the provision of stop
smoking services in Surrey.
What is the function of this EIA?
Surrey County Council Public Health are commissioning a new stop
smoking service with the successful provider commencing in April
2019. The stop smoking service is funded wholly by the public health
grant. The tender for the new contract will go live in August 2018.
Tenders will be returned in September 2018 and evaluated in October
2018. After Cabinet approval in November, mobilisation will begin
from December 2018. The service will go live from April 2019.
What period does this version of the EIA cover?
This version of the EIA covers the period from development of service
specification and specification going out to tender (June 2018 –
September 2018).
This EIA will continue to be updated during the award process,
mobilisation period and transition phase, contract award and
mobilisation. Some details, for example clinic locations and access
will only be known once the provider begins mobilisation. This EIA
will also be updated during business as usual.
Impact of the proposals on staff with protected characteristics will be
updated during mobilisation.
Why is a new service being commissioned?
A new service is being commissioned because the existing stop
smoking contract will expire on 31st March 2019. An extension is not
possible because the current provider will be closing on exit of
contract.
Why do we need a stop smoking service in Surrey?
Smoking remains the biggest cause of mortality and morbidity in
Surrey costing local authorities, local businesses and the NHS an
estimated £252.4 million to society in Surrey every year1. Between
2014 and 2016, there were 4,431 deaths attributable to smoking in
Surrey2 and in 2016/17, there were 8,044 hospital admissions due to
smoking2.
The National Tobacco Control Plan for England (2017)3 has a clear
vision to create a smoke free generation and includes the provision of
high quality local stop smoking services is a key priority for reducing
health inequalities and improving the health of local populations4.

1

ASH Ready Reckoner www.ash.org.uk/localtoolkit/docs/Reckoner.xls
Local Tobacco Control Profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobaccocontrol/data#page/1/gid/1938132888/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030
2
3

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630217/Towards_a_Smoke_free_Generati
on_-_A_Tobacco_Control_Plan_for_England_2017-2022__2_.pdf
4 Department of Health (2008) Excellence in Tobacco Control: 10 high impact changes to achieve tobacco control. DH.

Page 22

2

Equality Impact Assessment
The Surrey Tobacco Control Strategy 2016-215 sets out why and how
Surrey need to work together to reduce the harmful effects of
tobacco. Delivering a high quality, specialist stop smoking service is
included in one of the five local priorities (priority 1):
Priority 1. Helping tobacco users to quit, prioritising groups
who have higher rates of use
Priority 2. Help young people to be tobacco free
Priority 3. Establishing ‘smokefree’ as the norm in homes and
across organisations and businesses
Priority 4. Tackle illicit tobacco
Priority 5. Raise the profile of tobacco control
It is estimated there are over 100,000 adult smokers in Surrey. Whilst
Surrey has seen a reduction in the adult smoking prevalence (10.9%,
20176), smoking remains high amongst certain priority groups, for
example those in routine and manual occupations (25.7%, 20176).
Smoking is the single biggest cause of health inequalities, resulting in
people who are the worst off experiencing poorer health and shorter
lives.
Studies show that people are four times more likely to quit smoking if
they have specialist behavioural support7. Local stop smoking
services provide one of the most cost effective health care
interventions available. They are highly effective and valued by
smokers8. Stop smoking services make an important contribution to
reducing smoking, including in less affluent groups9 as poorer
smokers are likely to be more highly dependent. Stop smoking
services can greatly improve their chances of quitting successfully.
Stop smoking services are cost effective. The combination of
medication and intensive behavioural support offered by local stop
smoking services is among the most cost-effective interventions
available in the health care sectorError! Bookmark not defined..
Services cost under £1,000 per quality adjusted life year – for
comparison, statins to prevent heart disease cost £57,000 per quality
adjusted life year10.
What proposals
are you
assessing?

This EIA is assessing the introduction of a new provider of stop
smoking services in Surrey and a change in service model compared
to what is currently delivered.
The new provider will deliver an evidence based stop smoking service
that meets national guidance. It will be responsive to the needs of
key priority groups that have been identified in the Surrey Stop

5

Surrey Tobacco Control Strategy 2016-21 https://www.healthysurrey.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/137539/tcstrategy-134382.pdf
6 Local Tobacco Control Profiles https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobaccocontrol/data#page/1/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030
7 National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training, Stop smoking services: increased chances of quitting, 2012
8 https://www.nhs.uk/smokefree
9 National Centre for Smoking Cessation and Training. Smoking and Health Inequalities, 2013
10 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92

Page 23

3

7

Equality Impact Assessment
Smoking Service Needs Assessment11 and steered by national
guidance as being particularly at risk of smoking related morbidity and
mortality, or in the case of pregnant women, where their smoking can
cause harm to others.
The key priority groups are:
 Black and Minority ethnic groups including Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller;
 Routine and manual workers;
 Residents in high smoking prevalence wards;
 Mental health service users (including those with mild to
moderate mental health issues);
 Pregnant smokers and their partners;
 Patients in acute settings and those with long term conditions;
 Substance misuse service users including those in recovery;

7

What are the key differences from the current commissioned
service?
The service remains a universal service open to everyone, providing
evidence based service for all smokers, however it will focus on the
smokers most in need and target interventions accordingly. The
service specification has a greater emphasis on reducing inequalities
caused by smoking and reducing the difference in smoking
prevalence in Surrey amongst certain priority groups.
Service users will be offered three routes to quit, depending on their
level of need and whether they are from a priority group.
 Route 1: support from specialist service for priority groups
(clinics, groups, telephone, online support e.g. Skype, home visits)
 Route 2: support delivered via GPs and Pharmacies
 Route 3: self-management route

Who is affected
by the
proposals
outlined above?

11

The new tender has the same budget as the current contract.
However, the current provider has had a budget reduction of
approximately 25% of the original allocated budget.
The stop smoking service will be open access for the whole
population. The new service will be a universal service with targeted
activity to increase access for the following priority groups:
 Black and Minority ethnic groups including Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller;
 Routine and manual workers;
 Residents in high smoking prevalence wards;
 Mental health service users (including those with mild to
moderate mental health issues);
 Pregnant smokers and their partners;
 Patients in acute settings and those with long term conditions;
 Substance misuse service users including those in recovery

https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/

Page 24

4

Equality Impact Assessment
Staff from the current stop smoking provider will also be affected by
the proposed change in provider because they will be TUPE into the
new provider.

6. Sources of information
Engagement carried out








Discussion with current stop smoking provider on service specification development
Provider engagement event on service specification development which included
engagement with the Local Pharmacy Committee and Local Medical Committee
A survey was undertaken with Surrey smokers on what support they would like to
quit smoking. Full results can be found in the Surrey Stop Smoking Service Needs
Assessment 2018, available on Surreyi.
Headlines included:
o 7 in 10 respondents would like face to face support with a stop smoking
advisor to help them to quit smoking
o 60% of respondents would like to access support to quit on Monday to
Friday, between 5pm and 9pm
o 68% of respondents would like to access support to stop smoking at their
local GP surgery. They next preferred option (48%) was at a local meeting
point, such as a local community centre or library.
o 75% of respondents said it was important stop smoking support was
available at a convenient location near to their home.
o 50% of respondents said collecting stop smoking medications from the
advisor in the session would influence their decision to access support with
an advisor.
o Advisors knowledge on the best ways to quit, on stop smoking medication
and the ability to motivate, support and encourage them to quit were the top
three factors that would influence a smoker’s decision to seek support from
the stop smoking service.
The survey findings were fed into the service specification (for example, ensuring
direct supply of medication is available in stop smoking clinics). During
mobilisation, we will ensure that the new provider incorporates this feedback when
planning for delivery.
The specification and procurement process was presented at the Clinical Executive
meetings for all five CCGs and views and feedback has been incorporated as
appropriate.
Feedback included:
o Support for continuation of commission stop smoking support in surrey
o Simple and easy ways for GPs to refer and signpost smokers to the service
is needed
o During mobilisation, a request for the new provider for an explanation of what
provision will be available in priority areas
o Assurance that the service remains a universal service open to all smokers
delivering high quality stop smoking support
Representative from a Surrey CCG will be on the tender evaluation panel

Data used

Page 25

5

7

Equality Impact Assessment


7







Surrey Stop Smoking Service Needs Assessment 201811 provides an overview of
the needs of smokers in Surrey and of the current service provision. It collates
evidence about the smoking population on which to plan services. It takes into
account the priorities for the population and prioritises resource allocation in order to
guide future commissioning and service provision.
Feedback from stop smoking provider engagement day
Current service performance through contract management
Public Health Outcome Framework12 and Local Tobacco Control Profiles13
NICE guidance: Stop smoking interventions and services [NG92]14
National guidance: Stop smoking services: Service & Delivery Guidance 201415

7. Impact of the new/amended policy, service or
function

12

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
14 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng92
15 http://www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/LSSS_service_delivery_guidance.pdf
13

Page 26

6

Equality Impact Assessment

7a. Impact of the proposals on residents and service users with protected
characteristics
Protected
characteristic
All protected
characteristics

Potential positive impacts Potential negative impacts
See below for more detail on
specific characteristics.

Page 27

Children and young people:
Access and provision will not
be denied to young people
aged 12 and over. Smokers
aged 12 and over can access
the service and can access
nicotine replacement therapy.

Age

Young people do not feature
as a priority group in the new
service specification.
However, the provider will be
expected to engage with
young people accessing the
service and work with
partners who deliver services
to young people.
Young people under the age
of 12 should access support
from their GP.

Evidence

As the stop smoking service
will be open access for the
whole population, there will be
no negative impact on service
users.

According to the Tobacco Control Plan for
EnglandError! Bookmark not defined., one of the
most effective ways to reduce the number of young
people smoking is to reduce the number of adults
who smoke. We know that children are heavily
influenced by adult role models who smoke which
shows the importance of working with the whole
family, for example encourage smokefree homes.
Continuing to encourage adult smokers to quit must
therefore remain an important part of reducing
prevalence amongst the young, and achieving a
smokefree generation.

Adults:
7
7

7
Equality Impact Assessment

Page 28

All age groups (over 12
years) are welcome to access
the service. A range of stop
smoking support will be
provided across the county
according to need. At this
point of the procurement
process, we are unable to
assess clinic venues for
accessibility but will review in
future EIAs. Support will be
available via GPs and
Pharmacies delivering stop
smoking under the Public
Health Agreement which
provides a variety of options
available. The new provider
will also deliver telephone
and online support.

Disability

Accessible Information
Standard: From 1st August
2016 onwards, all
organisations that provide
NHS care or adult social care
are legally required to follow
the Accessible Information
Standard.
The Standard aims to make
sure that people who have a
disability, impairment or
sensory loss are provided

16

People with limited physical activity or who would
consider themselves to be in bad health are around
Potential barriers to access are
twice as likely to smoke as those with no limited
physical accessibility and
activity or in good health16.
communication with people
with sensory impairments and
Information on disability is currently collected by the
learning disabilities. The tender
current provider. The new service will continue to
will require all potential
capture and report this information, helping the
providers to provide evidence
commissioners to monitor use of the service by
that they can address
people with disability.
accessibility issues.

https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/05/31/progressing-a-smokefree-nhs/

8

Equality Impact Assessment
with information that they can
easily read and understand
and with support so they can
communicate effectively with
health and social care
services.
All paper and online
resources will meet
Accessible Information
Standards.

Page 29

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may prefer
not to attend in person. Stop
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues
that will meet accessibility
standards. The range of
provision will be extended
with delivery via GPs and
Pharmacies.
At this point of the
procurement process, we are
unable to assess clinic
venues for accessibility but
will review in future EIAs.

9
7

7
Equality Impact Assessment
Patients in acute settings and
those with long term
conditions are part of the key
priority groups which the new
provider will have a greater
emphasis on, and should
increase access and
provision to the service. This
is a KPI in the new contract
and the provider will be
evaluated against how they
ensure this group are
targeted. There will be a
handover of care into the
community on discharge.

Page 30

The stop smoking service will
be open access for the whole
population. Service provision
does not vary by gender.

Gender
reassignment

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may prefer
not to attend in person. Stop
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues.
This provision will be
extended with delivery via
GPs and Pharmacies.

No data is available on smoking prevalence for
smokers who have undergone gender reassignment.
The new service will ensure that service users are
provided with options on how they self-identify their
gender, including if their gender is the same as the
sex assigned at birth and options to ‘prefer not to
say’, helping the commissioners to monitor use of the
service.

10

Equality Impact Assessment
Pregnant smokers are part of
the key priority groups which
the new provider will have a
greater emphasis on, and
should increase access and
provision to the service. This
is a KPI in the new contract
and the provider will be
evaluated against how they
ensure this group are
targeted

Page 31

Pregnancy and
maternity

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users prefer not to
attend in person. Stop
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues.
This provision will be
extended with delivery via
GPs and Pharmacies.

The impact of smoking during pregnancy on maternal
and foetal health is significant in terms of morbidity,
mortality and healthcare costs.
The smoking status at time of delivery in 2016/17 was
5.8%. This equates to 688 women smoking at time of
delivery2.

The new provider will need to
work closely with maternity
teams to ensure pregnant
women and their partners can
have easy access to stop
smoking support.
Race

Smokers from minority ethnic
groups, including smokers

Smoking prevalence varies greatly between ethnic
groups and between men and women within these
11
7

7
Equality Impact Assessment
from the Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller community are part
of the key priority groups
which the new provider will
have a greater emphasis on,
and should increase access
and provision to the service.

Page 32

Provision of interpreters and
the provision of literature in
different languages has been
included in the service
specification. The provider
will be expected to provide
services that encourage client
engagement from these
groups, e.g. women only
groups, training community
champions from BME
communities. The service
will need to work in areas of
Surrey with high BME
populations.

groups. Whilst smoking prevalence amongst minority
ethnic groups is generally lower than that of the
general population, some have higher rates, most
notably amongst black Caribbean, Bangladeshi and
Chinese men17. The use of niche tobacco products
(such as shisha and smokeless tobacco) is also
higher in certain ethnic groups. Information from the
2012 Integrated Household Survey suggests that
adult smoking rates are higher among Gypsies, Roma
and Travellers at around 30% although the sample
size is small and may not be fully representative18.
In 2017/18, 16% of service users seen by the current
provider were from BME backgrounds.

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may prefer
not to attend in person. Stop
17
18

PHE 2017 Surrey Tobacco Control JSNA Support pack
Improving Health Behaviours https://www.surreyi.gov.uk/ViewPage1.aspx?C=resource&ResourceID=1728&cookieCheck=true

12

Equality Impact Assessment
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues.
This provision will be
extended with delivery via
GPs and Pharmacies.
The stop smoking service will
be open access for the whole
population. Service provision
does not vary by religion or
belief.
Services will be offered on
days and times to suit service
users.

Page 33

Religion and
belief

The provider is required to
promote the service. The use
of faith based groups may be
an effective way to reach
smokers from particular
religions. The provider will
also use male or female stop
smoking advisors to run
sessions where appropriate.
Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may prefer
not to attend in person. Stop

19

Smoking prevalence by religion for Surrey (2018) 19:
Religion:
 None – 18.7%
 Christian – 13.1%
 Buddhist – 13.3%
 Hindu – 6.5%
 Jewish – 7.7%
 Muslim – 12.6%
 Sikh – 5.3%
 Other – 16.9%
 (Surrey – 10.9%)
 (England – 14.9%)

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/7/gid/1938132886/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030

13
7

7
Equality Impact Assessment
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues.
This provision will be
extended with delivery via
GPs and Pharmacies.
Service provision does not
vary by sex or gender and will
be open access to the whole
population.

Page 34
Sex

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may prefer
not to attend in person. Stop
smoking clinics will be
located across the county in a
variety of different venues.
This provision will be
extended with delivery via
GPs and Pharmacies.

Current smoking prevalence data for adults living in
Surrey shows 13.5% of men and 8.5% of women are
current smokers20.

The service will also provide
support in workplaces which
extends provision. The
provider can offer female or
male only groups where
appropriate. They will also
work with Children’s Centres
20

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/7/gid/1938132886/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030

14

Equality Impact Assessment
who run groups for parents
e.g. Groups for Dads.

Sexual
orientation

Service provision does not
vary by sexual orientation
and the service will be open
access to the whole
population.

Page 35

Service provision does not
vary by marital status and will
Marriage and civil
be open access to the whole
partnerships
population.
Service provision does not
vary by carer status and the
service will be open access to
the whole population.
Carers
(protected by
association)

21

Stop smoking services will be
available in a range of
different methods.
Telephone and online/skype
support will be available if
service users who may find it
difficult to access due to
caring responsibilities. Stop

Data from the Integrated Household Survey shows
that lesbian and gay people are much more likely to
smoke than the general population.
Whilst there is a lack of research on smoking among
bisexual and trans* people, surveys do show both
bisexual and trans* people are more likely to smoke21.
This information is not being collected by the current
provider. The new service will capture and report this
information, helping the commissioners to monitor
use of the service.

No data is available on smoking prevalence by marital
status.

No data is available on smoking prevalence for
carers.
This information is not being collected by the current
provider. The new service will capture and report this
information, helping the commissioners to monitor
use of the service.

http://ash.org.uk/information-and-resources/health-inequalities/health-inequalities-resources/smoking-and-the-lgbt-community/

15
7

7
Equality Impact Assessment
smoking clinics will be
located across the county at
different times of the day and
days of the week. This
provision will be extended
with delivery via GPs and
Pharmacies.
The stop smoking provider
will make contact with Action
for Carers Surrey.

7b. Impact of the proposals on staff with protected characteristics
Page 36

Protected
characteristic
Age

Potential positive impacts Potential negative impacts

Evidence
The new provider will hold information on staff groups
and individuals and will assess the impact on staff
through the TUPE process.

Disability
Gender
reassignment
Pregnancy and
maternity
Race
Religion and
belief
16

Equality Impact Assessment
Sex
Sexual
orientation
Marriage and civil
partnerships
Carers
(protected by
association)

Page 37
17
7

Equality Impact Assessment

7

8. Amendments to the proposals
Change

Reason for change

No amendments are proposed in response
to the EIA

9. Action plan
The action plan will be reviewed and updated throughout the procurement process when further
information becomes available, for example, during the mobilisation process.
Action needed to maximise
Potential impact (positive
positive impact or mitigate
or negative)
negative impact
As the stop smoking
service will be open access
for the whole population,
there will be no negative
impact on service users
with protected
characteristics.

Potential barriers to access
are physical accessibility
and communication with
people with sensory
impairments and learning
disabilities.

Any negative or positive impacts
will be closely monitored during
the mobilisation process.
The tender will require all
potential providers to provide
evidence that they can address
accessibility issues and provide
accessible communications.
The contract stipulates that
services must be compliant with
the Equality Act 2010.

By when

Owner

During
mobilisation
and by end of
Q1 of new
service

Rachael Davis,
contract
manager and
new provider

Through
mobilisation
and by end of
Q2 of new
service

Rachael Davis,
contract
manager and
new provider

To be reviewed through
quarterly reporting and contract
monitoring meetings.

10. Potential negative impacts that cannot be mitigated
Protected characteristic(s) that
could be affected

Potential negative impact
There are no potential negative impacts that cannot be
mitigated

Page 38

18

Equality Impact Assessment

7

11. Summary of key impacts and actions
Information and
engagement
underpinning equalities
analysis







Survey with smokers on their views on quitting smoking
Provider engagement event prior to going out to tender
Surrey Stop Smoking Service Needs Assessment
Discussions with current stop smoking provider
Feedback from CCGs on service model

Key impacts (positive
and/or negative) on
people with protected
characteristics





Universal service available to all
Targeted support for smokers in priority groups
Increase in service users quitting smoking, especially amongst
those in priority groups. Decrease in smoking prevalence,
especially in routine and manual smoking prevalence and
smoking at time of delivery rate.

Changes you have

made to the proposal as
a result of the EIA


Identified key actions to take place during the mobilisation
period
Continue to monitor and update EIA throughout procurement
process

Key mitigating actions
planned to address any
outstanding negative
impacts

Maintain oversight of the implementation of the service
specification and of service development to ensure identified
actions are carried out
Continue to monitor and update EIA throughout procurement
process

Potential negative
impacts that cannot be
mitigated






None

Page 39

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 8
8

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
DATE:

27 NOVEMBER 2018

REPORT OF:

MR MIKE GOODMAN, CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT
AND TRANSPORT

LEAD
OFFICER:

JASON RUSSEL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR HIGHWAYS,
TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT

SUBJECT:

UPDATE TO THE SURREY TRANSPORT PLAN: STRATEGIES
AND ASSOCIATED DEVELOPER GUIDANCE REGARDING
EMISSIONS REDUCTION

COMMUNITY PLACE
PLACE
VISION
OUTCOME:
SUMMARY OF ISSUE:
Transport is key to supporting the Surrey economy and residents’ ability to travel
where and when needed. However, vehicle emissions are a key cause of
environmental and public health concerns. Tackling these problems involves a
variety of stakeholders, including the Council, borough and district councils,
Government, businesses and residents.
This paper outlines the Council’s approach to reducing transport-related air
pollution and greenhouse gas emissions through the addition of two new
strategies to the Surrey Transport Plan, the Low Emissions Transport Strategy and
Electric Vehicle Strategy. Supplementary advice documents on car clubs and
travel planning for new developments which support sustainable development are
also presented to the Cabinet.
This strategy supports the Council’s 2030 vision that residents live in clean, safe
and green communities, where people and organisations embrace their
environmental responsibilities.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
It is recommended that Cabinet agrees:
1. That the proposed,





Low Emissions Transport Strategy,
Electric Vehicle Strategy,
Travel Plan Good Practice Guide and
Car Club Guide

are adopted and become part of the Surrey Transport Plan.

Page 41

8

2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director of Highways,
Transport & Environment to agree future revisions to these documents in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:
To ensure the Council’s transport policies and activities support a sustainable
economy and environment and improves the health of Surrey residents.

DETAILS:
Background
3.

Generally air quality in Surrey is relatively good, compared to large urban
conurbations. However, in some areas, monitoring has identified that the
average annual level of certain pollutants (primarily Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2))
is higher than the Government’s National Objective. Transport is the prime
factor for all of Surrey’s declared air pollution areas (known as Air Quality
Management Areas). Furthermore, vehicle fuel efficiency has significantly
improved in recent years, but overall carbon emissions from transport have
only decreased slightly because overall mileage has increased (since 2011).

4.

Electric vehicles (EVs) are expected to play a major role in meeting
emissions targets by enabling a transition away from conventionally fuelled
vehicles. To this end, the Government has made a commitment that all new
vehicles must have “significant zero-emission capability” by 20401, effectively
banning any new vehicle powered solely by petrol or diesel beyond this date.
Nevertheless, there are number of barriers that discourage more people from
switching to EVs. Whilst many challenges will be addressed by the
commercial sector, it is apparent that Council has a role to play in overcoming
a number of them.

5.

The Council works closely with its borough and district councils who have
responsibility for Air Quality under the Environment Act and is part of the
Surrey Air Alliance; a working group of borough /district Environmental Health
officers and Council officers for transport and public health. This group
currently does not have formal member oversight but could in the future with
a similar arrangement to the former Surrey Waste Partnership.

Business Case
6.

To ensure the Surrey Transport Plan 2011-2026 (STP) remains capable of
addressing the shifting transport challenges faced by the county, the Council
has produced a Low Emissions Transport Strategy (hereafter ‘LET Strategy’)
(Annex 1) and Electric Vehicle Strategy (hereafter ‘EV Strategy’) (Annex 2)
which take account of transport innovations and government policy changes.

7.

The LET Strategy rationalises the previously separate climate change and air
quality strategies. The aim of the strategy is to reduce harmful emissions from

1

House of Commons Written Statement 839 (9 July 2018)

Page 42

road transport across the county and work with partners to achieve legal
compliance for air quality locally.
8.

The EV Strategy is an entirely new addition to the STP and aims to develop a
Surrey-wide approach to encourage the transition from petrol and diesel
vehicles to electric vehicles as part of a wider integrated transport system.

9.

The EV Strategy presents how the Council proposes to address barriers to
transition and acts as a framework for consistency in decision-making when
planning new services and infrastructure; ultimately setting out a pathway for
Surrey to become a more ‘EV friendly’ place to live, work and visit.

Key themes of opportunities
10.

Key themes of activity within the LET Strategy are:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

11.

Improving transport networks and infrastructure for public transport,
walking and cycling and installation of electric vehicle charge points.
Travel behaviour change through travel planning and initiatives in schools
and workplaces, encouraging modal shift, use of car clubs and electric
vehicles.
Partnership working with bus and train operators, boroughs and districts
including via the Surrey Air Alliance and other key stakeholders.
Change on the Council’s own estate and through its operations such as
staff travel efficiency and travel modes, charge points for electric
vehicles, low emissions lease cars.
A number of actions are also contained within the following policy areas in the
EV Strategy, including:

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.

Understanding and preparing for growth in EV use:
a) Spatial planning of an EV charging network
b) 'EV-friendly' development planning
c) Development of the Council’s on-street charging policy
d) Funding arrangements for the installation and maintenance of
charging infrastructure
Delivery of public charging infrastructure:
e) Providing further charging infrastructure on Council land
f) Supporting a town centre charging network
g) On-street charging point trials
Developing opportunities for EV use within transport services:
h) Enabling EV use through Surrey's car club
i) Encouraging EV uptake amongst taxi operators
j) EV bus route assessments
k) Clean bus fleet funding
l) Lobbying for funding opportunities
Improving the emissions performance of the Councils transport related
operations:
m) Encouraging EV adoption amongst the Council fleet
n) Encouraging EV uptake amongst Council partners

Page 43

8

8

Action by the Council to date
12.

The Council is part of the Surrey Air Alliance; a working group of borough
/district Environmental Health Officers and Council officers for transport and
public health. The focus is on improving data to inform the evidence base and
taking collaborative action to improve air quality locally. In most cases there
will be simultaneous benefits to carbon emissions reduction.

13.

The Council led the response to government on the recent Clean Air Strategy
that was submitted on 14 August 2018 with assistance from the borough and
district councils under the umbrella of the Surrey Air Alliance. The full
response is attached as Annex 6.

14.

The Clean Air Strategy contained some sections around transport and whilst
most of these were positive the response that we gave also suggested
improvements such as, that there should be a short time period (say 2025)
the use of ‘Red diesel’ is banned in powering refrigeration units on delivery
vehicles, especially with the introduction of liquid nitrogen as per the case
study.

15.

The government has set a date of 2040 for banning the sale of new petrol
and diesel cars. In response to government (Q11 Annex 6) this Council
indicated that this should be sooner and the consideration of banning diesels
over a certain age; or a scrappage scheme incentive to encourage the
purchase of replacement low emissions vehicles at discounted rates.

16.

The Council with borough and districts had a meeting with Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) in June 2018 to discuss a
number of important air quality issues.

17.

Ongoing activity led by the Council in support of emissions reduction
includes:
a)
b)

c)

d)
e)
f)

Development of Local transport strategies for each borough and district
and delivery of major schemes including walking, cycling, bus corridor
improvements and connectivity with rail.
Road safety and active travel team support for school travel planning
focusing on walking/scooting and cycling including Bikeability and current
delivery of the Surrey Schools Air Quality programme, funded by Defra, in
schools in or near Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)
Surrey County Council working in partnership with Guildford, Surrey
Heath and Rushmoor Borough Councils and Hampshire County Council,
to address Defra’s identification of air quality non-compliance on the
A331 (Blackwater Valley relief road)
Development related travel plans for new developments including
workplaces, housing developments and other institutions (see Travel
Plan Good Practice Guide at Annex 3)
Engagement with Heathrow Airport Ltd to influence masterplan design
and secure conditions to mitigate emissions impacts on residents
Expanding the car club network, including the provision of five EVs,
enabling easy access car hire instead of owning a private car particularly
linked to high density development in urban centres (see Car club
guidance at Annex 4)

Page 44

g)
h)

Electric buses at Guildford Park and Ride – funding is in place for the
extra cost of replacing Park and Ride buses with electric buses in
Guildford
Electric vehicle charging infrastructure – the Council has installed 12
charge points across its estate for staff use and on-highway for electric
car club vehicles.

Indicators of success
18.

The strategies include a feasible and meaningful range of indicators including
the number of AQMAs, health impacts of air quality and levels of carbon
emissions from road transport. Measures of travel behaviour and sustainable
transport infrastructure have also been added following consultation
feedback.

Supporting guidance documents
19.

Alongside the LET Strategy and EV Strategy, two guidance documents are
presented to cabinet:

a.
b.

20.

The Travel Plan Good Practice Guide (Annex 3) is to ensure that
sustainable transport is incorporated into the planning process for large
developments and is promoted to site users.
The Car Club Guide (Annex 4) is to facilitate the efficient expansion of car
clubs, focusing on supporting the sustainability and feasibility of town
centre high density and mixed use development.
These documents are for use by developers, transport consultants, transport
development planning officers and local authority planning officers, to ensure
locally appropriate and consistent practice.

CONSULTATION:
21.

Extensive engagement with the public and key partners has taken place to
inform the development of the two strategies. This includes a full 12 week
public consultation exercise between 4 June and 26 August 2018. A report on
the consultation is available as Annex 5.

22.

A roundtable event held on 31 July 2018 and hosted by Cllr Mike Goodman
invited local businesses, key industry stakeholders and local authority officers
to discuss how to collectively maximise the benefits and opportunities of EV
technology.

23.

The Environment Select Committee were presented with the strategies at
their meeting on 6 September 2018 and made a number of recommendations
which have been incorporated into the strategies.
Travel Plan Good Practice Guide

24.

Views have been sought on the Car Club Guidance strategy and the Travel
Plan Good Practice Guide from a relevant group of stakeholders, including
developers, transport consultants, the Council’s preferred car club operator
and borough and district councils. Resulting amendments include clarification
of planning and highway authority responsibilities, explanation of key

Page 45

8

8

transport terminology and further advice on the role of site Travel Plan Coordinator. Furthermore, a list of possible remedial measures to be
implemented by developers or occupiers has been added.
Car club guidance
25.

The guidance has been developed in partnership with the Council’s preferred
car club operator. Further consultation is being undertaken with boroughs and
districts, developers and transport consultants. The guidance will be finalised
as appropriate, ahead of submission to Cabinet, to ensure it best meets the
needs of stakeholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
Reputational
26.

As is the case with all existing strategies within the STP, there is a potential
reputational risk of not delivering against the activities laid out within the LET
and EV strategies. To help mitigate against this risk, the strategies will be
made publicly available as part of the online STP suite to ensure their use in
the development of council services and schemes. Specifically with regards
to the EV Strategy, a review and refresh is planned to take place within a 1218 months period after publication where progress against existing actions
shall be evaluated and any issues of non-performance can be addressed
early on.

Service delivery
27.

Both strategies support the strategic outcomes of the Directorate to improve
and enhance Wellbeing, Economic Prosperity and Resident Experience.
There is a risk that by not adopting the strategies, the Council fails to deliver
against these outcomes by inadequately addressing public health issues
around air quality or insufficiently supporting business opportunities within a
burgeoning local EV industry in Surrey.

Financial
28.

Neither strategy makes financial commitments of the Council, however both
aim to improve air quality through a transition to EV and the provision of
associated infrastructure. There is a risk that alternative fuel sources advance
faster than electric or that charging equipment installed does not meet the
public need, representing an investment in redundant infrastructure.

29.

Given current national trends towards EV and the focus of government policy,
the probability of a decline in the industry in the short to medium term is low
and regular review of the strategies and the monitoring of latest technological
developments should enable to the Council to react accordingly. Additionally,
by partnering with a commercial supplier to provide charging infrastructure,
the investment risk would be held by the supplier rather than the Council.

Financial and Value for Money Implications
30.

There are costs associated with the health impacts of poor air quality and the
mitigation measures to reduce emissions. The Council’s approach to
investment in transport infrastructure and projects takes an integrated

Page 46

approach, considering environment, economic and health aspects and there
is no funding specifically allocated to air quality improvement or carbon
emission reduction on a stand-alone basis. Air quality and carbon impact
must be a key strand, given sufficient weight, in funding prioritisation
processes.
31.

Any future investment cases in response to the strategies will carefully
consider financial implications. In many cases there are positive cases for
investment in cleaner technology, on a full life cycle basis.

32.

A key aspect of the EV Strategy is the recognised need to adopt a
sustainable business model that will enable the Council to be able to fund
both the installation and ongoing maintenance/liability of charging
infrastructure. The Council already owns a small network of EV charge
points, requiring a commitment from Council budgets. It is envisaged that the
preferred model of provision will take the form of a partnership with a
commercial supplier.

33.

Car club expansion is on a financially sustainable basis, through the rigorous
application of criteria to determine appropriate expansion sites and the
procurement of a best value supplier of the service. For travel plans, the
Council seeks to secure a fee from developers for post-occupation monitoring
of the implementation of travel plans.

Section 151 Officer Commentary
34.

Approving the Low Emissions Transport strategy and Electric Vehicle
strategy will not in itself commit the Council to additional expenditure or
expose it to additional risks. Individual measures, such as the installation of
electric vehicle charging points, will be implemented subject to identification
of sustainable funding models and appropriate approvals at the time.

Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer
33.

The Surrey Transport Plan is a statutory plan required by the Local Transport
Act 2008 and the Transport Act 2000 to be prepared by local transport
authorities and kept under review.

34.

The EU Directive on Ambient Air quality includes legally binding limit values
for certain pollutants and imposes a number of requirements to control the
outdoor concentration of PM2.5 and other air pollutants.

35.

2009 Department of Transport Guidance on Local Transport Plans
establishes National Transport Goals to reduce carbon emissions and for
local networks to deliver quantified reductions in greenhouse gas emissions.

36.

The Guidance recommends a Strategic Policy Framework for local Transport
Plans to monitor local air quality and implement action plans to improve air
quality where necessary. Integrating Air Quality Action Plans with Local
Transport Plans is strongly encouraged.

37.

The two new strategies and the supplementary advice documents the subject
of this report are produced as part of the required continuous review of the
Surrey Transport Plan.

Page 47

8

8
Equalities and Diversity
38.

An equalities ‘initial screening’ assessment, a precursor to a full Equalities
Impact Assessment (EIA), was completed and reviewed by the HTE
Directorate Equalities Group.

39.

Given the nature of the LET Strategy and EV Strategy the group agreed that
a full EIA would not be required given the high level nature of the strategies
meant that specific impacts on protected groups could not be assessed. It
should be noted that full EIAs on deliverables resulting from the strategies
may be required in the future (e.g. the development of on-street EV charging
policy).

Environmental sustainability implications
40.

By enabling trip reduction, modal shift and reducing emissions of residual
vehicles by electrification, the strategies and associated guidance supports
environmental sustainability in Surrey. Positive environmental outcomes
include reductions in polluting emissions of nitrogen dioxide, particulate
matter and greenhouse gases, reduction in noise and more efficient land use
through a shift to walking, cycling and public transport. Electric vehicles
present new environmental challenges from the use of batteries, both in
terms of sourcing of materials and end of life recycling and these issues are
being addressed by policies at national and international levels.

Public Health implications
41.

Poor air quality contributes to cardiovascular disease, respiratory illness and
lung cancer. Climate change has wide ranging health impacts ranging from
increased flood risk in Surrey to effects on food supply stability and natural
hazard risks across the world. Reducing emissions from vehicles, via vehicle
technology improvements and behaviour change for reduced car driving and
increased physically active travel, will improve health.

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:
42.

The LET Strategy, EV Strategy and associated guidance documents will be
adopted as part of the Surrey Transport Plan and implemented as set out in
the respective documents. The performance and suitability of the EV Strategy
will be reviewed in 12-18 months as part of an update to the document, given
the rapid changes in technology, national policy and behaviour in this sector.

43.

A key action within the EV Strategy which will be undertaken during this
period is the adoption of a business model, likely to take the form of a
partnership with a single commercial supplier. This shall enable the Council
to install further charging points in suitable locations for public use and
effectively maintain its existing equipment.

Page 48

Contact Officer:
Lyndon Mendes, Transport Policy Team Leader
Consulted:
Environment Select Committee, 6 September 2018
Public consultation ran from 4 June to 26 August 2018, including members of the
public, Council Members, borough and district councils and delivery partners.
Annexes:
Annex 1: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Annex 2: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Annex 3: Travel plan good practice guide
Annex 4: Car clubs guidance
Annex 5: Public consultation summary report
Annex 6: Clean Air Strategy response to Government 14.08.2018
Sources/background papers:
n/a

Page 49

8

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 1
8

Surrey
Transport Plan
Low Emissions Transport
Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
November 2018

Page 51

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Alternative formats
Surrey County Council has actively considered the needs of blind
and partially sighted people in accessing this document.
We are happy to give information in either large print or in another
language. If you want this service please call us on 03456 009
009.
If you have other needs in this regard please contact Surrey
County Council in one of the following ways.
In writing
Surrey County Council Contact Centre
Room 296-298
County Hall
Kingston upon Thames
Surrey KT1 2DN
By phone
03456 009 009
SMS: 07860 053 465
Online
Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk
www.surreycc.gov.uk/cleanertravel

Page 52

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Contents
Foreword

.....................................................................................................................4

Executive summary ..................................................................................................................5
Glossary and abbreviations ......................................................................................................7
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................10
2. Defining the Problems.......................................................................................................12
3. Opportunities and challenges ...........................................................................................19
4. Aim and preferred approach .............................................................................................21
5. Delivery and funding .........................................................................................................22
6. Indicators ........................................................................................................................29
Appendix 1:

Air quality management areas – frequently asked questions .........................30

Appendix 2:

Map of air quality management areas in Surrey.............................................34

Appendix 3:

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in Surrey and their pollutants ........35

Appendix 4:

Surrey AQMAs and levels of NO2 ...................................................................37

Appendix 5:

Policy context .................................................................................................44
Air quality ........................................................................................................44
National climate change policy and local context ...........................................47

Appendix 6:

Schedule of opportunities and challenges......................................................49

Page 53

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Foreword
The Government has set a long term vision for walking
and cycling to be the natural choice for shorter
journeys, for an improved customer experience of
public transport and for nearly every car and van on
UK roads to be a zero emissions by 2050.

Mike Goodman
Cabinet Member for the
Environment and
Transport

Colin Kemp
Cabinet Member for Place

Improving air quality and reducing carbon emissions is
a joint responsibility, involving the county council,
boroughs and districts. Together, we will work with
businesses and communities to find effective solutions
which reduce emissions from transport and support
sustainable economic growth and healthy and vibrant
places.
Surrey has significant potential for adopting ultra low
emissions vehicles, an extensive rail network and
excellent standards in cycle training. However, there
are many challenges such as some rural areas being
highly dependent on cars to reach services and
employment opportunities.
Whilst additional funding for measures has been
announced, this is limited in relation to the scale of the
challenge. We will continue to secure funding and
seek the right balance between voluntary measures
and tighter regulations and between issues today and
in the long term. This strategy sets out our ambition to
work together to reduce polluting emissions from
transport in Surrey; for the benefit of everyone who
lives or works in Surrey.

Page 54

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Executive summary
This is the Surrey Low Emissions Transport Strategy, which is part of the Surrey
Transport Plan1. It covers emissions from transport which are harmful to health and
the environment including local air pollutants and greenhouse gases (together
referred to as ‘polluting emissions’).
Surrey County Council recognises the significant health and environmental problems
of air pollution and climate change. As the highway authority, the county council has
a specific duty to work with districts and boroughs to bring forward measures to
improve air quality.
Since last publishing our Air Quality Strategy (2016) further evidence has emerged
on the damaging effects of air pollution, most notably the Royal College of
Physicians report2 in 2016 which raised the profile of research into the quantification
of deaths attributable to specific air pollutants. Furthermore, since publishing the
Surrey Transport Plan’s Climate Change Strategy in 2011, which is superseded by
this new strategy, the environmental, social and economic cases to limit climate
change has become ever more compelling and urgent.
Monitoring shows there are breaches to legal limits for air pollution in localised areas
across Surrey for nitrogen dioxide. Also particulate emissions have adverse health
impacts across the whole county, contributing to 5% of deaths in Surrey3.
While air quality has improved in some areas of Surrey, others have been identified
and declared as places where action is required. Reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions from transport are currently lagging behind reductions in other sectors.
Reducing particulate and nitrogen dioxide emissions from vehicles could significantly
improve public health in Surrey, particularly for the most vulnerable in our
communities. There are significant opportunities for sustainable transport options to
simultaneously support clean economic growth, increase physical activity and reduce
emissions contributing to local air pollution and climate change.
Our aim is to reduce polluting emissions from road transport across the county and
work with partners to achieve legal compliance for air quality locally.

The Surrey Transport Plan is Surrey’s third (and current) statutory local transport plan, and is often
referred to as LTP3.
2 Royal College of Physicians. Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution. Report of a
working party. London: RCP, 2016.
3 Public Health Outcomes Framework Indicator 3.01
1

Page 55

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

The county council’s strategy for reducing polluting emissions from transport is by:


Improving transport networks and infrastructure for sustainable travel such
as highway improvements for walking, cycling and passenger transport
and supporting the growth of Surrey’s public EV charge point network.



Travel behaviour change such as initiatives and campaigns in
schools/workplaces, road safety initiatives to create a safer environment
for walking and cycling, expanding car clubs, encouraging lift sharing,
raising awareness and public understanding of air quality and climate
change.



Partnership working such as working with district and borough councils on
air quality matters, advising on transport impacts of new development,
strategic planning input to Local Plans and partnerships with transport
providers for modal shift and lower emissions vehicles, including bus
companies and train operators.



Reducing emissions from the council’s own estate and operations such as
influencing staff business travel, procuring electric vehicles / ultra-low
emissions fleet vehicles where viable and where value for money is shown
and opportunities in highways operations and maintenance supply chain.

Funding is essential for delivery and we will work with all relevant partners to secure
external funding to improve local air quality and reduce countywide greenhouse gas
emissions.
This strategy supports the council’s 2030 vision that residents live in clean, safe and
green communities, where people and organisations embrace their environmental
responsibilities

.

Page 56

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Glossary and abbreviations
The table below provides a glossary, which includes abbreviated terms found in this
document.

4

Term

Description

µg/m3

Micrograms per cubic metre; in this context, it is used to illustrate
the level of pollutant present in a given area.

Air Quality Action Plan

A plan developed by a local authority to address the areas of
poor air quality that have been identified within an Air Quality
Management Area.

Air Quality Management
Area (AQMA)

Where local authorities find locations where pollutant levels are
not likely to meet or are already not meeting national objectives,
the authority must declare an air quality management area
(AQMA).

Air Quality Standard
(AQS)

A concentration of a pollutant recorded over a given time (e.g.
annually) considered to be acceptable in terms of what is known
scientifically about the effects of each pollutant on health and the
environment4.

Annual Status Report
(ASR)

Report produced by district/borough councils describing air
quality in their area, submitted annually to DEFRA.

Committee on Climate
Change (CCC)

Committee providing independent advice to government on
building a low-carbon economy and preparing for climate change.

Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL)

A form of monetary contributions collected from developers by
district/borough councils for infrastructure in the local area.

Carbon dioxide (CO2)

A greenhouse gas which contributes to global warming and
climate change.

Department for
Environment, Food and
Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

UK government department responsible for safeguarding the
natural environment, supporting the food and farming industry
and sustaining the rural economy.

Department for Transport
(DfT)

A ministerial department which supports the transport network
across the UK to keep people and goods travelling around the
country; plan and invest in transport infrastructure.

Emissions standards

Emissions standards were first introduced in 1992 by the
European Union and refer to the level of emissions produced by a
given vehicle. The ‘Euro 6’ emissions standard is the most recent,
and the strictest yet in relation to permitted pollutant levels from a
vehicle.

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-limits

Page 57

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

5

Term

Description

Greenhouse gases (GHG)

Gases that are known to trap heat within the atmosphere and
contribute to global warming and climate change. Examples are
carbon dioxide, ozone, methane and nitrous oxide.

Local Air Quality
Management (LAQM)

The process through which local air quality is monitored and
reported.

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2)

An air pollutant, see ‘Nitrogen oxides’ below.

Nitrogen oxides (NOX)

Made up of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and nitric oxide (NO), released
from combustion processes of domestic, industrial and road
transport (engines). Exposure to high levels can cause
inflammation of the airways, and NO2 can increase susceptibility
to respiratory infections and allergens5

Ozone (O3)

Gas formed when other pollutants react in the atmosphere)6;

Public Health Outcomes
Framework (PHOF)

The Public Health Outcomes Framework examines indicators that
help us understand trends in public health and sets out outcomes
to be achieved across the public health system.

Particulate Matter (PM)
PM2.5
PM10

A form of air pollution consisting of fine particles, typically below
ten micrometres in diameter, which can cause damage to human
health. PM2.5 consists of smaller sized particles less than 2.5
micrometres in size. PM10 consists of slightly larger sized
particles less than 10 micrometres in size. In relation to transport,
PM includes combustion particles from petrol or diesel engines
and tyre and brake wear from all motorised vehicles.

Royal College of
Physicians (RCP)

The Royal College of Physicians (RCP) aims to improve patient
care and reduce illness. It is an independent patient centred and
clinically led organisation, that drives improvement in the
diagnosis of disease, the care of individual patients and the
health of the whole population both in the UK and across the
globe

Section 106 Agreement

A form of monetary contributions paid by developers to the
council for infrastructure related to their development.

Sulphur dioxide (SO2)

Emitted primarily as a result of combustion of sulphur containing
fuels in power stations (for heat and electricity). It can cause
irritation to the respiratory system, causing constriction of the
airways. Short-term exposure to high concentrations can have
significant effects on health.7

Surrey Air Alliance

An officer level group bringing together representatives from
districts/boroughs and Surrey County Council (Transport and
Public Health), to discuss local air quality issues.

Surrey Energy and
Sustainability Partnership

A collaborative group involving the county council, all 11 borough
and district councils, focusing on improving household energy
efficiency working through Action Surrey.

Defra/DfT 2017 ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations’ Technical Report.

6

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/communications/laqm_changes/supporting_documents/LAQM%20Policy
%20Guidance%202016.pdf
7 Defra/DfT 2017 ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations’ Technical Report.

Page 58

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

8

8

Term

Description

Surrey Health and
Wellbeing Board

A county council committee where representatives from the NHS,
public health, social care, local councillors and user
representatives work together to improve the health and
wellbeing of the people of Surrey.

Surrey Transport Plan
(LTP3)

The county council’s statutory Local Transport Plan, currently in
its third version and available to view online at
www.surreycc.gov.uk/surreytransportplan

Ultra-Low Emission
Vehicles (ULEVs)

Vehicles which use low carbon technologies, emit less than 75g
of CO2 per kilometre from the tailpipe / exhaust, or is capable of
operating zero tailpipe emission mode for a range of at least ten
miles8

World Health Organization
(WHO)

The WHO works with governments and other partners to ensure
the highest attainable level of health for all people, seeking to
ensure the safety of food and water and the air people breathe.

https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/technology-innovation/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-ulevs/

Page 59

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

1. Introduction
1.1

This is the Low Emissions Transport Strategy, which is part of the Surrey
Transport Plan. It covers pollutants which are known to be emitted by local
transport and which damage health and the environment. These are
principally nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM) and greenhouse
gas emissions, including carbon dioxide (CO2), which are causing climate
change.

1.2

The Surrey Transport Plan is now on its third version (LTP3) and runs to
2026. This particular strategy has been reviewed in 2018 and will be kept
under review in light of future changes in government policy and local
priorities.

1.3

A low emissions transport network has multiple benefits including greater long
term economic and community prosperity and improved health and wellbeing.

1.4

Road transport is a major source of NO2, particulate matter and greenhouse
gases and measures to address air quality and reduce greenhouse gases are
often complementary.

1.5

However, measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions across the county
will not, on their own, be sufficient to return air quality to safe levels for human
health in the shortest possible timeframe and vice versa, reducing emissions
only in declared areas of air pollution will not sufficiently reduce overall carbon
emissions in the long term. This means we need both a more immediate
approach to reductions in AQMAs and strategic and long term approach to
county wide carbon emissions reduction.

1.6

Having a strategy which considers both air quality and climate change
together, ensures that resources are used effectively and opposing or
conflicting actions are avoided where possible. If compromises are needed
between objectives, these should be considered in a balanced way to
consider benefits to both air quality and climate change.

1.7

Furthermore, the legislative context is different for the issues of air quality and
climate change. Air quality has tightly prescribed and regulated emission
levels applicable at a local level. Climate change is driven by national and
international level agreements to reduce overall emissions, with policy aims
across sectors, including within land use planning and local transport policy.

Page 60

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

1.8

The county council and borough and district councils across Surrey are taking
steps to reduce emissions from across the local transport network and in air
quality in target areas. However while there is a strong case to reduce
emissions for health, economic and environmental reasons, available funding
is currently insufficient and county council capital borrowing is severely
constrained.

1.9

This strategy provides evidence of the problem in Surrey and sets out the
county council’s approach and activities, in the context of funding challenges.

Page 61

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

2. Defining the Problems
2.1

Air pollution is the largest environmental risk to public health. It contributes to
cardiovascular disease, lung cancer and respiratory diseases. Bad air quality
affects everyone and it has a disproportionate impact on the young and old,
the sick and the poor9.

2.2

Climate change will have impacts at all scales. Parts of Surrey are already
badly affected by flooding, and this is likely to become more frequent and
severe with climate change, along with the extensive impacts of climate
change nationally and globally.

Air quality
What causes air quality problems?
2.3

Air pollutants from transport sources that impact significantly on health are
Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (both PM10 and PM2.5). Where
pollutant levels are shown to be higher than nationally set acceptable levels
(known as ‘Air Quality Objectives’), locations are declared Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs). For more information on AQMAs, please see
Appendix 1 (Frequently Asked Questions). All AQMAs in Surrey to date have
been declared in relation to excessive nitrogen dioxide (NO2). The primary
source of both NO2 and also particulate matter in Surrey is road traffic. This
reflects the national picture, where transport is identified as the main source of
pollution in most AQMAs10.

2.4

Although road traffic volumes in Surrey are significantly higher than those
experienced nationally or elsewhere in the South East11, the AQMAs declared
are localised to limited sections of the county and Highways England road
networks. The exception is the borough of Spelthorne which has been
designated in its entirety as an AQMA.

2.5

In combination with high road traffic flows, the typical conditions that can give
rise to air pollution in exceedance of the national air quality objectives are as
shown in Table 2.1 below.

Defra and Public Health England (2017) Air Quality: A briefing for Directors of Public Health
DEFRA ‘Air Pollution in the UK 2016’ (2017: 15)
11 Surrey County Council ‘Surrey Congestion Programme’ (2014)
9

10

Page 62

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Table 2.1: Typical conditions that can give rise to air pollution problems12
Highway
characteristics

Explanation

Example in Surrey

Narrow highlytrafficked streets
with residential
properties close to
the kerb
Busy streets where
people may spend
1-hour or more close
to traffic

Concentrations are often higher where
traffic is slow moving, with stop/start
driving, and where buildings on either
side reduce dispersion

Compton, Guildford

There will be some street locations
where individuals may regularly spend
1-hour or more, for example, streets
with many shops and streets with
outdoor cafes and bars
There will be some street locations
where traffic flows are not necessarily
high (fewer than 20,000 vehicles per
day) but there is an unusually high
proportion of buses and/or HGVs

Cobham High Street.
This could also
include well-used
footpaths alongside
busy roads.
Redhill town centre

Concentrations are usually higher
close to junctions, due to the
combined impact of traffic emissions
on two roads, and to the higher
emissions due to stop-start driving

Anchor Hill, Knaphill;
Level crossings, in
Runnymede and
Reigate & Banstead;
Sunbury Cross,
Spelthorne;
Crooked Billet
Roundabout, Staines.
No AQMAs declared
in Surrey on this basis
currently.
No AQMAs declared
in Surrey on this basis
currently.

Roads with a high
flow of buses and/or
heavy goods
vehicles (HGVs)
(which tend to be
more polluting per
vehicle than cars or
vans.)
Junctions

Roads with
significantly changed
traffic flows
Bus and coach
stations

2.6

For instance due to new
developments
There may be exposure to air
pollution at bus stations or sections of
bus stations that are not enclosed,
including at nearby residential
properties

The number of monitoring locations are limited by cost and practical reasons,
therefore it is possible that some undesignated areas could exceed the
national air quality objectives and some areas are at levels approaching the
threshold for declaring an AQMA.

Defra (2016) Local Air Quality Management: Technical Guidance Table 7.1: Screening Assessment
of Road Traffic Sources

12

Page 63

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

2.7

This suggests that, in addition to developing mitigation measures for
designated AQMAs, measures which reduce NO2 and particulate emissions
over wider areas should be considered. This approach will also reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and support a transition towards a low carbon
economy.
What is the extent of air quality problems in Surrey?

2.8

Overall, the long term trend since the industrial revolution has been general
improvement in air quality. This has been achieved through tightening controls
on emissions from industry, transport and domestic sources13.

2.9

However, in the transport sector, total distance travelled has been
increasing14 and whilst some vehicles have got cleaner, ‘real world’ emissions
have not reduced as much as expected, especially for diesel vehicles.

2.10

There are 28 locations15 in Surrey that are AQMAs, meaning that they
experience high levels of pollutants that are above national limits. A list of all
AQMAs in Surrey is attached as Appendix 3. In Surrey, the main pollutants
are NO2 and PM10. PM2.5 is also considered to be an issue although no
AQMAs have been declared on this basis to date; PM2.5 is not routinely
measured by local authorities. There is ongoing partnership work to produce a
county-wide model which will show areas affected by PM2.5.

2.11

Nine of the eleven boroughs and districts in Surrey have declared AQMAs in
their areas. Mole Valley and Tandridge have not declared any to date.
Appendix 2 shows the location and extent of AQMAs in Surrey and further
details are provided in Appendix 3, along with the pollutants for which they
were declared. Each AQMA varies in size, from those specific to junctions or
stretches of roads, up to the full area of an individual borough/district.
Appendix 4 provide further information on AQMA pollution levels.

Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), 2017
Transport Statistics Great Britain 2017, published by the Department for transport and available at
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-statistics-great-britain-2017
15 As of November 2018
13
14

Page 64

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

What are the health and environmental impacts of poor air quality?
2.12

Poor air quality has detrimental effects on human health and the environment.
The Public Health Outcome Framework16 reports that 4.6% of deaths in
Surrey during 2015 were attributable to particulate air pollution.

2.13

Children, older people, pregnant women and people with long term health
conditions are more vulnerable to the effects of air pollution.

2.14

Areas of high deprivation suffer a greater burden from air pollution-related ill
health, contributing to inequalities in health (Royal College of Physicians,
2016; World Health Organization17).

2.15

It is recognised in the government’s air quality strategy that:
“Exposure to air pollution can have a long-term effect on health, associated in
particular with premature mortality due to cardiopulmonary (heart and lung)
effects. In the short-term, high pollution episodes can trigger increased
admissions to hospital and contribute to the premature death of those people
that are more vulnerable to daily changes in levels of air pollutants. Air
pollution also has negative impacts on our environment, both in terms of direct
effects of pollutants on vegetation, and indirectly through effects on the acid
and nutrient status of soils and waters.”18

2.16

The health and environment effects of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter
are further detailed in Appendix 5.

2.17

Pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers and passengers in vehicles are all affected
Occupants of vehicles having been shown to be exposed to the same, if not
higher high levels of pollutants: “High pollutant exposure levels in urban
areas, particularly under typical commute driving conditions, exposes vehicle
occupants to health risks that are often significantly greater than that for those
travelling by other modes”19.
Why have AQMAs been revoked in Surrey in the past?

2.18

Four AQMAs have been revoked since 2011 where concentrations of
pollutants have reduced to below the legal maximum level (leaving 26 AQMA
locations in Surrey that have not yet been revoked). There are a number of
factors at play which may have helped reduce pollutant levels, so it is not

PHOF Indicator 3.01
http://www.who.int/airpollution/ambient/health-impacts/en/
18 Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Defra, July 2007), Volume
1, para 14)
19 https://travelwest.info/project/ee-162-air-pollution-exposure-among-motor-vehicle-occupants
16
17

Page 65

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

possible to state a firm reason why pollutants have fallen in some locations
and not others.







M23 (South) – revoked due to a fall in the pollutant levels meant that
the objectives were met and the AQMA could be revoked.
A217 Rushworth Road, Reigate – revoked due to a fall in the pollutant
levels meant that the objectives were met and the AQMA could be
revoked.
A23 / Dean Lane, Hooley – revoked due to a fall in the pollutant levels
meant that the objectives were met and the AQMA could be revoked.
However, note that while this stretch of the A23 was revoked, a larger
stretch was declared an AQMA, also in Hooley.
Hindhead – revoked following reduced emissions in the town centre
after construction of the Hindhead Tunnel on the A3 in 2011, which
diverted traffic away from the village.

Greenhouse gas (carbon) emissions
Sources of greenhouse gas (carbon) emissions from transport
2.19

At a national level cars contribute over half of all transport sector emissions,
with HGVs and vans as the next largest contributors (Figure 2.1). In this
strategy we will refer to all greenhouse gases (GHGs) i.e. those which
contribute to climate change, as ‘carbon emissions’.
Cars
14%
HGVs
4%

Total UK GHG
emissions were 496
MtCO2e in 2015

Vans
4%
Buses
1%
Rail <1%
Other transport
1%

Other sectors
76%

Figure 2.1 Share of domestic transport GHG emissions (2015) (Source:
Committee on Climate Change)

Page 66

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Level of carbon emissions from transport in Surrey
2.20

Surrey has a higher than average proportion of carbon emissions from
transport compared to other sectors, due to high traffic volumes and low
levels of industry. This includes through traffic on the strategic road network
(M25, M3, M23 and A3) passing through the county. Variations between
boroughs and districts reflect the layout of the strategic road network; with
areas such as Guildford and Tandridge having the highest emissions and
Woking and Epsom & Ewell having the lowest emissions. Comparisons
between areas on this basis are not informative for targeting carbon reduction
measures.

2.21

The change in road transport carbon emissions in Surrey between 2005 and
2015 is shown in the chart below20. Emissions have reduced over the past
decade, however there has been a slight but concerning increase in recent
years. There may be a variety of factors influencing this, including improving
the accuracy of the calculation of emissions factors and increases in distance
travelled in particular by vans and HGVs.
Carbon emissions from Transport in Surrey: 2005 to 2015
(Source: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics)
4,000.0
3,500.0

CO2 emissions (kTonnes)

3,000.0
2,500.0
2,000.0
1,500.0
1,000.0
500.0
@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

@

Figure 2.2 Carbon emissions from transport in Surrey 2005 to 2015
2.22

Overall carbon emissions from road transport are dependent on the emissions
per mile and the total miles driven. Over the past five years nationally,
emissions intensity i.e. the amount of carbon emissions per km travelled
(gCO2/km) has reduced but total distances travelled have increased. This
emissions intensity improvement is due to a combination of petrol and diesel
fuel efficiency improvements and to a lesser extent the increasing use of

20 UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2015 (BEIS,
2015)

Page 67

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

electric vehicles. Numbers of biofuel vehicles (fueled by biodiesel and
bioethanol which also produce lower carbon emissions) have remained
steady21.
2.23

At a national level, the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) advises that the
transport sector’s contribution to overall carbon emissions reductions should
be a 44% reduction in emissions between 2016 and 2030. This comprises a
shift to sustainable modes of transport, an increase in electric and biofuel
vehicles, emissions reductions from petrol and diesel vehicles and efficiency
improvements in the freight industry22.
Council vehicle fleet

2.24

Carbon emissions from the county council’s vehicle fleet and staff business
travel vary year on year. There was a small reduction in emissions between
2011/12 and 2016/17, but there were large fluctuations in the intervening
years, which occurred because of a range of factors, including variations in
service demand, such as the Fire and Rescue Service response to floods
which had large impacts on fuel consumption.
What are the impacts of climate change?

2.25

Climate change will have numerous negative impacts on people and natural
systems around the world. If emissions are not reduced, countries will face
severe impacts, ranging from disruption and loss of life from more extreme
weather events to far reaching impacts such as food shortages and mass
migration. The Met Office provides further information of the global impacts,
based on international evidence23.

2.26

In the context of the south east of England, localised risks for Surrey include
drought, extreme heatwaves, flash flooding, major river flooding incidents,
land movement, severe environmental pollution and the spread of infectious
human and animal diseases and wildfires24.

2.27

Climate change has been predicted to lead to an increase in the frequency
and severity of summer heatwaves, which is expected to further exacerbate
air quality problems, through a higher frequency of summer pollution
episodes25.

Committee on Climate Change (2017) Report to Parliament
Committee on Climate Change (2017) Report to Parliament
23 Met Office (2018) https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate-guide
24 Surrey’s Local Resilience Forum Strategic Climate Change Guidance (2016)
25 Defra (2007) Air Quality and Climate Change: A UK Perspective
21
22

Page 68

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

3. Opportunities and challenges
3.1

Changes in lifestyles, new technology and new vehicle ownership models are
creating opportunities to act to reduce emissions from travel, against a
backdrop of increased public concern over the impact of emissions on health
and climatic change. However, these effects are offset to some degree by an
increasing demand for travel. A schedule of opportunities and challenges with
regards to reducing emissions in Surrey is included as Appendix 6.

Case studies of opportunities
Car club including electric vehicles
3.2

The principal car club in Surrey is operated by Enterprise, in partnership with
the county council. There are currently 23 car club vehicles in operation within
Surrey of which roughly a quarter are electric and further vehicle locations are
planned. Car clubs in general provide opportunities for more efficient and
flexible travel, reducing the need to own a car and discouraging unnecessary
car travel. Car clubs and more specifically, EVs have proven popular with
users in Surrey and are offered at cheaper rates to petrol or diesel fuelled
cars.
Emissions based parking charges for car park season ticket holders

3.3

Woking Borough Council has introduced graduated parking charges for
season ticket holders based on the CO2 emission rating of the vehicle. A 50%
discount is given for drivers of the lowest emission vehicles (‘CO2 band A’)
and; a 25% discount is permitted for ‘band B’ vehicles. Those rated in ‘band
G’ must pay a 25% surcharge.
EV charge points at county council workplaces and on street

3.4

Through government grants, SCC has installed a small network of EV charge
points in county council workplaces, at highways depots and also three onstreet charge points in Guildford. These points are currently available to car
club users and staff. It is intended that the emerging SCC Electric Vehicle
Strategy (2018) will help us to provide more charge points and make them
accessible to more users.

Page 69

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Green scheme for electric vehicles26
3.5

Guildford Borough Council has initiated a Green Scheme to incentivise
electric car use in the borough. The permit scheme allows owners of electric
vehicles to access discounted car parking in public car parks. The scheme
does not apply to short-stay spaces.
Anti-idling campaign

3.6

26

Together with Reigate and Banstead Borough Council, SCC installed antiidling banners encouraging drivers to turn off their engines while waiting at the
approaches to Reigate level crossing, and so reduce their vehicle emissions
with the aim of improving local air quality. A downward trend in pollutants was
observed within the vicinity of the level crossing.

https://www.guildford.gov.uk/carparks

Page 70

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

4. Aim and preferred approach

Low emissions transport strategy aim
To reduce polluting emissions from road transport across the county which are
harmful to health and the environment, and work with partners to achieve legal
compliance for air quality locally.

3.7

The county council will reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, nitrous oxides
and particulate matter and reduce exposure to poor air quality, through four
key opportunity areas:
i.

Transport networks and infrastructure for sustainable travel such as
highway improvements for walking, cycling and passenger transport and
supporting the growth of Surrey’s public EV charge point network.

ii.

Travel behaviour change such as initiatives and campaigns in schools
and workplaces, road safety initiatives, expanding car clubs, encouraging
lift sharing, raising awareness and public understanding of air quality and
climate change.

iii.

Partnership working such as working with district and borough councils
on air quality matters, advising on transport impacts of new development,
strategic planning input to Local Plans and partnerships with transport
providers for modal shift and lower emissions vehicles, including bus
companies and train operators.

iv.

Reducing emissions from the council’s own estate and operations
such as influencing staff business travel, procuring electric vehicles / ultralow emissions fleet vehicles where viable and where value for money is
shown and opportunities in highways operations and maintenance supply
chain.

Page 71

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

5. Delivery and funding
5.1

Many activities to minimise and reduce emissions from transport are already
ongoing and the council will continue to deliver these and seek funding where
necessary, to secure the future of these and expand their scale and scope. A
number of additional opportunities are identified for the council to investigate
further.

5.2

Activities to deliver this strategy are set out in Table 5.1.
Table 5.1: Activities to deliver the Low Emissions Transport Strategy

Action
Transport networks and infrastructure for sustainable
travel
Opportunities to reduce emissions will be considered
within Surrey County Council’s Local Transport Strategy
for each district and borough, and scheme proposals that
result will be added to the corresponding Forward
Programme.
Develop and implement Local cycling plans for each
district and borough that are responsive to local needs
and concerns for the development of high quality and
joined up cycle routes (see Cycling strategy)
Develop walking strategy, considering issues such as
surface maintenance, vegetation growth, pedestrian
segregation from heavy traffic, filtered permeability and
street-user hierarchy which prioritises pedestrians more
than today, removing pavement clutter, preventing
parking on pavement, preventing ‘rat-running’ and actual
and perceived safety issues.
Vehicle and cycle parking standards include guidelines
for provision of EV charging points in new developments
Review of signal timings endeavours to encourage
walking and cycling, whilst not excessively increasing
queueing traffic.
HGV re-routing away from AQMAs, whilst taking account
of local business needs and where this does not cause
negative air quality impacts elsewhere.

Page 72

Lead service

Transport Policy

Transport Policy

Transport Policy

Boroughs and
Districts to
implement
Network
Management
Network
Management

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Co-ordinate roadworks to minimize congestion impacts
and temporary emissions increases
Take account of air quality issues in reviews of parking
and loading restrictions via the Controlled Parking Zone
rolling programme
Keep up to date with opportunities and the evidence base
for emissions-based parking charges and/or Workplace
Parking Levy, including at county council buildings
Make rights of way more useful/suited for every day
journeys to work and school, through Rights of Way
strategic plan

Network
Management
Highways

Action
Travel behaviour change

Lead service

Continue comprehensive offer of Bikeability cycle training
to pupils and bespoke training for adults

Road Safety and
Active Travel

Support schools to develop and implement travel plans
using ModeSHIFT stars and deliver campaigns and
initiatives including ‘Walk It’
DriveSMART campaign and partnership initiatives

Road Safety and
Active Travel
Living Streets
Road Safety
and Active Travel

Seek funding for further sustainable travel campaigns and
events to promote increased walking, cycling and public
transport use
Raise public awareness and understanding of air quality27
via Healthy Surrey website and self-help for vulnerable
people in the most severe periods of air pollution via the
Air Alert service28.

Road Safety
and Active Travel

Investigate non-infrastructure policy incentives for EVs
through EV strategy implementation

Transport Policy

Liftsharing website for workplaces, council staff and the
public https://liftshare.com/uk/community/surrey

Liftshare

Transport Policy

Countryside

Surrey Air
Alliance

From National Highways and Transport surveys we know that people care about air quality, but that
they felt uninformed about the issue.
28 The Air Alert system within Surrey operates in 7 districts and boroughs; find out more at:
http://www.airalert.info/surrey/default.aspx
27

Page 73

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Action
Partnership working
Work collaboratively with boroughs and districts to
improve air quality in AQMAs and county-wide
background air pollution and carbon emissions reduction,
in particular working with district and borough councils to
support them to monitor and assess air pollution levels
and develop and delivering joint Air Quality action plans in
AQMAs
Work with public transport operators to increase the
appeal of public transport e.g. bus priority schemes,
public transport interchange improvements and lobbying
for rail improvements including electrification and
capacity improvements via Surrey Rail Strategy
Work with public transport operators to reduce emissions
from buses and community transport where most feasible,
including delivery of electric buses and bus charging
points at Park and Ride for Guildford
Review evidence and national policy to take account of
impact on air quality when setting local speed limits, in
future review of county speed limit policy.
Work with car club operator to expand car hire, including
electric vehicles, for personal and business use which
reduces the need to own a car (see Car Club strategy)
Review Surrey Transport Plan Freight strategy to give
additional weight to air quality problems and consider
ways to tackle emissions Heavy Goods Vehicles e.g.
supporting infrastructure for low emissions HGV fuels
learning from the Low Emissions Freight and Logistics
Trail29 and re-routing. Also to address the growth in
mileage and emissions of Light Goods Vehicles (vans)
e.g. through and low emissions local delivery
partnerships/technology solutions.
Develop business plan to procure partner to install and
operate electric vehicle charge points on-street and offstreet strategic locations

Lead service
Transport Policy
and Boroughs
and Districts

Strategic
Transport

Strategic
Transport

Road Safety
and Active Travel
Transport
Development
Planning
Transport Policy

Transport Policy

Low Emissions Freight and Logistics Trial (LEFT). In 2017, OLEV and Innovate UK awarded £20
million of grant funding to 20 projects, leveraging £12m in private investment. The aim is to support
industry-led trials of alternative propulsion technologies for commercial fleets in the UK, including
electricity, hydrogen and gas. This will include emissions testing of a number of the latest gas HGVs.
The results of this testing will be used to inform decisions on future government policy and support for
natural gas as a potential near term, lower emission fuel for HGVs. (Road to Zero (DfT) 2018)

29

Page 74

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Advise Local Planning Authorities to manage transport
impacts of new developments, apply of Manual for
Streets30 design principles
Provide and co-ordinate strategic planning advice on
Local Plan development
Implement development-related travel plans Good
Practice Guide
Participate in ACT Travelwise to share best practice
across public and private sectors on a regional basis

5.3

30

Transport
Development
Planning
Transport
Development
Planning
Transport
Development
Planning
Transport
Development
Planning

Action
Council’s own operations and estate:

Lead service

Maintain and expand electric vehicle charge points at
council offices (9 charge points in October 2018)

SCC Property

Continue staff Travel Plan to encourage sustainable
travel modes and remote working using technology.
Provide electric pool cars to staff, via car club
Car lease scheme for low emissions cars (less than
75gCO/km)

Corporate /
Business
services

Investigate procurement of lower CO emissions and
higher Euro standard vehicles, including electric vehicles,
in the council fleet, where most operationally feasible and
cost effective
Pilot and evaluate electric fire engine

Highways
Fire and Rescue
Other relevant
services
Fire and Rescue

Investigate street lighting further efficiency and business
case for conversion to LEDs

Highways Asset
Management

Specification of highway maintenance materials and
methods e.g. use of recycled materials and minimizing
waste and carbon emissions

Highways Asset
Management

Surrey’s Local Transport Strategies provide a plan for addressing transport
problems and opportunities on a district and borough basis. These include

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets

Page 75

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

measures to improve air quality, including within AQMAs and should be
informed by Air Quality Action Plans.
Partnership working arrangements for air quality
5.4

The county council will work in partnership with boroughs and districts, as part
of the Surrey Air Alliance, and in reporting to the Surrey Health and Wellbeing
Board, to fulfil its statutory duties, by:











Providing timely responses to all AQMA-related consultations received
from the borough and district councils; enquires should be sent to
surreytransportplan@surreycc.gov.uk;
Meeting reasonable requests for traffic and other data; in support of
this, the county council will develop an air quality data protocol,
including potential charges, if requests cannot be met within existing
resources of the council and/or additional data collection is required;
Incorporating appropriate physical transport measures into
infrastructure schedules e.g. within the local transport strategies31;
agreeing options for amending and enforcing existing parking and
loading regulations e.g. unloading times restricted to off-peak periods;
supporting travel choices that are better for air quality through
appropriate infrastructure provision and consider air quality issues in
planning and other processes and areas of responsibility; and
Bringing air quality-related proposals to the local / joint committees.
Communicating and collaborating with Defra.

5.5

Recognising the need for collective action to address air quality issues,
officers from Surrey’s eleven district and borough councils and Surrey County
Council (Transport Policy and Public Health) formed the Surrey Air Alliance
(SAA) in 2016. The SAA aims to share best practice and work together at an
operational level to address air quality issues across a number of areas,
including: joint approach to communication and awareness raising; influencing
behaviours, such as decisions around vehicle fleets; addressing air quality
through planning policy; and transport and infrastructure measures to reduce
emissions from road traffic, including through increasing uptake of low
emission vehicles.

5.6

Highways England has an important role to play in improving air quality, and
in 2017 released a new Air Quality Strategy32 which includes the intention to

As per government guidance, which suggests that air quality measures should be incorporated into
Local Transport Plans. Delivery will be subject to funding
32 Highways England ‘Our strategy to improve air quality’ 2017:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/634933/N160081_Air_
Quality_Strategy_Final_V18.pdf
31

Page 76

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

support local authorities as they explore options for their local air quality plans
and work with others to develop and deliver policies to improve air quality.
5.7

In conjunction with the relevant lead borough or district council, the county
council will continue to work in partnership with Highways England (HE) to
address air pollution, particularly where AQMAs are declared on the HE
network within Surrey.

5.8

The Surrey Energy and Sustainability Partnership will be consulted where
appropriate however currently this group has a focus on domestic energy
efficiency and does not focus on addressing emissions from transport.
Funding of activities to reduce emissions

5.9

Some activities outlined previously (Table 5.1), are dependent on securing
funding, if these are not statutory responsibilities. There is no specific funding
within current Surrey County Council budgets specifically to address air
quality or carbon emissions reduction.

5.10

Funding for the delivery of sustainable transport schemes and congestion
relief schemes which have air quality and carbon reduction objectives
integrated within them, is drawn from:








5.11

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) ‘Local Growth’ and ‘Structural’
funds)
Borough, district and county council capital match funding, where
available
Developer contributions e.g. Section 106 and Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) or successor schemes
Defra Clean Air Fund
Defra for grants to aid air quality monitoring33
Department for Transport direct funding schemes
Other funding sources including charities, when and where available.

CIL and LEP-funded schemes are identified through the Surrey Transport
Plan process and the associated local transport strategies and so these are
very important in seeking to address areas of poor air quality, or trying to
reduce wider emissions. The county council works with borough and district
councils to ensure the schemes are given high priority in the CIL Regulation
123 Lists34 and when calls for funding from the LEP and other sources are
forthcoming.

Borough and District councils can apply for annual funding from Defra for grants to aid air quality
monitoring. The County Council’s Transport Policy and Transport Policy teams can assist in the
development of bids for such funding.
34 The mechanism by which districts and boroughs can allocate funding to certain schemes
33

Page 77

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

The county council and its partners regularly bid for funding from external sources.
Examples of funding bids are given in Table 5.2.
Table 5.2
Fund
Local Growth Fund
(DfT, via Local
Enterprise
Partnerships)

Year
2015-18

Air Quality Grant
scheme (Defra)
Air Quality Grant
scheme (Defra)

2017-18

Low Emissions Bus
Scheme (DfT)
Access Fund for
sustainable travel
revenue fund (DfT)

2017-18

Air Quality Grant
scheme (Defra)

2016-17

Access Fund for
sustainable travel
revenue fund (DfT)
Car Club Challenge
Fund (DfT)
Access Fund for
sustainable travel
revenue fund (DfT)
Go Ultra Low City
scheme (OLEV)

2016-17

2017-18

2017-20

2015-16

Project
Award
Sustainable transport capital
£56m
schemes in towns across Surrey https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roadsand-transport/policies-plansconsultations/major-transportprojects
Awareness and behaviour change
£0.145m
campaign in schools
EuroVI bus retrofit
Bid
submitted,
unsuccessful
9 electric buses for Park and Ride
£1.740m
services in Guildford
Living Streets Walk To: walking
Share of
and cycling to school
£7m pot
across 10
authorities
EV strategy development and EV
Bid
charge points in AQMAs
submitted,
unsuccessful
Travel SMART East Surrey
Bid
expansion
submitted,
unsuccessful
Electric vehicle car club
£0.100m

2015-16

Travel SMART further roll out West
Surrey focus

2014-15

Electric vehicle charge point
network and EV demonstration

Public sector estate
chargepoint scheme

2013-15

Local Sustainable
Transport Fund
(DfT)

2012-15

Electric vehicle charge points at
county council sites and East
Surrey College
Travel SMART in three towns,
including revenue and capital
projects

Page 78

£1.684m

Bid
submitted,
unsuccessful
£ 0.058m

£25.000m

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

6. Indicators
6.1

We will assess the effectiveness of this strategy ahead35 of the next review of
this strategy, using a range of indicators as follows:
Local Air pollution:
 Number of AQMAs within Surrey (total number, new declarations and
areas revoked)
 County wide variations in air pollution levels and health costs
Greenhouse gas emissions:
 Carbon emissions from road transport in Surrey in the context of the
Climate Change Act and the national carbon budgets36
 Carbon emissions from the county council’s vehicle fleet37
 Carbon emissions from council staff business mileage
Travel behaviour:
 Walking and cycling rates from National Travel Survey
 School travel to school mode share
 Number of cycle trips on certain routes
 Number of physically active adults 38
 Bus patronage
 Number of car club members
 Number of electric vehicles registered in Surrey
New infrastructure delivery:
 Length of new segregated and non-segregated cycling routes
 Number of electric vehicle charge points on county council estate
(workplaces and on-highway)
 Number of car club vehicles (and EVs)

From the time of the start of this Low Emissions Transport Strategy (November 2018).
At a national level, the Committee on Climate Change (CCC) projects the cost-effective path for the
transport sector’s contribution to overall carbon emissions reductions is a 44% reduction in emissions
between 2016 and 2030. This comprises an increase in electric vehicles, emissions reduction of
conventional fuel vehicles, an increase in biofuels, freight operator efficiency improvements and
modal shift to active/public transport, against a background increase in population (2017 CCC Report
to Parliament).
37 The council’s has an emissions reduction target of 10% over 5 years, by 2018/19, which covers all
emissions from our estate and operations, including buildings, fleet and business travel.
38 PHOF Indicator 2.13.
35

36

Page 79

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Appendix 1: Air quality management areas –
frequently asked questions

1. What is the air pollution like in Surrey?
Generally, the air quality within Surrey is good. However, in some areas,
monitoring has identified that the average annual level of certain pollutants,
primarily Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) is higher than the Government’s National
Objective for those pollutants. In these cases, districts and boroughs must
declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).
The National Air Quality Strategy sets air quality objectives for England and
Wales. These air quality objectives have been set with health impacts in mind.
The aim is to ensure that everyone is able to enjoy acceptable levels of air
quality that meet these objectives, posing no significant risk to human health
or quality of life.
2. How is air quality monitored?
Under the Local Air Quality Management process (LAQM), District and
Borough councils are responsible for monitoring air quality in their areas.
Usually this is carried out using diffusion tubes, which are sent to laboratories
for analysis. Some districts and boroughs also have real time analysing
equipment. More information about monitoring can be read in each district
and borough’s Annual Status Report (ASR) which can be found on their
websites.
Progress reports are then produced annually using the results from the
monitoring and using modelling programs to assess the air quality in the
borough, and to help inform any action taken to improve air quality.

Page 80

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

3. Where does nitrogen dioxide come from?
The burning of coal, natural gases and fuel produce oxides of nitrogen (NOx)
emissions, mainly in the form of Nitrogen Oxide (NO). Chemical reactions
then occur in the atmosphere with NO, which produces Nitrogen Dioxide. The
main source of NO2 emissions are from tailpipe emissions from internal
combustion engines in road vehicles. The chart below breaks down the main
sources of NOX in the UK.

Source: DEFRA/DfT ‘UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide
concentrations’ Technical Report July 2017 (Figure 1.2, p.10)
4. What are the health effects associated with high NO2 levels?
Nitrogen Dioxide can have both long and short term health effects on humans.
Short term effects include irritation of the eyes and throat and can lead to the
increase of symptoms of respiratory conditions including asthma, and
bronchitis. The long-term health effects will increase the susceptibility to
respiratory conditions among healthy individuals, and lead to gradual
deterioration in health of people already suffering from respiratory problems,
particularly in elderly people.

Page 81

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

5. What is an Air Quality Management Area?
The Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has a
website dedicated to air pollution, and it describes how each local authority in
the UK has been required to carry out assessments of air quality in their area
since December 199739. Where local authorities find locations where pollutant
levels are not likely to meet or are already not meeting national objectives, the
authority must declare an air quality management area (AQMA). The local
authority will then develop an action plan for the AQMA with measures to
improve the air quality in that area and reduce pollutant levels to within legal
limits.
6. What are the implications of an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)?
An AQMA means that, within that area, the levels of a certain pollutant are
above those required by legislation for health reasons. Any declaration, in
summary, means that further monitoring of that pollutant has to be undertaken
and a plan has to be put in place to improve the air quality within it. Therefore,
the implications of an AQMA are all to encourage positive steps.
7. How many local authorities have declared AQMAs in Surrey?
Nationally, over 250 local authorities have active AQMAs declared within their
boroughs. Within Surrey, 9 of the 11 districts and boroughs have one or more
designated AQMAs. Further information on where AQMAs have been
declared can be obtained from https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/maps.
8. What steps are local authorities taking to resolve the matter?
Where they declare an AQMA, districts/boroughs must aim to produce an Air
Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has to be produced within 12 months. The AQAP
is produced in consultation with Surrey County Council as the highways
authority, and will identify steps which can be implemented to try improve the
Air Quality within the AQMA below the national objectives.
9. What role does the county council have in local air quality
management?
Under the Environment Act 1995, the county council can make
recommendations to the district/borough council in respect of any air quality
review and assessment, and the preparation of any particular action plan or
revision to an action plan.

39

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/

Page 82

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

The county council is also a statutory consultee on Annual Status Reports40.
In practice this means that the county council will engage with districts and
boroughs where potential AQMAs become apparent, and when they are
declared will engage and inform the development of the Air Quality Action
Plan; input could include traffic surveys and potential options for reducing
pollutant levels through highway measures.
10. Does the AQMA stay in place forever?
No. Following a review, and AQMA can be revoked entirely or reduced if
pollutant levels have dropped below the required limits, and will continue to be
below these limits. Usually, this is after three straight years of compliant
levels.
11. Where can I find copies of district/borough council’s air quality reports
and details of declared AQMAs?
All annual air quality status reports are filed and submitted to DEFRA who
then publish the reports on their website.

40

Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (PG16) April 2016; Defra

Page 83

8

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Appendix 2: Map of air quality management areas in Surrey
Source: GIS
dataset
downloaded
from DEFRA
November
2018.

Page 84

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Appendix 3: Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAs) in Surrey and their pollutants

Borough or
district

Name of AQMA

Number
Pollutants
of
properties
affected

Highway
authority

Elmbridge

Esher High Street

61

NO2

Surrey CC

Walton Road, Molesey

237

NO2

Surrey CC

Weybridge High St

78

NO2

Surrey CC

Walton High Street

27

NO2

Surrey CC

Cobham High Street

90

NO2

Surrey CC

Hampton Court

567

NO2

Surrey CC

Hinchley Wood

137

NO2

Surrey CC

Epsom &
Ewell

Ewell High Street

>10

NO2

Surrey CC

Guildford

The Street, Compton

3

NO2

Surrey CC

Reigate &
Banstead

M25

53

NO2

Highways
England

Horley (near Gatwick)

1568

NO2

Surrey CC,
West Sussex
CC and
Highways
England

A217 / Blackhorse
Lane

1

NO2

Surrey CC

A2022/A240 Drift
Bridge

2

NO2

Surrey CC

Reigate High Street /
West Street

197

NO2

Surrey CC

A23 Merstham High
Street

37

NO2

Surrey CC

A217 Reigate Hill

111

NO2

Surrey CC

Page 85

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

A23 / Redhill Town
Centre

35

NO2

Surrey CC

A23 Hooley

52

NO2

Highways
England

M25/ Egham and
Pooley Green

40

NO2 & PM10

Highways
England

Addlestone town centre 174

NO2

Surrey CC

Spelthorne

Whole
borough

NO2

Surrey CC
and
Highways
England

Surrey Heath Camberley

105

NO2 & PM10

Highways
England

Waverley

Farnham

483

NO2

Surrey CC

Godalming

40

NO2

Surrey CC

Anchor Hill

33

NO2

Surrey CC

A320 Guildford Road,
Woking

4 houses
plus
frontage of
The
Heights

NO2

Surrey CC

Runnymede

Spelthorne

Woking

Last updated: November 2018
Air Quality Management Areas as per Defra web site 13 November 2018. https://ukair.defra.gov.uk/aqma/list?la=S&country=england&pollutant=all
Roads under ministerial direction:

Borough or
district

Name of road under
ministerial direction

Surrey Heath, A331
Guildford and
Rushmoor

Number
Pollutants Highway
of
authority
properties
affected
0

Page 86

NO2

Surrey CC and
Hampshire CC

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Appendix 4: Surrey AQMAs and their levels of NO2
Data in this table uses the most recently published Annual Status Monitoring Reports.
Level of Exceedance (maximum
monitored/modelled concentration at a location
of relevant exposure)

Borough

Is air quality in the
AQMA influenced by
roads controlled by
Highways England?

At declaration ( μg/m3)

Most recently
published Annual
Status Monitoring
Report ( μg/m3)

AQMA name

AQMA Description

Walton High St

An area encompassing part of the
High Street, Walton-on-Thames,
between its junction with Hepworth
Way/Church Street and Ashley
Road/Hersham Road

Yes

42.3

35.6

Elmbridge

Weybridge High St

An area encompassing Balfour Road,
Church Street, High Street and
Monument Hill, Weybridge.

Yes

62

45

Elmbridge

Hampton Court

An area encompassing parts of
Hampton Court Way and
Riverbank.

No

50.7

38.7

Page 87

Elmbridge

8

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Elmbridge

Elmbridge

Page 88

Elmbridge

Elmbridge

Cobham High St

An area along the High Street,
Cobham

Yes

39.5

34.1

Hinchley Wood

An area encompassing part of the
A309 Kingston Bypass
between Littleworth Road and Manor
Road North.

Yes

57.7

38.3

Esher High St

An area extending along the High
Street, Church Street and including
parts of Esher Green and Lammas
Lane.

Yes

62.1

44.9

Walton Road, Molesey

An area extending 50m either side of
the centre line of
Walton Road, Molesey between its
junction with Tonbridge Road and
Esher Road/Bridge Road.

No

55.8

36.8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Ewell High St

Guildford

Compton

A section of B3000, The Street,
Compton

No

n/a

n/a

Reigate and
Banstead

M25

The length of the M25 to a distance
30m either side of the carriageway
between Junction 7 and the point to
the west of Junction 8 where the
motorway meets the borough
boundary.

Yes

43

No exceedances
measured

Reigate and
Banstead

Horley nr Gatwick

An area of the south-west quadrant of
Horley near to Gatwick airport.

Yes

43 (see note b)

Page 89

Epsom and Ewell

An area encompassing the section of
High Street, Ewell from the junction
with Spring Street to the mini
roundabout at the junction with
Cheam Road and continues a further
30 metres south on High Street Ewell

No

63

42

49.8 (Distance corrected
to 41.5 μg/m3 at nearest
site of relevant exposure)

8

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Reigate and
Banstead

Reigate and
Banstead

Page 90

A217 / Blackhorse
Lane

An area encompassing the house
"Highlands" near the junction of the
A217 Brighton Road with Margery
Lane and Blackhorse Lane

Yes

63 (see note c)

A2022 /A240 Drift
Bridge

An area encompassing a couple of
residential properties immediately to
the north of the junction of the A240
(Reigate Road) and A2022 (Fir Tree
Road).

Yes

48

No measured
exceedances

Yes

47

43.3 μg/m-3

Yes

52

No measured
exceedances

Reigate and
Banstead

Reigate High St / West
St

Reigate and
Banstead

Merstham High st

An area encompassing all properties
facing on to part of the A23 in
Merstham. The area commences on
London Road South (south of the
junction with School Hill) and extends
north along Merstham High Street and
then just to the north of the junction
with Station Road North.
An area encompassing all properties
facing on to part of the A23 in
Merstham. The area commences on
London Road South (south of the
junction with School Hill) and extends
north along Merstham High Street and
then just to the north of the junction
with Station Road North.

44.7 (Distance corrected
to 40.0 μg/m3 at nearest
site of relevant exposure)

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

A217 Reigate Hill

Properties within the area of Reigate
Hill covering either partially or entirely
properties between the level crossing
in Reigate Town and J8 of the M25.

Yes

43

No measured
exceedances

A23 / Redhill town
centre

Yes: Brighton Road (A23), Marketfield
Way (A23), London Road (A25),
Station Road (A25), Queensway (A25),
St Matthew’s (A25), Cromwell Road
(A25), High Street (A25)

Yes

48

No measured
exceedances

Reigate and
Banstead

A23 Hooley

Properties within the Hooley area
covering either partially or entirely
properties of the following roads, A23
Brighton Road, Star Lane and Church
Lane

Yes

77

65.9 μg/m-3 (distance
corrected to 52.4
μg/m-3 at nearest site
of relevant exposure)

Runnymede

M25 and Pooley
Green

Entire length of M25 within the
Borough and an extended area in
December 2016 to include area in
Egham near to railway crossing

Yes

Unknown

Greater than 40 at
some locations

Reigate and
Banstead

Reigate and
Banstead

Page 91

8

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Addlestone town
centre

Addlestone town centre traffic light 4
way junction- Brighton Road/Church
Road/ Station Road/High Street

No

59

47

Whole borough

An area encompassing the whole
Borough including the majority of
Staines, Shepperton, Ashford and
Sunbury-on- Thames extending from
west of the M25 in the
northwest to the River Thames in the
southeast.

Yes

up to 80

up to 50

Surrey Heath

Camberley

The strip of land from Frimley Road
Camberley to Ravenswood
Roundabout Camberley which
embraces the M3 Motorway and the
houses on both side of the motorway
which border the highway.

Yes

44-50 (NO2)
26-30 (PM)

32 (NO2)
16 (PM)

Waverley

Farnham

Central town location encompassing
the main one-way traffic system

No

See Annual Status Report for data and
commentary

Runnymede

Spelthorne

Page 92

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Godalming

Woking

Anchor Hill

A small area covering a 4 way junction
at the top of a steep hill.

No

41.5

36.0 (with distance
correction)

A320 Guildford Rd

A small section of the road where
Guildford Road meets Constitution Hill
and Mount Hermon Road

No

42.2 (modelled)

32.6 (with distance
correction)

Page 93

Waverley

An area encompassing 500m stretch
of road from Ockford Road to
Flambard Way and incorporating the
junction with Station Road and
Holloway Hill

Woking

No

See Annual Status Report for data and
commentary

Last updated: November 2018 using most recent data available from Annual Status Reports compiled by Borough and District councils.

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Appendix 5: Policy context
Air quality
This appendix lists the relevant policies and guidance notes for air quality.
European and domestic policies dictate roles and responsibilities for authorities, and
also set air quality objectives, which state the legal levels of pollutants which must be
complied with.
European policy
The main policy drivers for action to improve and manage air quality in the UK is
derived from European legislation. The 2008 ambient air quality directive
(2008/50/EC) sets legally binding limits for concentrations of major air pollutants
which impact on public health41. These include particulate matter (PM10 and
PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2), which have direct effects themselves and can
also combine in the atmosphere to form ozone (O3), a harmful air pollutant (and
potent greenhouse gas) which can be transported over long distances via weather
systems42.
The 2008 directive was incorporated into English law in 2010 via the Air Quality
Standards Regulations 2010.
UK policy
Key policies for the UK and for the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) process
are:







41
42

Environment Act 1995 (specifically Part IV)
The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern
Ireland Vol 1 2007
Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (revised 2016)
Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance (revised 2016)
Local Air Quality Management practice notes 2009
UK air quality plan (2017), consisting of:
 An overview
 Detailed plan
 Technical report

Information source: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-policy-context
Cullingworth et al (2015) 15th edition ‘Town and Country Planning in the UK’ Routledge

Page 94

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval



Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF), specifically Indicator 3.01

As well as requiring the development of a national strategy, the Environment Act
1995 (section 82, Part IV) set out the statutory duties of local government in relation
to air quality and introduced the present system of Local Air Quality Management
(LAQM) through which local air quality is monitored, reviewed and reported.
Section 83 of the Act requires local authorities to designate an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA) when one or more of the air quality objectives for each of
the seven pollutants included in the national objectives have not been met, or are
unlikely to be met. These areas could be small consisting of one or two houses, or
could be much bigger taking in whole towns or administrative areas.
Once an AQMA is declared, the local authority is required to put together a plan to
improve the air quality in pursuit of the objectives – this is known as a local Air
Quality Action Plan, ideally within 12 months.
In two tier local authority areas such as Surrey, borough and district councils monitor
air quality in their areas, declare AQMAs and prepare the action plans.
The revised guidance from Defra (2016) has introduced new responsibilities around
addressing levels of PM2.5. Local authorities should work closely with local Directors of
Public Health and ‘Health and Wellbeing Boards’, particularly with regard to PM2.5.
The county council / the local highway authority
Under the LAQM process, obligations are also placed on the relevant county council.
Under section 86(3) of the Environment Act: “Where a district council is preparing an
action plan, the county council shall, within the relevant period, submit to the district
council proposals for the exercise (so far as relating to the designated area) by the
county council, in pursuit of the achievement of air quality standards and objectives,
of any powers exercisable by the county council.”
Relevant powers exercisable by the county council could include:




43

Developing policies for the promotion and encouragement of safe,
integrated, efficient and economic transport, as set out in the Local
Transport Plan43;
Reducing the causes of congestion and disruption on the road network,
by coordinating and managing road and street works effectively, the
management of incidents, event planning, the control of parking and
the network as a whole under the Network Management Duty (Traffic
Management Act 2004); and,

Local Transport Act 2000 as amended by the Local Transport Act 2008

Page 95

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8



Maintaining and repairing the highway on county roads as a local
highway authority.

Road traffic is one of the main contributors to air pollution in Surrey’s AQMAs. The
county council is the local transport authority for the county roads which make up the
majority of the AQMAs in Surrey. There are also AQMAs which involve the Strategic
Road Network managed by Highways England. The county council therefore has a
key role to play in the mitigation of air pollution in these AQMAs.
Highways England, as the national executive organisation responsible for managing
the national strategic road network, also has a role in relation to those AQMAs in
Surrey which are on the motorways and trunk roads that pass through Surrey. Such
AQMAs cover sections of the M25, M3, A30, A316 and A23. The county council will
liaise and work in partnership with Highways England.
Public Health Outcomes Framework
The biggest health burden is understood to be from long-term exposure to small
particulate air pollution (PM2.5), which is estimated to decrease life expectancy by an
average of six months (DEFRA, 2016). Therefore, PM2.5 is included as an indicator
in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF).
Indicator 3.01 of the PHOF considers the fraction of mortality attributable to
particulate matter, and it is possible to access the data on a local authority basis.
The fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution in Surrey in 2015 was
4.6%, this compared with an average of 4.7% across England44.
Action to improve air quality supports delivery of wider public health outcomes, for
example: active travel to reduce air pollution can also support getting people more
active to reduce obesity; improving air quality in the short term could reduce hospital
admissions for cardiovascular and respiratory conditions; and in the long term
reduce the burden of disease and increase life expectancy. Therefore, it is important
to ensure air quality is considered and aligned with other health improvement
interventions and strategies such as physical activity and active travel.

National climate change policy and local context
Climate policy in the UK is underpinned by the Climate Change Act (2008) which is a
legally binding framework for climate change mitigation and adaption. This includes
legally binding carbon budgets and an 80 percent carbon emissions reduction by
2050 against a 1990 baseline. Key policies include.

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomesframework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/102/are/E10000030
44

Page 96

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

The Clean Growth Strategy (2017) sets out the government’s current plans for
reducing carbon emissions across power generation, industry, transport, commercial
buildings, homes, agriculture and land use and waste and Road to Zero (2018)
focusing on reducing emissions from vehicles.
The government’s strategy and analysis by the Committee on Climate Change,
highlight that significant decarbonisation has been achieved in power and waste
sectors, but transport and buildings are lagging behind.
The Committee on Climate Change has stated that the cost-effective path to
achieving the UK’s future carbon budgets in the transport sector includes:






increase in electric vehicles, in particular 60% of new vehicles should
be electric by 2030
further technological improvements in conventional fuel vehicles,
an increase in biofuels45,
freight operator efficiency improvements
demand management and modal shift to active/public transport

The spatial planning and transport functions of local authorities have a key role to
play. In land use planning, density of development, settlement size and access to
facilities and services have been shown to influence travel behaviours46 which are
relevant to many of the target outcomes above, in particular demand management
and modal shift over the longer term.
The government has sought to influence local authority transport priorities towards
low carbon modes of travel through competitive funding allocations such as the Local
Sustainable Transport Fund in 2012 to 2016. For capital projects, funding is
allocated by government to Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), who then
distribute funding for major transport schemes in their areas, on a competitive basis,
in the context of their Strategic Economic Plans. These are required to support the
delivery of new jobs and homes and the decarbonisation objectives of the
government’s Clean Growth Strategy. Therefore carbon emissions reduction and
other environmental sustainability objectives, including air quality should be
supported through these LEP funding allocations.

Biofuels are considered to have neutral impact, with variations between different fuel types and this
is being kept under review. Other change areas (electric vehicles and conventional vehicle efficiency
improvements have positive co-benefits).
46 Banister and Anable (2009) Transport Policies and Climate Change in ‘Planning for Climate
Change’ Earthscan
45

Page 97

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval
8

Appendix 6: Schedule of opportunities and
challenges
The table below offers an illustrative and non-exhaustive schedule of opportunities
and challenges with regards to reducing transport emissions in Surrey.
Opportunities
 High potential for EV take up
from higher than average car
ownership level in the county;
nationally 60% of new vehicles
should be electric by 203047
 Home working and virtual
access to services to reduce
need to travel
 Extensive rail network with good
connectivity to London, and
opportunities to improve
connectivity to nearby airports
 Increased popularity of cycling
 Cycling over longer distances
and hillier terrain is being made
easier with electric bicycles
 Anticipated changes to vehicle
ownership models such as
‘Mobility as a Service’ and
autonomous vehicle
technologies
 Co-benefits for health and
environmental improvements
from active travel
 Efficiency improvements in the
freight industry
 Potential to work in partnership
with public transport operators to
reduce emissions, e.g. from
buses and community transport.

47

Committee on Climate Change

Page 98

Challenges
 Limited funding available for
improvement measures
(sustainable transport, road
realignment, vehicle charging
points etc)
 Public support for introducing
restrictions on vehicle use for air
quality purposes e.g. road user
charging, routing restrictions,
minimum vehicle emissions
standards
 High car dependency for travel
to work and access to services
from rural areas
 Electric vehicles still produce
small particulates from tyre
wear, and will not reduce
congestion
 Over-crowded trains into
London, the increasing cost of
rail fares and limited rail
connectivity between some
Surrey towns
 Legislation requires specific Air
Quality Objectives to be met ‘in
the shortest possible timeframe’
meaning that additional activity
may be required in AQMAs
 Balancing concerns for health
with other objectives e.g.
preservation of historic buildings

Surrey Transport Plan: Low Emissions Transport Strategy
Draft for Cabinet approval

Opportunities
 Local Enterprise Partnership
priorities provide opportunities
for funding
 Increased public awareness air
quality as a health issue
 Trend of lower car use amongst
young adults compared with
previous generations

Challenges
and maintaining an effective
highway network limits localised
options to address air quality
 The impact of through-traffic
 Trend for an overall increase in
passenger miles travelled each
year
 Sustainably accommodating
additional development in
Surrey
 Uncertainty regarding
environmental legislation
resulting from the UK’s
departure from the EU
 Travel habits are often slow to
change

Page 99

8

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 2

8

Surrey Transport Plan
Electric Vehicle Strategy
November 2018

Page 101

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

Alternative formats
Surrey County Council has actively considered the needs of blind
and partially sighted people in accessing this document.
We are happy to give information in either large print or in another
language. If you want this service please call us on 03456 009
009.
If you have other needs in this regard please contact Surrey
County Council in one of the following ways.
In writing
Surrey County Council Contact Centre
Room 296-298
County Hall
Kingston upon Thames
Surrey KT1 2DN
By phone
03456 009 009
SMS: 07860 053 465
Online
Email: contact.centre@surreycc.gov.uk
www.surreycc.gov.uk/cleanertravel

Page 102

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Surrey Transport Plan, 2011-2026
Electric Vehicle Strategy
November 2018

Reference note: for the purpose of this document the term Electric Vehicle (EV) is used
to refer to all types of plug-in vehicles that can be powered solely by a battery including;
Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs), Extended-Range Electric Vehicles (E-REVs)
and Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs). More information on these types of vehicles can
be found in Annex 1.
Version
This version
Final draft v1

Date

Author / Owner

Rationale

Nov-18

Transport Policy
team

Final draft, revised based on
consultation feedback

Transport Policy
team
Transport Policy
team

Public consultation draft, for
publication
Development of Electric Vehicle
Strategy working draft – circulated
to stakeholders for comment.
Senior management sign off to
consult approved May 2018.

Previous versions
Consultation draft
Jun-18
v1
0.1 – 0.6
Mar-18

Page 103

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Table of Contents
Foreword................................................................................................................................... 5
Executive summary ..................................................................................................................7
Glossary.................................................................................................................................... 9
1.

Introduction ...................................................................................................................11

1.1

Existing charging provision for electric vehicles in Surrey ............................................12

1.2

Demand for electric vehicles .........................................................................................13

1.3

Alignment with other Surrey County Council strategies................................................14

2.

Aims and objectives ......................................................................................................15

3.

Developing a network of public chargepoints in Surrey ................................................17

3.1

Planning a public chargepoint network .........................................................................19

3.2

Residential charging .....................................................................................................23

3.3

Charging on the move...................................................................................................27

3.4

Destination charging .....................................................................................................29

4.

Transport services and electric bikes............................................................................31

4.1

Electric bikes .................................................................................................................31

4.2

Car clubs .......................................................................................................................32

4.3

Taxis ............................................................................................................................. 33

4.4

Buses ............................................................................................................................ 34

4.5

Community transport.....................................................................................................36

5.

Surrey County Council’s assets: leading by example ...................................................38

5.1

Surrey County Council land ..........................................................................................38

5.2

Surrey County Council vehicles ....................................................................................39

6.

Next steps .....................................................................................................................41

6.1

Table of actions.............................................................................................................41

Annex 1.

Technical Information .........................................................................................47

Annex 2.

List of relevant policies and guidance / references ............................................54

Page 104

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Foreword
In July 2018 the Government published Road to Zero1, an ambitious roadmap towards
delivering zero emissions transport across the UK. Within transport, we at Surrey
County Council believe that electric vehicles offer an excellent opportunity to help the
county on a pathway towards this vision and we are excited about the potential benefits
they may have for Surrey residents, businesses and visitors.
It is well-known that petrol and diesel vehicles contribute a significant level of air
pollution that can be harmful to both human health and the environment. Technology is
constantly evolving to produce more efficient, reliable electric vehicles capable of
covering ranges comparable to petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles. A transition to electric
vehicles will help to reduce the level of airborne pollutants at the roadside, improving the
environment in areas where we all live, work and play.
The County Council has an important role to play in supporting growth in electric
vehicles, including through creating a supportive policy environment, enabling the
creation of new charging facilities for electric vehicles, promoting their benefits to a
wider audience and leading by example to ensure that Surrey County Council’s own
activities use cleaner technology at the earliest opportunity where it is practical and
offers the taxpayer good value for money.
Surrey is an area that is well-suited to adopting electric vehicles and we are keen to
help realise this potential through this strategy.
Surrey County Council is pleased to present its first Electric Vehicle Strategy.

1

Department for Transport (2018) Road to Zero.

Page 105

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Mike Goodman
Cabinet Member for the
Environment and Transport

Colin Kemp
Cabinet Member for Place

Page 106

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

Executive summary
The UK Government has set a target to ban the sales of new petrol and diesel cars
by 2040 and released its Road to Zero strategy in 2018 outlining a pathway towards
achieving this. Crucial to the Road to Zero roadmap is a transition from conventional
vehicles towards electric vehicles (EVs). Ownership of EVs has grown significantly in
recent years, and is expected to grow even more dramatically as technology
improves and affordability means that more people can choose to run electric cars.
Within Surrey, a transition from conventional vehicles to EVs will reduce exhaust
emissions and therefore has the potential to be hugely beneficial in our mission to
improve air quality and reduce the harmful effects of air pollutants on public health.
Additionally, we believe that the EV revolution has the potential to stimulate growth in
Surrey’s local economy by providing opportunities for new markets and innovation
within our thriving technology and engineering sectors. The charging infrastructure
itself could become a key way of attracting visitors to destinations in Surrey, helping
to maintain the economic vitality of local areas.
However, we do recognise that there are existing barriers to convenient use of
electric vehicles. The absence of a comprehensive charging network means that
people have a lack of confidence in how far they can travel using EVs or that existing
chargepoints will be unoccupied. While there is an opportunity for a large proportion
of EV charging to be done overnight at home, not all households have access to offstreet car parking. There are also technological obstacles, for example, battery sizes
are increasing quickly, making low power charging supplies less useful beyond the
short term. Owning an electric vehicle may not be attainable or desirable for
everyone, creating challenges around how those who rely on other modes might be
able to benefit from the technology.
We recognise that in addition to EVs, the past decade has seen the development of
a number of other types of alternatively fuelled vehicles such as hydrogen fuel cells,
compressed natural gas and even niche innovations with compressed air and liquid

Page 107

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

nitrogen. This strategy focuses purely on plug-in EVs at present given the increase in
EV ownership and relative infancy and low uptake of alternative fuels. Over time, it
may be necessary for Surrey County Council (‘the council’) to address other fuel
types and we will continue to monitor the development of new technologies.
This strategy outlines a pathway that enables the council to help support individuals
who wish to make the switch from conventional vehicles to EVs in the early stages
before a matured commercial market of chargepoints is available. It intends to
encourage EV uptake amongst residents, including those without access to off-street
parking. It provides a source of information to help coordinate an integrated
approach across Surrey and the foundations to ensure that we are able to apply for
funding to support a publicly accessible charging network when opportunities
become available.
Our strategy will be delivered through a range of actions that seek to make Surrey an
even more attractive setting for an established EV environment. We will achieve this
through revised planning guidance that encourages developers to build charging
provision into new homes, the development of an on-street charging infrastructure
policy, provision of public chargepoints on council land as well as working with
partners to support and encourage further provision. In addition to private vehicles,
the actions in this strategy also support EV uptake wherever feasible among car
clubs, taxis, buses, community transport operators, as well as within our own fleet of
council vehicles.
We expect our strategy to complement the growth in EV charging provision in the
private sector and help to fill gaps in the existing network. We anticipate this to
provide assurance to existing users and encourage the uptake of electric vehicles
amongst potential new users. The outcome of this will ultimately benefit air quality as
part of our wider sustainable transport approach.
As part of the Local Transport Plan this document is intended to help inform wider
decision making at the county level and also guide the development of policy and
transport schemes at a local level. This strategy supports the council’s 2030 vision
that residents live in clean, safe and green communities, where people and
organisations embrace their environmental responsibilities.

Page 108

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

Glossary
The table below provides a glossary of abbreviated terms found in this document.
Term
Alternating current (AC)

Battery electric vehicle
(BEV)
Direct current (DC)

Distribution Network
Operator (DNO)

Electric vehicle (EV)
Extended range electric
vehicle (E-REV)
Internal combustion
engine (ICE)
Nitrogen oxides (NOX)

Office for Low Emission
Vehicles (OLEV)
Particulate matter (PM)

Plug-In hybrid electric
vehicle (PHEV)

Description
A power supply where the electric current waveform
switches between positive and negative poles over
time. Mains power typically supplies alternating
current.
A vehicle propelled solely by an electric motor,
powered by energy stored in rechargeable batteries.
A power supply where the electric current waveform
maintains a single direction. Batteries in electric
vehicles store and deliver power to the motor as direct
current.
The owner and operator of the regional electric grid
network. Distributes electricity to homes and
organisations from the National Grid transmission
network.
A vehicle that can be propelled by an electric motor.
A vehicle powered by an electric motor, with an
additional petrol/diesel generator available to extend
range.
The conventional type of engine used to drive motor
vehicles, typically fuelled by petrol or diesel.
An umbrella term for various gases containing
compounds of nitrogen and oxygen. Some nitrogen
oxides react with other compounds in the air to create
particles that can be damaging to human health.
Part of two government departments, the team works
to support the introduction of ultra-low emission
vehicles, including electric vehicles.
A form of air pollution consisting of fine particles,
typically below ten micrometres in diameter, which
can cause damage to human health.
A vehicle that can be powered by both electric and an
internal combustion engine.

Page 109

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

Term
Scottish and Southern
Electricity Networks
(SSEN)
Traffic regulation order
(TRO)
UK Power Networks
(UKPN)
Ultra-Low Emission
Vehicles (ULEVs)

2

Description
A distribution network operator covering Central
Southern England, including parts of northwest and
southwest Surrey.
A legal tool enabling the highway authority (in this
case, the council), to govern, restrict or regulate traffic
on the public highway.
A distribution network operator covering London and
South East of England, including the majority of
Surrey.
Vehicles which use low carbon technologies, emit less
than 75g of CO2 per kilometre from the tailpipe /
exhaust, or is capable of operating zero tailpipe
emission mode for a range of at least ten miles2

https://www.smmt.co.uk/industry-topics/technology-innovation/ultra-low-emission-vehicles-ulevs/

Page 110

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

1. Introduction
This strategy covers a range of emerging areas where readers might be unfamiliar
with the terminology used. A glossary of abbreviations, along with a technical
information section (Annex 1) has been included.
This strategy considers a number of benefits and challenges of electric vehicle (EV)
technology, however the main driver behind the council supporting a transition from
conventional petrol or diesel internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles to EVs is the
beneficial impact this will have on transport-related pollutants, including:


Reduced greenhouse gas emissions at the vehicle exhaust.



Reduced emissions of harmful nitrogen oxides (NOX) emissions.



Fewer exhaust emissions means improved air quality and therefore better
public health.

Our target audience for the strategy is:


Our residents, visitors and organisations.



All those involved in provision of transport infrastructure.



All partner organisations within Surrey.

Both emissions released at the vehicle itself (tail-pipe emissions) and those released
in the generation of the fuel should be considered when looking at environmental
performance. The council recognises that the environmental sustainability of EV use
is therefore partly determined by the power source from which the electricity is
derived, given that traditional fossil fuels make up around 47% of the current national
electricity generation mix3.
Studies suggest that the greater efficiency of EVs over conventional vehicles means
that an EV powered solely by electricity generated from oil would still use less than

3 Aggregated annual figures for 2017. Electricity generation mix by quarter and fuel source (GB). July
2018, Ofgem.

Page 111

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

two thirds of the energy compared to a petrol vehicle4. Furthermore, trends towards
the decarbonisation of the energy industry are expected to only improve the
environmental performance of EVs further.
In developing this strategy, it has been important to note that EVs are not viewed as
a solution to all transport-related health issues. While EVs have significant air quality
benefits over conventional petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles, they still create air
pollution in the form of small particulates from the wear on brake discs and tyres,
which can be harmful to human health5,6. Walking, cycling and travel by public
transport remain essential to improving air quality as well as tackling congestion and
encouraging physical activity. As such, EVs need to be considered as
complementary to a wider sustainable transport approach.
This strategy covers all types of plug-in electric vehicles. More information on the
different types of EV are provided in Annex 1.

1.1

Existing charging provision for electric vehicles in Surrey

There are more than 200 publicly accessible chargepoints at over 60 locations in
Surrey, ranging in type from 3kW trickle chargepoints to 50kW rapid chargepoints7
(information on the different types and speeds of chargepoints is provided in Annex
1).
The majority of sites are located in off-street locations such as supermarkets, rail
stations, business parks and public car parks. The current provision of chargepoints
is available to view on www.zap-map.com.
The council currently operates a small network of publicly-accessible chargepoints,
as well as a number of privately-accessible chargepoints on its estate for staff and
visitor use.

European Commission (2014) Wells to wheels report v4.a.
Ki-Hyun, Kabir & Kabir (2015) ‘A review on the human health impact of airborne particulate matter’.
Environmental International. Vol 74, pg 136-143.
6 Timmers & Achten (2016) ‘Non-exhaust PM emissions from electric vehicles’. Atmospheric
Environment. Vol 134, pg 10-17.
7 Source: www.zap-map.com, 2018
4
5

Page 112

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

1.2

8

Demand for electric vehicles

Beyond the ambition at national level for a transition from conventional vehicles to
EVs, research has demonstrated the potential within Surrey for the uptake of EV
technology8. Based on factors including local demographics, the county was
acknowledged as having a high propensity for EV uptake amongst its population
compared to the national average (further information is provided in Chapter 3.1).
This demand has subsequently been shown in the number of EV registrations in the
county; Figure 1 shows the acceleration in EV registrations in Surrey compared to
the neighbouring counties of Hampshire, Kent and West Sussex. To enable the
anticipated trends for EV growth in the county, it is important for this document to
provide a coherent strategy to support the uptake in these vehicles.

Plug-in cars and vans registered in Surrey, Hampshire, Kent and West Sussex
3,000

2,000
Surrey
Hampshire

1,500

Kent
West Sussex

1,000

500

0
2012 Q1 2012 Q3 2013 Q1 2013 Q3 2014 Q1 2014 Q3 2015 Q1 2015 Q3 2016 Q1 2016 Q3 2017 Q1 2017 Q3

Figure 1: EV registrations from January 2012 to December 20179

8
9

Surrey Electric Vehicle Strategy Final Report. Steer Davies Gleave, June 2012.
Data source: Vehicle Licensing Statistics, Table VEH0131. Department for Transport, 2018.

Page 113

Number of registered Evs

2,500

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

1.3

Alignment with other Surrey County Council strategies

This document seeks to complement other strategies that make up the Surrey
Transport Plan including:


Low emission transport strategy (emerging 2018)



Air quality strategy (2016)*



Climate change strategy (2012)*



Travel planning strategy (2011)



Local bus strategy (2014)

*These strategies will be combined and updated to form Surrey’s emerging ‘Low
emission transport strategy’.

Page 114

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

2. Aims and objectives
The aim of this strategy is to:

Develop a Surrey-wide approach to encourage the transition from petrol and diesel
vehicles to electric vehicles as part of a sustainable, integrated transport system.

Our objectives that will enable us to fulfil this aim are:
a) To encourage use of EVs amongst Surrey residents, businesses and make
provision for visitors.
b) To facilitate an increase in publicly available charging infrastructure through:


Council-led provision of EV chargepoints.



Working with local authority partners and private enterprise to encourage
third party provision of EV chargepoints.

c) To act as a coordinator for a strategic Surrey-wide approach to charging
provision.
d) To secure appropriate funding and sponsorship when and where it becomes
available.
e) To influence high level decision makers to provide support and funding
opportunities where needed.
f) To respond flexibly to fast-paced developments within the EV sector.
g) To inform residents and lead by example by using EV technology to reduce the
environmental impact of our day-to-day operations.
There are a number of approaches available to the council to help work towards our
objectives and the overall aim:

Page 115

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8



As the highway authority: The council can provide infrastructure to enable EV
uptake and consider interventions that make it more appealing to use EVs over
conventional vehicles on Surrey roads.



As the local authority: The council can seek to engage, inform and encourage
Surrey residents and organisations to switch to a more sustainable mode of
transport. It can produce guidelines and therefore coordinate an integrated
approach across the county.



As a major employer and purchaser of services: The council can take a lead
to help its own staff and suppliers to use EVs in day-to-day business, to both
demonstrate positive behaviour and help normalise the technology.

Page 116

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

3. Developing a network of public chargepoints in
Surrey
Opportunities and challenges
In general, EVs and the charging infrastructure needed to support them present a series
of challenges and opportunities to current and prospective EV owners and land owners.
As local authorities, the county, borough and district councils can all play a role in
supporting EV growth.
As the highway authority, the council faces specific additional challenges and
opportunities associated with use and charging of EVs on-street. Table 1 gives an
overview of factors which need to be taken into account in developing our county-wide
EV Strategy:
GENERAL
Opportunities
Challenges
 Encouraging drivers to switch from
 Available power capacity on the local
petrol/diesel to EV will benefit local
electricity network varies across the
air quality through reduced exhaust
county and is typically limited in builtemissions of NOX.
up areas.
 Increased use of EVs will help ‘de Costs of upgrading the local
carbonise’ the economy as energy
electricity network to unlock spare
generation progresses from fossil
capacity is often too high to justify
fuels to renewable sources.
new EV chargepoints.
 Providing chargepoints may attract
 Installing and maintaining
EV users to an area and stimulate
chargepoints may create an
nearby shops and the local economy
additional cost to the council, at a
10.
time when funding is constrained.
 Increased EV usage will stimulate the  Financial risk to the council of
EV technology sector both nationally
removing of chargepoints if they
and specifically an industrial sector in
become damaged, obsolete or a
Surrey which has a rich science,
chargepoint supplier folds.
10

Zap-map (2015) Survey supports the need for a public EV charging network.

Page 117

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8



technology, engineering and maths
(STEM) base.
Demand for chargepoints in Surrey is
likely to be higher than other regions
due to a relatively large number of
existing EV owners and level of
affluence.







EV charging periods requires a dwell
time greater than conventional
refuelling; potential charging sites
must be able to accommodate this
(and provide services for EV users
during this period).
Certain chargepoint sites can be
constrained by planning/heritage
restrictions.
Various charging cable types

HIGHWAYS
Opportunities
Challenges
 On-street charging infrastructure at
 On-street chargepoints require space
appropriate locations may offer more
on the public highway. Some
convenient locations for users to
locations may present an obstruction
charge than off-street locations.
to pedestrians.
 When installing a chargepoint,
 Certain types of chargepoint units are
access to the electricity network is
not suitable for on-street locations.
often easier on-street than off-street.
 On-street parking bays are limited in
certain areas. Reserving bays only
 On-street EV chargepoints in town
for EV users may place further
centre locations may attract more
pressure on parking and would
visitors to shopping parades where
require resources for the traffic order
off-street parking is limited.
consultation process.
 On-street charging infrastructure may
 Limited levels of on-street EV
provide a revenue opportunity for the
charging infrastructure may attract
council at a time when funding is
additional vehicles to areas of greater
constrained.
provision, increasing parking
pressure.
 Need to be sensitive to the visual
impact of chargepoints and ensure
the character of local areas is
considered.
Table 1: Opportunities and challenges of developing a public charging network
Given that EVs are still a relatively new phenomenon, a broader challenge beyond
public chargepoint infrastructure is the level of information and general understanding
that people have regarding EVs and the extent to which a lack of accurate information

Page 118

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
might make them less inclined to switch from ICE to EV. The council recognises that it
is able to contribute towards information provision to help overcome this.
This chapter studies some of the listed opportunities and challenges in more detail,
understanding how the council can support the expansion of a public charging network
in Surrey and considers how we can work with our partners to deliver infrastructure in

ACTION

areas that are outside of our immediate control as the highways authority.

3.1

Information provision on EV technology


We will continue to use our existing online platform to inform and signpost
visitors to reputable sources of educational information on EVs.

Planning a public chargepoint network

Figure 2: Areas of Surrey where population may be receptive to EV uptake11
11

Source: Surrey Electric Vehicle Strategy Final Report. Steer Davies Gleave, June 2012.

Page 119

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Location
Analysis carried out in 2012 based on resident population, suggested that Surrey has
the potential for a significant EV market. The analysis presented in Figure 2, highlighted
areas where it was considered EV take up might be particularly popular.
The analysis used characteristics such as affluence of the population, levels of second
car ownership and commuting distance as indicators of EV market potential. Other
factors that we recognise that are likely to influence an increase in uptake in EVs
include a high dependence on the private car for commuting and having off-street
parking to allow overnight home charging. This may suggest that the areas highlighted
above could be extended to include more suburban/rural fringe areas.
Since 2017, the council has logged enquiries from members of the public where they
have expressed an interest in having an EV chargepoint located nearby, which has
helped us build an initial picture of where there is demand. Beyond this, further data is

ACTION

required to ensure that chargepoints can be targeted in locations where it is needed.
Informed geographical planning of EV chargepoints


We will develop an updated spatial plan to help inform the rollout of EV
chargepoints across the county.

Charging speed and power supply
Information on the different speeds of chargepoints is given in Annex 1. It is anticipated
that a fast chargepoint will eventually become a minimum standard for public
chargepoints across the county, as increasing battery sizes in vehicles may mean that
trickle chargepoints become less useful as battery sizes increase.
The ability to rollout charging infrastructure is ultimately dependent on the capacity of
the local electricity network to support it. A ‘thought piece’ published by National Grid
indicated that over one third of the country’s low voltage electricity distribution network
would need to be upgraded if EV uptake reached over 40% - simply to support a

Page 120

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
network of 3.5kW residential ‘trickle

chargepoints’12.

National Grid instead considered

how a model based on centralised rapid charging hubs, similar to the current ‘filling
station’ model, might be better suited to meet the long term charging needs of the UK.
The council will need to consider the impact of any new charging infrastructure on the
local electricity network which will involve liaison with the local Distribution Network
Operators (DNO). These discussions will also help to inform the strategic spatial
planning work described in the Action above.
Chargepoint installation, ownership and management
The Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) currently offers funding of up to 75% for
the capital costs of procuring and installing on-street residential chargepoints; the
remaining 25% cost must be funded independently. The OLEV funding does not cover
ongoing maintenance, future removal or replacement costs.
The council currently has no funding allocated to fund chargepoint installations or
associated ongoing costs and its current financial position makes it unlikely that a
significant budget will become available to do so. Should we make provision for
additional chargepoints, their funding and maintenance will need to be appropriately
resourced, most likely with no cost to the county council. The development of a model
that allows the council to provide and maintain its new and existing chargepoints is
therefore a key early requirement of our strategy.
At a basic level a chargepoint network requires:


An owner – the party that owns the physical chargepoints.



A manager – the party responsible for the day-to-day maintenance of
chargepoints and handling issues raised by customers.



A network operator – the party responsible for the ‘back-office’ (or software)
system through which people use the chargepoints.

12

Our energy insights, Forecourt thoughts: Mass fast charging of electric vehicles. National Grid, 2017

Page 121

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
In some instances, external commercial suppliers will fund installation, management
and network operation of chargepoints where they are likely to offer a good return on
investment, and therefore generate sufficient income from user charges. This is more
likely to be the case with rapid chargepoints, rather than trickle or fast chargepoints
which are more typical in residential areas.
Table 2 outlines some of the different models available which could be considered for
the rollout of a public EV charging network. Depending on the model pursued, the
council must ensure that arrangements and funding are in place to cover maintenance
and remedial action in the event of accidental damage or vandalism. Even where a
chargepoint is provided and fully maintained by a private company, there may be a risk
to the council if the company were to cease trading. Any installation will therefore
require the council to have contingency arrangements in place to cover the removal or
replacement of the chargepoint. For this reason, the council may only seek to provide
public chargepoints where it has the opportunity to recoup these costs.

A

B

C

D

Chargepoints
Considerations
Owner
Manager Network
operator
Council
Council Council
Requires a high level of investment and ongoing
expertise. Would be difficult for the council to
implement without grant funding but would offer
the most flexibility.
Council
Council Supplier The council would purchase the chargepoints
outright and maintain them at own cost. The
network is run by a supplier with expertise that
customers are familiar with using.
Council
Supplier Supplier The council would purchase the chargepoint
from a supplier but employs them to manage the
points. A single point of contact would provide a
simplified process for users but less flexibility in
types of chargepoints.
Supplier Supplier Supplier Would require the council to lease land to a 3rd
party for the chargepoint installation. Low of
financial risk to the council but potential sites
may be limited by the attractiveness of the
location and types of chargepoints available.

Page 122

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
E

Commercial provision

A public charging network supplied by
commercial providers on private land. Zero
financial risk to the council but provision may not
match the public need.

Table 2: Different models of chargepoint networks
The consideration of most appropriate technologies and types of charging infrastructure
will be considered as part of any site selection and feasibility work.

ACTION

Funding the installation and maintenance of charging infrastructure

3.2



We will work to develop a business model suitable to the council and other
interested local authority partners for deploying and managing a charging
network.

Residential charging

Useful information on purchasing and charging electric vehicles, including charging at
home, can be found at: https://www.goultralow.com/
Planning of new developments
To enable EV uptake in residential areas with access to off-street parking, new homes
should be planned with capacity to support EV charging. Responsibility for development
planning is split between the county, district and borough councils.
In Surrey, the districts and borough councils are the local planning authorities,
responsible for setting planning policy and enforcing regulations in relation to the
development of new homes and commercial buildings. However, the district and
borough councils work with the county council to understand and appropriately mitigate
the impact of new developments on the local transport network. The county council
therefore provides guidance to help the planning authorities apply consistent positive
standards to transport development.

Page 123

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
To enable a coordinated approach to the provision of EV charging infrastructure in new
developments across the county, the council has produced planning guidance for use
by the districts and boroughs when considering planning applications for new residential
and commercial developments. For example, the guidance suggests that for
developments of flats or apartments, 20% of available parking spaces should be fitted
with a fast chargepoint with sufficient power supply made available for a further 20% of
spaces to be fitted with additional fast chargepoints. It is expected that this guidance will
be reviewed and updated as EV uptake progresses.
In situations where a new development results in a chargepoint on-street on a public
road, it shall be a prerequisite that an agreement is in place between the developer and
the council to cover the cost of operation, maintenance and eventual removal or
replacement of the chargepoint over its lifetime.

ACTION

'EV-friendly' planning policy


The Vehicular and Cycle Parking Guidance will be maintained and
reviewed periodically to ensure the guidance to planning authorities is
kept up to date with the development of EV technologies and national
policy.

Residential on-street charging
The council recognises that off-street home charging is not a possibility for everyone.
Just over 41% of homes in the south east of England do not have access to off-street
parking13, meaning that home charging can provide only part of the solution. The council
will investigate what it can do to support its residents who wish to use an EV but lack
off-street parking.
Many areas without off-street parking are typically urban areas with large amounts of
Victorian terraced housing. These same streets may have heritage/conservation

13

English Housing Survey, Table DA2202. Ministry for Housing Communities & Local Government, 2015.

Page 124

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
considerations and be sensitive to street clutter, making it more difficult to provide
suitable positions for chargepoints due to accessibility and aesthetics.
Where possible the council will seek to satisfy local residential demand through
chargepoints in off-street locations or through car clubs (see Chapter 4.1 on car clubs),
rather than on-street charging bays in residential areas. Where this is insufficient and
on-street provision appears to be the only viable option, this section outlines some of
the key considerations for the council in developing an on-street charging policy:
Types of chargepoints
Details of different types of chargepoint are described in Annex 1. We expect trials of
different chargepoint technologies currently being carried out elsewhere (e.g. in
Oxfordshire and Hounslow) will demonstrate technologies' effectiveness in different
situations.
There are certain circumstances in Surrey that must be taken into account when
considering how appropriate a certain technology may be. For example, most street
lights in Surrey are located at the back of the pavement, away from the kerb, making
street light charging less suitable as we cannot allow charging cables to trail across the
pavement when in use, as they would present a trip hazard. Locations where street
lights are currently close to the kerb will be replaced under the current council street
lighting contract as part of our policy to improve pedestrian accessibility. The conversion
of a street light to a chargepoint is also not without cost and would likely result in
increased costs of ongoing maintenance.

Parking

Page 125

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Typically most on-street residential bays are orientated parallel to the kerb. The agreed
position of a double-socketed chargepoint should ideally enable it to serve two parking
bays.
A dedicated EV chargepoint would generally require a marked parking bay, reserving
the space for charging EVs only. To create a dedicated EV bay on the road would
require the council to advertise and implement a traffic regulation order (TRO), enabling
it to be legally enforced. This could be met with objection from non-EV users in
residential areas with high parking pressure and could create conflict if several residents
in a neighbourhood compete for the same bay.
It may be necessary to place restricted dwell times on EV bays during certain periods of
the day to discourage a single vehicle from using the space for extended periods and
preventing other users from accessing the chargepoint. This is particularly the case in
relation to fast and rapid chargepoints to ensure a regular turnover of vehicles.
Penalties for overstaying would be administered through the chargepoint payment
software. We may wish to consider a system whereby users can make and advanced
booking for a time slot.
An alternative approach is to not reserve and mark out bays that are served by
chargepoints solely for the use of EVs. This approach has been taken by some local
authorities when combined with a sufficient number of cheaper street light trickle
chargepoints, however as noted previously, street light conversion is not a viable option
for Surrey in most cases. The provision of faster and more expensive stand-alone
chargepoints would typically require a marked bay to be economically viable.
The council carries out a review of parking provision in most districts and boroughs
every 12-18 months and the introduction of new on-street charging bays could be
considered and consulted on through this process. It is anticipated that demand for onstreet EV chargepoints in residential areas is likely to coincide with areas where there
are parking controls, due to a shortage of off-street parking. Consultation questionnaires
on new residential parking schemes may therefore also look to gauge demand for
charging provision.

Page 126

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Positioning of chargepoints
It is likely that we would review requests on a case-by-case basis and only consider
installing a chargepoint if a suitable position could be found locally. Requests for onstreet chargepoint provision would likely be considered as part of the wider parking
review process.


Considerations are likely to include issues such as:



Sufficient remaining pavement width to avoid adverse impact on pedestrian
accessibility



Accessibility of the location



Sensitivity to local street scene



Location of nearest power supply
Develop the council’s on-street charging policy


We will monitor and review the outcomes of trials on different charging units

ACTION

in other areas to determine their potential suitability for use on-street in
Surrey.


We will review parking management policy to give consideration to parking
arrangements for EVs.



We will produce guidelines for determining what constitutes a suitable
position for an on-street chargepoint.

3.3

Charging on the move

EV battery technology is progressing towards a point where the limitations of local
electricity supplies in residential areas may eventually make residential charging
impractical as a long term solution for EV charging, particularly as EV ownership
increases. Chargepoints in locations where EV users can access them either on the
move or at their destination may provide a suitable alternative.

Page 127

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
In addition, the ability to charge EVs en route is essential for enabling longer journeys
and giving people the confidence to undertake their journey without the need for a
lengthy period of charging. Rapid chargepoints are typically preferable for users wishing
to charge on the move given the need for a shorter dwell time and are well suited to
locations near motorways and major ‘A’ roads which are utilised for most longer
journeys.
It is anticipated that the infrastructure to enable vehicles to charge or ‘top up’ while on
the move will largely be addressed by the commercial sector based on the current
model of roadside filling stations and converting these into roadside charging stations to
cater for EVs. Some large forecourt operators have already taken steps towards
installing rapid charging infrastructure on their sites14. However, where the council owns
land which is located near to strategically important roads (e.g. motorways and major ‘A’
roads), these sites could be considered for the installation of rapid chargepoints (see
Chapter 5.1 for further information on the use of council land).
Presently, residential and destination charging may offer EV users a more cost effective
or convenient option given that, to charge on the move, users would need to set aside
around 30 minutes during their journey for an 80% charge based on current rapid
charging technology. Therefore, in the short term, it is reasonable to assume that
'charging on the move' will be less common amongst EV users than ‘filling up on the
move’ is among conventional petrol and diesel vehicle users – particularly on the local
road network. However, in the medium to long term, charging on the move is likely to

ACTION

become much more prevalent as battery sizes increase.

14

Strategic site assessment


We will review strategically located council owned sites for potential
installation of rapid chargepoints for public use.

https://www.motorfuelgroup.com/mfg-announces-partnership-deal-with-chargepoint-services/

Page 128

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

3.4

Destination charging

Destination charging is expected to play a key role in provision of charging both now,
during the initial transition, and in the future as EV uptake and battery sizes increase. It
will be one of the most convenient ways to charge for users and provision at key
destinations will be essential. Some examples and their potential dwell times are listed
below:


Workplace car parks (long stay, 6+ hours)



Railway stations (long stay, 6+ hours)



Hospitals / NHS Trusts (short-long stay, 1-6+ hours)



Out of town ‘Park and Ride’ car parks (short-long stay, 1-6+ hours)



Town centre car parks (short/medium stay, 1-5 hours)



Leisure centres (short stay, 1-3 hours)



Countryside car parks (short stay, 1-3 hours)



Supermarkets (short stay, 1-2 hours)

It is our ambition to work with landowners to identify suitable locations to contribute to
both strategic and local provision. The council has limited ability to directly contribute
towards destination charging provision, although we do own land near some town
centre locations that could be considered for the installation of chargepoints where
appropriate (also see Chapter 5.1 on council land).
By providing chargepoints on council land which can be accessed by the general public,
the council may be able to ease barriers to EV uptake in specific parts of the county
hampered by a lack of existing chargepoint infrastructure. This may be achieved by
providing a number of fast or rapid chargepoints on council land located near key
destinations. Realistically, any infrastructure would need to be provided at no financial
risk to the county council given current budget constraints, with maintenance and
installation costs would be covered by the supplier.

Page 129

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Additionally, as the highways authority, there may be opportunities for the council to
provide on-street chargepoints in popular town centre locations. However, this will
depend on the development of a policy regarding approval of chargepoints on-street.
We are aware there are a number of models for users when accessing chargepoints
and paying for usage. Wherever possible we would encourage a consistent user
experience that allows universal access (i.e. no mandatory membership).

Supporting a town centre charging network

ACTIONS



We will work with boroughs, districts and other third parties to provide a
network of chargepoints in town centre locations and key destinations.

On-street chargepoint trials


We will consider possible locations for a trial of on-street chargepoints at
key destinations where parking pressures permit and where characteristics
of the area suggest charging to be feasible.

Page 130

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

4. Transport services and electric bikes
The use of electric motors extends beyond the private car and is continuing to develop
for other modes of transport. As a local transport authority, the council has involvement
in a number of transport services that are used by residents and visitors. This chapter
explores what the council can do to encourage the uptake of EVs in these other areas.

4.1

Electric bikes

The growth in use of electric bikes within Surrey is viewed positively by the council and
aligns with a number of objectives within the Surrey Transport Plan, including both the
Low Emissions Transport Strategy and Cycle Strategy, to encourage modal shift from
private car to sustainable modes and make cycling more accessible as a general mode.
Electric bikes are propelled primarily via pedalling, similar to a traditional bike, however
the electric motor provides power assistance (up to 15mph) to make it easier for the
user to pedal. By making cycling easier and enabling groups of people with different
fitness and ability levels to cycle together, the technology has the potential to make
cycling more accessible and attractive to wider range of users.
Electric bike batteries are typically charged using a charger and standard domestic plug,
meaning they can be charged at home by most users. However electric bikes do not
have a ‘range’ in the same respect as electric cars, as the user can continue to ride
using pedal power alone when the battery is empty. Depending on the terrain, level of
power assistance and the model of bike/battery most electric bikes will provide power
assistance for at least 25 miles – suitable for the majority of regular trips.
In terms of barriers to use, for the reasons outlined above public charging infrastructure
is not a requirement of electric bikes although destination charging facilities may serve
to further encourage their uptake. Electric bikes are usually more expensive than a
standard bike, meaning that the purchase cost might be prohibitive to some. There are

Page 131

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
also general issues around road safety or perceptions of personal risk surrounding the
use of electric bikes which are the same as for those using a standard bike.
Encouraging the use of electric bikes


We will implement the Cycling Strategy including ongoing development of

ACTION

cycling routes via the Local Transport Strategies


We will continue to encourage employers to offer a Cycle to Work salary
sacrifice scheme (covering all bikes) to reduce the overall purchase cost
and make payment more manageable for potential users.



We will promote electric bike hire as a ‘Thing to do’ in Surrey via our online
platforms with links to hire locations.

4.2

Car clubs

Residents who have an interest in using EVs but don’t have the means or inclination to
purchase one may only become able to access an EV through a car club.
The car club in Surrey currently operates over twenty vehicles located within six towns
across the county and has plans to expand further over the next few years to reach over
1,000 members. Around 25% of existing car club provision is electric including EVs in
Guildford and Woking which have proven to be some of the most popular vehicles in the
fleet, partly due to their ease of use and low hire cost.
The provision of parking bays for car club use also helps overcome potential objections
from non-EV users to the creation of EV only bays. As described in Chapters 1.4 and
3.2, dedicated EV bays can have the result that some parking is effectively reserved for
a particular individuals who own an EV, whereas the provision of car club EV parking
bays have the benefit that they are available for use by the entire community. The
provision of car club vehicles also has potential to reduce parking pressure as some
residents can use this as an alternative to private vehicle ownership.

Page 132

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
By providing an on-street car club EV bay alongside a chargepoint with two sockets, it
becomes possible to create a second adjacent bay for residents with privately owned
EVs to use for charging.
Another challenge outlined throughout Chapter 3 is the initial cost of installing a
chargepoint, ongoing maintenance and the future risk to the council of needing to fund
the removal of the chargepoint if it becomes damaged, obsolete or the chargepoint
supplier were to fold. A car club EV chargepoint may provide an opportunity for these
risks to be covered within the council’s contract with the car club operator if terms
feasible for this were agreed (i.e. suitable length of contract). Additionally, the creation
of new car club bays can be financed via agreements linked to new developments,
through which funding could be set aside to cover future removal of the chargepoint if
necessary.
As is the case with regular EV chargepoints, any prospective sites must be assessed
against suitability criteria. In addition to this, the site must also be deemed suitable for a

ACTION

car club. More detail will be available in upcoming car club guidance.

4.3

Enable EV use through Surrey's car club


We will work with the county's car club operator to expand its network of EV
provision with a view to making 50% of available vehicles electric by 2025.

Taxis

Taxis are licensed by district and borough councils. However, by working in partnership,
the county council hopes that it can encourage ways in which licensing can move
towards more clearly defined licensing standards based on emissions, to encourage a
cleaner fleet of taxis to operate on Surrey’s roads.
A sub-group of the Surrey Air Alliance (SAA) has recommended that local authorities
adopt a Surrey-wide approach to taxi licencing. Existing licensing conditions were

Page 133

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
looked at, to try and identify a standard that would encourage cleaner vehicles in taxi
fleets.
For example, local authorities could choose to include a provision in licensing terms
which would require vehicles to be of a cleaner emissions standard by a given deadline;
this is similar to the conditions imposed by Woking Borough Council. They could also
set an age limit for taxi vehicles, indeed Epsom and Ewell Borough Council have set a
limit that vehicles should be no older than 6 years. Through the same approach,
borough and district councils could also look to incentivise the use of EVs by taxi
operators.
The decision to alter taxi licensing conditions rests with the individual local authorities
and is not a function of the county council, but we will endeavour to make ultra-low
emission vehicles a focus of our future partnership working with licensing authorities.
The council also recognises that we can play a role in enabling chargepoints at key
locations to support EV take up within taxi fleets.
Encourage EV uptake by taxi operators


We will continue to work with district and borough partners where

ACTION

appropriate through the Surrey Air Alliance to support consistent licensing
standards for taxis across the county.


To support this work we will work in partnership with taxi firms and other
stakeholders and review evidence from existing electric taxi schemes to
identify key locations where the most advantageous chargepoints can be
installed to facilitate the usage of EVs by taxi operators.

4.4

Buses

Bus operators in Surrey periodically upgrade their fleets to ensure they are attractive to
existing and potential users and remain economic to operate and maintain. This
provides an opportunity where fleets can be considered for replacement with a cleaner
and less noisy alternative, such as EV.

Page 134

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Certain factors influence whether a service can feasibly be considered for an electric
bus, including:


Charging facilities at bus stations and depots



Length and topography of the route



Commercial viability of the route



Available funding sources for fleet renewal



Purchase cost and operating cost

Where electric buses are feasible they will enable the council to improve local air quality
by reducing the size of the diesel fleet and their associated exhaust emissions. They are
also expected to make bus usage a more attractive option for both existing and
prospective users by providing a high quality and more pleasant on-board experience.
To date, we have endeavoured to work with bus operators to identify opportunities for
electric buses to operate along Surrey routes. In August 2017, the council and
Stagecoach were successful in a bid of £1.74m to the Department for Transport (DfT) to
provide nine electric buses on the park and ride service in Guildford for introduction in
2018. The award had the additional benefit of boosting the local economy as the fleet is
built by a local company, Alexander Dennis15.
A marketplace producing large numbers of affordable electric buses is yet to fully
emerge, however the example in Guildford demonstrates that opportunities can be
found. We will continue to review technological advancements in partnership with bus
operators, government and industry to develop a vision for a clean bus fleet that is
commercially feasible and sustainable.
The council does not presently have capital funding available to plan or install further
electric bus infrastructure and budget pressures have required us to review instances
where revenue funding is used to subsidise routes that are not commercially viable.
External funding is therefore critical to enable the council to continue to expand a low
https://news.surreycc.gov.uk/2017/08/29/surrey-wins-1-5million-to-bring-electric-buses-to-guildfordpark-and-ride/
15

Page 135

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
emission bus fleet, meaning that we must continue to proactively pursue existing
opportunities for grant funding from the public and private sector, whilst also pushing for
further opportunities to be made available.
An objective of the Local Bus Strategy16 is to maintain a sustainable network of
financially-supported bus services, a key aspect of which surrounds making bus travel
more appealing to increase patronage and therefore make services self-sustaining. One
of the ways that the council seeks to increase patronage is through a programme of
improvements to bus infrastructure through external funding sources (e.g. through Local
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs)). By increasing the number of people travelling by bus
the capacity to invest in electric bus fleets also grows, contributing towards joint aims of
reducing congestion, reducing emissions and further boosting patronage.
Bus route assessments
ACTIONS



We will identify routes which might be suitable for operation with electric
bus fleets.

Clean bus fleet funding


We will continue to work with bus operators to pursue funding to expand
the electric bus fleet maximising opportunities through LEP bids.

4.5

Community transport

We also recognise that there are some Surrey residents who are unable to use or do
not have access to the local bus network. We are committed to assisting organisations
(such as community transport operators and voluntary car schemes) that provide
transport services to these individuals in the electrification of their fleets.
Currently, opportunities for funding suitable EVs for community transport use are
limited, and there is a scarce range of vehicles available on the market that can be used

16

Surrey Transport Plan: Passenger Transport Strategy, Part 1 – Local Bus. SCC, July 2014.

Page 136

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
for this purpose. However, it is expected that the range of vehicles that are available on

ACTION

the market will increase in the next few years.
Lobby central government for funding


We will lobby DfT for funding to support EV solutions and support innovation
in the community and third sector.

Page 137

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

5. Surrey County Council’s assets: leading by
example
As a major employer and purchaser of services, this chapter explores the steps that the
council can take to help support a transition EVs amongst its staff and supplier base.

5.1

Surrey County Council land

Beyond public highway infrastructure, the council is a major landowner across the
county including schools and libraries with surrounding land, office buildings with car
parks and a limited number of private roads. Some of this land could potentially become
suitable sites for the provision of EV charging infrastructure for use by staff, visitors or
for wider public use (also see Chapter 3.1 on destination charging).
The rollout of an EV council fleet (Chapter 5.2) will require the availability of
chargepoints near to where vehicles are stored. Depending on the trend and pace of
new charging station developments, this demand may be met by the commercial sector,
however an alternative option may be to install points at council offices and depots. The
council could consider making these chargepoints dedicated to council vehicles only to
ensure spare capacity, however, given that the council fleet will be mainly charged
overnight we could potentially consider making these bays available for staff use during
normal working hours.
While recognising that there may be good opportunities to provide chargepoints on
council land, there are also considerable challenges. These include the need for an
ongoing maintenance budget to ensure the points are in a safe and usable condition.
Currently there is no long term budget identified to manage both new and existing
chargepoints and it is therefore important to identify a solution to this problem.

Page 138

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Funding the installation and maintenance of charging infrastructure

ACTIONS



We will work to identify and secure suitable funding to maintain new and
existing charging infrastructure on council land and public highway.

Providing further infrastructure on council land


We will continue to work to identify council property suitable for installing a
small number of off-street chargepoints at minimal financial risk to the
council.

5.2

Surrey County Council vehicles

The council is behind other councils in the south east in terms of using EVs for our dayto-day activities. The council fleet is made up of vehicles that are either leased or owned
outright. Fleet turnover for owned vehicles is likely to be slower than those that are
leased so as to ensure value for money is achieved over their lifespan.
The current fleet includes a range of vehicles intended to serve varying purposes,
meaning that some vehicles would be more suited to switching from conventional fuels
to electric than others. Given the current average range limitations of EV batteries,
council vehicles which currently travel less than 100 miles per day would have the best
potential to switch to electric.
Much of the council's fleet is stored overnight on county-owned premises and therefore
any attempts to electrify these vehicles may necessitate the availability of charging
infrastructure on council land (See Chapter 5.1).
Ultra-low emission vehicles, including EVs, shall be made a key criterion in the decision
making process as the council begins the process of replacing its current fleet of
vehicles from 2020 onwards. This will be undertaken as part of the council’s
procurement process where vehicles become due for renewal, EVs will be included on
the list of potential replacement vehicles during the assessment procedure where they
are viable, the infrastructure is available to support them and they offer value for money

Page 139

8

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
as part of public budgets. There may also be earlier opportunities for an EV transition
where staff vehicles are hired on short or long term contracts.
Beyond simply managing the council’s own fleet, there may be opportunities to
influence external organisations to switch their fleet to EVs. The council employs a
number of external contractors and agencies to carry out work on its behalf and the
council’s purchasing power is strengthened by its partnership agreements with other
local authorities.

Encourage EV adoption when fleet vehicles are refreshed


We will review the process by which fleet vehicles are replaced to ensure
that ultra-low emission vehicles are considered as a preference wherever
feasible.

ACTIONS

8

Encourage EV uptake amongst the council’s partners


We will revise our tendering specifications to make EV fleets a desirable
characteristic of a potential supplier, where appropriate, when deciding to
award a contract.

Lobby central government for funding


We will lobby DfT for funding to support EV solutions and support innovation
among local authority fleets.

Page 140

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

6. Next steps
This document represents the first iteration of the council’s Electric Vehicles Strategy.
The strategies that make up the Surrey Transport Plan are periodically updated to
ensure they remain fit for purpose.
Given that EV technology is still in its emergence, it is envisaged that this strategy will
be revisited in approximately 18 months’ time to keep it up to date with the latest
developments and review progress against the actions outlined.

6.1

Table of actions

Table 3 summarises the actions acknowledged within the documents and sets out
timescales against which we expect them to be undertaken. The first column of the
table refers to the chapter where each action can be found within the document.

Page 141

8
Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Table 3
Policy and measure

Lead team

When

Objectives

Information provision on EV technology

SCC Transport Policy

Ongoing

a, g

SCC Transport Policy

2019

a, c

SCC Transport
Development Planning

Ongoing

a, c

3

 We will continue to use our existing online platform to
inform and signpost visitors to reputable sources of
educational information on EVs.

3.1

Informed geographical planning of EV chargepoints
 We will develop an updated spatial plan to help inform the
rollout of EV chargepoints across the county.
 The Vehicular and Cycle Parking Guidance will be
3.2

Page 142

'EV-friendly' planning policy
maintained and reviewed periodically to ensure the
guidance to planning authorities is kept up to date with the
development of EV technologies and national policy.

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Policy and measure

Lead team

When

Objectives

Funding the installation and maintenance of charging

SCC Transport Policy,
Procurement Services,
Highways, Property
Services

2019

a, c, d, e

SCC Transport Policy,
Highways, Parking

2018

a, b, c, f

SCC Property Services

2019

a, b

infrastructure
3.1, 5.1

 We will work to develop a business model suitable to the
council and other interested local authority partners for
deploying and managing a charging network.
 We will work to identify and secure suitable funding to
maintain new and existing charging infrastructure on
council land and public highway.
Develop the council’s on-street charging policy

Page 143

 We will monitor and review the outcomes of trials on
different charging units in other areas to determine their

3.2

potential suitability for use on-street in Surrey.
 We will review parking management policy to give
consideration to parking arrangements for EVs.
 We will produce guidelines for determining what
constitutes a suitable position for an on-street
chargepoint.

3.3

Strategic site assessment
 We will review strategically located council owned sites for
potential installation of rapid chargepoints for public use.

8

8

3.4

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Policy and measure

Lead team

When

Supporting a town centre charging network

SCC Highways, Transport
Policy and Property

Ongoing

a, b

SCC Highways

Ongoing

a, b, f

SCC Transport Policy

Ongoing

a, f, g

 We will work with boroughs, districts and other third

Objectives

parties to provide a network of chargepoints in town
centre locations and key destinations.
On-street chargepoint trials

3.4

 We will consider possible locations for a trial of on-street
chargepoints at key destinations where parking pressures
permit and where characteristics of the area suggest

Page 144

charging to be feasible.
Encouraging the use of electric bikes
 We will implement the Cycling Strategy including ongoing
development of cycling routes via the Local Transport

4.1

Strategies
 We will continue to encourage employers to offer a Cycle
to Work salary sacrifice scheme (covering all bikes) to
reduce the overall purchase cost and make payment more
manageable for potential users.
 We will promote electric bike hire as a ‘Thing to do’ in
Surrey via our online platforms with links to hire locations.

4.2

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Policy and measure

Lead team

When

Objectives

Enable EV use through Surrey's car club

SCC Transport
Development Planning

2021

a, g

Local authorities

Ongoing

a, c

SCC Passenger Transport
Projects

2020

f, g

SCC Passenger Transport
Projects, Transport Policy

Ongoing

 We will work with the county's car club operator to expand
its network of EV provision with a view to making 50% of
available vehicles electric by 2025.
Encourage EV uptake by taxi operators
 We will continue to work with district and borough partners
where appropriate through the Surrey Air Alliance to
county.
 To support this work we will work in partnership to identify
key locations where chargepoints can be installed to
facilitate the usage of EVs by taxi operators.

4.4

Bus route assessments


We will identify routes which might be suitable for
operation with electric bus fleets.

Clean bus fleet funding
4.5

Page 145

4.3

support consistent licensing standards for taxis across the



We will continue to work with bus operators to pursue

d, e, f

funding to expand the electric bus fleet maximising
opportunities through LEP bids.

8

8
Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
Policy and measure

Lead team

When

Objectives

Lobby central government for funding

SCC Passenger Transport
Projects

2018

e

SCC Property Services,
Procurement Services

Ongoing

SCC Fleet Managers,
Procurement Services

2021

e, g

SCC Procurement Services

2020

g



We will lobby DfT for funding to support EV solutions

4.5, 5.2

and support innovation in the community and third
sector.


We will lobby DfT for funding to support EV solutions
and support innovation among local authority fleets.

5.1

Providing further infrastructure on council land


We will continue to work to identify council property

a, b, g

Page 146

suitable for installing a small number of off-street
chargepoints at minimal financial risk to the council.

5.2

Encourage EV adoption when fleet vehicles are refreshed


We will review the process by which fleet vehicles are
replaced to ensure that ultra-low emission vehicles are
considered as a preference wherever feasible.

5.2

Encourage EV uptake amongst council partners


We will revise our tendering specifications to make EV
fleets a desirable characteristic of a potential supplier,
where appropriate, when deciding to award a contract.
Table 3: Policies and actions of the Surrey Electric Vehicle Strategy

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Annex 1.

Technical Information

This annex provides technical information on electric vehicles and chargepoints.
Information on other types of ultra-low emission vehicles can be found via OLEV.

Types of Plug-in Electric Vehicle
There are three main types of electric vehicle listed below which can be powered solely
via the battery and charged by plugging the vehicle into a power supply:
1. Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV): Also known as a ‘full’ or ‘pure’ EV, the vehicle uses
batteries to store energy that powers a motor. The batteries are charged by
plugging the vehicle into an electrical power source, and BEVs can also be charged
by regenerative braking, i.e. storing the kinetic energy created by slowing down the
vehicle.
2. Extended-Range Electric Vehicle (E-REV): Powered by batteries, but also fitted
with a small petrol/diesel generator that can help extend the range of the vehicle by
topping up the batteries while driving.
3. Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle (PHEV): Powered both by electric and a
conventional diesel/petrol engine. The diesel/petrol engine provides power when the
battery is depleted. The battery can also recharge from the engine and via
regenerative braking.

Page 147

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Figure 3: Plug-in electric vehicle types17

Chargepoint types
This chapter outlines some of the different types of EV chargepoint units that are
available along with associated considerations. Please note that this is not an
exhaustive list and we recognise that a number of innovative or bespoke solutions may
be available where these types of unit are inappropriate for certain locations.

17

Source: Making the Connection, The Plug-In Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy. OLEV, 2011.

Page 148

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Figure 4: A domestic wall mounted chargepoint, a floor mounted chargepoint and rapid
chargepoint18

Trickle (slow) charging (AC charging: 3kW)
Trickle chargepoints can take upwards of 6-10 hours to fully charge a vehicle,
depending on the EV. Trickle chargepoints are therefore often found in locations where
vehicles can be left to dwell for a long period such as in residential areas and on
domestic premises for home charging, and occasionally at workplace locations.
There are a number of trickle charging units available including: domestic power
sockets, wall mounted units, floor mounted units and units than can be incorporated into
street lights.
Key Considerations:


Trickle chargepoints only require a small single phase electricity supply and are
relatively cheap to install.



The long dwell time required to use trickle chargepoints make them potentially
unsuitable to for areas where there are timed parking restrictions.

18

Source: Getty images

Page 149

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8



Wall mounted charging units are unlikely to be suitable in on-street locations.



Street light charging units usually need to be positioned at the front of the
pavement to avoid creating a trip hazard from cables trailing between the
chargepoint and EV. Most street lights in Surrey are located at the rear of the
pavement to reduce clutter.



Trickle chargepoints may be inappropriate for users seeking to fully recharge an
EV with a larger battery capacity although may prove useful for ‘topping up’.

Fast charging (AC charging: 7-22kW)
A 7kW chargepoint can fully recharge some EV models in 3-4 hours.
Fast chargepoints can currently be found in various locations in the UK, including car
parks and residential areas. These chargepoints are suitable for ‘topping up’ or fully
charging vehicles where users have sufficient dwell time to spare.
Fast chargepoints are available in the form of wall mounted and floor mounted units.
Key Considerations:


OLEV grant funding currently available to help fund residential installation.



For those looking to recharge whilst making long distance journeys, fast
chargepoints may be less useful for users due to the need for a long dwell time.



Wall mounted charging units are unlikely to be suitable in on-street locations.



A single phase power supply can be sufficient to provide a 7kW fast chargepoint,
whilst the availability of a 3-phase power supply is needed for 11kW and 22kW
fast chargepoints.



The speed at which a fast chargepoint can recharge a vehicle is limited by the
vehicle’s on-board charging unit which converts line current from AC to DC for
storage in the vehicle battery. For example, a vehicle with a 3.3kW on board
charger using a 7kW fast chargepoint will only be able to draw a maximum of
3.3kW per hour).

Page 150

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8
Rapid charging (AC and DC charging: 43kW+)
A 50kW chargepoint will provide an 80% charge for most EVs in approximately 30mins.
Typically in the UK, although not exclusively, rapid chargepoints are located near busy
‘A’ roads or motorways and trunk roads (i.e. the Strategic Route Network). These
chargepoints enable longer journeys and make EVs an option for users that are unable
to charge at home.
Rapid chargepoints usually consist of large floor mounted units with an associated
feeder pillar or cabinet.
Key Considerations:


Rapid chargepoints have a high power demand and can only be considered in
locations where there is significant spare capacity available on the local
electricity distribution network.



Rapid chargepoints are usually significantly more costly to install than fast
chargepoints, and therefore potential locations are often only viable if they are
expected to guarantee a high number of users each day.



Rapid chargepoints are not fully compatible with all types of plug-in EV. Most
PHEVs are either incapable of charging using rapid chargepoints or are restricted
at the rate they can draw power from one.



The charging time for an EV using a DC rapid chargepoint is not limited by the
size of the vehicle’s on-board charger.



Requires a significant amount of space due to size of the unit and feeder pillar.



Installation typically requires planning permission.

Inductive charging
In the long term, it is possible that induction charging technology within the carriageway
may offer an alternative to roadside charging stations in the future. However, this

Page 151

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

technology is currently in its early developmental stage and for the majority of research
and trials to date have been conducted on the Strategic Route Network rather than local
roads: one such example is a Highways England study on wireless power transfer19
We will continue to monitor any developments and trials of the technology.

Chargepoint connectors
The latest chargepoints in the UK all now use the latest ‘Type 2’ universal socket,
however earlier chargepoints sometime used different types which are now being
phased out20. Table 4 displays the different types of EV chargepoint connections.
The type of chargepoint often determines whether a cable is permanently tethered to
the unit. Portable charging cables with different connectors are available for use on
untethered chargepoints, enabling EVs that have a particular socket to use
chargepoints with a different type.

3-Pin (3kW AC)

Slow / trickle chargepoints
Type 1 (3kW AC)
Type 2 (3kW AC)

Commando (3kW
AC)

Slow public chargepoints are typcially not equipped with tethered cables, meaning that any EV can
use the chargepoint if they carry the correct cable. The 3-Pin variant shown above is usually only
associated with domestic home charging.

Type 1 (7kW AC)

19
20

Fast chargepoints
Type 2 (7-22kW AC)

Commando (7-22kW AC)

Feasibility study - powering electric vehicles on England's major roads. Highways England, 2015
https://www.goultralow.com/how-do-you-charge-an-electric-car/electric-car-chargers/

Page 152

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy
8

Fast public chargepoints are typcially not equipped with tethered cables, meaning that any EV can
use the chargepoint if they carry the correct cable.

Type 2 (43kW AC)

Rapid chargepoints
CHAdeMO (50kW
CCS (50kW DC)
DC)

Tesla Type - 2
(120kW DC)

Rapid public chargepoints have tethered cables, meaning that EV owners can only use the
chargepoint if their EV is compatible with the associated cable connector. However, many rapid
chargepoints are equipped with more than one cable and connector type to cater for different EVs.

Table 4: Chargepoint connection types

Page 153

Surrey Transport Plan: Electric Vehicle Strategy

8

Annex 2.

List of relevant policies and guidance /
references

Surrey County Council
Document
Surrey Transport Plan (LTP3)

Climate Change Strategy (2011)
Air Quality Strategy (2011)
Low Emissions Transport Strategy
(Draft)

Local Transport Strategies and Forward
Programmes (2014 / 2018)
Vehicle and Cycle Parking Guidance
(January 2018)

Details
Provides county transport policy
direction, with the aim to provide for
effective, safe, reliable, sustainable
transport.
To be superseded by combined AQ/CC
strategy (2018)
To be superseded by combined AQ/CC
strategy (2018)
To be published in 2018 with input from
borough and district councils, combining
and replacing the Air Quality and
Climate Change strategies.
Support provision for the uptake of
Electric Vehicles in each district and
borough in Surrey; updates ongoing.
Provides guidance on EV standards to
developers of new housing in Surrey

UK Government
Document
The Road to Zero (Department for
Transport, July 2018)
Automated and Electric Vehicles Bill
2017-19, (Part 2)
Making the Connection, the Plug-In
Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy (OLEV,
June 2011)

Details
UK Government strategy to delivering
zero emissions transport
Bill to make provision regarding
automated vehicles and electric
vehicles.
The UK Government policy paper to
develop a vision and remove barriers to
EV uptake.

Page 154

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Travel plans – a good
practice guide for
developers
November 2018

DRAFT for Approval

1
Page
155

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Contents
Section

Content

Page

1

Introduction

3

2

What are travel plans?

4

3

Travel plans and the planning process

4

4

Travel plan thresholds

5

5

Travel plan categories

8

6

Securing travel plans

9

7

Travel plan management

9

8

Travel plan coordinator role

10

9

Travel plan content

10

10

Objectives and targets

11

11

Measures and action plan

12

12

Remedial measures

13

13

Monitoring and review

13

14

Audit fees

16

15

Enforcement

17

Appendix A – Travel plans in the planning process

18

Appendix B – Examples of on-site travel plan measures

19

Appendix C – Travel plan checklist

22

Appendix D – Example employee travel questionnaire

25

Appendix E – Example residential travel questionnaire

27

Page2156

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

1. Introduction
Surrey is one of the most densely populated counties in the UK with traffic on A roads almost
double the national average. Increasing congestion and growing concerns about the environment
are a major concern for people living and working in Surrey. Travel plans feature in both local and
national transport policy, allowing developers to address these concerns by reducing reliance on
single occupancy car travel.
Surrey Transport Plan is the third transport plan for Surrey. It sets out a strategy for transport
which will improve the economy, the environment and quality of life in Surrey. The four objectives
of the plan are:
Effective transport

to facilitate end-to-end journeys for residents, business and
visitors by maintaining the road network, delivering public
transport services and, where appropriate, providing
enhancements;

Reliable transport

to improve the journey time reliability of travel in Surrey;

Safe transport

to improve road safety and the security of the travelling public in
Surrey; and

Sustainable transport

to provide an integrated transport system that protects the
environment, keeps people healthy and provides for lower carbon
transport choices.

Within the Surrey Transport Plan, the Travel Planning Strategy delivers against all four objectives.
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 24 July 2018 and sets
out the government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The
NPPF states that all developments which generate significant amounts of movement should be
required to provide a Travel Plan.
This guidance replaces previous guidance produced in 2010. It has been produced for use by
developers and occupiers, their agents and transport consultants and sets out what Surrey County
Council requires from development-related travel plans.

3
Page
157

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

2.

What are travel plans?

A travel plan is a document which comprises a strategy for reducing car use to a development site,
combined with a package of measures for implementing the strategy. They are required through
the planning process for a broad range of land uses, including residential, retail, employment,
education, leisure and health. Travel plans are living documents which require regular monitoring
and review. The benefits of successfully implemented travel plans include:




reduced traffic congestion, demand for parking spaces and travel costs;
improved health for site users through the use of active travel and better air quality in the
area around a development site; and
increased returns for developers where less land is used for parking.

3. Travel plans and the planning process
The following describes the planning process with regard to travel plans, and a summary flowchart
is provided in Appendix A.
Planning
application stage
Scoping

Activity

Pre-application

Applicant and Surrey County Council, acting as the highway authority,
negotiate any highway requirements and mitigation measures with
input from Highways England, where appropriate. Details of the preplanning application service, including associated charges, can be
found on Surrey County Council’s website
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/environment-housing-andplanning/planning/transport-development-planning

Applicant establishes the requirement for a transport assessment (TA)
and travel plan (TP) by referring to the thresholds in this guide and
through discussion with the council’s Transportation Development
Planning (TDP) officers.

Local planning authority, Surrey County Council and applicant agree
draft terms of legal agreement, and extent of any conditions, if
appropriate.
Applicant may submit a draft TA/TP for initial evaluation by TDP, who
provide feedback to the applicant to enable revision of the TA and TP.
Submission

Applicant submits final transport assessment and travel plan alongside
the planning application to the local planning authority.
The local planning authority undertakes statutory consultation, which
includes consulting with Surrey County Council in their capacity as the
local highway authority.
TDP carries out a further evaluation of the travel plan, and feeds back
to the local planning authority. This could include advising the local
planning authority about the wording of planning conditions relating to
the travel plan.

Page4158

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8
The local planning authority and applicant agree any amendments to
the travel plan and any legal agreement and finalise supporting
documentation.
The s106/conditions relating to the travel plan will be agreed and
signed by all parties to ensure that the travel plan document is legally
enforceable.
Post permission

Applicant/occupier to update the travel plan in accordance with
conditions/planning obligations, if appropriate at this stage.
Applicant/occupier to implement measures prior to occupation, if
appropriate.
On appointment, travel plan co-ordinator (TPC) to send contact details
to TDP.

Post occupation

Occupier TPC to undertake baseline surveys, update the travel plan
with the survey results and send to the local planning authority and
TDP, implement travel plan measures and undertake monitoring
according to this guide.

4. Travel plan thresholds
Surrey County Council has set development scale thresholds above which a travel plan should be
produced. This requirement applies to both new developments and extensions of existing sites
and is based on the Department for Transport’s Guidance on Transport Assessments (March
2007). In cases of extensions to existing sites, a travel plan will usually only be requested if the
area of new development exceeds the threshold.
Educational establishments, including schools, are required to submit travel plans when expansion
results in increased published admission numbers.
Applications are assessed on an individual basis, so other factors may require the submission of a
travel plan, for example:




developments likely to have an adverse effect on heritage, conservation or air quality
management areas
developments likely to exacerbate on-street parking, congestion and safety problems
phased developments where the initial phase doesn’t reach the specified threshold but future
phases will reach/exceed the threshold.

Travel statements are required for smaller developments, where there is a need to promote
sustainable travel but where monitoring is not required. A travel statement should include a
description of a site’s location and associated transport links and set out objectives and measures
to encourage sustainable travel.
Please refer to Table 4.1 for thresholds based on size or scale of land use. The table also refers
to the user of transport assessments and transport statements.
5
Page
159

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

To clarify, a transport assessment (TA) is a comprehensive review of transport issues related to
and arising from a development proposal, set out in a full written report. A transport statement
(TS) is also a review of transport issues related to and arising from a development proposal, set
out in a smaller written report.
TAs are used for larger scale development proposals, or where there are complicated transport
matters to consider. TSs are used for smaller scale development proposals than TAs, or for
developments where the transport issues to be reviewed are straight forward. The coverage of
TAs and TSs is decided on a case by case basis, depending on the nature of the development
proposals and the transport network it is served by.
Figure 4.1

Thresholds based on size or scale of land use

Land use

Use / description of
development

Transport
Statement and
Travel Statement
required (Gross
Floor Area, unless
stated otherwise)

Transport
Assessment
and Travel Plan
required (Gross
Floor Area,
unless stated
otherwise)

A1 Food retail

Retail sale of food goods to the
public – food superstores,
supermarkets, convenience food
stores.

>250 <800sq. m

>800 sq. m

A1 Non-food
retail

Retail sale of non-food goods to
the public; but includes sandwich
bars – sandwiches or other cold
food purchased and consumed off
the premises, internet cafés.

>800 <1500 sq. m

>1500 sq. m

A2 Financial
and
professional
services

Financial services – banks,
building societies and bureaux de
change, professional services
(other than health or medical
services) – estate agents and
employment agencies, other
services – betting shops,
principally where services are
provided to visiting members of
the public.

>1000 <2500 sq. m

>2500 sq. m

A3
Restaurants
and cafés

Restaurants and cafés – use for
the sale of food for consumption
on the premises, excludes internet
cafés

>300 <2500 sq. m

>2500 sq. m

(now A1).
A4 Drinking
Use as a public house, wine-bar or >300 <600 sq. m
establishments other drinking establishment.

Page6160

>600 sq. m

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

A5 Hot food
takeaway

Use for the sale of hot food for
consumption on or off the
premises.

>250 <500 sq. m

>500 sq. m

B1 Business

(a) Offices other than in use within
Class A2 (financial and
professional services)

>1500 <2500 sq. m

>2500 sq. m

(b) research and development –
laboratories, studios
(c) light industry
B2 General
industrial

General industry (other than
classified as in B1), The former
‘special industrial‘ use classes, B3
– B7, are now all encompassed in
the B2 use class.

>2500 <4000 sq. m

>4000 sq. m

B8 Storage or
distribution

Storage or distribution centers –
wholesale warehouses,
distribution centers and
repositories.

>3000 <5000 sq. m

>5000 sq. m

C1 Hotels

Hotels, boarding houses and
guest houses, development falls
within this class if ‘no significant
element of care is provided‘.

>75 <100
bedrooms

>100 bedrooms

C2 Residential
institutions hospitals,
nursing homes

Used for the provision of
residential accommodation and
care to people in need of care.

>30 <50 beds

>50 beds

C2 Residential
institutions –
residential
education

Boarding schools and training
centers.

>50 <150 students

>150 students

C2 Residential
institutions –
institutional
hostels

Homeless shelters,
accommodation for people with
learning difficulties and people on
probation.

>250 <400
residents

>400 residents

C3 Dwelling
houses

Dwellings for individuals, families
or not more than six people living
together as a single household.
Not more than six people living
together includes – students or
young people sharing a dwelling
and small group homes for
disabled or handicapped people
living together in the community

>50 <80 units

>80 units

D1 Schools,
Colleges and
Universities

Educational establishments for
young people and adults

>250? <500 sq. m

>500 sq m

7
Page
161

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Medical and health services –
clinics and health centers,
crèches, day nurseries, day
centers and consulting rooms (not
attached to the consultant‘s or
doctor‘s house), museums, public
libraries, art galleries, exhibition
halls, training centers, places of
worship, religious instruction and
church halls.

>500 <1000 sq. m

>1000 sq. m

D2 Assembly
and leisure

Cinemas, dance and concert halls,
sports halls, swimming baths,
skating rinks, gymnasiums, bingo
halls and casinos. Other indoor
and outdoor sports and leisure
uses not involving motorised
vehicles or firearms.

>500 <1500 sq. m

>1500 sq. m

Others

For example: stadium, retail
warehouse clubs, amusement
arcades, launderettes, petrol filling
stations, taxi businesses,
car/vehicle hire businesses and
the selling and displaying of motor
vehicles, nightclubs, theatres,
hostels, builders‘ yards, garden
centers, POs, travel and ticket
agencies, hairdressers, funeral
directors, hire shops, dry cleaners.

Pre-application
discussion required
to determine if a
Transport
Statement and
Travel Statement

Pre-application
discussion
required to
determine if a
Travel Plan is
required

D1 Other Non
-residential
Institutions

Schools are required to provide travel plans if a school site’s proposed development will result in
increased pupil numbers. School travel plans should be produced using the nationally recognised
school travel plan accreditation scheme, Modeshift STARS. More information can be found in the
Guide to School Travel Plans, which can be accessed via Surrey County Council’s TravelSMART
site – https://www.travelsmartsurrey.info/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/85104/Draft-TP-GuideAppendix-E.pdf

5. Travel plan categories
The submission of a framework travel plan is required when the ultimate occupier of a
development is unknown during the planning phase. This type of travel plan is not expected to
contain baseline data or targets, but should indicate likely modal split and aspirational targets.
Measures which will need to be incorporated into the design of the development, regardless of the
end occupier, are required to be included in a framework travel plan. After first occupation, the
document would then be updated to include actual baseline data and associated targets, resulting
in the production of a full or final travel plan.

Page8162

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

A full travel plan (sometimes referred to as “final”) includes actual baseline data and targets.
Framework travel plans submitted with planning applications are expected to be updated into full
travel plans, once first occupation of developments has taken place.
The term umbrella travel plan refers to travel plans for mixed use developments, or
developments where outline planning permission is being sought, and the types of occupiers are
unknown. (NB: they can be presented as framework or full travel plans). An umbrella travel plan
should include a commitment for an overall travel plan coordinator to be appointed and for
measures to be delivered across the whole site. As units become occupied, the following details
of each occupier should be drawn up and added as an appendix to the travel plan:











name of the occupier
description of operations to be undertaken
hours of operation
number of staff
number of parking spaces
details of initiatives already implemented by the occupier at other sites, if appropriate
whether visitors, customers or tradespeople will be the predominant travellers to the site
how often deliveries or dispatches will arrive or leave the site
a commitment to the travel plan from the organisation’s management
specific travel plan contact details.

6. Securing travel plans
Travel plans can be secured by planning condition, Section 106 Agreement or Unilateral
Undertaking. The method for securing travel plans will depend on the size and complexity of
developments; each planning application will be assessed separately to determine the most
suitable way of securing the travel plan.
Where the developer and occupier are from different organisations, participation in the travel plan
should be a requirement of occupation within the terms of the lease. This is especially important
in multi-occupier sites where the participation from a range of tenants is necessary.

7. Travel plan management
The following information must be included in all travel plans:






clarification of who has (or will have) overall responsibility for implementing the travel plan –
either developer or occupier - both before and after occupation of the site, including during
construction, if appropriate
details of how responsibility will be handed over from the developer to the occupier,
identifying:
o who will be responsible for communicating the existence, content and requirements of the
travel plan to the occupier; and
o how the developer will support the occupier in achieving the travel plan targets.
a description of the travel plan co-ordinator’s (TPC) role, including the amount of time to be
allocated to implementing the travel plan, a timescale for when the TPC is likely to be
appointed and in place, how they will be appointed, funded, managed and supported, as well
as full contact details where known

9
Page
163

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8



an explanation of any other related management arrangements, such as the intention to set up
travel plan working groups, steering groups and/or partnership working (with other TPCs at
local schools or businesses, for example).

8. Travel plan coordinator role
Where the developer and occupier of a site are the same organisation, it is clear that this
organisation will be responsible for appointing the TPC. Where the developer and occupier are
different, the developer may be expected to appoint the TPC in order to instigate the travel plan,
although the full implementation would then be the responsibility of the occupier.
The role of the TPC should be assigned to a member of staff within a business or organisation
who, ideally, has knowledge of sustainable transport and is able to influence the users of the
development. It may be preferable for a member of staff with strong links to management to
undertake this role, to facilitate decision-making on working practices and provision of resources
as required by the travel plan.
In the case of residential developments, a site management company could act as the TPC, or a
specialist provider could be employed by the developer. This role should not be assigned to a
residents’ association alone whilst in the initial occupation stage, although the association may
take this on once 5 year targets have been achieved.
A single, named point of contact, along with full contact details, is required to be included in each
submitted travel plan.

9. Travel plan content
All development related travel plans must describe the following (a checklist is available in
Appendix C):















the proposed development, location and associated transport links
details of associated highway schemes to be provided as part of the planning application
the approximate number of people expected to use the development, for example, the
number of employees, residents, customers, visitors etc
likely future travel to the site
details of proposed facilities which will encourage the take-up of sustainable travel, for
example, the number of parking spaces, cycle storage spaces, washing and changing
amenities, lockers etc
the travel plan co-ordinator’s role (see Section 7)
who the measures are targeted towards, for example, employees, patients, residents etc
objectives, which should comprise a list of intended outcomes (see Section 9)
SMART modal share targets, which link to the objectives (see Section 9)
measures, which aim to achieve the targets (see Section 10 and Appendix B)
an action plan, each measure to have a completion date and to state who will be responsible
for implementation (ie developer or occupier)
a list of remedial measures, for implementation if targets are not achieved by Year 3 (see
Section 11)
how the travel plan will be monitored (see Section 12).

Page10164

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

10.

Objectives and targets

Objectives
The aim of all travel plans is to reduce the amount of vehicular traffic generated by a site, which in
turn will both improve local air quality and site users’ health, as well as reduce safety issues
associated with higher levels of traffic. This aim does not need to be repeated, but it should be
supported by specific objectives, or outcomes, which ensure that the travel plan:





complies with any associated planning conditions or legal agreements;
addresses any issues identified in the associated transport assessment;
is relevant to the site and site users; and
reinforces the objectives of Surrey’s Transport Plan.

Examples of objectives could be:






the amount of staff cars being driven to and from the office will be reduced;
staff parking to cease along Acacia Avenue;
all parking associated with the care home to be accommodated within the car park and not
on neighbouring roads;
the amount of single occupied vehicles entering/leaving the site during peak periods will be
reduced; and
the amount of passengers using the bus service through Rose Bush Gardens will increase.

Targets
These are indicators which allow a travel plan’s progress to be measured. They put a value on a
travel plan’s objectives. They should be:






linked directly to the objectives of the travel plan;
set over a minimum of five years, with interim targets at year one and year three;
SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and time bound). An example would be to
reduce single occupancy vehicle trips by x% by x date;
clear about which journeys are being assessed (all trips/peak trips only). Residential
developments should focus on weekdays, peak hours only; and
focused on reducing the amount of single occupied vehicles generated by the development.

The travel plan should state that if targets haven’t been met by year 5, then monitoring will
continue until year 9.
There is a need to be aware of the difference between percentage reduction and percentage point
reduction. For example, where baseline single occupied vehicle travel is 60%:

a 10% reduction will result in SOV travel of 54%; and

a 10 percentage point reduction will result in SOV travel of 50%.
To avoid confusion, targets should be expressed as follows:
11
Page
165

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8
Figure 6.1: Example of targets relating to a workplace
Target
Baseline
Reduce the proportion of employees travelling to
work in single occupied vehicles.
Increase the proportion of lift sharers.
Increase the proportion of public transport users.
Increase proportion of employees cycling to work
Increase proportion of employees walking to work

68%

2018
2020
(year1) (year 3)
64%
61%

2022
(year 5)
58%

7%
15%
3%
4%

9%
17%
4%
5%

10%
19%
6%
6%

11%
21%
8%
7%

2020
(year 3)
60%

2022
(year 5)
57%

10%
15%

11%
16%

5%
10%

5%
11%

Figure 6.2: Example of targets relating to a residential development
Target
Baseline 2018
(year1)
Reduce the proportion of residents travelling between 67%
64%
8.00-9.00am and 5.00-6.00pm on weekdays in single
occupied vehicles.
Increase proportion of lift sharers during peak hours
8%
9%
Increase the proportion of public transport users
13%
14%
during peak hours
3%
4%
Increase proportion of cyclists during peak hours
9%
9%
Increase proportion pedestrians during peak hours

11. Measures and action plan
Measures are introduced to achieve the targets set out in the travel plan and should be tailored to
the specific requirements of the site.
If the travel plan relates to the expansion or alteration of an existing development, then measures
currently in place should be described. Similarly, if an organisation with sustainable travel
initiatives at other sites develops at a new location, then these initiatives should be described.
When describing proposed measures, developers should note the following:







measures should contribute to achieving the targets and objectives
definite wording should be used as much as possible (ie replace “We will investigate the
provision of showers for staff use”, with “We will provide showers for staff use”)
only known measures should be included (suggested measures for the occupier to
implement should not be included, unless the developer can ensure that they will be
implemented by the occupier)
infrastructure and facilities, both existing and proposed, should be included (for example,
changing facilities, pedestrian/cycle routes through a development and the number of
lockers, showers and cycle parking spaces)
similarly, details of “soft” measures, such as season ticket loans or travel noticeboards,
should also be described
details about the funding of measures is also required.

A list of measures that could be considered for inclusion in travel plans is attached at Appendix B.

Page12166

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

An action plan should be included, setting out measures to be implemented along with
corresponding timescales and responsibilities. The action plan should differentiate between
measures to be implemented by the developer and those to be implemented by the occupier.

12. Remedial measures
It is important to include remedial measures in travel plans from the outset. In the event that Year
3 targets are not met, these measures should be implemented as soon as possible in order to help
get the travel plan back on track.
The remedial measures will depend upon the nature, scale and severity of the transport impacts if
the objectives and targets are not achieved and must be of a greater intensity (duration, extent,
frequency or scope) compared to the original, proposed measures.
Remedial measures may mean an additional expense to the developer as a commitment to
making the travel plan a success. Examples of possible remedial measures are:







public transport taster tickets provided to staff/residents free of charge
further funding allocated to provide support to the travel plan coordinator
car parking bays replaced with lift sharing parking bays
the amount of personalised travel planning on offer increased
additional changing facilities provided
financial incentives paid to employees who find alternatives to the car.

13. Monitoring and review
Establishing a baseline
Travel plan progress is usually measured by comparing baseline travel data with the mode share
targets set in each travel plan. In order to do this effectively, the inclusion of baseline data in a
travel plan is essential. (Non-mode share targets may also be included in a travel plan, but it is
important that these targets are set in a way which allows them to be measured.)
Where the future occupier of a development is unknown – and this applies in most cases - an
estimate of likely, future mode share is required. This can be can be based on the latest census
journey to work data or by interrogating the TRICS database (referred to below). This applies to
both residential and non-residential sites.
When a development consists of an extension to an existing place of work, employees currently
located at the site should be surveyed in order to establish an accurate baseline. This also applies
when the applicant knows the future occupier of a site.
Post occupation, accurate baseline data is usually required:



3 months after first occupation, for workplace and other travel plans; and
at 50% occupation, for residential travel plans.

If the occupation rate is likely to be too low to be meaningful, a timescale should be negotiated
with the council’s Travel Plan Officer.
13
Page
167

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Baseline data should then be used to update the travel plan and to set targets. The updated travel
plan should then be sent to the local planning authority and to Surrey County Council within 3
months.
Data gathering methods
There are several different methods of gathering the data required to monitor travel plans:


Standard Assessment Methodology (SAM) of TRICS®
TRICS® (Trip Rate Information Computer System) is a national database of trip rates for
developments which is used to obtain the trip generation of new developments.
SAM has been developed by TRICS® in order to monitor travel plan implementation. The
TRICS® methods of multi-modal data collection are combined with information from travel
plans to evaluate progress.
TRICS SAM, or TRICS SAM compatible surveys, should be undertaken at the following land
uses:
o B1 including offices
o B2 industrial
o C3 Housing
o D1 community facilities (hospitals and GP centres + colleges and universities only).
The suitability of sites for this type of survey should be negotiated with the council early in the
planning process.
Most sites will require three of these formal surveys, which must be funded by developers. In
the case of residential developments where a management company is responsible for
implementing the travel plan, these costs will be borne by the management company. For
freehold sites, the developer will be required to make an upfront payment for formal
monitoring to be undertaken on separate occasions.



Travel questionnaires aimed at staff, customers, residents, patients etc
Examples of employee and residential travel questionnaires are provided at Appendices D
and E. This type of monitoring is sometimes referred to as informal monitoring and is
required for all land uses. The aims of the questionnaire are to obtain:
o an overall modal split for the site, on a specific day, which will be used to monitor travel
plan progress; and
o the potential for increasing site users’ take-up of sustainable modes of travel.
A minimum response rate of 30% is required in order for this type of survey to be meaningful.
The survey response rate should be included in the travel plan.



On site vehicle counts
Manual counts of vehicles parked in car parks, or the analysis of barrier technology, can be
used in car parks which are only used by drivers to the development. However, this type of
survey will not differentiate between single and multi-occupied vehicles and should only be
used in conjunction with either a formal or informal survey. The number of bikes and
motorcycles stored on site should also be collected at the same time.

Page14168

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Frequency of monitoring
Type of development Survey requirements
Non residential, TRICS Baseline at 3 months occupation
SAM compatible sites
Year 1 (on baseline anniversary)
Year 3 (on baseline anniversary)
Year 5 (on baseline anniversary)
Residential TRICS
SAM compatible sites

Baseline at 50% occupation
Year 1 (or 100% occupation)
Year 3 (on Yr1 anniversary)
Year 5 (on Yr1 anniversary)

All non TRICS SAM
compatible sites

Baseline at 3 months occupation/
50% occupation
Year 1 (on baseline anniversary)
Year 3 (on baseline anniversary)
Year 5 (on baseline anniversary)

- TRICS SAM survey
- questionnaire survey
- TRICS SAM survey
- TRICS SAM survey
- questionnaire survey
- TRICS SAM survey
- TRICS SAM survey
- TRICS SAM survey
- questionnaire survey
- questionnaire survey
- questionnaire survey
- questionnaire survey

All monitoring reports are required to be submitted to the local planning authority and Surrey
County Council within 3 months of survey completion, and should describe and evaluate progress
against targets and actions.

15
Page
169

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

14. Audit fees
The County Council requires planning applicants to contribute towards the costs of supervising
and auditing travel plans for up to nine years after occupation. Travel statements do not require
monitoring to be submitted, so no auditing fee is charged.
The auditing fee is a one-off payment.
Where an application is for a mixed development, the development type with the greatest amount
above the threshold will be used to decide the fee. For example, the fee for a site with 2,700sqm
of B1 Office and 160 residential units will be £6,150. The maximum fee is £6,150, even if more
than one land use is at the higher rate.
A standard set of fees is applied to travel plans secured through the planning process. These
maybe paid to the county council through an appropriate planning agreement.
The fees are as follows:
Land use

Standard

Large

£4600

£6150

A1 Food retail

≥ 800 sq. m

≥ 1200 sq. m

A1 Non-food retail

≥ 1500 sq. m

≥ 2250 sq. m

A2 Financial and professional services

≥ 2500 sq. m

≥ 3750 sq. m

A3 Restaurants and cafés

≥ 2500 sq. m

≥ 3750 sq. m

A4 Drinking establishments

≥ 600 sq. m

≥ 900 sq. m

A5 Hot food takeaway

≥ 500 sq. m

≥ 750 sq. m

B1 Business

≥ 2,500 sq. m

≥ 3,750 sq. m

B2 General industrial

≥ 4000 sq. m

≥ 6000 sq. m

B8 Storage or distribution

≥ 5000 sq. m

≥ 7500 sq. m

C1 Hotels

≥ 100 bedrooms

≥ 150 bedrooms

C2 Residential institutions – hospitals and nursing homes

≥ 50 beds

≥ 75 beds

C2 Residential institutions – residential education

≥ 150 students

≥ 225 students

C2 Residential institutions – institutional hostels

≥ 400 residents

≥ 600 residents

C3 Dwelling houses

≥ 80 units

≥ 120 units

D1 Schools, Colleges and Universities

≥ 500 sq. m

≥ 750 sq. m

D1 Other non–residential Institutions

≥ 1000 sq. m

≥ 1500 sq. m

D2 Assembly and leisure

≥ 1500 sq. m

≥ 2250 sq. m

Page16170

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

15. Enforcement

8

Surrey County Council will only consider enforcement action as a last resort where the
requirements of a travel plan have not been undertaken or met. In such instances the council will
aim to work with developers and occupiers in a positive and mutually productive manner in order
to achieve the measures and/or outcomes sought by the requirements of the travel plan without
the need to undertake such action.
If such negotiations fail to achieve a satisfactory resolution enforcement action will then be
considered by the council or the local planning authority.
If the travel plan contains specific sanctions for non-compliance with any of its terms or
requirements and if such sanctions have been triggered by a failure to comply with its terms or
requirements the county council will pursue such sanctions to ensure the remedy is achieved.
If the travel plan is secured by a Section 106 Agreement, enforcement action by way of injunction
proceedings pursuant to Section 106 (5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will be
considered by the county council and/or the local planning authority. This will be dependent upon
the specific terms of the obligations contained in the agreement and the scale of the noncompliance when weighed against the remedy sought.
If the travel plan is secured by a planning condition, enforcement action by way of the issue of a
Breach of Condition Notice pursuant to Section 187A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
or a Breach of Condition Enforcement Notice pursuant to Section 172 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990, will be considered by the local planning authority.
The decision as to whether any of the above courses of action are pursued will be taken following
consultation between the county council and the local planning authority and any other interested
or affected parties, should negotiations with the developer and/or occupier fail to achieve a
satisfactory remedy.
The above courses of action do not restrict, bind or fetter the county council in any way and it
remains able to consider any alternative legal remedy that it sees fit in the specific circumstances
of a particular case.

17
Page
171

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Appendix A: Travel plans in the planning process

Pre-application discussions: does development require
a travel plan/statement?

No

Normal panning
progression

Yes

Applicant submits travel plan/statement or framework
travel plan/statement

Surrey County Council assesses travel plan/statement
based on published guidance

Acceptable

Not acceptable

Approved travel plan/statement submitted with planning
application

Feedback to applicant and
request improvements (via
local planning authority)

Planning Application assessed by local planning authority,
including approved travel plan/statement

Acceptable

Not acceptable

Planning permission granted and travel plan/statement
secured with planning consent

County
council
recommend
refusal of
planning
permission

No further
progress of
existing
application

Travel plan/statement is implemented in accordance with planning obligation

Travel plan is monitored, including TRICS standard assessment methodology, with
review every 2 years, for up to 9 years
Based on ‘Using the Planning Process to Secure Travel plans – Best Practice Guide (July 2002)
Department for Transport

Page18172

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

Appendix B: Examples of on-site travel plan measures
Subject

Measures
Facilities and physical measures
(these are often provided as part of
the development, during construction)

Walking



Drying areas for wet clothing



Storage areas for buggies/
pushchairs in nurseries



Improvements to pedestrian
access/quality (eg safe
crossings, tactile paving,
dropped kerbs, disabled
access, CCTV, lighting)



Cycling

Provision of signage/
wayfinding

Soft measures









Cycle routes around the site





Changing facilities, eg showers,
lockers, changing rooms, drying
areas



 Secure, covered cycle parking







19
Page
173

Maps and general information
about local walking routes for both
leisure and to local services, for
inclusion on websites,
noticeboards, in newsletters, in
induction/welcome packs etc.
Inclusion of link to
www.walkit.com (walking route
planner) on development website
Promotion of health benefits
associated with walking http://www.walk4life.info/
Walking events such as led walks
at lunchtime or after work,
pedometer challenges and Walk
Doctor events
Provision of cycle route maps https://www.cyclestreets.net/ and
Cycle training - Surrey County
Council runs customised cycle
training, for anyone who requires
it (there is a charge for this
service) (http://www.travelsmartsurrey.info/
cycling/training
Discounts at local cycle shops
(possibly via vouchers) are often
negotiated for new developments.
Promotion of Cycle to Work
scheme to staff; this tax
exemption scheme allows staff to
buy bikes at a reduced price.
Establishment of a Bicycle User
Group (BUG)
Provision of cycle maintenance
equipment, eg bike pump,
puncture repair kit etc.
Provision of cycle maintenance
training (local bike shops may
charge for this service.)

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers



8





Lift sharing




Public
transport



Provision of bus stops



Improvements to existing bus
stops



Extension to existing bus services








Car park
management





Reducing the
need to travel







Promotion of
sustainable
travel

Page20174

Provision of pool bikes, including
electric bikes, if appropriate.
Guided cycle rides at lunchtime,
or at weekends for residential
developments.

Establishment of a lift share
scheme, possibly using
www.liftshare.com/uk/community/
surrey
Car parking spaces allocated for
lift share only vehicles.
A guaranteed lift home scheme
for employees.
Interest free season ticket loan
Provision of travel information (eg
website link to Journey Planner
Traveline or bus real time
information, notice board,
newsletter, travel advice to
visitors)
Provision of shuttle bus service to
nearest rail station
Provision of car club vehicles –
https://www.travelsmartsurrey.info
/driving/car-clubs
Provision of EV charging points –
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__da
ta/assets/pdf_file/0005/155660/Ja
nuary-2018-Parking-Guidancefor-Development.pdf
Policy on flexible/smart working
(eg teleworking, home working,
flexi-time, hot desking)
Local recruitment strategy
Incentives for staff to relocate
closer to work
On-site services for employees
(eg cafe, ATM, creche, shops, dry
cleaners etc)
Statement about the
organisation’s aim to increase the
take up of sustainable travel on
staff intranet

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers











Participation in
active travel
events

21
Page
175

Induction pack for new
employees, containing a package
of incentives for sustainable travel
Marketing pack, containing
sustainable travel information for
residents, and training of sales
staff for new residential
developments
A travel plan page on the
organisation’s website, with links
to Traveline, public transport
information etc
Advice to employees about
sustainable travel initiatives in
newsletters, magazines and the
staff handbook
A travel noticeboard, including a
map in the reception area which
shows the organisation and
surrounding area, including cycle
routes, crossings and, if possible,
walking/cycling times
Personalised travel planning



National Clean Air Day – free
resources and ideas to get
involved can be found at
www.cleanairday.org.uk



National Walking Month – Living
Streets’ website suggests ways to
encourage employees to walk
more during May www.livingstreets.org.uk



Bike Week takes place annually,
usually in June –
www.bikeweek.org.uk



Work Wise UK – promotes
Smarter Working, such as Work
Wise Week and Commute Smart
Week - www.workwiseuk.org



National Liftshare Week – takes
place every October
www.liftshare.com/uk

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

Appendix C: travel plans checklist
The submission of a framework travel plan is required when the ultimate occupier of a
development is unknown during the planning phase. This type of travel plan is not expected to
contain baseline data or targets, but should indicate likely modal split and aspirational targets.
Measures which will need to be incorporated into the design of the development, regardless of the
end occupier, are required to be included in a framework travel plan. After first occupation, the
document would then be updated to include actual baseline data and associated targets, resulting
in the production of a full or final travel plan.
A full travel plan (sometimes referred to as “final”) includes actual baseline data and targets.
Framework travel plans submitted with planning applications are expected to be updated into full
travel plans, once first occupation of developments has taken place.

DETAIL REQUIRED

Title page

Development or site name
Developer/occupiers’ names, where known
Travel plan author
Travel plan date (month and year) + version
Whether framework or full travel plan
Description of development – including:
 land use class
 size in square metres
 number of dwellings, units, bedrooms etc
 location
 phasing details, if appropriate
 any known timescales

General
information

Planning information:
 whether the travel plan accompanies a
planning application, discharges a condition or
is a S106 requirement
 planning application number
Details of infrastructure which will be delivered as
part of the development
Details of multiple land uses expected on site

Page22176

FULL

CONTENT

UMBRELLA

The term umbrella travel plan refers to travel plans for mixed use developments, or
developments where outline planning permission is being sought, and the types of occupiers are
unknown. (NB: they can be presented as framework or full travel plans). An umbrella travel plan
should include a commitment for an overall travel plan coordinator to be appointed and for
measures to be delivered across the whole site. As units become occupied, the details of each
occupier should be drawn up and added as an appendix to the travel plan.

FRAMEWORK

8

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

Site facilities

Current
sustainable
travel initiatives

Travel plan
co-ordinator

Baseline

Objectives

Targets

Commitment for occupiers to develop individual
travel plans/submit information to update the
framework travel plan
Description of the local transport networks
Description of facilities, existing and proposed,
where applicable:
 number of car parking spaces
 number of cycle parking spaces, and a
description of the storage
 showers, changing facilities, lockers and
drying areas
Description of initiatives at developments which
are being extended, or at sites being developed
by occupiers with other sites, for example,
supermarket chains:
 car park policy
 Cycle to Work scheme
 cycle training
 Eco-driver training
 lift sharing
 car club
 pool cars
 pool bikes
 season ticket loans
 freight policy
 EV charging provision




Details of who will appoint the TPC
Details of the appointed TPC
Wording to say TPC’s contact details will be
submitted to the council on appointment
 Details of how the TPC will be funded
 Description of role and responsibilities
 Amount of time TPC will dedicate to
implementing the travel plan
 Details of how the TPC will liaise with different
occupiers
 If TPC role is to be undertaken by different
organisations, (for example, in the case of preand post-occupation of residential
developments) a description of the handover
 Travel survey results in modal split form
 Predicted modal split, based on the Transport
Assessment, TRICS or Census 2011 data
A list of intended outcomes, which are relevant to
both the site and link directly to any issues
identified in the transport assessment
 Targets link directly to objectives
 Provisional, modal targets for Yrs 1, 3 and 5
23
Page
177

√

8

√

√

√

√
√

√
√

√
√

√

√

√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√

√
√

√

√

√
√
√

√
√
√

√
√
√

√
√

√

√

√

√

√
√

√

√

√

√
√

√
√

√

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8
Measures

Action Plan

Remedial
measures
Monitoring and
review

 Actual, modal targets for Yrs 1, 3 and 5
NB: Appendix B includes a list of possible
measures
 Description of measures to be provided by the
developer as part of the planning application.
 Description of measures not included in the
application but to be funded by the developer.
 Description of measures to be provided by the
occupier, if the occupier is known
 All measures described in the travel plan are
listed in the action plan
 Timescales and person responsible included








A list of measures to be implemented if Year 3
targets aren’t met
Wording which states that the TPC will submit
monitoring reports to both the local planning
authority and to Surrey County Council (the
highway authority)
Monitoring timetable included
Wording stating that if targets are not met in
Yr5, then monitoring will continue to Yr9
Description of monitoring of EV charging
facilities, if more EV points are to be supplied
according to demand
Description of monitoring of car club vehicles,
if a second vehicle is proposed following
successful use of the first vehicle

√
√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√
√

√
√

√
√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

√

Approving the Travel Plan
Developers and occupiers should ensure that their travel plans are produced in accordance with
this guide, and in consultation with TDP officers and other stakeholders as appropriate, in order to
achieve the required standard.
The submitted travel plan will be assessed to ensure that the travel plan conforms to the advice in
the good practice guide. Feedback will be provided where necessary, with a view to achieving a
feasible and effective travel plan.

Page24178

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

Appendix D - Example employee travel questionnaire
Thank you for taking the time to answer the following questions.
The aim of this questionnaire is to gain an understanding of staff travel habits, identify areas for
improvement, reduce single occupancy car usage and in turn help reduce our carbon footprint.
The results will be used to monitor the progress of our travel plan, which you can view here –link
to be inserted here -.

What is your home postcode?…………………………
How far do you travel from home to work?
Less than 1 mile
1 to 2 miles
3 to 5 miles
6 to 10 miles
11 to 20 miles
21 to 30miles
31 to 40 miles
Over 40 miles
How long does it take you to get to work?
Less than 15 minutes
16 to 30 minutes
31 to 45 minutes
46 to 60 minutes
Over 60 minutes
How did you travel to work today? (If you used a combination of the following, eg if you
took the train then walked, please choose the method which covers the greatest distance.)
Bus
Bicycle
Car (drive alone)
Car (sharer)
Motorbike
Train
Walk
n/a – I worked remotely
How will you travel home from work? (If you are going to use a combination of the
following, please choose the method you will use which will cover the greatest distance.)
Bicycle
Car (drive alone)
Car (sharer)
Motorbike
Train
Walk
n/a – I worked remotely

25
Page
179

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

If you drive, where do you usually park?
Public Car Park (specify)
…………………………
Office Car Park
Nearby Street
Other (please specify)
…………………………

If you usually drive to work, how do you travel on days when your car isn’t available?
I book the day off
I work from home
A friend/relative gives me a lift
A work colleague gives me a lift
I walk
I cycle
I use public transport
I ride my motorbike/scooter
I take a taxi
I use another car
Other - Please specify
…………………………
Please indicate whether you are aware of the following benefits available at your
workplace:
Cycle to Work Scheme
Interest free season ticket loan
Discounts at local bike shops
Bicycle User Group
Pool bikes
Dr Bike sessions
Lift sharing scheme
Car club vehicles
Electric vehicle charging points

Please indicate which benefits you have used in the past 12 months:
Cycle to Work Scheme
Interest free season ticket loan
Discounts at local bike shops
Bicycle User Group
Pool bikes
Dr Bike sessions
Lift sharing scheme
Car club vehicles
Electric vehicle charging points

Page26180

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

Appendix E - Example residential travel questionnaire
This household travel survey has been produced as part of xxname of sitexx’s travel plan (link to
the travel plan could be included here) in order to gather information about residents’ travel during
the peak hours and to establish the take up of travel benefits on offer. We would be very grateful if
you could take the time to answer this short questionnaire.
The questionnaire is for completion by residents who usually travel during the peak hours
(approximately 7.00-9.00am and 4.00-6.00pm on weekdays.) Only one questionnaire should be
completed per household. This questionnaire should be completed by the person in your
household who travels the most at these times.
Please provide your house number and road name: …………………….

Have you heard about any of the following benefits for residents:
(Please amend as necessary, depending on the travel benefits on offer to residents)
Travel information in the Welcome Pack
Discount travel vouchers
Car club vehicles
Free personalised travel planning advice
Regular travel newsletters

Have you used any of these benefits since you moved here?
(Please amend as necessary, depending on the travel benefits on offer to residents)
Travel information in the Welcome Pack
Discount travel vouchers
Car club vehicles
Free personalised travel planning advice
Regular travel newsletters

How do you usually travel during the morning peak hours? (If you use a combination of the
following, eg if you take the train then cycle, please choose the method which covers the greatest
distance.)
01 Bus
02 Bicycle
03 Car (drive alone)
04 Car (sharer)
05 Motorbike
06 Train
07 Walk
08 I usually work from home
How do you usually travel during the evening peak hours? (If you usually use a combination
of the following, please choose the method you use which covers the greatest distance.)
27
Page
181

8

Travel plans – a good practice guide for developers

8

01 Bus
02 Bicycle
03 Car (drive alone)
04 Car (sharer)
05 Motorbike
06 Train
07 Walk
08 I usually work from home

If you usually drive during the peak hours, how do you travel when your car is unavailable
(for example, when it is being serviced)?
01 I book the day off
03 I work from home
05 A friend/relative gives me a lift
06 A work colleague gives me a lift
07 I walk
08 I cycle
09 I use public transport
10 I ride my motorbike/scooter
11 I take a taxi
12 I use another car
13 Other - Please specify
…………………………
If you would like to comment on travel to and around xxname of sitexx, please do so here:

Page28182

8

Car clubs in new
developments
August 2018

DRAFT for approval

Page 183

8

Guidance on car clubs in new developments
Who should read this guidance?
This guidance is for Transport Development Planning (TDP) Officers, Local Planning Officers
and Developers.
How to use the guidance
The key questions should be used to inform discussions to secure a car club. This will ensure
that provision is appropriate to the development and that the car club operates successfully.

Key question

Refer to section:

What makes a development suitable for a car
club?

2. Criteria for a successful car club

What are the benefits of car clubs for
developers?

3. Benefits of car clubs for developers’

How can car clubs support sustainable
development?

4. Benefits of car clubs for sustainable
development

How do car clubs operate in Surrey?

5. Surrey car club network

What is the planning process in Surrey, for
securing car clubs?

6. Planning process

How should car clubs be funded?

7. Funding

How many car club cars should be provided for
a development?

8. Scale and ratios

What types of vehicles should be provided?

9. Vehicles

Where to site the car club bays?

10. Parking

How should the car club be promoted?

11. Promotion

How should the car club be monitored and
reviewed?

12. Monitoring and review

Page 184

8

Contents

Contents
1.

Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 4

2.

Criteria for a successful car club ......................................................................................... 5

3.

Benefits of car clubs to developers ..................................................................................... 7

4.

Benefits of car clubs for sustainable development .............................................................. 8

5.

Surrey car club network ...................................................................................................... 9

6.

Car clubs and the planning process .................................................................................. 10

7.

Funding ............................................................................................................................. 13

8.

Scale and ratios ................................................................................................................ 15

9.

Vehicles ............................................................................................................................ 16

10.

Parking ........................................................................................................................... 17

11.

Promotion ....................................................................................................................... 20

12.

Monitoring and review .................................................................................................... 21

References and Further Sources of Information ...................................................................... 22
Annex 1: Example of securing a car club through a S106 agreement ..................................... 23
Annex 2: Use of electric car club cars ...................................................................................... 24
Annex 3: Population density by ward ....................................................................................... 25
Annex 4: Car club potential by location .................................................................................... 30
Annex 5: Accreditation scheme................................................................................................ 32
Annex 6: Car club locations in Surrey (operated by Enterprise Car Club, August 2018). ........ 33
Annex 7: Location Maps (Enterprise Car Club, August 2018) .................................................. 34

Page
3 185

8

1. Introduction
A car club provides cars for short term hire on a pay per trip basis. This allows individuals
and businesses affordable access to a vehicle without the need for ownership. Take up of
car clubs is growing rapidly, as levels of car ownership decline. Car clubs offer clear
benefits for individuals, with cost savings and access to a range of low carbon, wellmaintained, flexible use vehicles.
Car clubs also support policies to cut congestion, reduce emissions, improve air quality,
reduce parking pressure and increase take-up of sustainable travel modes. Used in the
right locations, car clubs can be a very effective measure to promote sustainable
development.
This guidance has been produced to guide developers, planners and TDP officers in the
process of deciding on, planning and implementing car club provision as part of a new
development through the planning process. It should be read in conjunction with ‘Travel
Plans - a good practice guide for developers’.

Page4 186

8

2. Criteria for a successful car club
There are various factors that influence the potential success of a car club in a
development. These include housing density, parking policy, the accessibility and visibility
of the car club bays and how the car club is marketed and promoted.
The following check list shows factors which are likely to influence uptake of the car club.
The more of these which are present in a location the greater the chances of the car club
being successful in a new development and the less time it will take for the car club to
become financially self-sustaining.
Location success factors

Yes No

1

In an urban area, with high population density (above 25 persons
per hectare) and easy access to local amenities by walking and
cycling.
See Annex1: Population density by ward
2 High density residential development (50 dwellings or more per
hectare), with a high proportion of one and two bedroom dwellings.
3 Car club to be easily accessed by, and visible to, occupants of the
development and the surrounding neighbourhood.
4 Identified potential day-time business use, to complement evening /
weekend residential use.
5 Good accessibility to public transport: Within 800m walking
distance of a train station with a minimum two services per hour in
peak time and / or within 400m of a bus stop with a minimum
service of one bus every 30 minutes.
6 Parking constraint within the development and within surrounding
streets:
For residential developments a parking ratio of no more than 1
space per unit. For business premises with a minimum threshold of
2500m2 a maximum of 1 car space per 100m2.
Within an area in which on-street parking is controlled, or other
evidence of local parking pressure.
7 Car-free developments (developments in which there are no
parking spaces provided within the curtilage of the site).
8 Favourable socio-economic and demographic characteristics: In
upper quartile of Surrey wards ranked for car club potential
considering levels of private car ownership, number of people
working and MOSAIC profile.
See Annex 2: Car club potential by ward.
9 Will be part of an existing car club network in the wider area and
occupants of the development will have access to that network.
10 To be delivered as part of a coherent package of sustainable
transport measures, normally as part of a Residential Travel Plan
for a large-scale development (ideally promoted at point of sale) or
a Business Travel Plan.

Page
5 187

8
Consideration of the above factors should give developers a good indication of the
suitability of a car club for a proposed development. However, because there are many
factors that can affect whether a development will support a successful car club it is
important to look at each site as being unique. The county council can advise
developers of the suitability of a car club in a development proposal in pre-application
discussions. It is also recommended that developers contact the car club operator for
site specific advice and likely costs.
The recommended funding contribution from the developer to be agreed with the car
club operator, should be determined by an appraisal of the location against the above
success factors, as this will determine the level of risk to the operator, the scale of
marketing required and length of time before the car club becomes profitable. (See
funding section page 9)

Page6 188

3. Benefits of car clubs to developers









Car clubs allow cars and therefore parking spaces to be shared and the number
needed and cost of providing them to be reduced.
Developers benefit from being able to work on sites with a limited parking area
which may previously have been impractical.
By reducing the amount of parking, car clubs allow an increase in the number of
units or amenity space on the site, increasing the profitability of the site.
Car clubs are a popular alternative to private car ownership as they offer
convenience without the responsibilities and capital outlay of ownership.
Car clubs have added value to housing developments as residents perceive the
vehicles as an extra service. Therefore the provision of a car club makes residential
developments more marketable.
Car clubs contribute to travel plan aims by reducing the impact of the private car
from the development; the overall car miles driven, and local congestion.
Car clubs support other travel plan initiatives – once residents have given up their
private car, there is compelling evidence that they are more likely to walk, cycle or
use public transport.

Page
7 189

8

8

4. Benefits of car clubs for sustainable development










Car clubs offer residents an attractive, convenient alternative to private car
ownership. This encourages more use of public transport, walking and cycling, whilst
giving access to a car when needed. According to data from the Carplus Annual
Survey 2016/17, in England and Wales, each car club car typically replaces 5
private cars, as residents convert from owning a first or sometimes second car.
Car club members drive less and make greater use of sustainable travel modes than
the average license holder. By replacing several owned cars, car clubs can reduce
or even eliminate the need for onsite parking for private vehicles.
A car club therefore might unlock the potential of sites which are difficult or
unprofitable to develop due to a lack of land for parking. Alternatively land not used
for parking can be used to provide other benefits, such as green space or play
areas.
As car club cars are under 4 years old they are more fuel efficient and less polluting
than the UK average car. All of the car club fleet in Surrey emits less than 100gCO2
/km. Where electric vehicle charging infrastructure is available the car club will use
ultra-low emission vehicles. Therefore car clubs contribute to reducing carbon
dioxide emissions and improving air quality.
Car clubs reduce the need for parking at employers’ sites. If car club vehicles are
available for business trips from the office, staff no longer need to drive their own
cars to and from work.

Page8 190

5. Surrey car club network
Car clubs work best where a network of cars is developed, ideally clusters of cars within a
short five minute walk of each other. This gives car club members (both residents and
business users) confidence that a car will be available for them to book when needed. In a
car club cluster there may also be a range of different size and models of vehicles to
choose from, including electric or hybrid electric vehicles.
In accordance with its statutory powers as the transport authority, Surrey County Council
procures a single preferred supplier to provide county-wide car club provision under the
Surrey car club contract. In September 2015 Enterprise Car Club were the successful
bidder in our contract retender and were appointed as our car club supplier from 1
December 2015.
Transportation Development Planning Officers can advise Developers on the suitability of a
car club as part of pre-planning advice and can provide the appropriate contact details for
our preferred operator. Developers are encouraged to contact the operator at an early
stage of the planning process, so that the viability, cost and logistics can be accurately
assessed.
If implementing the car club using on-street bays, the developer will be required to use the
council’s preferred supplier, under the Surrey car club contract.
The current car club network in Surrey can be viewed on the Enterprise Car Club website:
https://www.enterprisecarclub.co.uk/gb/en/programs/regions/south-eastengland/surrey.html
If implementing the car club using bays within the development, the developer may choose
to work with either the council’s preferred operator or their own preferred supplier. The
supplier must have full accreditation with CoMoUk (formerly Carplus). See Annex 3
CoMoUk Accreditation

Page
9 191

8

8

6. Car clubs and the planning process
A car club is most relevant to planning applications for large scale developments, those
requiring a Transport Assessment or Transport Statement and a Travel Plan. The simplified
list of thresholds below gives an indication of when these will be required, although this is
always to be considered on a case by case basis:
 Retail developments over about 800 sqm gross floor area.


Employment developments over about 1500 sqm gross floor area.



Residential developments including 50 or more new homes.



Non-residential institutions and assembly or leisure developments over about 1500
sqm gross floor area.



Developments creating about 100 or more vehicle parking spaces.

Areas with existing car club provision
If a development above these thresholds is proposed in an area which already has a car
club, an assessment should be made of the existing use and capacity of the current
scheme, in discussion with the car club operator. If the current cars are already well used
(average utilisation of 20% or more) then it is likely that an additional vehicle or vehicles will
be required as part of the new development. If however the utilisation is lower and
therefore there is spare capacity, the developer may be required instead to incentivise take
up of the existing scheme, for example by providing and promoting a membership offer, for
example one year’s free membership and two hours free drive time, for all occupants of the
new development. This should be agreed in discussion with the car club operator.
Recommended Process
1) In pre application discussions between the Developer, Surrey County Council Transport
Development Planning and often the Local Planning Authority, all parties agree that a
car club should be provided as part of the proposed new development.
2) A planning application is submitted including details of the proposed car club provision
within the Transport Assessment and Travel Plan.
3) Car club provision is secured either via a Planning Condition or a S106 agreement:
a) Planning Condition
A car club can be secured using a standard condition:
The development hereby approved shall not be [first occupied / first opened for
trading] unless and until x car club vehicles have been provided for occupiers to use
in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Thereafter the car club vehicles shall be retained and maintained
for their designated purpose(s).

Page
10192

The submitted scheme will need to include details of the car club operator, the types
of vehicle or vehicles to be provided, the parking bays and how these will be
implemented, how the car club will be marketed to residents or business users,
including any agreed membership discounts or offers.
The above details should also be included within the Travel Plan, where required.
b) S106 agreement
A S106 agreement can be used to request a car club with associated financial
support controlled by the terms of the agreement, where the county council is party
to the agreement. Although, many LPAs are moving away from the use of S106
agreements due to their adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), S106
is still being utilised for the larger developments, for which car clubs are often highly
relevant.
The wording of agreements is specific to each site, but a generic template is as
follows:
The developer will provide financial contribution of £XX,XXX (see
page 10) index linked from the date of the resolution to grant
planning permission and payable prior to commencement of
development.
The County Council shall use the sum to implement and promote X
(number) car club vehicles for the site in partnership with the
County Council’s preferred car club operator. The car club
vehicle(s) will be located on-street/ within the development (delete
as applicable).
Then either (if on-street): The car club vehicles will be located in
dedicated on-street bays, with the necessary Traffic Regulation
Order to be secured by the county council and fully funded by the
Developer in accordance with the requirements of the County
Council’s Guidance on Car Clubs in New Developments.
Or (if off-street): The car club vehicles will be located in dedicated
bays within the development in accordance with the approved car
parking layout plan, or as may be agreed with the county council.
The Developer shall offer a minimum of 1yrs free membership to
all new first time occupiers of each new dwelling, with further
membership made available to other residents and members of the
public at a cost in line with the Car Club Operators standard tariff.
Subject to availability and booking, the vehicles will be fully
accessible to all car club members at all times.
The developer will use reasonable endeavours in conjunction with the operator and
the highway authority, for car club vehicles to be fully electric, in the context of the
Surrey Transport Plan Electric Vehicle Strategy. The car club will be promoted in line
with best practice in this guide. Feedback on the car club should be gathered during
surveys conducted for Travel Plan monitoring.

Page
11 193

8

8

c) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Where a S106 is not being provided, agreement with LPAs will be sought with
regard to the potential for CIL funding.
4) Once secured through the above methods, the car club will normally require on street
parking provision, which will initially require a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to
“reserve” the parking space for car club use only. The TRO is initiated, processed and
signed off by SCC at the request of the Developer or LPA. There is a cost associated
with TROs that SCC can invoice to the Developer. This can be up to £6000 (see section
below on funding) depending on a range of factors. TROs are independent of the
planning process.
5) Highway works may be necessary to allow the car club parking bay to be installed or
should an Electric Vehicle Charging Point (EVCP) be required. This is likely to require a
S278 agreement (normally a mini-S278 for minor highways works). A S278 is an
agreement that allows a developer to carry out works, make alterations or make
improvements to the public highway, normally necessitated by a planning permission.
The S278 agreement is entered into by SCC and anyone wishing to work on the public
highway. In the case of car clubs this is likely to be the Developer. As is the case with
the TRO, it is independent of the planning process. There are costs associated with
S278 agreements and these are typically included within the S278 process.
6) Once a S278 agreement has been engrossed, and a TRO signed off, the final step is to
apply for a Streetworks Licence to allow the works to actually take place. This is
between the contractor carrying out the works and the Streetworks Team. It is used to
agree the exact timing and traffic management requirements when the works take
place.
7) After the works have been completed and the car club has been installed for a period of
time (as will be specified) the condition may be signed off by the LPA.
8) The S278 works then enter a 12 month maintenance period and at the end of this
period are then signed off.

Page
12194

8

7. Funding
When negotiating car club provision it is important that the developer is made fully aware of
the County Council and car club operator’s expectations of financial support.
There are two elements of funding which the council will seek to secure:
1) County Council Activities - The Council’s costs in providing on-street spaces
through the TRO process
As noted in the Parking section, on-street locations are preferable for maximum benefit
to community-wide use, and to the long term commercial viability of the car club. The
council will require developers to fund the one-off costs associated with providing an onstreet space through the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) process. These costs may vary
according to the location and whether the timescale for advertising the bays can fit with
the standard parking review process.
An indication of the likely cost is shown below:
Requirements /
Assumptions
2 adverts to be placed in
local paper at £1500 each

Estimated
cost

Scheme Element

Deliverability

TRO cost of adverts

SCC TRO team

TRO preparation
(officer time)

SCC TRO team

Cost per order

TRO site mapping

SCC / Borough
Parking team

Cost per site

£750

Lining and signing

Contractor

Cost per site

£250

Resident letter

Developer

Direct delivery to a single
ward of 5000 households

Total TRO costs

£3,000
£1,000

£1,000
£6,000

2) Car club operator activities
The car club operator’s cost involve start-up costs for a new location, or cost of adding
an additional vehicle in an existing location. These costs include the supply of a vehicle,
the installation of telematics and marketing and promotion. Furthermore, there are
ongoing costs of maintaining the vehicle and providing the booking service.
Indicative funding contribution towards operating the car club
When setting up a car club in a new location there is always a risk that the uptake of the
scheme may initially be low and income generated by usage may not meet the on-going
costs of maintaining the scheme. A new car club location may typically take between 12

Page
13 195

8

to 24 months to become self-sustaining. Slower uptake is a financial risk to the
operator.
The indicative funding levels shown below are based on the principle that this risk is
shared fairly between the developer and the car club operator. The level of risk can be
rationalised by an assessment of how well the proposed location meets the success
criteria, as set out on page 4. This in turn should be used to determine the level of
funding contribution the developer should expect to provide, and for how long.
Location
assessment
(number of
success factors
out of 10)

Rating for
car club
potential

Developer
contribution
for 1st year of
operation
(per vehicle)

Developer
Total
contribution
Developer
for 2nd year of contribution
operation
(per vehicle)

8 to 10

High

£5,000

Nil

£5,000

5 to 7

Medium

£5,000

£5,000

£10,000

2 to 4

Low

£6,000

£6,000

£12,000

Less than 2

Unsuitable

-

-

-

Page
14196

8

8. Scale and ratios
Depending on the size and location of the development, more than one car club vehicle
may be required prior to first occupation. Alternatively a phased approach may be suitable,
so that additional vehicles are required to be added once the initial vehicles have reached
an agreed level of use (typically 20% or more). Such an approach is recommended for
locations in the Low to Medium category above, where there is less certainty about the
level of demand.
The table below sets out the indicative level of car club provision for different sizes of
residential development:
Development size
Less than 50 dwellings
up to 100 dwellings
up to 200 dwellings
up to 400 dwellings
up to 600 dwellings
up to 800 dwellings
up to 1000 dwellings
over 1000 dwellings

Recommended number of car club
cars provided
Nil: Promote use of existing network of
car club cars, if relevant
Case by case assessment
1 car
2 cars
3 cars
4 cars
5 cars
6 to 10 cars

Strategic developments
For larger scale, strategic developments the County Council will look to secure the
commitment of the developer to fund the car club beyond the initial 12 to 24 month set up
period. This will be agreed on a case by case basis, but will be likely to take the form of
providing a ‘Minimum Revenue Guarantee’, which will ensure that the operator can
continue to provide the scheme, should there be a period of fluctuating demand. This will
provide all parties with confidence that where a car club is agreed as a key transport
mitigation measure, it will be maintained in the long term.
Example of a developer funding contribution




Proposed new car club location assessed as having high potential for car club
uptake
Residential development of 350 units
2 Car club cars to be provided in on-street bays (one double bay)

Contribution to county council’s TRO costs: £6,000
Contribution to car club set up and operation (2 cars for one year): £10,000
Total contribution £16,000

Page
15 197

8

9. Vehicles
Under the Surrey car club contract the car club operator must supply vehicles which are
Euro 6 and have maximum emissions of 100g CO2 per km. A Key Performance Indicator
for the contract is for the car club to progressively reduce its average fleet emissions.
Surrey County Council works with the preferred operator to achieve this by providing the
use of electric vehicle charging infrastructure on its own estate and, as the Highway
Authority, on-street vehicle charging points. This has enabled Enterprise Car Club to
introduce full electric and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles into their fleet in Surrey.
When considering where to site new car club bays wherever feasible locations should be
chosen where it may be viable to install electric vehicle charging points. For on-street
charging points the footway needs to be a minimum width of 2.0m to allow the charging
point to be installed at least 450mm from the kerb, while maintaining a minimum pavement
width of 1200mm for pedestrians.
If car club bays are to be provided in off-street bays it is recommended that these bays are
provided with electric vehicle charging points, to enable the car club to operate electric
vehicles. These must be 7kw Fast charge points.
Surrey County Council’s electric vehicle strategy sets out the council’s approach to
expanding and maintaining electric vehicle charging points.

Page
16198

10.

8

Parking

Whether car club cars are provided in on or off-street bays, the vehicles must be made
easily accessible 24 hours a day, seven days a week. This is an important consideration in
the siting of car club cars within new residential developments, where the car club cars are
to be shared with people from outside the development. They should not be prevented or
deterred from using the cars through difficult access arrangements. Ideally the car club
bays should be sited in an open and highly visible location.
In deciding whether to locate car club bays on-street or off-street the following factors
should be taken into account:
Suitability of the roads in close proximity to the development (not more than 5 minutes’
walk from the development):





In an area where on-street parking is controlled
Suitable opportunity to implement a car club bay along with other S278 works
in relation to the development
Opportunity to advertise the TRO for an on-street bay at the same time as
Surrey County Council’s scheduled local parking review.
Feasibility of installing electric vehicle charging infrastructure to facilitate the
use of ultra-low emission vehicles (see section on vehicles). Factors to
consider are electricity capacity and connection point and suitable pavement
width. A minimum 2 metre width is needed to ensure a minimum 1.2m is kept
clear for pedestrian access.

Suitability of alternative off-street parking provision:


Easily accessible and highly visible car club bays

Statement of best practice:
In order to provide maximum benefit to the development’s occupants, vehicles should
ideally be located on street and preferably with 200m of the development. In certain
cases, a maximum distance of 800m will be considered.
Locating the car club parking bay within the development is less favourable than an on
street location, but may be acceptable if an on-street location is not viable. Vehicles
located within a private parking area must be accessible 24/7 and visible from the public
highway.

Page
17 199

8

Securing on-street bays
Process
On-street car club bays will ordinarily be within an area in which parking is controlled and
therefore a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) will be needed to secure a dedicated car club bay.
The following process should be used:
1. The TDP Officer agrees the precise location of the bay, following a site visit and in
consultation with the Parking team, the developer and car club operator.
2. TDP request authorisation for the bay under the delegated authority of the Cabinet Lead
Member for Place.
3. A request to advertise the bay, including a Statement of Reasons, is submitted to the
TRO team.
4. Whenever possible the car club bay is advertised at the same time as a Parking review.
5. If objections to the bay are lodged, the authorising authority (or delegated persons)
decides whether these should be accepted or rejected.
6. The TRO team then make the Order.

Criteria
Car club bays must meet the minimum criteria for on-street parking bays:
Parking parallel to street: 1.8m wide x 4.5m long
Perpendicular parking: 2.0m wide x 4.2m long
However, to allow for larger car club vehicles to be used if needed, it is preferable to have
bigger bays:
Parallel parking: 2.0 x 5.5m
Perpendicular parking: 2.4 x 4.8m
The marked bay must have the standard upright car club parking sign (as shown below) and
the relevant permit identifier, as provided by the TRO team.

The accompanying road marking legend saying ‘CAR CLUB’ or ‘CAR CLUB ONLY’ should
also usually be provided, as shown below:

Page
18200

8

Wherever possible cycle parking (such as a ‘Sheffield stand’) should be made available within
or close to the car club bay. This widens access to the car club.

Page
19 201

8

11.

Promotion

The car club should be promoted through a variety of channels to site occupants and the
wider community, including:
 Point of sale
 Moving in/ Welcome packs
 Developer’s website
 Leaflets to local community and local businesses
Residents/employees of the site should be provided with incentives to join, for example:
 One year of complimentary car club membership and
 Free drive time offer

Page
20202

12.

Monitoring and review

Car clubs implemented as part of new developments are required to be accurately
monitored and reviewed. This is especially important where a phased approach for
implementation has been agreed. It is recommended that a formal review of the
performance of the car club is undertaken and reported after the first and second years of
operation. Where applicable this could be included as part of the Travel Plan monitoring
process.
The car club operator is able to provide accurate data on the utilisation of each car at a
named location. The approved methodology is to record the number of hours a car is
booked out in each 24 hour period and show this as a percentage of the total available
hours over a month. A successful car club should show an average utilisation of between
20 to 25% sustained over a 6-month period. Figures higher than this suggest the need for a
further vehicle to be provided. Significantly lower utilisation would indicate that the car club
needs to be reviewed, perhaps with a different approach to the way it is marketed and
promoted.

Page
21 203

8

8

References and Further Sources of Information
Guidance, best practice and case studies from CoMoUK (Collaborative Mobility)
https://como.org.uk/shared-mobility/shared-cars/how/
This includes guidance on:
Electric Vehicles in car clubs
Car Club Parking Guidance
Car Clubs in New Developments
Case studies including:
Guildford Car club expansion project (2016)

Page
22204

Annex 1: Example of securing a car club through a S106
agreement
New Central Development, Woking
446 residential apartments with a parking ratio of 0.4 parking spaces per unit
Developer: Barratt Homes
The car club was secured by S106 agreement and launched in 2013. An on-street parking bay
was implemented immediately outside the development on Guildford Road through a TRO.
With an ideal mix of day-time use by local business users (including SCC) and evening and
weekend use by residents, the car club has proved highly successful. After one year there was
evident demand for a second vehicle at the site, so this was put in. Utilisation of both cars has
been consistently high ever since (25% or more), both with the original operator (Co Wheels
Car Club) and since December 2015 with Enterprise Car Club. The cars now form part of an
expanding network in central Woking.

Page
23 205

8

8

Annex 2: Use of electric car club cars
Guildford car club network
In 2016 the car club network in Guildford was expanded from two to eight cars through SCC
and Guildford Borough Council’s successful bid for funding through the Car Club England
Development Programme. The new network was launched in May 2016 by Enterprise Car
Club, including letters and information packs to 5,000 households. The network now includes
three electric vehicles in on-street bays supplied with the use of Fast Charge electric vehicle
charging points. These are very well used, a Nissan LEAF at one of the sites being booked
151 times over a 6 month period by 30 different users.
Quadrant Court, Woking
Two full electric vehicles are located at SCC’s offices at Quadrant Court where they are
available 24/7 for SCC staff business travel and use by local car club members.

Page
24206

8

Annex 3: Population density by ward
Ward name

Addlestone Bourneside
Addlestone North
Alfold, Cranleigh Rural and Ellens Green
Ash South and Tongham
Ash Vale
Ash Wharf
Ashford Common
Ashford East
Ashford North and Stanwell South
Ashford Town
Ashtead Common
Ashtead Park
Ashtead Village
Auriol
Bagshot
Banstead Village
Beare Green
Bisley
Blackheath and Wonersh
Bletchingley and Nutfield
Bookham North
Bookham South
Box Hill and Headley
Bramley, Busbridge and Hascombe
Brockham, Betchworth and Buckland
Brookwood
Burpham
Burstow, Horne and Outwood
Byfleet
Capel, Leigh and Newdigate
Chaldon
Charlwood
Chertsey Meads
Chertsey South and Row Town
Chertsey St Ann's
Chiddingfold and Dunsfold
Chipstead, Hooley and Woodmansterne
Chobham
Christchurch
Clandon and Horsley
Claygate
Cobham and Downside

Page
25 207

All usual
residents

Persons per
hectare

5,596
5,905
1,848
7,674
5,686
6,120
8,045
7,219
8,257
7,089
4,129
4,042
5,998
3,932
5,592
9,110
1,881
3,965
1,914
5,646
5,779
5,596
2,007
4,645
4,482
2,565
5,696
5,864
7,724
4,372
1,735
2,326
6,038
5,328
6,040
3,949
8,823
3,799
5,101
8,749
7,168
6,564

25.1
22.3
0.6
12.4
15.7
19
52.3
37.9
32.8
46
9.4
7.8
30.3
42.8
6.5
19.7
2.5
10.8
2.9
1.7
13.3
8.3
2
1.4
2
3.5
24.6
1.6
27.1
1
3.7
1.6
19.7
16.7
11.1
0.9
4.8
1.6
19.6
2.6
15.2
5.7

8

Cobham Fairmile
College
Court
Cranleigh East
Cranleigh West
Cuddington
Dorking North
Dorking South
Dormansland and Felcourt
Earlswood and Whitebushes
Effingham
Egham Hythe
Egham Town
Elstead and Thursley
Englefield Green East
Englefield Green West
Esher
Ewell
Ewell Court
Ewhurst
Farnham Bourne
Farnham Castle
Farnham Firgrove
Farnham Hale and Heath End
Farnham Moor Park
Farnham Shortheath and Boundstone
Farnham Upper Hale
Farnham Weybourne and Badshot Lea
Farnham Wrecclesham and Rowledge
Felbridge
Fetcham East
Fetcham West
Foxhills
Frensham, Dockenfield and Tilford
Friary and St Nicolas
Frimley
Frimley Green
Godalming Binscombe
Godalming Central and Ockford
Godalming Charterhouse
Godalming Farncombe and Catteshall
Godalming Holloway
Godstone
Goldsworth East
Goldsworth West
Halliford and Sunbury West
Harestone
Haslemere Critchmere and Shottermill
Haslemere East and Grayswood
Heatherside
Hermitage and Knaphill South

Page
26208

4,751
5,873
6,830
6,468
4,224
5,934
4,157
7,001
4,066
8,857
2,711
6,474
6,384
3,866
5,427
5,180
6,743
5,532
5,417
2,228
4,167
4,205
4,384
4,438
5,016
4,123
4,244
4,295
4,616
2,096
3,836
4,160
5,672
4,089
8,990
6,178
5,717
4,087
4,692
4,105
4,600
4,320
5,949
7,970
5,135
6,106
4,146
5,981
6,553
6,049
5,330

8.6
18.6
32
12.7
3.3
43.9
16.3
17.4
1.3
13.5
2.3
33.9
24.2
0.8
21.6
7.7
7.3
35.7
37
1.4
6.8
5.2
30.3
33.4
8.4
28.8
11.8
11.3
9.8
2.5
9
7.7
3.1
1.2
26
28.9
24.4
35.5
18.6
18.3
25.8
21.6
3.3
44.5
64.9
17.2
9
9.2
6.6
34.2
46.6

Hersham North
Hersham South
Hinchley Wood
Hindhead
Holmwoods
Holy Trinity
Horley Central
Horley East
Horley West
Horsell East and Woodham
Horsell West
Kingfield and Westfield
Kingswood with Burgh Heath
Knaphill
Laleham and Shepperton Green
Leatherhead North
Leatherhead South
Leith Hill
Lightwater
Limpsfield
Lingfield and Crowhurst
Long Ditton
Lovelace
Maybury and Sheerwater
Mayford and Sutton Green
Meadvale and St John's
Merrow
Merstham
Mickleham, Westhumble and Pixham
Milford
Molesey East
Molesey North
Molesey South
Mount Hermon East
Mount Hermon West
Mytchett and Deepcut
New Haw
Nonsuch
Nork
Normandy
Oatlands Park
Okewood
Old Dean
Old Woking
Onslow
Oxshott and Stoke D'Abernon
Oxted North and Tandridge
Oxted South
Parkside
Pilgrims
Pirbright

Page
27 209

5,992
6,422
5,068
4,292
6,417
7,793
8,297
5,925
7,854
4,789
7,348
5,576
6,891
9,958
7,962
7,035
4,281
1,745
6,791
3,569
4,201
6,343
2,624
10,574
2,470
7,795
8,036
8,123
1,995
4,156
6,337
6,008
6,743
5,211
6,052
7,101
5,757
5,438
7,556
2,981
6,352
1,885
4,636
3,192
9,492
6,615
5,848
6,129
6,180
2,613
3,691

26
8
15.8
6.3
4.8
10.8
33.7
10.2
26.4
7.2
16.4
22.6
4.9
23.2
10.2
11.4
6.7
0.4
16.2
1.9
2.8
29.6
1
61.7
2.4
32.6
18.2
8.7
1.8
4.9
21.3
36.6
53.7
15.5
54.8
7
16.1
8.9
20.8
1.8
30.6
0.7
15.2
14.2
26
4.9
3.3
7.3
22.7
0.8
1.9

8

8

Portley
Preston
Pyrford
Queens Park
Redhill East
Redhill West
Reigate Central
Reigate Hill
Riverside and Laleham
Ruxley
Salfords and Sidlow
Send
Shalford
Shamley Green and Cranleigh North
Shepperton Town
South Park and Woodhatch
St George's Hill
St John's and Hook Heath
St Michaels
St Pauls
Staines
Staines South
Stamford
Stanwell North
Stoke
Stoneleigh
Stoughton
Sunbury Common
Sunbury East
Tadworth and Walton
Tatsfield and Titsey
Tattenhams
Thames Ditton
Thorpe
Tillingbourne
Town
Town
Valley
Virginia Water
Walton Ambleside
Walton Central
Walton North
Walton South
Warlingham East and Chelsham and Farleigh
Warlingham West
Watchetts
West Byfleet
West End
West Ewell
Westborough
Westcott

Page
28210

4,624
2,950
5,022
3,766
9,978
8,185
7,361
5,695
6,718
6,174
2,611
4,245
5,655
1,761
6,677
7,331
6,502
4,656
5,197
5,790
7,861
7,123
6,088
7,667
6,187
4,809
9,805
8,076
6,798
7,123
1,863
7,370
6,307
5,465
5,498
6,979
4,912
4,202
5,940
4,291
6,790
6,511
6,545
5,584
3,317
5,152
5,626
4,693
6,377
9,307
2,251

36.5
46.1
8.2
26.6
25.6
46.3
10.8
8.6
31
25.7
1.6
6.1
2.8
1
12.4
12.2
6.9
13.4
25.7
23.5
14.3
54.3
14
12.3
21.9
47.7
66.5
46.3
18.6
5.1
1.4
30.1
33.5
6.4
1.2
51.3
18.7
33.3
4
29.6
35.8
14.3
37.3
3.1
11.6
24.4
16
3.2
51.8
54.9
2.3

Weston Green
Westway
Weybridge North
Weybridge South
Whyteleafe
Windlesham
Witley and Hambledon
Woldingham
Woodcote
Woodham
Worplesdon

3,876
4,352
4,347
4,600
3,900
4,392
4,306
2,141
5,719
5,304
8,529

Page
29 211

25.8
51.9
18.7
22.8
18
4.6
2.3
2
8.1
21.7
4.8

8

8

Annex 4: Car club potential by location
The following data was collated for each Surrey ward:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Population density
Level of employment
Average car ownership
Mosaic profile

Each Surrey ward was then ranked according to its potential for car club uptake. The wards
that are ranked in the upper quartile are shown below with the ward with the highest
potential listed first.
Rank and Ward Name
1. Goldsworth East
2. Mount Hermon West
3. Friary and St Nicolas
4. Egham Town
5. Redhill East
6. Horley Central
7. Egham Hythe
8. Redhill West
9. Onslow
10. Staines
11. Maybury and Sheerwater
12. Holy Trinity
13. Walton Central
14. Ashford Common
15. Town (Camberley)
16. Godalming Central and Ockford
17. Sunbury Common
18. St Michaels
19. Stoughton
20. Court
21. Ashford Town
22. Town (Epsom)
23. Addlestone North
24. Ewell
25. Addlestone Bourneside
26. Earlswood and Whitebushes
27. Molesey South
28. Godalming Farncombe and Catteshall
29. Dorking North
30. Westway
31. Leatherhead North
32. Chertsey Meads
33. Ashford North and Stanwell South
34. Byfleet

Page
30212

35. Whyteleafe
36. Valley
37. Weybridge South
38. Frimley
39. Reigate Central
40. Knaphill
41. Hermitage and Knaphill South
42. Queens Park
43. Staines South
44. Dorking South
45. Goldsworth West
46. West Ewell
47. Stoke
48. Weybridge North
49. Molesey North
50. Chertsey St Anns
51. Stanwell North
52. Ashford East

8

Page
31 213

8

Annex 5: Accreditation scheme
As the Local Highway Authority Surrey County Council expects any car clubs operating in the
county to be fully accredited through the CoMoUk (formerly Carplus) national accreditation
scheme. Details of the scheme and how to apply can be found here:
https://como.org.uk/accreditation
The appointed operator under the Surrey car club contract must maintain full accreditation with
the scheme.
If a Developer chooses to use an operator other than SCC’s preferred supplier (applicable only
where the car club bays are not on the public highway) that operator is required to hold full
accreditation with CoMoUk, in order that the planning condition requiring a Car club may be
discharged.

Page
32214

Annex 6: List of car club locations in Surrey (operated by
Enterprise Car Club), as of August 2018.

Number of
Electric
Vehicles

District
Guildford

Location
Millmead Terrace

Ward
Friary and St Nicolas

Year
Implemented
2016

Guildford
Guildford
Guildford
Guildford
Guildford
Guildford

Eagle Road
Dapdune Road
George Road
Walnut Tree Close
Ludlow Road
Poltimore Road

Friary and St Nicolas
Friary and St Nicolas
Friary and St Nicolas
Friary and St Nicolas
Friary and St Nicolas
Friary and St Nicolas

2016
2016
2016
2016
2016
2016

1
1
1
1
1
1

Guildford
Guildford
Guildford
Mole Valley
Mole Valley
Mole Valley

Martyr Road
Uni of Surrey, Stag Hill Campus
Manor Park, Uni of Surrey
Pippbrook, Dorking
Fairmount House, Leatherhead
Mole Business Park, Leatherhead

Friary and St Nicolas
Onslow
Onslow
Dorking North
Leatherhead North
Leatherhead North

2016
2017
2017
2015
2015
2015

1
1
1
1
1
1

Reigate & Banstead
Reigate & Banstead
Reigate & Banstead
Runnymede
Woking
Woking

Gloucester Road
Warwick Road
Redhill High Street
Market Street, Addlestone
Quadrant Court
Guildford Road

Redhill West
Redhill West
Redhill East
Addlestone
Goldsworth East
Goldsworth East

2015
2016
2017
2017
2015
2015

3
1
1
1
2
2

Woking
Woking

Montgomery Road
Goldsworth Road

Goldsworth East
Goldsworth East

2018
2018

1
2
26

Page
33 215

8

Number
of bays
1

1
1
1

2

5

8

Annex 7: Location Maps (Enterprise Car Club, August
2018)

Page
34216

8

Page
35 217

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 5

Cleaner travel consultation
outcomes
Overview
Two related strategies, proposed for
incorporation into the Surrey Transport Plan,
underwent a public consultation exercise
between 4 June and 26 August 2018.
The strategies were:



Electrical Vehicle Strategy
Low Emission Transport Strategy

The consultations took place in parallel and were jointly promoted under a ‘cleaner
travel’ banner.

Headline figures


The Surrey Transport Plan consultation web page was visited over 16,007
times by different visitors. This compares with only 32 visits during the
same period last year when there was no consultation.



The Electrical Vehicle Strategy was read by 373 unique visitors to the
Surrey Transport Plan web page; the Low Emission Transport Strategy by
385 unique visitors.



102 written responses to the Electric Vehicle Strategy and 71 written
responses to the Low Emission Transport Strategy were received by
email, letter or online survey.



Over 40 comments relating to one or both strategies were received on the
#cleanertravel theme via the Surrey Matters Twitter and Facebook
platforms

Written responses received on behalf of organisations included district, borough and
parish councils, a neighbourhood forum and transport user groups.

What we did


Web page: A consultation home page at surreycc.gov.uk/cleanertravel with a
web banner link on the Surrey County Council home page.



Survey: Hosted on the online Surrey Says platform.



Libraries: For those without internet access copies of the strategies and
consultation posters were handed out to fifteen libraries across the county.

Page 219

8

Annex 5

8



Posters: In addition to libraries, posters were also distributed and displayed at
county council offices, district and borough council offices and parish councils.



Social media: Videos and artwork were shared on Facebook, Twitter and
Instagram, with #cleanertravel. There were 1535 clicks to the Cleaner Travel
consultations from social media.



Online advertising: Google Ads and Facebook promoted posts, targeted at
Surrey residents and linking through to the consultation web page. The mostseen Facebook post was a video watched 20,998 times.



Mailout: Notification emails were sent to over 1,000 stakeholders including
statutory groups, special interest forums, businesses and individuals signed
up to the Surrey Transport Plan mailing list.



EV round table: Event hosted by Cllr Mike Goodman and attended by
industry representatives, organisations and officers from the county, borough
and district councils.



Press coverage: The consultation was reported in local media sources
including Get Surrey and Guildford Dragon



A toolkit featuring social media posts, editorial and artwork was shared with
the Surrey Communications Group, including districts and boroughs.



Members and MPs: Information and details regarding the cleaner travel
consultations was placed in Communicate, the weekly members’ bulletin, and
Issues Monitor, the weekly update for news and campaigns sent to wider
stakeholders and MPs.



Local newsletters: The consultation was promoted via county and borough
newsletters. A Surrey Matters online magazine article was viewed 887 times.



Disability networks: The consultation was shared with disability and partner
networks through the Information and Engagement team in Adult Social Care



Internal networks: S-net, Jive Surrey and staff newsletters were used to
promote the consultation amongst Surrey County Council officers.

Reception
Both strategies received broad support. As illustration of this



3 in 4 respondents to the Electric Vehicle Strategy consultation agreed or
strongly agreed with the aim of the strategy
2 in 3 respondents to the Low Emission Transport Strategy agreed or strongly
agreed with its aim and preferred approach

Many respondents provided substantial written comments to support their
submissions, and we have reviewed and amended both strategies in light of the
suggestions received. As both strategies are highly complementary, feedback on the
Electric Vehicle Strategy has also been used to strengthen the Low Emission
Transport Strategy and vice-versa.

Page 220

Annex 5

A summary of common comments, suggestions and key resulting amendments to
the strategy are provided for each strategy below. Comprehensive consultation
outcome reports have been prepared for both strategies, including a schedule of all
the actions that were taken as a result of feedback. These reports will be made
publically available on the Council’s website at https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roadsand-transport/policies-plans-consultations/transport-plan/consultations.

Feedback on the Electric Vehicle Strategy
The table below lists some of the common significant themes that emerged from the
consultation and the response or actions that were taken as a result:
Summary of comment or suggestion

Response / action taken

The strategy places too much emphasis
on the role of electric vehicles in
addressing transport challenges, noting
that this should not be to the detriment
of other sustainable modes of travel and
did not resolve congestion issues.

The strategy’s aim has been rewritten to
acknowledge the importance of an
integrated transport approach, and a
transition from petrol/diesel to EV rather
than just growth.

Whilst electric vehicle demand is still
developing, greater urgency in the
rollout of publicly accessible
chargepoint provision (both on and off
street) is needed to both support
existing users and encourage take-up.

Objectives within the strategy have
been rewritten and combined to
explicitly acknowledge the importance
of public charging infrastructure in
delivering the overall aim strategy.

The council will need to adopt an
approach to charge points that is in line
with other parts of the UK for interoperability, and that offers a common
standard throughout Surrey.

The council notes the importance of a
consistent user experience and seeks to
reflect this in the strategy. It is expected
that a business model consisting of a
partnership with a chargepoint supplier
based upon a regional framework will
help to address this.

The application of electric motor
technology extends beyond the private
car and to other modes. The strategy
should be amended to acknowledge
this.

The strategy did already refer to the use
of EVs in other transport services such
as car clubs, buses and taxis. The
strategy has since been amended to
include reference to and specific actions
that support the use of electric bikes.

Accurate education and public
information provision around electric
vehicles is important to ensure potential
users are not put off by myths or
misinformation about the technology.

The strategy has been amended to
include a specific action for the council
to maintain and update its own online
resource on EV information provision
and signpost to reputable sources.

Page 221

8

Annex 5

8

Feedback on the Low Emission Transport Strategy
The table below lists some of the common significant themes that emerged from the
consultation and the response or actions that were taken as a result:
Summary of comment or suggestion

Response / action taken

The aim of the strategy places weight
on health concerns over and above
environmental concerns.

The strategy’s aim has been rewritten to
clarify that that both health and
environmental challenges are to be
addressed by the strategy.

The strategy needs to be clearer as to
what actions will be taken as a result of
the strategy.

The preferred approach section of the
strategy has been rationalised, and
matched to a new table (4.1) of actions
that will be taken.

Greater levels of investment in walking,
cycling, public transport and electric
vehicles are key to lowering emissions.

Actions to promote and direct
investment into such schemes and
services are included in new table 4.1.

Air quality should be seen as a problem
beyond Air Quality Management Areas
(AQMAs) alone.

Together with the Surrey Air Alliance,
we are in the process of modelling the
effects of air pollution across the whole
county, to understand air quality issues
beyond AQMAs.

Travel behaviour indicators and the
quantum of new infrastructure delivered
in support of this strategy should be
additional indicators.

We have added indicators in line with
these comments where data is readily
available for monitoring.

Page 222

Annex 6
8

Surrey Air Alliance response to Clean Air Strategy- 14.08.18
Comments on Section 1 (Understanding the problem)
Q1: What do you think about the actions put forward in the understanding the problem chapter?
Please provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.
[No response]
Q2: How can we improve the accessibility of evidence on air quality, so that it meets the wideranging needs of the public and other interested parties?
We welcome the desire to make monitoring data open and transparent. Through the partnership
working of the Surrey Air Alliance, the constituent local authorities in Surrey (11 District and
Boroughs and Surrey County Council) are looking at what can be done to make data more
transparent and have improved our websites as a group in the last 12 months, something which we
will continue to do to ensure residents had a good oversight and awareness of the data available in
their area.

Comments on Section 2 (Health)
The strategy states that air quality is the largest environmental health risk in the UK; the Surrey Air
Alliance recognises and supports this statement and believes working together at all levels is
essential in addressing the issues.
We acknowledge and supports the section entitled ‘counting the costs of air pollution on health’ and
note the potential health and social care costs of air pollution related diseases in England of £5.3
billion by 2035. It is noted that this cost does not take into account economic impacts due to lost
productivity. The Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer for 2017 entitled ‘health impacts of all
pollution.’ recommended that Public Health England works to bring together all of the routinely
produced data on the health impacts of pollution and the surveillance of pollution (including data
held by local authorities, the Environment Agency and others), to ensure availability for the public,
public sector and researchers.
Collectively we acknowledge that we must take action to reduce Particulate Matter and recognise
that even small reductions can make a difference to health.
We support the thinking that “effective communication of health messages about air pollution can
save lives and improve quality of life for many”. It is important that these messages are given as part
of a wider education piece, and that both adults and children are communicated with. Increased use
of nationally provided infographics that could be used in local campaigns would assist
The Surrey Air Alliance is working to improve the way in which our information is presented to the
public online and is seeking to make messages consistent across the county. More guidance is
needed to support giving “straightforward, practical information so that people can reduce their
own emissions for the benefit of themselves and their neighbours”.
The Surrey Air Alliance supports the ambition to reduce PM2.5 levels in order to halve the number of
people living in locations where concentrations of particulate matter are above 10 µg/m3 by 2025
and note the intention to set detailed interim objectives and report publicly on progress (p.26).
Better traffic data and monitoring info will be important in this regard.

Page 223

Annex 6
8

With the target to halve the number of people living where concentrations of PM2.5>10 ug/m3 by
2025 no base year has been set – will this be 2018? More monitoring will be required to define the
current baseline and progress against the target. Currently there is no requirement on local
authorities to monitor PM2.5, and it is unclear if this will be changed as a result of the target - if so
what support and additional resources could be provided to facilitate this? In Surrey, only one of the
eleven districts and boroughs (Spelthorne) currently monitors PM2.5 within their area – none of
these locations are on the AURN network and two of the three locations are privately funded.
The Surrey Air Alliance is currently developing a model for the county that will give a localised
picture of PM in Surrey.
Q3: What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the health chapter? Please provide
evidence in support of your answer if possible.
The Surrey Air Alliance supports the package of actions put forward in the health chapter.
Seven of the eleven Surrey districts and boroughs currently provide a personal air quality messaging
system to inform the public about pollution episodes, via airAlert. This reaches approx. 900
vulnerable people across the County. The Surrey Air Alliance has been unable to extend this service
to provide coverage to all Surrey residents as there is currently no suitable continuous monitoring in
place in the south west of Surrey to facilitate local forecasting. SAA therefore welcomes the action to
develop and deliver a personal air quality messaging system, but there is insufficient detail about the
proposed scheme. For example:






Will Defra be installing more monitoring to ensure that the messaging service is based on
local (and not regional) forecasting?
Will the service be provided free to recipients, as the current airAlert scheme is?
Will the service be open to all or restricted to certain types of vulnerable persons?
Who will administer and promote the scheme, and how will residents register? Will we be
able to transfer over users of existing schemes?
The airAlert scheme provides messaging by text, email and voicemail (to landlines or
mobiles). The demographics of users mean that voicemail and text notifications are the
preferred means of communication. We would want any national scheme to be similarly
inclusive.

Q4: How can we improve the way we communicate with the public about poor air quality and
what people can do?
Suggestions to improve the way central government communicates with the public about poor air
quality and what people can do, include:




We support the Local Government Association’s calls for ‘a clear and comprehensive public
health campaign at a national level, similar to those undertaken for smoking and obesity’.
We agree with the association when they say that ‘local measures will only be successful if
they are well understood’, and that ‘only national government has the ability and resources
to clearly communicate the nature of the problem with air pollution, the damage it can
cause, the need for immediate action and what individuals can do to help’. (Local
Government Association briefing: Debate on improving air quality, 28 June 2018).
Ensure consistency, both in measures, and in the tools used to monitor air quality and take
action – the differences between the national model and the local air quality management
process are confusing and do not help us give out messages at a local level as to why action
is needed in certain areas and not others.

Page 224

Annex 6











Greater use of advertising campaigns – a national campaign similar to the stop smoking
campaign that raises awareness of idling, especially outside schools, awareness of the
impacts of air quality on health especially from transport emissions. Campaigns with much
stronger messages attributing poor health resulting from air pollutants to individual
behaviour could be impactful and effective, similar to road safety campaigns.
A national drive to encourage drivers to turn off their engines (to include explaining that
they themselves are receptors whilst in their vehicles), or help people to find alternative
routes to walk away from busy roads with the highest levels of pollution. Local schemes
targeting anti-idling or encouraging ‘smart travel’ behaviours are impactful but not
supported well enough with funding or resources to be widespread enough for the extent of
the issue or understanding of individuals’ potential to improve the situation to be fully
realised.
Provide support for targeted campaigns within AQMAs to allow residents affected by these
areas to understand air quality in their area, identifying and making clear the causes of poor
air quality; where appropriate, provide support for working with residents or those who
travel through these areas to help reduce the issue e.g. personalised travel planning to get
people to walk and cycle more or (for example) encourage uptake of EVs. This requires
funding and investment at a national level to allow action at a local level.
Targeted campaigns with schools to educate teachers, parents and children on poor air
quality and the causes for this – encourage schools to work with parents to reduce vehicular
drop offs at the school gate and reduce engine idling. Educational piece around the damage
caused by idling engines to raise awareness. Teacher travel-to-work patterns could be
targeted more to reduce short distance car commutes to work – direct communication with
schools is key so that issues and implications are mode widely understood.
Greater use of social media and focussing communication towards young people to ensure
behaviours change early
Engaging with vulnerable, or potentially vulnerable, people early on and keeping them up to
date

The current AQ Grant funded schools AQ awareness project being delivered in the 2018/19
academic year by Surrey Air Alliance is looking to provide evaluation of its targeted media campaign
as a case study in this area. Our work to date indicates that media campaigns do need to focus on
busting the myth of less exposure in the cocoon of a private car than walking or cycling using the
road or pavement. This is a barrier to encouraging greater active travel. If more parents were aware
that being in a car is not protecting their children, this could greatly influence some peoples’ choice
of mode.

Comments on Section 3 (Environment)
The Surrey Air Alliance supports the acknowledgement that “clean, green and healthy environments
in urban and rural areas are an essential component of progress and are not a barrier to economic
development” (p.28) and would support wider dissemination of this message to help gain public
support for a wide range of sustainable transport measures, for example.
In addition to this, we would argue that clean, green and healthy environments can foster and create
economic growth as clean air and promoting active travel etc. will reduce employee absenteeism,
leading to healthier staff, healthier children will grow up to be active and aware of the issues
meaning they will have less health issues later on in life, resulting in savings to the NHS.

Page 225

8

Annex 6
8

Q5: What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the environment chapter? Please
provide evidence in support of your answer in possible.
Potentially these actions seem too weak and need to be strengthened, both using the evidence
already available, and through investing in additional evidence gathering and stronger leadership to
deliver action. Suggestions for strengthening the package of actions could include:








Communications to the public are again important to ensure people understand the actions
taken. Promoting care for the environment and capitalising on recent public interest in
protecting the environment (e.g. plastics, oceans) will be key in promoting behaviour change
and delivering real action.
Ensuring that the value of green infrastructure to air quality is fully recognised, both
nationally and on a local level within planning and local authority processes. Promoting
green infrastructure where applicable, and supporting research into these areas to ensure
they can be utilised wherever practical, could be key to developing innovation in this area,
and could help to bring a number of AQMAs for example, within compliance, and reduce the
burden on public health.
Bringing decisions around air quality and its impact on public health to the centre of
planning processes, so that it is considered in a timely way and not as an afterthought once
applications are approved.
Ensuring that air quality is a key consideration in transport planning and funding decisions,
so as to avoid generating or perpetuating air quality problems. The Local Sustainability
Transport Fund had improvements in air quality as a secondary objective and the DfT’s
‘Impact of the Local Sustainability Transport Fund Summary Report’ in 2017 refers to there
being less direct effect of its impacts on air quality.

Page 32 states that 12% of the UK particulate matter comes from traffic. It does not define
accurately the contribution of brake & tyre wear. Source apportionment modelling by Spelthorne
Borough Council (in 2011, for 2011 and 2015) using the ADMS model put only 41% as exhaust
emissions and 59% for brake and tyre wear. On this basis approximately 7% of total UK PM
emissions comes from brake and tyre wear. There needs to be more actions and investment into
what can be done to reduce these emissions especially given continued growth forecasts for the
number of vehicles and car journeys going forward. This issue will not be fixed by electrification of
the fleet.
Q6: What further action do you think should be taken to reduce the impact of air pollution on the
natural environment? Where possible, please include evidence of the potential effectiveness of
suggestions.
Invest in and support research into the benefits of ‘green’ infrastructure and other changes possible
(for example widening pavements, moving carriageways), particularly in relation to areas close to
main and trunk roads, where perhaps a straight reduction in traffic is unlikely as they are strategic
routes, but well thought out mitigation is still required.
Promoting planting of trees and plants – green walls, green roofs, on roundabouts and alongside
roads. Providing local authorities with a budget to do this and ongoing support to maintain this
approach.
Providing community and school initiatives to get local involvement – work with organisations to
implement schemes who have experience of this e.g. the Woodland Trust.

Page 226

Annex 6
Putting more emphasis on planting and trees within new developments as part of the planning
process – so that developers put more effort into providing vegetation which has the most carbon
sinking properties along with air quality benefits and making planting more widespread.
The Strategy outlines that in 2022 new tougher emission standards will come into effect for all new
domestic stoves. There is no evidence present about the expected lifetime of a domestic stove and
as to how long it is anticipated for the majority of existing stoves to be replaced. Our perception
would be that the Government should consider whether retrofitting grants are appropriate as per
the original smoke control scheme under the Clean Air Act, especially where a stove is the only
source of heating. In Surrey, monitoring of particulates gives evidence to indicate that domestic
burning is more prevalent at evenings and weekends, coinciding with the lowest level of resourcing
for local authority enforcement. What additional resources will be provided to local authorities to
enable them to use planned additional powers.
No reference is made in the draft Strategy about air quality issues associated with domestic (or
commercial) bonfires. These can cause annoyance, nuisance and respiratory issues for neighbouring
residents, all the while contributing to local emissions. Current legislation under nuisance and dark
smoke can be difficult to enforce for local authorities. Banning of bonfires (partially or on a voluntary
basis) is an action coming into various local authority Air Quality Action Plans despite some public
opposition. There is an opportunity within the overhaul of smoke control legislation to include
powers for local authorities for more effective enforcement against domestic bonfires.

Comments on Section 4 (Clean growth and innovation)
The Surrey Air Alliance supports Surrey County Council’s ambition to make the UK a world leader in
goods and services focused on tackling air pollution. We are keen to work with suppliers and develop
guidelines on what this will mean at county level for Surrey, and for Surrey to be a leading in this
area.
Q7. What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the clean growth and innovation
chapter? Please provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.
We are supportive of these suggestions. We would also support promoting measures to raise
awareness of, and support, small scale household/ business renewable energy measures, alongside
campaigns promoting the benefits to air quality.
More funding into innovations such as mobility as a service to move this forward.
There should be a short time period (say by 2025) the use of ‘Red diesel’ is banned in powering
refrigeration units on delivery vehicles, especially with the introduction of liquid nitrogen as per the
case study (page 38).
Q8. In what areas of the air quality industry is there potential for UK leadership?
[No response]
Q9. In your view, what are the barriers to the take-up of existing technologies which can help
tackle air pollution? How can these barriers be overcome?



Cost – the perception remains that the benefits are not outweighed by the cost of new
technology
Lack of promotion of alternative technologies e.g. EV cars still not being advertised and
promoted very much (they are still seen as a niche product) while there remains so many
adverts and marketing for combustion cars.

Page 227

8

Annex 6
8







Government needs to work with industry to help change this – perhaps by providing
incentives to reduce advertising of combustion cars and focus on alternative clean vehicle
promotion.
Lack of incentives/support for businesses to upgrade their fleets to EVs.
A lack of funding is a distinct barrier to local authorities upgrading their fleets when they
could be seen as an example to local residents and businesses.
Work with local businesses to promote clean vehicles and car sharing.
Surrey County Council delivered a successful business engagement programme to work with
businesses to help promote EVs, provide EV charge points at their workplace, and enable
staff with EVs to have a parking space while providing no, or fewer, free parking spaces for
combustion engines so staff have the incentive/confidence to make the switch. The Surrey
Air Alliance is supportive of this approach and with Surrey County Council will continue to
encourage businesses in this way, particularly those in proximity to current or planned
sustainable transport schemes, or major schemes, but as this work is often seen as revenue
funded workstream, there is limited funding to do this as much of the funding for these
types of schemes is capital. This rigidity in the funding means less flexibility to support
innovation and take up of new technologies.
A lack of awareness of the benefits arising from new technologies, together with a lack of
awareness of the health impacts of poor air quality – without education and awareness
people may not consider using or choosing to invest in existing technologies such as EVs.
Government should consider how it can deliver an extensive national campaign with strong
messaging.
Electric charging solutions – this needs to be thought out nationally like the Major Roads
Network Consultation – this should not be passed to local authorities in its entirety who may
not have the expertise or funding to be able to support developing a strategic plan of a
comprehensive charging network that overcomes the barrier of range anxiety; previous
bidding for this by SCC and the Surrey Air Alliance has been unsuccessful which has made
producing such a strategic plan difficult; EV charging infrastructure is something we are
regularly asked about by residents.

Q10. In your view, are the priorities identified for innovation funding the right ones?
[No specific response, see general comments above]

Comments on Section 5 (Transport)
Q11. What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the transport chapter? Please
provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.
Road
It is noted that roadside emissions are largely covered by other documents (i.e. 2017 Clean Growth
Strategy; 2017 Plan for tackling Roadside NO2; and the recently published Road to Zero).
We can see that there is clear ambition for when petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles will no longer be
produced, but when does the government intend for them to no longer be allowed on the roads?
Furthermore, and with regard to the impact of diesel vehicles – evidence suggests that diesel
vehicles are the primary contributor to NOx emissions. We believe that in order for significant
change to occur to reduce emissions and have the best impact on public health, a national strategic
approach to reducing diesel vehicles, sooner than 2040, is required and this should be led by central

Page 228

Annex 6
government. This should include the consideration of banning diesels over a certain age; or a
scrappage scheme incentive to encourage purchase of replacement low emissions vehicles at
discounted rates.
Other incentives towards purchasing new (and second hand) low emission vehicles should be
developed and or continued as well – through vehicle excise duty and purchase grants. Within the
Road to Zero current grants are only guaranteed to October 2018, and it is very vague on the nature
of a promise for continued incentives to 2020.
Maritime
In Surrey we have no coastal areas. However, there are numerous inland waterways and navigable
rivers. Houseboats and leisure boats are a source of both domestic burning and combustion engine
emissions which are not considered in the draft Strategy. Their smoke emissions can also be a local
nuisance and annoyance to our residents. Current legislation on smoke control and emissions limits
local authority enforcement abilities in this sector.
Rail
The Surrey Air Alliance will continue to support the electrification of the North Downs Line as a
County Council rail priority that will reduce pollution and help remove diesel trains from the network
(thereby supporting government’s aim to remove diesel trains by 2040) together with energy
efficiencies in the rail industry.
It is recognised that many journeys to rail stations are made by private car. There is a need for
greater support to do more to promote multi-modal interchanges at stations, for example
incorporating bus timetables with rail timetables so that bus and rail travel is more convenient and
more attractive to help passengers shift to a rail/bus travel pattern rather than a rail/car travel
pattern, helping to reduce single occupancy trips. Work with rail operators to encourage cycle/rail
travel patterns should also be encouraged and supported.
There is a concern that as franchises change hands, the number of cycle parking spaces on trains is
actually reduced, compromising passenger ability to travel by bike and train. Whilst it is recognised
that there is a need for cycle storage at rail stations, there is also a need to encourage operators to
provide space for bikes on board, this is perhaps counter to the ‘incentive’ provided for train
operators who charge for vehicular parking spaces at station car parks, which helps them raise
revenue, and consequently does not help them encourage more sustainable modes of travel to their
stations.
Aviation
Harmful emissions from aircraft of ultrafine particulates at the very smallest scale (PM0.1) should also
be recognised as an area of growing concern, particularly downwind of airports. Research and
evidence is currently evolving. Local authorities in Surrey are developing proposals to secure funding
and expertise to begin monitoring PM0.1 levels around airports.
Local authorities in Surrey are working with Heathrow and Gatwick to reduce/control emissions at
these airports. We note the forthcoming Aviation Strategy due for publication later in 2018. We
promote the need to include Southern Rail Access to Heathrow improvements and note that this is a
Surrey County Council rail priority.
Modal shift
It is important to encourage more sustainable modes of transport such as cycling, walking and public
transport, and shifting freight from road to rail. Relating to mobility as a service, the transport offer
has to have an integrated approach having an appreciation of all people’s needs.

Page 229

8

Annex 6
8

We appreciate and share Surrey County Council’s concerns that there are barriers to bidding for
funding from a highway authority perspective for example the current benefits appraisal process
required for schemes such as sustainable transport packages which makes securing funding difficult.
The current appraisal process is geared towards evaluating more traditional road schemes and does
not allow us to emphasise the benefits that can be unlocked from sustainable transport measures,
including air quality and wider health benefits. Appraisal methods should appreciate that sustainable
transport measures often need to tackle the ‘too difficult’ options which have previously been
overlooked due to cost or other barriers but which are key in providing a full and safe continuous
network.
There is a need for support with funding towards sustainable modes that are targeted in places
where there are Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs), to help local authorities in revoking these
AQMAs.
We note the support for industry research into rail freight emissions in comparison to road
emissions (p.48), we would also like to see support included for research into reducing emissions
from ‘last-mile’ freight and household deliveries, and even research into reducing the number of
same-day/next-day deliveries with a view to enabling a reduction in LGV trips which have been
increasing in recent years.
In support of the view of Surrey County Council we would like to highlight some barriers to achieving
a greater number of bus journeys made on electric / ultra-low emission buses: although operators
are ready and willing to work in partnership with us buses typically have a 12-15 year lifespan, so
fleet replacement needs to be planned. Moreover, the additional cost of purchasing a fully electric
bus is around double that for a conventional diesel bus. In addition, the ‘local grid’ will almost
certainly require capital improvements to facilitate the charging of electric buses, which is likely to
require national consideration and investment.
We would also stress the importance of placing more emphasis on providing sustainable transport in
new developments, particularly in larger sites, or more rural sites such as garden villages, specifically
with the intention of helping to mitigate the impact of new developments on air quality.
More generally, there doesn’t appear to be any acknowledgement here of the role both spatial
planning and development planning can play in (a) shaping travel demand and (b) increasing the
viability and attractiveness of non-motorised travel leading to modal shift.
Q12. Do you feel that the approaches proposed for reducing emissions from Non- Road Mobile
Machinery are appropriate or not? Why?
We support the call for evidence on non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) usage. We would like to
see Government taking forward a national scheme based on the current London Mayor’s NRMM
scheme for registration and emission standards. In Surrey (and other surrounding counties) we risk
having higher emission plant pushed out of the Greater London area. We would though need
support and additional resources/ skills to be able to take on an enforcement roll in NRMM
inspections.

Comments on Section 6 (Emissions at home)
Ensuring that only the cleanest levels of stoves and fuels are available to the market are considered
important, however this is exceedingly difficult to monitor and enforce as the document states.
Whilst we welcome the aspiration for a nationwide approach we think that it will still be difficult to
enforce, particularly if this responsibility remains with local authorities.
Q13. What do you think of the package of actions put forward to reduce the impact of domestic
combustion? Please provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.

Page 230

Annex 6
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q14. Which of the following measures to provide information on a product’s non-methane volatile
organic compound content would you find most helpful for informing your choice of household
and personal care products, and please would you briefly explain your answer? “A B C” label on
product packaging (a categorised product rating for relevant domestic products, similar to other
labels such as food traffic light labels) information on manufacturer website leaflet at the point of
sale inclusion in advertising campaigns other option
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q15. What further actions do you think can be taken to reduce human exposure from indoor air
pollution?
National awareness campaigns on the issues with wood burning stoves with strong messaging to
raise awareness of the impacts on health to help people make informed choices if they do not
require a stove for heating/practical purposes. Options could include: requiring planning permission
for all wood burning appliances so each one is assessed on an individual basis (taking into account
the resources that would be required for this); requiring people to register wood burning appliances
to help local authorities with enforcing smoke free zones and monitor the level of use.

Comments on Section 7 (Farming)
Q16. What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the farming chapter? Please
provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.
[No response]
Q17. What are your preferences in relation to the 3 regulatory approaches outlined and the
timeframe for their implementation: (1) introduction of nitrogen (or fertiliser) limits; (2) extension
of permitting to large dairy farms; (3) rules on specific emissions-reducing practices? Please
provide evidence in support of your views if possible.
[No response]
Q18. Should future anaerobic digestion (AD) supported by government schemes be required to
use best practice low emissions spreading techniques through certification? If not, what other
short-term strategies to reduce ammonia emissions from AD should be implemented? Please
provide any evidence you have to support your suggestions
[No response]

Comments on Section 8 (Action to reduce emissions from industry)
Q19. What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the industry chapter? Please
provide evidence in support of your answer if possible.
[No response]
Q20. We have committed to applying Best Available Techniques to drive continuous improvement
in reducing emissions from industrial sites. What other actions would be effective in promoting
industrial emission reductions?
[No response]

Page 231

8

Annex 6
8

Q21. Is there scope to strengthen the current regulatory framework in a proportionate manner for
smaller industrial sites to further reduce emissions? If so, how?
[No response]
Q22. What further action, if any, should Government take to tackle emissions from medium
combustion plants and generators? Please provide evidence in support of your suggestions where
possible.
[No response]
Q23. How should we tackle emissions from combustion plants in the 500kW-1MW thermal input
range? Please provide evidence you might have to support your proposals if possible.
[No response]
Q24. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to exempt generators used for research and
development from emission controls? Please provide evidence where possible.
[No response]

Comments on Section 9 (Leadership at all levels)
We agree with the Local Government Association’s assessment that the Government’s air quality
plans will rely on clear leadership, sufficient funding and proactive action, and will need to be
accompanied by robust, national action and an updated legislative framework in order to be
successful.
It’s not clear what is meant by “replace the existing patchwork with single coherent legislative
framework for local authorities to tackle air quality and bring the law up to date with the evolution
of structures at sub-national level so that accountability for air quality sits in the place”. However,
we would welcome a clearer approach to simplify existing legislative frameworks i.e. local air quality
management and clean air zones and smoke control areas, however this will need careful
consideration to ensure that the process is as transparent as possible and is no more onerous on
local authorities.
With regards to section 9.4 ‘local action on clean air’, what consideration has there been for if there
are no CAZs declared in an area i.e. Surrey? It seems that if there are no CAZs declared in Surrey –
presumably there will be no new powers to prevent areas from becoming a problem, the strategy
doesn’t seem to allow for prevention of problems, but this section is perhaps unclear.
The District and Borough Councils through their Surrey Environmental Health Managers Group are
working with Surrey County Council through the Surrey Air Alliance to deliver programmes of work
to raise awareness and education around air quality as well as deliver schemes to improve air
quality.
A number of examples provided in the draft strategy are all very well but are isolated examples. We
understand that the Local Authorities involved had to go through a rigorous process to obtain these
powers, for example workplace charging. We consider that such powers should be universally
available as part of a readily adopted toolkit for local authorities to utilise as required.
We are concerned about the process of CAZ and if not applicable this may well led to restricted
access to funding. We are also concerned that there may be a two-tier approach developing to
DEFRA funding based on the different approach to EU Directive and LAQM.

Page 232

Annex 6
8
Q25. What do you think of the package of actions put forward in the leadership chapter? Please
provide evidence in support of your answer if possible
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q26. What are your views on the England-wide legislative package set out in section 9.2.2? Please
explain, with evidence where possible
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q27. Are there gaps in the powers available to local government for tackling local air problems? If
so, what are they?
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q28. What are the benefits of making changes to the balance of responsibility for clean local air
between lower and upper tier authorities? What are the risks?
[No specific response, see general comments above]
Q29. What improvements should be made to the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) system?
How can we minimise the bureaucracy and reporting burdens associated with LAQM?
[No specific response, see general comments above]

Comments on Section 10 (Progress against targets)
Q30. What do you think of the package of actions in this strategy as a whole?
[No response]
Q31. Do you have any specific suggestions for additional or alternative actions that you think
should be considered to achieve our objectives? Please outline briefly, providing evidence of
potential effectiveness where possible.
Generally, it is felt that the strategy could emphasise further the importance of education in
addressing air quality. The Surrey Air Alliance is currently developing an engagement campaign
specifically with schools, to raise awareness amongst young people of the significance of air quality
and the actions they can take to help improve it. The Surrey Air Alliance believes that education is
central to improving air quality, however support for schemes like this is needed to be able to roll
them out further and reach a wider audience.
Q32. If you have any further comments not covered elsewhere, please provide them here.
We would like to reinforce the importance of engagement work to encourage behaviour change in
relation to improving air quality and, specifically, the need for funding and budgets to support this.

Page 233

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 9
9

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
DATE:

27 NOVEMBER 2018

REPORT OF:

MR DAVID HODGE, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

LEAD
OFFICER:

LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

SUBJECT:

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

COMMUNITY
VISION
OUTCOME:

COUNCIL

SUMMARY OF ISSUES:
This report presents new Financial Regulations for the Council, providing a
framework within which Members and officers can carry out their responsibilities in
an open and consistent manner.
The Financial Regulations have been designed to promote and maintain the
highest standards expected of the public sector in dealing with resources, and fully
reflect the Council’s current financial position and the requirements of the Budget
Accountability Statement (BAS).
The report also recommends that approval of the Council’s annual Treasury
Management Strategy Statement be delegated to the Audit and Governance
Committee, and the Constitution be amended accordingly.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
It is recommended that Cabinet:
1. Consider the new Financial Regulations and recommend Council approval on
11 December 2018.
2. Consider, and recommend to Council the delegation of approval of the annual
Treasury Management Strategy Statement to the Audit and Governance
Committee. Members of the Audit and Governance Committee will receive
appropriate training.
3. Consider and recommend the necessary amendments to the Council’s
Constitution.
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Council’s Annual Governance Statement for 2017/18 identified that actions
were required to strengthen governance, including the need to revise and reinforce
the Financial Regulations. As the Council is facing unprecedented financial

Page 235

9

pressures, a comprehensive review is required to reflect the new financial
environment.
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential
Code and Treasury Management Code of Practice (2017) requires local
authorities to prepare a Capital and Investment Strategy from April 2019. The
introduction of this new strategy means that approval of the annual Treasury
Management Strategy Statement may be delegated to a sub-committee.
Delegation of this function to the Audit and Governance Committee should
facilitate more active discussion of the strategy by Members who have
received specific training in this area.
DETAILS:
1. Financial Regulations provide a set of rules which apply to all Members and
Officers of the Council. They aim to provide a comprehensive framework for
everyone acting for or on behalf of the Council, to carry out their
responsibilities in a consistent manner.
2. Financial Regulations are reviewed annually, and have therefore been
developed over a number of years. As the Council is now facing
unprecedented financial pressures and is in the process of embracing new
working practices in a number of areas, a full revision has been undertaken to
reflect the current financial environment.
3. There is no “best practice” template for local authority Financial Regulations,
and therefore no standard approach to fit all. The new Financial Regulations
are based on extensive research and best practice, and provide a clear and
concise framework that fully reflects up to date requirements. They outline
the financial responsibilities for Members, Senior Officers, Budget Managers
and everyone with financial responsibilities.
4. The main difference between the current Financial Regulations and the new
version is that the new version fully reflects the new Budget Accountability
Statement, and more clearly outlines Budget Managers’ responsibilities in
setting and monitoring revenue and capital budgets. The financial limits
contained within the Financial Regulations are considered to be appropriate
and have therefore not been changed.
5. The new Financial Regulations include new sections on Asset Management
covering estates, inventories and stocks and stores, including processes for
disposal, stock adjustments and write off. The asset related sections are
consistent with current practice and have been agreed with Property Officers.
6. Financial Regulations are supported by various handbooks for budget
managers, these will be updated in due course. Training and workshops will
be provided across the Council’s services.
7. The revised CIPFA Prudential Code (2017) introduced the requirement for a
new capital strategy from 1 April 2019. Alongside this new requirement, the
Code allows authorities to delegate the detailed management of Treasury
Management to a sub-committee from April 2019. This means that approval
of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement can be delegated to
the Audit and Governance Committee, which is currently only required to
2

Page 236

9

“review” the Treasury Management Strategy Statement prior to approval by
Council.

8. Treasury Management can be seen as complicated and inaccessible to
non-finance specialists. Delegation of approval of the detail of the
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and ongoing monitoring can
facilitate more active discussion of the strategy and performance by those
with the most appropriate skills and knowledge. Responsibility at all times,
however, remains with full Council who will have access to the full
Treasury Management Strategy Statement, annual report and in-year
monitoring and the ability to seek clarification and ask questions.
9. It is proposed that approval of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
is delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee, and the wording in the
Constitution is amend from “review” to “review and approve” the annual
Treasury Management Strategy Statement. Appropriate training will be
provided for all Members of the Audit and Governance Committee.
CONSULTATION:
10. Consultation has been undertaken with the Leader of the Council, Chief
Executive, Monitoring Officer, Internal Audit Manager, Democratic Services,
Property Services and Human Resources.
11. Once approved, it is proposed that comprehensive training will be rolled out
across the Council’s services.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
12. There are no significant risks involved in updating the Financial Regulations.
13. Delegation of the annual Treasury Management Statement may reduce
Members’ involvement in Treasury Management. It is important to stress that
overall responsibility for the Council’s Treasury Management function
remains with full Council, and all Members will have access to the full suite of
documents of polices and strategies, and will be able to seek clarification and
ask questions about all aspects of Treasury Management activity. Members
of the Audit and Governance Committee will receive annual training to fulfil
the new responsibilities.
Legal Implications – Monitoring Officer
14. Under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, local authorities must
make arrangements for the proper administration of its business affairs. The
revised Financial Regulations attached to this report update the Council’s
practices and procedures and strengthen financial governance, as
highlighted in the Annual Governance Statement.
15. In line with the recent changes to the CIPFA Prudential Code, the report also
proposes that approval of the annual Treasury Management Statement be
delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee, which will allow for more
detailed consideration of the strategy and further strengthen governance in
this area.

Page 237

3

9
16. If the report’s recommendations are accepted, Members and Officers should
be alerted to the revised regulations, as the Council could be at risk of legal
challenge if they are not complied with.
Equalities and Diversity
17. There are no Equalities or Diversity implications
WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:
 The new Financial Regulations will be implemented as soon as practicable
after Cabinet and Council approval
 Following approval, comprehensive training will be provided across
Council services
 Financial Regulations will continue to be reviewed and updated on an
annual basis
 Members of the Audit and Governance Committee will receive training
Contact Officer:
Cecilie Booth, Interim Head of Finance, Telephone 01483 404697
Consulted:
Leader of the Council, Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Democratic Services,
Internal Audit Manager, Property Services, Human Resources
Annexes:
Annex 1 – Financial Regulations

Sources/background papers:
 Existing Financial Regulations
 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2018
 The Treasury Management Code of Practice

4

Page 238

Annex 1

www.surreycc.gov.uk
Making Surrey a better place

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

NOVEMBER 2018

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS INDEX

1

Page 239

9

9

Financial
Regulation (FR)
FR1
FR2
FR3
FR4
FR5
FR6
FR7
FR8
FR9
FR10
FR11
FR12
FR13
FR14
FR15
FR16
FR17
FR18
FR19
FR20
FR21
FR22
FR23
FR24
FR25
FR26

Description

Page

Introduction
Scope of Financial Regulations
Roles and Responsibilities
Information Affecting the Council’s Finances
Preparation of Financial Plans
Authority to incur Revenue Expenditure
Financial Monitoring
Virement
Fees and Charges
Carry Forward of Unspent Budgets
Reserves
Authority to incur Capital Expenditure
Monitoring the Capital Programme
Financial Accounts
Duty to carry out Audit
Financial Irregularities
Ordering Procedures
Consultants and Contractors
Contracting Arrangements
Payment of Salaries and Wages
Income Collection and Banking Arrangements
Debt Management and Bad Debt Write Off
Assets
Stocks and Stores
Estates
Risk Management and Insurance
Treasury Management and Pension Fund

2

Page 240

3
4
4
6
6
7
7
8
9
10
10
10
11
11
12
12
13
13
14
14
15
15
16
18
18
18
19

9

Introduction
Financial Regulations provide a framework within which all staff can carry out their
responsibilities in an open and consistent manner. They outline the financial responsibilities
of all members and officers of the Council, and have been designed to promote and maintain
the high standards expected of the public sector in dealing with financial and other resources
financed from taxation by:


placing clear accountability with officers appointed to manage resources;
establishing key principles and processes which they should follow, supported by
detailed operating arrangements approved by the Section 151 Officer;

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires local authorities to make
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and appoint a Chief
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to have responsibility for those arrangements. The
Executive Director of Finance is the Section 151 Officer for Surrey County Council.
Cabinet Members and Executive Directors hold a dual role to ensure that that strategic
policies and priorities are delivered within resources and meet all fiduciary responsibilities,
recommendations to Council are deliverable and that they support Budget Managers to
spend within the Budget Envelopes.
Senior Officers (Executive Directors, Service and Assistant Directors, Heads of Service and
other officers deemed to be Senior Officers) are responsible for the budget allocations for the
services within their remit. Day to day management of the budget can be delegated to Budget
Managers, however, overall responsibility and accountability remains with the Senior
Officers. Failure to manage budgets effectively may lead to disciplinary action.
A Budget Manager is an officer who has delegated authority for controlling the income and
expenditure for one or more cost centres or projects, for both Capital and Revenue Budgets.
All officers with responsibility for undertaking financial duties are required to comply with
these regulations. The Section 151 Officer is, in turn, accountable to Council. The Financial
Regulations and supporting documents are reviewed annually, and will be developed further
in line with the cultural changes and transformation plans the Council is currently working
towards.
Locally managed schools have their own financial governance and regulations, as set out in
the Surrey Scheme of Financing Schools and the Schools’ Finance Manual.
The Financial Regulations should be read in conjunction with the Council’s:
Strategy against Fraud and Corruption
Business Continuity Guide
Anti-Money Laundering Policy
Systems Control Policy
Whistle blowing Policy

3

Page 241

9

FINANCIAL REGULATION 1 - SCOPE OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
FR1.1 The Financial Regulations are binding on all Council members and officers, including
contractors, agency staff, and anyone acting on behalf of the Council.
FR1.2 Financial Regulations are part of the Council’s Constitution. The relevant parts of the
Constitution are Article 6 (Budget and Policy Framework), Article 12 (Contracts and Legal
matters) and Par 3 Responsibility of Function and Scheme of Delegation). Financial
Regulations may only be amended by full Council.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 2 - ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Section 151 Officer (Executive Director of Finance)
FR2.1 The Section 151 Officer’s role and responsibilities are set out in statute:






Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972
Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988
Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Local Government Act 2003
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

FR2.2 All financial procedures and records shall be subject to his / her approval. Under The
Accounts and Audit Regulations, the Section 151 Officer is responsible for the financial
management of the Council, sound systems of internal control, risk management, and at least
once in a year, a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
FR2.3 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Council's
financial affairs. He / she shall provide information and assistance to all officers to help them
carry out their responsibilities for effecting the sound financial management of their services.
FR2.4 The Section 151 Officer shall report to members on the overall budget performance
and recommend corrective action as and when required. He / she shall ensure, as far as
practicable, financial Regulations and supporting policies protect the Council against any
unlawful financial transactions or actions.
FR2.5 The Section 151 Officer must be given access to any necessary information to comply
with his / her statutory duties.
FR2.6 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that procedures are documented and made
available to users for those financial systems identified as business critical.
FR2.7 The Section 151 Officer shall, after consultation with the Chief Executive, report any
non-compliance with these Regulations which he / she considers substantial. The report shall
be made initially to the Leader and, following that, to the relevant Committee depending on
the circumstances.

4

Page 242

Senior Officers (Chief Executive, Executive Directors, Heads of Service, other designated
officers)
FR2.8 Senior Officers have individual and collective responsibility to ensure that the
fundamental principles as established by the Cadbury Report on “the financial aspects of
corporate governance”, namely openness, integrity and accountability, are established
through compliance with Financial Regulations.
FR2.9 Senior Officers may delegate day to day management to a Budget Manager in his / her
directorate or service, provided that a list of officers so authorised shall be supplied to the
Section 151 Officer. Although day to day management of a budget may be delegated,
responsibility and accountability remains firmly with Senior Officers. Effective management
of resources is a fundamental requirement of managers and failure to manage budgets will
be investigated under the disciplinary procedure. Persistent or significant failure could
constitute gross misconduct.
FR2.10 Senior Officers shall propose annual revenue and capital budgets for each service
within the budget guidelines agreed by the Cabinet.
Budget Managers
FR2.11 Budget Managers should make all relevant staff aware of these regulations (and
associated documents) and highlight the relevance and compliance of the regulations to team
members.
FR2.12 Budget Managers are accountable for their budget areas and to make arrangements
for managing income and expenditure and ensure value for money in service delivery. Budget
Managers are responsible for taking action to recover and to report on any budgetary
variances, and for reporting to senior Officers if there is a possibility that budgets may be
overspent. Effective management of resources is a fundamental requirement of Budget
Managers and failure to manage the budget properly will be investigated under the Council’s
disciplinary procedure.
FR2.13 Budget managers are responsible for the budget narrative that informs the monthly
reports to members, Departmental Leadership Teams (DLT) and Corporate Leadership Team
(CLT). Finance officers are available to support this process.
FR2.14 Senior Officers and Budget Managers are responsible for ensuring that all staff,
contractors, agency workers in their directorates, anyone acting on behalf of the council are
aware of the existence and content of the Council’s Financial Regulations and other internal
regulatory documents and that they comply with them. They must also ensure that there is
adequate availability of and access to the current version of Financial Regulations.

5

Page 243

9

9

FINANCIAL REGULATION 3 - INFORMATION AFFECTING THE COUNCIL'S FINANCES
FR3.1 Where a matter arises in any Directorate which could materially affect the Council's
finances, other than a matter already approved, Senior Officers shall consult the Section 151
Officer before any provisional expenditure is incurred or any commitment given.
FR3.2 All Cabinet reports shall contain a section dealing with the financial implications of the
matter(s) covered by the report and shall be submitted to the Section 151 Officer, who shall
satisfy himself / herself that the financial information is comprehensive and accurate before
the report is finalised and published.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 4 - PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL PLANS
FR4.1 The Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Chief Executive, shall advise Cabinet
each year on the timescales and procedures to be adopted for the formulation of all Financial
Plans including the Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy, Capital Programme,
Annual Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan. Cabinet shall agree a timetable
which will include stages for consultation with Scrutiny and Overview Committees and other
appropriate stakeholders. Members will be actively involved in scrutiny of budget proposals
ahead of submission to Cabinet and Council, and subsequently in the monitoring of progress.
FR4.2 Senior Officers shall adhere to the agreed timescales and procedures in providing the
information required to enable the preparation of Service Development and Financial Plans.
Further guidance on submission and monitoring of capital schemes is set out in the Budget
Holder Handbook - Capital.
FR4.3 In accordance with the agreed timescales, the Section 151 Officer shall submit a report
to Cabinet, taking account of the views of appropriate committees, with the information
required to enable Cabinet to recommend a Capital Strategy and Programme, Revenue
Budget and Council Tax for the following financial year to Council. The report will comment
on the robustness of the budget proposals submitted for approval in compliance with the
requirements of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003.
FR4.4 The responsibilities of Senior Officers are set out in the Budget Holder Handbook and
in the Budget Accountability Statement (BAS). Any additional expenditure not already
included in the existing Revenue Budget must be found from corresponding savings in other
areas. Under no circumstances can additional expenditure be incurred without the express
approval of the Section 151 Officer.
FR4.5 Senior Officers, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, shall make appropriate
arrangements for the effective identification, progression and management of external
funding and partnership opportunities applicable to their service area. All possible partners
shall be identified and considered for inclusion in a scheme, as appropriate.
FR4.6 All bids for external grants shall be made in consultation with the Section 151 Officer
before any grant application is submitted. Proper allowance must be made for work which
will have to be undertaken by all other services / directorates to implement the scheme, and
6

Page 244

all costs which have to be met by the Council. Some applications may require member
approval, as set out in the Constitution, particularly where the Council is entering into
contractual arrangements or providing funding for the project.
FR4.7 All proposals for externally funded schemes shall be made in consultation with the
Section 151 Officer before a bid is submitted. A standard template will be made available for
this purpose, and further detail of the process is outlined in the Budget Holder Handbook.
FR4.8 All officers engaged in the progression of such schemes shall adhere to these Financial
Regulations, the Council’s Procurement Rules and any other directions or instructions given
by the Council. Where the Council has been defined by the funder as the Accountable Body
for a scheme, Financial Regulations applies equally to the staff of any partnering organisations
in respect of the scheme.
FR4.9 Where a third party works in partnership with the Council in delivering an externally
funded project, officers must ensure that a third-party agreement is in place which reflects
the terms and conditions of the funding agreement between the Council and the external
funder. The responsible officer shall ensure that the third-party complies with the third-party
agreement in order to safeguard the Council’s position regarding compliance with its
agreement with the funder. For all significant arrangements, the advice of the Monitoring
Officer should be taken on the form and content of any agreement.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 5 - AUTHORITY TO INCUR REVENUE EXPENDITURE
FR5.1 Budget Managers are authorised to incur expenditure up to the amounts included in
their approved budget.
FR5.2 The Section 151 Officer shall update budgets to reflect approved variations agreed by
Cabinet. In addition, he / she shall approve amendments and update the Revenue Budget in
accordance with Financial Regulation 6
FR5.3 Overspending against the approved budget is not permitted. However, a situation may
arise which requires expenditure to be incurred as a matter of such urgency that there must
be no delay. If there is no, or insufficient, budget provision available, the Budget Manager
should, in consultation with the relevant Senior Officer and Section 151 Officer obtain the
necessary goods, and / or works, and / or services. The additional expenditure shall be met
by virement in accordance with Financial Regulation 7.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 6 - FINANCIAL MONITORING
FR6.1 Senior Officers shall comply with the Budget Holder Handbook and the Budget
Accountability Statement (BAS). Individual budgets may be delegated to Budget Managers /
Budget Holders within the directorate. However, Senior Officers maintain overall
responsibility and are accountable for managing the budgets in compliance with the Budget
Accountability Statement.

7

Page 245

9

9

FR6.2 Senior Officers are responsible for delivering services within the allocated budget. It is
not acceptable to overspend, and mis-management of the budget may lead to disciplinary
action.
FR6.3 Senior Officers and Budget Managers are responsible for delivering the savings
identified within their assigned budgets.
FR6.4 Budget Managers shall provide accurate forecast returns in accordance with the budget
monitoring timetable. Any overspends against a single budget line must be met by a saving
elsewhere within the budget. If an overall unavoidable overspend is likely to occur, the
Budget Manager must notify the appropriate Senior Officer and Finance Officer, and provide
a detailed explanation of why the overspend is truly unavoidable. Any underspends should
also be reported early, as these may be required to offset unavoidable pressures elsewhere.
FR6.5 The monthly forecast returns should provide:





coherent and detailed explanations which support the reported figures
activity levels for budget variances
highlight potential budget problems
progress on management actions

FR6.6 The Section 151 Officer will submit monthly monitoring reports to DLTs and CLT.
FR6.7 Using a risk based methodology, regular financial monitoring reports shall also be
prepared and submitted, in the agreed format, as follows:


Monthly monitoring information to Cabinet;
Quarterly monitoring information to the appropriate Scrutiny Committees.

FINANCIAL REGULATION 7 - VIREMENT
FR7.1 Budget approval gives Budget Managers the right to incur expenditure on behalf of the
Council. Budget Managers may vire between budget headings within the constraints outlined
in the Financial Regulations, Budget Holder Handbook and with the appropriate approvals.
Virements should not be used to adjust for under / overspends on various headings but only
where a definite decision has been taken to change approved spending plans.
FR7.2 Virement thresholds:
Virement type
Technical e.g. incorrect coding, capital
transfers, redistributing funding
Administrative i.e. already approved by
Cabinet

Approval required
Relevant Finance Officer
Within a service – Head of Service
Within a directorate – Executive Director
Across directorates – Section 151 Officer
8

Page 246

Without existing Cabinet approval

Under £500,000 (full year effect – gross
expenditure) – Section 151 Officer
Over £500,000 (full year effect – gross
expenditure) within or across portfolios –
formal approval by Cabinet after informal
communication with the relevant Cabinet
Member and the Leader.

In line with key decision threshold

FR8 – FEES AND CHARGES
FR8.1 The Section 151 Officer shall issue guidance to all Directorates on the levels of increase
in fees and charges for services to ensure that as far as possible a common approach to
charges and revisions of charges is adopted across the Council.
FR8.2 Senior Officers and Budget Managers must review and update fees and charges
annually with a view to ensuring that chargeable discretionary services are not subsidised
without a specific supporting policy decision. The individual fees and charges will be approved
annually before the start of the new financial year.
FR8.3 In determining charges for discretionary services, the cost of providing the service
should be calculated and fees charged to the service user in order to recover all direct and
indirect costs incurred by the Council in the delivery of the service and in compliance with
relevant legislation. The cost of chargeable officer time should be used as calculated by
corporate finance. The service value to the users and charges made by neighbouring
authorities and income targets should be taken into consideration. Senior Officers should
liaise with the appropriate finance officer in relation to the proposals. Finance officers must
wherever possible prevent an unintended subsidy of discretionary services through the
under-recovery of indirect and/or ancillary costs incurred in the delivery of discretionary
services.
FR8.4 As part of the annual review of fees and charges, Senior Officers shall also examine the
possibility of introducing charges for services where no charges are currently made. This will
be undertaken in consultation with Legal Services. When there is a change of policy that could
require public consultation, this should be reported to Cabinet. Any substantive change in
policy in the application of fees and charges, or in the level of subsidy, will require Cabinet
approval. Cabinet must agree proposals to start charging for or trading in goods or services
not previously subject to charging or trading with third parties.
FR8.5 Some fees and charges may not be fixed, but based on full or part cost recovery, subject
to a supporting policy decision regarding subsidy (FR8.2).
FR8.6 Where charges are assessed according to ability to pay, Senior Officers may make
arrangements for the charges to be reduced in accordance with an assessment methodology
approved by Cabinet.

9

Page 247

9

9

FINANCIAL REGULATION 9 - CARRY FORWARD OF UNSPENT BUDGETS
FR9.1 The carry forward of unspent provisions in the Revenue Budget from one financial year
to the next is not permitted except with explicit approval of the Section 151 Officer, in
consultation with the Leader of the Council, or other designated Cabinet Member for Finance.
FR9.2 The Section 151 Officer shall, as soon as is practicable, supply a detailed list of the items
and amounts approved to Senior Officers and Budget Managers. The Section 151 Officer will
report specific items to members within the overall outturn report.
FR9.3 Year end balances will be transferred to and from reserves by the Section 151 Officer,
in line with the Council’s Reserves Policy, and with the approval of Cabinet.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 10 – RESERVES
FR10.1 Reserves will be set by the Council each year as part of the budget setting process.
The Section 151 Officer will advise the Cabinet and Council on the prudent level of reserves
and balances, taking into account prevailing and anticipated levels of risk and uncertainty.
FR10.2 The Section 151 Officer shall be authorised to draw upon Reserves for the following
items, subject to provision remaining available:


any items of expenditure or income which have been specifically approved by
Cabinet since the setting of the Revenue Budget; and
any claim for items known at the time reserves were set.

FINANCIAL REGULATION 11 - AUTHORITY TO INCUR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
FR11.1 The Council’s approach to capital investment is set out in the Capital and Investment
Strategy. New schemes and projects will usually only be added to the Capital Programme as
part of the annual budget setting process, changes and additions may be made subject to
assessment by formal member approval via the Capital Programme Panel. New capital
schemes and projects as well as rolling maintenance programmes will be assessed and
scrutinised in two stages prior to being included in the Capital Programme:



The Capital Programme Panel, comprising a small team of Executive Directors and
senior officers nominated by Executive Directors, and
The Asset Strategy Board, comprising Cabinet Members, the Executive Director of
Economy, Growth & Commercial and the Executive Director of Finance.

FR11.2 All proposed schemes are based on a robust business case and subject to appropriate
internal or external due diligence. In particular they must ensure:



Capital Programme proposals are consistent with the Council’s Corporate Strategy,
Capital and Investment Strategy, Asset and Place Strategy and Directorate Strategies;
Each capital scheme or project is assessed for both financial and service risk;
10

Page 248




The proposed timetable for the programme is realistic;
All associated revenue implications are fully covered in the current and future years

FR11.3 Only those schemes and projects that meet the strategic priorities and have been
approved by members and assessed via the two stages outlined above, will be incorporated
in the Capital Programme.
FR11.4 Contracts for capital works will be awarded in accordance with the rules set out in
Procurement Standing Orders.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 12 - MONITORING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME
FR12.1 Once a capital scheme or project has been approved in the Council’s Capital
Programme, each Budget Manager shall be responsible for monitoring expenditure, and for
providing information in accordance with arrangements set out in the Budget Holder
Handbook – Capital to enable regular reports to be submitted to DLTs, CLT, Scrutiny and
overview Committees and to Cabinet.
FR12.2 If necessary, and following consultation with the Section 151 Officer, virements may
be made between capital schemes to reflect the value of each accepted tender.
FR12.3 Block items within the Capital Programme comprising a number of schemes (e.g.
Maintenance and Minor Works Programmes) shall be regarded as a single project subject to
the total scheme costs not being exceeded, and satisfying the requirements of any external
funder.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 13 – FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS
FR13.1 The Section 151 Officer shall ensure that all financial transactions of the Council are
accurately reflected in the Council’s accounting records.
FR13.2 All financial systems, accounting policies and accounting records shall be in a form
agreed by the Section 151 Officer. All proposed changes to accounting policies must be
approved by the Section 151 Officer and discussed with the Council’s external auditors before
implementation.
FR13.3 The Section 151 Officer will make appropriate arrangements for and advise members
and officers on all taxation issues that affect the Council.
FR13.4 The Section 151 Officer will sign off the annual Statement of Accounts, once he / she
is satisfied that the statement represents a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Council. The Statement of Accounts will be submitted for approval to the Audit and
Governance Committee.
FR13.5 Senior Officers must sign a Manager’s Assurance Statement each year in a form
prescribed by the Section 151 Officer.
11

Page 249

9

9
FR13.6 Arrangements for the retention or destruction of financial records shall be in
accordance with the Council’s Record Retention Policy. In any event, no document relating
to the financial transactions of the Council or its employees shall be destroyed before the
completion of the External Audit for the year concerned.
FR13.7 Senior Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that there are adequate
arrangements, in respect of financial information held in electronic form, to safeguard
continuity in the event of an emergency and shall comply with the requirements set out in
the Council's Information Technology Strategy.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 14 - DUTY TO CARRY OUT AUDIT
FR14.1 The Section151 Officer shall ensure that the Council maintains an adequate and
effective system of internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of internal control
in accordance with the proper internal audit practices, as laid down in The Accounts and Audit
Regulations. This also extends to external audit, where appropriate, subject to external
partners and external funding requirements. To facilitate independence and objectivity in
reporting, the reporting lines of the Internal Audit function should be unfettered by line
management structures so that direct access to any officer, member or external regulating
authority (e.g. external audit) will be available.
FR14.2 In order to discharge his / her responsibilities under FR14.1 above, the Section151
Officer, Internal Audit and any other authorised staff shall have the right to:
(a) enter any Council premises or land at any reasonable time, without prior notice;
(b) have access at all times to all records and documents (including email and
correspondence) relevant to the business of the council as maintained by the council
or third parties on its behalf including (but not limited to) external contractors and
consultants;
(c) require and receive any information and explanations considered necessary to the
audit;
(d) require any employee or agent of the Council to account for assets under his / her
control.
FR14.3 The Chief Internal Auditor shall report on a regular basis to the Audit and Governance
Committee with a summary of internal audit activity, and shall bring to the attention of the
Chief Executive and the Audit and Governance Committee any significant matters which may
have come to his / her attention in the course of delivering the internal audit function.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 15 - FINANCIAL IRREGULARITIES
FR15.1 All officers are required to inform their Senior Officer on becoming aware of any
irregularity, or suspected irregularity, affecting income, expenditure, cash, stores or any of
the resources of the Council. Senior Officer shall inform the Chief Internal Auditor as soon as
practicable. This requirement also applies to elected members and to agents working on
behalf of the Council where the concern is around Council related matters.
12

Page 250

9
FR15.2 The Chief Internal Auditor shall consider during the course of any investigation or at
its conclusion, as he / she deems appropriate, whether the matter may require investigation
by the Police and /or notification to the External Auditor. Where appropriate he / she shall
seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer and inform the Chief Executive.
FR15.3 At the conclusion of any investigation or earlier if appropriate, the Chief Internal
Auditor shall, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, agree with the Senior Officer
concerned the steps that should be taken to mitigate any loss and prevent a recurrence of it.
The Chief Internal Auditor shall report, if he / she considers it necessary, initially to the Chief
Executive and, following that, to the Audit and Governance Committee, depending on the
circumstances.
FR15.4 All investigations of this type undertaken by Internal Audit will be under the direction
of the Chief Internal Auditor, in consultation with the Section151 Officer and the Head of
Human Resources and Operational Development (HR and OD). Such investigations will be
undertaken in line with the Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy and Framework, which forms
part of the Constitution. The Head of HR and OD will ensure that “whistle blowing” procedures
are defined, documented, widely communicated and reviewed at appropriate intervals, in
consultation with the Section151 Officer, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Internal
Auditor.
FR15.5 The Chief Internal Auditor or his / her delegated authority within Internal Audit acts
as the Council’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO). The MLRO will ensure that
there is an Anti-Money Laundering Policy published on the Council’s external website which
sets out the procedures which must be followed to enable the Council to comply with its legal
obligations. This policy, which is contained in the Counter Fraud Strategy and Framework,
states that the Council will not accept cash payments in excess of £5,000.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 16 - ORDERING PROCEDURES
FR16.1 Senior Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that all orders issued from their
departments for goods, works and services are in accordance with Procurement Standing
Orders.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 17 - CONSULTANTS AND CONTRACTORS
FR17.1 Procurement Standing Orders set out the thresholds for appointing consultants and
contractors. The Leader and the Chief Executive must approve consultant or contractor
appointments where the fee exceeds £50,000 a year (or in proportion where the engagement
is for less than one year) before the contract starts.
FR17.2 All consultant or contractor engagements with an aggregate value of £100,000 or over,
must be subject to competitive tender and review by the Sourcing Governance Board before
approval by the Leader and Chief Executive. The Leader and Chief Executive will not approve
such engagements retrospectively.

13

Page 251

9

FR17.3 Consultants, contractors and agency workers engaged to supervise contracts on
behalf of the Council shall be required to comply with these Financial Regulations as if they
were direct employees of the Council. Such a requirement shall be included in every
agreement for their services. Any reference in these Financial Regulations to a Budget
Manager shall apply to a consultant, contractor or agency worker. Where a report is required,
it shall be made by the consultant, contractor or agency worker to the appropriate Senior
Officer, who shall report to members as required.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 18 – CONTRACTING ARRANGEMENTS
FR18.1 All procurement and purchasing undertaken must adhere to the specified processes
as agreed by the Corporate Leadership Team and follow the requirements of the Procurement
Standing Orders and the Sourcing Governance Board. The Section 151 Officer may authorise
the use of Purchasing Cards for Council staff for the purposes of defraying petty cash and
other minor or urgent expenses. The Budget Holder Handbook sets out the requirements for
the use of Purchasing Cards.
FR18.2 All material assumptions and risks inherent in evaluations of proposed contracts must
be fully disclosed to those members and officers making decisions on the award of the
contract, before the contract award is made.
FR18.3 Long term strategic contracts must include provision to secure continuous
improvement, improved efficiency and value for money. Financial relationships must be
made under the relevant corporate guidance within the Financial Management Toolkit. In
this context, partnerships are deemed to be joint arrangements involving the Council pooling
financial and / or other resources with other bodies in the pursuit of agreed joint objectives.
FR18.4 All partnership arrangements and pooled budgets must be agreed under written
terms appropriate to the extent of the financial risk to the Council and may only be entered
into following appropriate consultation with and approval from the Section 151 Officer and
the Monitoring Officer. Where the Council’s contribution to, or financial risk from such
arrangements, exceeds £100,000, Cabinet’s approval is required. Appropriate approval must
be obtained before entering into any proposed partnership.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 19 - PAYMENT OF SALARIES AND WAGES
FR19.1 The payment of all salaries, wages, pensions, compensation and other emoluments to
employees, former employees or beneficiaries of the Council shall be made in accordance
with arrangements approved by the Chief Executive and the Pay, Personnel and Development
Committee (PPDC).
FR19.2 The Head of HR and OD shall arrange for all relevant payments in respect of sums
deducted from employees' remuneration and any employers' contributions to be made to the
appropriate agency.

14

Page 252

FR19.3 Senior Officers shall notify the Head of HR and OD, or his / her agent, of all matters
affecting payment as soon as possible. Notification will be in the form prescribed by the
Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.
FR19.4 Time records or other pay documents (including those relating to flexible working
hours) shall be in a form prescribed or approved by the Head of HR and OD.
FR19.5 The Head of HR and OD shall ensure that there are proper arrangements to maintain
all necessary human resources records concerning pay, superannuation, statutory sick pay,
national insurance and income tax.
FR19.6 The Head of HR and OD shall have regard to any recommendations made by the
Section 151 Officer in all matters of a financial nature.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 20 - INCOME COLLECTION AND BANKING ARRANGEMENTS
FR20.1 Senior Officers and Budget Managers shall seek the prompt collection of all monies
due to the Council in accordance with arrangements approved by the Section 151 Officer and
as specified in the Income Manual.
FR20.2 Senior Officers and Budget Managers are responsible for dealing with the receipt of
money and other remittances and holding them in secure conditions before they are banked
or otherwise dealt with.
FR20.3 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the Council's overall banking arrangements.
All arrangements for opening bank accounts and for the banking and withdrawal of money
shall be approved by the Section 151 Officer. The Section 151 Officer shall determine the
arrangements for the reconciliation of all Council bank accounts.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 21 – DEBT MANANGEMENT AND BAD DEBT WRITE OFF
FR21.1 The Section 151 Officer has authority to write off irrecoverable debts up to £10,000 in
respect of any one debtor. Write offs should only be authorised once Senior Officers / Budget
Managers have provide assurance that the debt has been subject to the correct process in
accordance with the Council’s Bad Debt / Write Off Policy, and all efforts to recover the debt
have been exhausted.
FR21.2 In addition, the Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, has
authority to write off individual debts of up to £100,000 they consider to be irrecoverable,
where:





the debtor has gone into liquidation;
the debtor is deceased and there are no funds and the debt has been registered as a
liability to the executor;
the evidence against a debtor is inconclusive, and the Monitoring Officer recommends
write-off;
the debtor has absconded and all enquiries have failed; or
15

Page 253

9

9



the debtor is in prison and has no means to pay.

FR21.3 For debts, between £10,000 and £100,000 which are not within the criteria set out in
FR21.2, the relevant Cabinet member, in consultation with the Leader, can approve the write
off of irrecoverable debts in their portfolio, having taken into consideration the advice of the
Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.
FR21.4 For debts in excess of £100,000 for a single debtor, Cabinet approval is required.
FR21.5 The year-end financial outturn report will provide a summary of all irrecoverable debt
written off during the year.
FR21.6 Credit balances, which are over three years old and which cannot be substantiated or
justified, will be released to the relevant fund after closure of accounts of each year, subject
to formal approval by the Section 151 officer.
FR21.6 To the extent that they are not needed at year end, budgeted contributions towards
bad debt will be transferred to reserves. Conversely, any contributions needed beyond the
budgeted level toward bad debt will be met from reserves. Subject to consultation with the
appropriate Senior Officer, the Section 151 Officer will have the authority to:



transfer savings that arise through earlier than planned delivery of expenditure
reductions to reserves
transfer ‘windfall’ savings or increased income to reserves

The overall movement in the provision for bad debt will be reported to Cabinet.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 22 – ASSETS
Land and Property
FR22.1 All acquisitions of land and buildings up to the value £1m require approval from the
relevant Cabinet Member in conjunction with the Leader. This value relates to freehold and
leasehold interest.
FR22.2 All acquisitions of land or buildings valued at £1m or more require Cabinet approval.
FR22.3 All disposals of land or buildings up to the value of £1m require approval from the
relevant Cabinet Member in conjunction with the Leader. This value relates to freehold and
leasehold interest and includes setting a reserve figure for auction sales.
FR22.4 All disposals of land or buildings valued at £1m or more require Cabinet approval. All
disposals should be recorded within an approved register.
FR22.5 All acquisitions and disposals must be referred to the Property Team. The application
of best value considerations may result in disposal of assets at less than market value due to

16

Page 254

wider economic, environmental and social value factors. The approach to valuation should
be agreed in advance, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer.
Assets other than Land and Property
FR22.6 Assets declared surplus to the Council’s requirements should be disposed of at the
most appropriate time, and only when it is in the best interest of the Council, and best value
is obtained. For assets of significant value, disposal should be by competitive tender or public
auction.
FR22.7 Any proceeds from the disposal of assets should be receipted and recorded, even if
the disposal value is nil.
FR22.8 No items can be disposed of to a member of staff without the explicit approval of the
Section 151 Officer.
FR22.9 All acquisitions and disposals valued over £10,000 must be subject to a professional
valuation. The approach to valuation should be agreed in advance, in consultation with the
Section 151 Officer.
FR22.10 Senior Officers are responsible for and shall make arrangements for the safe custody
and care of all assets in his / her department, including exercising proper control over the use
of those assets. Such assets shall include plant, machinery, vehicles, furniture, equipment,
other non-consumable property, stocks and stores and IT equipment.
FR22.11 Senior Officers are responsible for keeping inventory records and the marking of
Council property. The Council's property shall not be removed other than in accordance with
the ordinary course of the Council's business or used otherwise than for the Council's
purposes.
FR22.12 Senior Officers are authorised to adjust their inventory records, relating to items
outlined in FR22.10 where any surplus or deficiency arises up to £2,500 in respect of any one
item, provided appropriate investigations have been carried out to establish the reasons and
prevent a recurrence. Records of such adjustments are subject to Internal Audit inspection.
FR22.13 The Section 151 Officer shall authorise Officers to adjust their inventory records
where any surplus or deficiency arises between £2,500 and £5,000 in respect of any one item
provided the appropriate Officer has investigated and reported the reasons for the
discrepancy.
FR22.14 Adjustments to inventory records in respect of any one item where the amount
exceeds £5,000 shall be referred to Cabinet.
FR22.15 Budget Managers, after consultation with the Section 151 Officer, are authorised to
delete any item from their inventory records where the item has become obsolete and is no
longer adequate for the purpose intended, or the item is broken or worn.

17

Page 255

9

9

FINANCIAL REGULATION 23 - STOCKS AND STORES
FR23.1 Lead Officers and Budget Managers are responsible for the receipt, issue and checking
of the stocks and stores in their departments and for maintaining appropriate stock levels.
FR23.2 The extent to which items shall be included in records, and the form of record-keeping,
shall be determined by the appropriate Senior Officer in consultation with the Section 151
Officer.
FR23.3 Senior Officers, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, are authorised to adjust
stock balances up to £10,000 in respect of any one item provided appropriate investigations
have been carried out to establish the reasons and prevent a recurrence. All other write offs
require Cabinet approval.
FR23.4 The year-end financial outturn report to Cabinet will set out all stock write offs granted
in the year.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 24 – ESTATES
FR24.1 The Senior Officer for Property shall update the Council’s Asset Management Plan as
necessary and maintain a land terrier recording details of all land and properties held by the
Council. A land terrier is a record system for an organisation's land and property holdings. It
differs from a land registry in that it is maintained for the organisation's own needs and may
not be publicly accessible. It consists of written records related to a map.
FR24.2 The Monitoring Officer shall have custody under secure arrangements of all the title
deeds in the possession of the Council.
FR24.3 The Senior Officer for Property shall be responsible for land and property under his /
her control, and for obtaining the best economic return possible consistent with Council
policy and legal requirements. He / she shall ensure that all rents etc. are regularly reviewed.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 25 - RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE
FR25.1 The Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy outline the arrangements in
place to ensure the Council identifies and deals with the key risks it faces. The Section 151
Officer is responsible for ensuring that a risk management process is maintained across the
Council and may specify risk management activity to be undertaken by other officers. The
Risk Management Framework complements the statement and strategy and ensures a
consistent approach to risk management across the organisation by detailing the Council’s
approach to risk identification, assessment, control and reporting.
FR25.2 The Council’s approach to risk management is a continuous and evolving process that
runs through the Council’s strategies and service delivery. It ensures key risks are managed
and resilience is strengthened in order to support the delivery of the Council’s priorities.

18

Page 256

FR25.3 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising Cabinet on insurance arrangements.
The Section 151 Officer shall be responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Council's
insurances, through the Orbis Centre of Expertise, and negotiating all policies and claims in
consultation with the relevant Senior Officers and Budget Managers.
FR25.4 Senior Officers, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer, shall be responsible for
the effective management of all insurable risks.
FR25.5 Senior Officers shall consult the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer
concerning the terms of any indemnity which the Council may be requested to give.
FR25.6 All Officers shall give prompt notification to the Section 151 Officer of all new risks,
properties or vehicles which require to be insured in accordance with arrangements
determined by him / her.
FR25.7 Any person who makes use of his / her own vehicle for Council business shall comply
with the appropriate County Council policies with regards to car users and any instructions
relating to this policy issued by the Head of HR & OD.
FR25.8 Senior Officers shall make arrangements for maintaining proper security at all times
for all assets under his / her control and safe and proper arrangements for the custody of keys
to safes and similar receptacles.
FR25.9 Senior Officers shall immediately notify the Section 151 Officer of any loss, liability,
damage or other similar event likely to lead to a claim. Where appropriate, the Section 151
Officer shall inform the Monitoring Officer and the Police. Such notification shall be confirmed
promptly in writing.
FINANCIAL REGULATION 26 - TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND THE PENSION FUND
FR26.1 All money held by the Council (except the Pension Fund) shall be aggregated for the
purposes of treasury management and shall be under the control of the Section 151 Officer,
subject to the constraints of delegated powers given to schools. He / she shall seek expert
advice on these matters when considered appropriate.
FR26.2 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the Council's Treasury Management
activities in accordance with CIPFA's Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local
Authorities and the Prudential Code. He / she shall propose to Cabinet and to Council a
Treasury Management Policy Statement, Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy
Statement and Investment Strategy.
FR26.3 The Section 151 Officer, through the Orbis Centre of Expertise, will ensure that the
provisions of the strategic and operational requirements in FR26.2 are implemented,
legislative requirements are complied with and regular monitoring of all Treasury
Management activity is undertaken.

19

Page 257

9

9

FR26.4 The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of
the Treasury Management Strategy and treasury management activity throughout the year.
The Section 151 Officer will submit a mid-year review and an annual outturn report on
Treasury Management to the Audit and Governance Committee.
FR26.5 The Section 151 Officer has delegated authority to take urgent action as required
between Pension Fund Committee meetings, but such action can only be taken in
consultation with and by agreement with the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Pension Fund
Committee and following consultation with any relevant Consultant or Independent Advisor.
FR26.6 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that monitoring reports on the Pension Fund’s
investment performance and activities, and any other business, are considered by the Pension
Fund Committee at least quarterly.
FR26.7 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that a report on the triennial actuarial valuation of
the Pension Fund is taken to the Pension Fund Committee.
FR26.8 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that a report on the annual accounts and
associated external audit of the pension fund is taken to the Audit and Governance
Committee and the Pension Fund Committee.
FR26.9 The Council, as corporate trustee for a limited number of Trust Funds through its
members and officers, will ensure that the Council administers them in accordance with its
legal responsibilities as trustee, distinct and separate from its functions as a local authority
and also in compliance with:



the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
any relevant Charity Commission guidance

to ensure provisions are appropriately implemented.

20

Page 258

Item 10
10

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
DATE:

27 NOVEMBER 2018

REPORT OF:

MR DAVID HODGE, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND
LEIGH WHITEHOUSE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

LEAD
OFFICER:

CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SUBJECT:

FINANCE AND BUDGET MONITORING REPORT TO
30 SEPTEMBER 2018

COMMUNITY
VISION
OUTCOME:

COUNCIL

SUMMARY OF ISSUE:
This report presents the Council’s financial position for 2018/19 as at 30 September
2018 for both revenue and capital budgets. It also includes quarter end positions for
the balance sheet, reserves, debt and treasury management.
The 2018/19 budget set by the Council in February relied on significant use of one off
resources, including drawing £21m from reserves. By 30 June 2018, the Special
Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND) high needs pressure had increased
materially. This and the uncertainties the Council faces from 2019/20 onwards means
further use of reserves is not sustainable. Therefore, the Council initiated a £40m in
year cost reduction programme that has two objectives:
 achieve sufficient in year cost reductions to prevent unplanned use of reserves to
off-set overspent budgets; and
 avoid the need to draw down any of the planned £21m contribution from reserves
in 2018/19.
As at 30 September 2018, the Council has completed £24m management actions of
the £40m target to bring the forecast revenue outturn to a -£4m underspend against
the original budget. This means:
 the Council has met its first objective of achieving sufficient in year cost reductions
to balance the overspends arising in year; and
 the Council has made some progress with its stretch target and now forecasts to
draw down a reduced amount of £17m from reserves at year end, rather than
£21m as planned in the original budget.
The most significant changes to the forecast outturn from that reported last month
are due to continuing progress in achieving in year cost reductions.

Page 259

10

In future months, Executive Directors and Cabinet Members will progress further
towards completing the £40m in year cost reduction programme. This will enhance
financial resilience as the Council will have to draw less money from its reserves than
it planned to in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).
This report, provides a high level financial summary of the most significant issues, as
determined by Executive Directors and Cabinet Members and has four annexes:





Annex 1 – a high level analysis of each directorate’s budget monitoring positions;
Annex 2 – progress of the £66m MTFP savings projects for 2018/19;
Annex 3 – activity information for the Council’s highest risk budgets; and
Annex 4 – progress of the £40m in year budget reductions projects for 2018/19.

Cabinet is asked to note the forecast revenue and capital monitoring positions.
 The forecast revenue outturn is for -£4m underspend.
 The Council has completed actions to achieve £24m of its £40m in year cost
reductions.
 The Council forecasts to achieve a total of £63m savings against its £66m MTFP
target.
 The forecast service capital programme outturn is £132m against the £133m
budget.
Cabinet is also asked to note and approve some technical changes to the revenue
and capital budgets.
RECOMMENDATIONS:
1.

Cabinet is asked to note the Council’s overall revenue and capital budget
positions as at 30 September 2018.

2.

Cabinet is asked to note the changes to the structure of the Children,
Families & Learning directorate (paragraphs 4 to 6).

3.

Cabinet is asked to approve the addition of Farnham Road rail bridge to
the capital programme (paragraph 67).

4.

Cabinet is asked to approve £1.8m capital virements to transfer funds to
Local Enterprise Partnerships budgets (paragraph 68).

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS:
This report is presented to comply with the agreed policy of providing a monthly
budget monitoring report to Cabinet for approval and action as necessary.

2

Page 260

10

DETAILS:
Revenue budget overview
1.

The Council forecasts a -£4m revenue budget underspend as at 30 September
2018. This reduces the Council’s need to draw from reserves in 2018/19 from
£21m to £17m.

2.

Table 1 shows the Council’s main service groups’: gross and net expenditure
budgets, forecast outturn position and forecast variance. Paragraph 3
summarises the main reasons for the variance and the remainder of the report
provides more detail.

Table 1

Summary forecast 2018/19 revenue budget as at 30 September 2018
Gross
budget
£m
326.9
312.6
42.0
116.7
6.6
12.4
817.2

Net
budget
£m
0.0
70.8
39.5
102.7
5.5
11.2
229.7

Net
forecast
£m
0.0
84.6
40.4
101.5
5.9
11.4
243.8

Forecast
variance
£m
0.0
13.8
0.9
-1.2
0.4
0.2
14.1

500.6
37.3
538.0

381.9
0.7
382.6

376.9
0.6
377.5

-5.0
-0.1
-5.1

40.8

30.4

27.3

-3.1

Highways & Transport
Environment
Surrey Fire & Rescue Service
Communities
Highways, Transport & Environment (HTE)

81.0
73.5
45.4
5.1
205.0

68.2
69.2
31.5
3.0
171.9

66.4
69.4
31.2
2.7
169.6

-1.8
0.2
-0.3
-0.4
-2.3

Customer & Performance
Orbis HR&OD, IT&D and JOB
Coroner
Customer, Digital & Transformation (CDT)

7.4
52.4
2.4
62.1

7.0
51.8
1.7
60.5

6.4
48.5
1.9
56.9

-0.5
-3.2
0.2
-3.6

4.3

2.6

2.6

0.0

54.0

49.8

40.4

-9.4

1,721.4

927.6

918.2

-9.4

General funding

-906.3

-901.0

5.3

Use of reserves

21.3

17.2

-4.1

Directorate
Delegated Schools
Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
Safeguarding & Family Resilience
Corporate Parenting
Quality Assurance
Commissioning
Children, Families, learning & Communities
(CFLC)
Adult Social Care
Public Health
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care (HWA)
Economy, Growth & Commercial (EGC)

Finance (Fin)
Central Income & Expenditure (CIE)
Total services’ net revenue expenditure

Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference
* Orbis manages budgets on behalf of other directorates. Orbis activities are spread among directorates
as follows: Property, Procurement and Business Operations within EGC, Finance within Fin, Human
Resources & Organisational Development (HR&OD), Information Technology & Digital (IT&D) and the
Orbis Joint Operating Budget (JOB) within CDT.

Page 261

3

10

3.

The most significant changes to the forecast outturn from that reported last
month continue to be due to management actions to reduce spending and
achieve the targets arising from revised budget envelopes.

Revenue budget monitoring headlines
Children, Families, Learning & Communities Directorate
4.

The Children, Families, Learning & Communities directorate (CFLC) has made
transformative changes since last month to restructure its services to focus on:
delegated schools, education, lifelong learning & culture, safeguarding & family
resilience, corporate parenting, quality & performance and commissioning.

5.

In addition, CFLC’s total budget and budget envelope have increased by £0.5m
for the transfer of Voluntary Sector Support from Democratic Services.
However the changes to the services making up the whole directorate mean
the forecast financial positions between 31 August 2018 and 30 September
2018 do not have straightforward comparisons.

6.

The overall forecast financial position for CFLC as at 30 September 2018 is
+£14.1m overspend, compared to +£15.3m as at 31 August 2018. This
improvement is mainly within: Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture from
changes in Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) transport,
contract negotiations, application of grants and management actions to achieve
in year cost reductions in Cultural Services, partly offset by deteriorations in
countywide Special Educational Needs (SEN) services; and in Corporate
Parenting from fewer external residential placements.

Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
+£13.8m overspend (a decrease of £0.9m since August)
-£0.6m management actions remaining
7.

Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture (ELLC) forecasts -£0.9m improvement
compared to last month. This is made up of the following changes.
 As part of CFLC’s restructuring, Cultural Services is incorporated into the
figures for the first time this year, and has an underspend of -£0.6m which is
-0.1m short of the budget envelope. Work is ongoing to realise the full cost
reductions.
 -£0.7m saving on Schools & SEND as a result of contract negotiations and a
decision to use a grant to fund part of the contract, rather than using it for
new commitments, which would then help to cover the SEND transport
overspend.
 SEND transport is projecting to spend £29.8m, which is +£1.1m forecast
overspend. The movement is largely due to virements of -£0.7m from the
Schools & SEND budget and -£1.6m from the Countywide SEN budget
partly offset by +£0.6m from a review that highlighted it was unlikely ELLC
would achieve its savings as originally envisaged. ELLC still projects to

4

Page 262

10

make -£0.6m savings from plans it is developing with the Transport
Co-ordination Centre.
 Countywide SEN now shows an overspend of +£0.7m which is a change of
+£1.6m since last month as a result of the virement to SEND transport.
 Agency projections have increased this month by £1.3m but this is offset by
further management action identified in the cost containment plan.
8.

There continues to be an exceptional demand for services for children with
SEN, with the number of Education Health and Social Care Plans (EHCPs)
increasing. At 30 September 2018 there were 8,625 EHCPs which is a rise of
915 (11.87%) since the SEN2 statutory return to the Department for Education
in January.

9.

At the start of the financial year the pressure on the SEND service was
estimated at £30m and a cost containment plan was developed to achieve
reductions of £15m, of which £8.7m have been achieved, £1.1m face potential
barriers and £5.2m are high risk. This leaves an overall forecast overspend of
£15m. There is a degree of uncertainty over the cost of new school placements
started in September and college placements will not be known for some
months as the Council has to rely on schools and colleges for information and
last academic year this took until January.

10.

This residual forecast £15m overspend remains a significant concern and risk
for the Council. As part of the SEND sustainability transformation work the
service is looking urgently at how it can minimise the impact on the Council’s
reserves and services in future years.

11.

External placements at 30 September 2018 were 1,240 and the volume is
projected to be over 1,300 by the end of the financial year. The total cost is
forecast at +£18.1m more than the current budget. ELLC’s cost containment
plan is intended to bring this and other adverse variances down by -£5.4m by
the end of the year. Under the cost containment plan ELLC will: seek
alternative in house provision, health costs are appropriately funded by health
partners, and negotiate with providers.

12.

Commercial Services continues to project an additional contribution to
overheads of -£1m.

13.

Schools planning and leadership is projecting a +£0.5m pressure for two
sponsored academy conversions that are likely to have deficits. The actual
figures will only be known once the schools convert to academies.

14.

Cultural Services forecasts -£0.6m underspend. The main reasons for the
change is management action to achieve in year cost reductions and extra
income.

Page 263

5

10

Safeguarding & Family Resilience Service
+£0.8m forecast overspend
-£0.6m management actions remaining
15.

Safeguarding & Family Resilience continues to experience exceptional demand
for its services resulting in a +£0.8m pressure across the service. In addition to
this the service has to make -£0.6m additional in year cost reductions.

16.

Increased demand from children requiring support and a high level of
vacancies has led to a continued need for additional social work capacity and
locums. Within the east of the county there are 50.5 FTE locums across
frontline teams, including 8.4 posts above establishment. Each locum social
worker costs on average £11,000 a year more than an employed social worker
and a senior social worker locum costs on average £7,000 pa year more than
those employed. In addition there are 34 FTE locums within the Multi-Agency
Safeguarding Hub (MASH), with 12.2 posts above establishment.

17.

These staffing pressures are partially being offset by a -£0.6m underspend
within Early Help which largely relates to staff vacancies.

Corporate Parenting Service
-£1.2m forecast underspend
-£1.1m management actions remaining
18.

Corporate Parenting (CP) continues to experience exceptional demand for its
services. However some of these pressures are being offset by cost reductions
elsewhere. CP is underspending by -£1.2m and is partly achieving its -£2.3m in
year budget reductions.

19.

Increased demand from children requiring support has led to a continued need
for additional social work capacity. Within the west of the county there are 24.5
FTE locums and the service is 26.8 posts over establishment, each locum
social worker costs on average costs on average £11,000 a year more than an
employed social worker.

20.

The external placement budget was increased by £11m for 2018/19 due to
increasing demand. As at 30 September 2018 there were 85 external
residential placements and 239 external fostering placements out of a total of
877 looked after children (excludes Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
(UASC)). The number of external residential placements is less than planned at
this stage in the financial year (92 placements). However, this underspend is
being partially offset by the number of external fostering placements being
higher than planned (237 placements) and by a number of very high cost
supported accommodation placements.

21.

In addition the number of family residential placements is higher than budgeted,
creating a +£0.3m pressure. This is being offset by the underspend on
residential placements. Plans are being put in place to manage the demand for

6

Page 264

10

high cost external placements in order to contribute towards the in-year
additional budget reduction requirement.
22.

As in previous years, the Council is having to subsidise services for UASC, as
the grant funding received from the Home Office is insufficient to cover the total
cost. In 2018/19 the budget was increased for this level of subsidy, which totals
£4.5m, within a total cost of £8.9m. The Council still awaits the revised funding
arrangements from the Home Office, which is likely to alter the level of subsidy.
As at 30 September 2018 the service was supporting 107 UASC.

23.

The budget for the leaving care service was increased by £2m for 2018/19 to
allow for the forecast rise in demand and the increased level of need.

Quality & Performance Services
£0.4m forecast overspend
24.

Quality & Performance’s overspend relates to the CP chairs team and looked
after children (LAC) review team, both of which have had to employ agency
staff above establishment to cover these teams’ core statutory work.

Commissioning Services
£0.2m forecast overspend
-£0.4m management actions remaining
25.

Commissioning Services’ +£0.2m overspend mainly relates to staff required to
support historic enquiries. The project originally planned for two months has
now been extended to January 2019. This is partly offset by vacancies in the
service which have increased this month and will not be filled this year.

Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care
Adult Social Care
-£5.0m forecast underspend (-£1.3m improvement since 31 August 2018)
-£5.0m management actions remaining
26.

Adult Social Care (ASC) projects -£5.0m underspend as at 30 September
2018. This is a -£1.3m improvement from last month mainly due to -£1.1m
delivery of management actions to achieve in year cost reductions.

27.

As part of the Council’s strategy to ensure it has a financially sustainable
budget, ASC has a target to reduce spending by -£10.7m to meet its revised inyear budget envelope as part of the council’s £40m reduction in spending in
2018/19. ASC has to take remaining management action to reduce in year
spending by a further -£5.0m comprising -£1.5m cost reductions by managing
down care package budgets and -£3.5m cost reductions by avoiding the
increased costs of care.

28.

As set out in Table 2, if all management actions are completed successfully,
the latest forecast against this plan is -£10.6m underspend. However, projected

Page 265

7

10

underachievement against the service’s original savings plans of +£0.4m, plus
+£1.0m bad debts less -£0.8m other budget variances reduces the overall
September forecast revised outturn to -£10.0m underspend. This represents a
+£0.7m forecast shortfall against ASC’s revised budget envelope.
Table 2

Summary of ASC forecast outturn variance as at 30 September 2018

Description of budget variance
Additional planned actions through managing care package
budgets to deliver underspends and reduce demand at the
front door
Mitigation of budgeted increased costs of care
Forecast surplus on assessed fees & charges income
Underspend on staffing budgets outside of savings plans
Additional in-year underspends

Plan to meet
ASC budget
envelope
£m
-2.6

Latest
forecast
£m
-1.9

-5.0

-5.0

0.0

-1.0

-1.4

-0.4

-2.1

-2.3

-0.2

-10.7

-10.6

0.1

0.0

+0.4

0.4

0.0

+0.2

0.0

-10.7

-10.0

0.7

Underachievement against ASC’s original MTFP savings plans
(£18.0m forecast vs £18.4m target)
Bad debts and other budget variances
Total forecast budget variance

Plan
variance
£m
0.7

Public Health
-£0.1m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
29.

Public Health (PH) forecasts to underspend by -£0.1m in 2018/19. The majority
of PH savings are believed to be achievable within the agreed timescales.
However, £0.6m sexual health MTFP savings are now no longer deemed
achievable. In order to meet its 2018/19 savings target, PH is implementing
various one off measures to achieve the saving from elsewhere in its budget.
However, these compensating cost reductions are not sustainable and add a
pressure in sexual health in future years. PH is actively looking for a
sustainable replacement saving for 2019/20 onwards and is monitoring it
closely to ensure there is no bottom line impact.

Economy, Growth & Commercial Directorate
Economic Growth
Balanced forecast outturn (-£0.1m improvement since 31 August 2018)
30.

8

Economic Growth forecasts a balanced outturn position. This is due to
£300,000 commitments against the Surrey Growth Fund, offset by -£257,000
budget reductions in the Economy Team and -£71,000 agreed carry forward
draw down.

Page 266

10

Property budgets managed by Orbis
-£3.0m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
-£1.8m management actions remaining
31.

Property Services forecasts -£3.0m underspend. This is due to management
action taken to achieve in year cost reductions, including -£2.0m from reducing
buildings maintenance and -£0.6m from spending less on evaluating new
schemes. The -£1.8m management actions remaining includes -£1.0m budget
reductions which are judged to be high risk and -£0.6m from utilities, which will
depend on the winter weather.

Legal Services
+£0.2m forecast overspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
-£0.5m management actions remaining
32.

Legal Services forecasts a +£0.2m overspend mainly because of the high cost
of childcare cases (which may increase due to their high volume) offset by cost
reductions in staffing and suppliers and services. Legal Services needs -£0.5m
management actions to bring its spending in line with its budget target.

Democratic Services
-£0.3m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
-£0.1m management actions remaining
33.

Democratic Services has taken management action to achieve its in year cost
reductions and forecasts -£0.3m underspend.

Highways, Transport & Environment Directorate
Highways & Transport
-£1.8m forecast underspend (+£0.1m deterioration since 31 August 2018)
-£0.0m management actions remaining
34.

Highways & Transport forecasts -£1.8m underspend as at 30 September 2018
and -£0.5m remaining management actions from -£2.0m needed to meet the
new reduced budget envelope for the service.

35.

Highways & Transport has achieved -£1.7m of its additional in-year cost
reductions from use of Strategic Transport grants, parking income and other
reported underspends. Management actions remain for cost reductions from
developer receipts and local committee schemes.

36.

Planned highways works are currently under way and generally forecast to
spend to budget.

Page 267

9

10

Environment
+£0.2m forecast outturn (-£0.1m improvement since 31 August 2018)
-£0.5m management actions remaining
37.

Environment forecasts a +£0.2m overspend as at 30 September 2018 and
-£0.5m management actions remaining to meet the new reduced budget
envelope for the service, including use of developer income.

38.

Waste currently forecasts a balanced outturn. Construction of the Eco Park,
while progressing, is delayed. This will lead to lower cost this year, by around
£13.5m and increased costs in future years, which Council will manage through
the Waste Sinking Fund. The forecast outturn therefore assumes reduced costs
in 2018/19 will result in a sinking fund contribution to meet the costs when they
arise in future years. Cabinet approval will be sought for the sinking fund
contribution, once the final amount is known.

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service
-£0.3m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
£0.1m management actions remaining
39.

Surrey Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS) forecasts a -£0.3m underspend,
mainly due to a -£0.5m staff pay and pensions underspend (includes provision
for an assumed 2% Firefighter pay award from July 2018), partly offset by
+£0.2m income shortfall. SFRS is actively investigating mitigating actions to
cover this shortfall.

Trading Standards
-£0.1m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
40.

Trading standards forecasts a -£0.1m underspend. Mainly caused by staff
vacancies, partly offset by a related shortfall in income.

Community Support
-£0.2m forecast underspend (+£0.1m deterioration since 31 August 2018)
41.

Community Support forecasts an underspend of over -£0.2m due to the
previous year’s staffing review and further staff cost reductions identified in the
current year.

Emergency management
-£0.1m forecast underspend (-£0.1m improvement since 31 August 2018)
42.

10

Emergency management forecasts a small underspend (-£74,000) due to
higher than expected income from Local Resilience Forum activities.

Page 268

10

Customer, Digital & Transformation Directorate
Strategic Leadership
+£0.1m forecast overspend (+£0.1m deterioration since 31 August 2018)
43.

Strategic Leadership forecasts a small overspend. This anticipates a budget
transfer for changes in the senior leadership structure.

Communications
-£0.2m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
no management actions remaining
44.

Communications forecasts a -£0.2m underspend. This is due to holding staff
vacancies and reduced communications expenditure.

Strategy & Performance
-£0.3m forecast underspend (-£0.1m improvement since 31 August 2018)
-£0.0m management actions remaining
45.

Strategy & Performance forecasts a -£0.3m underspend. This is mainly due to
staffing reductions and holding vacancies.

Customer Services
-£0.2m forecast underspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
£0.0m management actions remaining
46.

Customer Services forecasts a -£0.2m underspend. This is mainly due to
holding staff vacancies and ceasing to use bank staff.

Human Resources & Organisational Development (HR&OD), Information Technology
& Digital Services managed by Orbis and Orbis Joint Operating Budget (JOB)
-£3.3m forecast underspend (-£1.3m improvement since 31 August 2018)
-£0.5m management actions remaining
47.

HR&OD, IT&D and Orbis JOB forecasts a -£3.3m underspend, a -£1.3m
improvement since last month. The change is mainly due to -£0.8m in year cost
reductions identified by HR&OD, -£0.3m IT&D improvement from staffing and
additional data centre income and -£0.2m reduction in contribution to Orbis
expenditure.

Corporate Support Services – Coroner
+£0.2m forecast overspend (no change since 31 August 2018)
-£0.1m management actions remaining
48.

The Coroner forecasts +£0.2m overspend, due to pressures arising from high
cost inquests. The Coroner requires -£0.3m management actions to bring
expenditure in line with the revised budget envelope.

Page 269

11

10

Finance Directorate
Finance budgets managed by Orbis
Balanced forecast (no change since 31 August 2018)
-£0.4m management actions remaining
49.

Finance forecasts a balanced year end position.

Central Income & Expenditure (including General Funding)
-£4.1m forecast underspend (-£0.2m improvement since 31 August 2018)
-£3.4m management actions remaining
50.

Central Income & Expenditure (CIE) forecasts a -£4.1m underspend overall.
This comprises -£9.4m service expenditure variances and +£5.3m General
Funding variances.

51.

The main service expenditure variances are from management actions related
to: -£2.2m budgeted contributions to reserves no longer considered necessary,
given the Council’s financial context; -£4.3m balances identified in a balance
sheet review, which are no longer needed for their original purpose and can be
applied to fund current year expenditure; -£3.3m lower Minimum Revenue
Provision (MRP) due to 2017/18 capital programme spending being less than
budgeted; and -£0.9m more investment strategy income than budgeted; partly
offset by +£1.7m shadow savings considered unachievable against Public
Health and Dedicated Schools grants. As reported in May 2018, the main
General Funding variance is +£5.3m shortfall in the budgeted use of capital
receipts to fund service transformation work.

52.

CIE has -£3.4m management actions remaining, related to efficiencies across
non-front line services and a moratorium to discretionary spending.

Revenue savings and cost reductions
53.

To ensure a considered, strategic and corporate approach to financial
management and reporting, Corporate Leadership Team: tracks and monitors
delivery of MTFP savings and additional in year cost reductions; and will
develop plans for alternative savings as required.

MTFP savings
54.

The Council’s 2018/19 revenue budget includes £66m net ongoing MTFP
savings. As at 30 September 2018, directorates forecast to deliver £63m
against this target, this shortfall, due to conclusion that some planned savings
are not achievable, masks some overachievement in other areas. The details of
this are shown in Annex 2 and are reflected in the forecast year end position
where relevant.

55.

Figure 1 shows the risk ratings for the MTFP savings as at 30 September 2018.
Directorates assess the achievability risks for the £66.0m planned MTFP
savings, based on their achievement to date and the forecast profile for

12

Page 270

achieving the remaining savings over the year. Within the overall savings
profile: £53.5m are achieved or on track, £4.0m face potential barriers and
£5.8m have a high risk of not being achieved. In addition a net £2.7m planned
savings are forecast to underachieve against their targets.
Figure 1
£70m

Risk ratings for MTFP savings as at 30 September 2018
£66.0m

£1.0m
£60m

£13.3m

£63.3m
£5.8m
£4.0m

Red - High risk
of not being
achieved

£50m
£16.5m
£40m

£26.8m

White - Net over
target
Black - Net
under target

£30m
In year
£20m

£37.0m
£25.8m

£10m

£0m

Plan

56.

Sep 2018

Of the £5.8m savings projects at high risk, £5.2m relates to Schools & SEND’s
cost containment plan, including: £1.4m from targeted local provision, £1.3m
from renegotiating costs with suppliers, £1.0m from a review of multi-agency
placements, £0.7m from a review of the cost base and inflationary increases
and £0.5m from a review of health contributions to placements. The remaining
£0.6m relates to home to school transport. Annex 2 provides more details of
performance against individual plans for the gross MTFP savings. Work to
ensure that these savings are delivered continues to be a focus.

Revised Budget Envelopes
57.

To improve the Council’s financial resilience, Cabinet approved revised budget
envelopes for all services in September, which required a reduction in spending
of £40m in 2018/19.

58.

Figure 2 shows the risk ratings for the management actions to achieve the
£40m cost reductions as at 30 September 2018 compared to the plan. The
actions rated blue or green total £23.9m and are included in the forecast
outturn position. The actions rated amber or red total £17.7m and still require
management actions, so are not included in the forecast outturn position. Some
of the actions rated blue and green are forecast to overachieve against their
targets and no management action has a forecast of less than its target. This

Page 271

13

10

10

accounts for the difference between the total for all of the actions and the £40m
overall budget reduction target. Annex 4 provides more details.
Figure 2

Risk ratings for achievement of the £40m in year cost reductions

£45m
£40m
£13.2m

£35m

Plan

£30m
£25m
£20m

£39.8m

£4.6m

Blue - Achieved

£8.6m

Green - Plans in
place

£15m
£10m
£15.3m
£5m

Amber Potential
barriers

£0m
Plan

59.

Sep 2018

Of the areas requiring further management actions, the most significant risks
relate to the following areas.
 £3.4m actions in CIE (paragraph 52).
 £1.8m in Property (EGC) as outlined in paragraph 31.
 £1.5m actions in ASC to manage care package budgets. This area had a
target of £2.7m, of which ASC has achieved £0.4m, leaving it £0.8m under
target.
 £1.5m in CFLC from £0.6m staffing reductions in Corporate Parenting &
Family Resilience, plus £0.9m from greater control on spending, especially
placements, contracts and grants.
 £1.1m in CDT from £0.5m underachievement of various IT&D reductions
(against the £1.8m target) and £0.6m underachievement against the £1.6m
target for the reduced contribution to Orbis. These are largely due to the
time available in 2018/19 to achievement them.
 £0.8m actions in Corporate Parenting (CFLC) from maintaining external
placement numbers at current levels. This area has a £1.2m target and the
remaining £0.4m is achieved or on track. As placement decisions have a
dependency on the cases arising over the course of the year an element will
continue to be at risk.

14

Page 272

10

Service transformation
60.

Local authority funding remains uncertain, especially around the future of the
Business Rates Retention Scheme, the Fair Funding Review, negative
Revenue Support Grant and the prospects anticipated in the deferred Green
Paper on adult social care. The Chancellor of the Exchequer’s Autumn Budget
of 29 October 2018 announced some new funding for local government in
2019/20. However, the amounts the Council might receive are not yet know,
nor whether the new money will have equivalent spending obligations attached.
In addition, the Chancellor gave no indications of local government funding for
years after 2019/20. As such, the Council does not yet forecast any significant
new or additional government funding to meet the continuing and rising
pressures it faces over the medium term.

61.

Faced with these uncertainties and pressures, Cabinet is developing a
programme of transformational changes to ensure the Council has sustainable
services for residents. This transformation was set out in the County Council
report of 22 May 2018, “Developing a Vision for Surrey in 2030”. The benefits
of the transformation programme will start to flow from 2019/20, with further
benefits in 2020/21.

62.

At its Budget and Council Tax meeting on 6 February 2018, Council approved a
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy. This enables the Council to use
capital receipts to fund the revenue costs of service reform projects. At its
meeting on 22 May 2018, Council approved up to £5.0m for interim capacity
and project management support for the Transformation Programme. The
current spend relating to this is £1.2m and the full £5.0m is currently expected
to be required this financial year.

63.

Outline Business Cases for the transformation savings were presented for
agreement in principle to Cabinet at its meeting on 30 October 2018. These,
and the more detailed Full Business Cases for savings, will link to a more
robust budget setting process for 2019/20 and the next five year MTFP. The
Provisional Finance Strategy and preliminary balanced budget for 2019/20,
without the use of reserves were presented to the County Council in November
2018 (subject to any changes resulting from the Local Government Finance
Settlement expected in December). This is three months in advance of
previous years.

Capital programme overview
64.

The Council set its three year MTFP capital programme at £322m, including
£144m in 2018/19. This major investment in Surrey’s infrastructure and
economy focuses on the growth in pupil numbers and the importance residents
place on good roads and services.

Capital programme budget monitoring headlines
65.

In September 2018, Cabinet approved revisions to the capital programme
budget to ensure it aligns with the Council’s long term strategy and priorities.

Page 273

15

10

Last month, Cabinet agreed to reprofile £1.8m from IT & Digital spending into
future years. These revisions result in a 2018/19 service capital programme
budget of £133.0m. Table 3 shows directorates forecast spending £131.9m
against this budget, a -£1.1m variance. Significant variances include -£0.5m in
Property Services due to asbestos issues causing delays in replacing modular
buildings.
66.

As part of increasing its overall financial resilience the Council forecasts making
£44m net investment in long term income generating capital assets in 2018/19
(paragraphs 69 to 72). This brings total forecast capital spending in 2018/19, to
£177m.

Table 3

2018/19 capital programme budget variances as at 30 September 2018
Current full
year budget
£m
27.1
30.8
57.5
1.8
4.5
11.3

Apr -Sep
actual
£m
16.4
14.1
21.6
0.5
0.5
1.3

Oct - Mar
Forecast
£m
10.8
16.1
35.9
1.3
3.7
9.6

Full year
forecast
£m
27.1
30.3
57.5
1.8
4.2
11.0

Full year
variance
£m
0.0
-0.6
0.0
0.1
-0.3
-0.4

Service capital programme
Long term investments

133.0
0.0

54.4
20.2

77.5
24.2

131.9
44.4

-1.1
44.4

Overall capital programme

133.0

74.6

101.7

176.3

43.2

Schools basic need
Property Services
Highways & Transport
Environment
IT & Digital
Other capital projects

Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Capital programme adjustments
67.

In October 2017 Cabinet confirmed its support to the Farnham Road bridge
project, giving approval to enter into a formal agreement with Network Rail and
confirm the Council’s financial contribution to the scheme, and for a funding
mechanism to be identified. Scheme costs have now been agreed at £6.7m
including a risk allowance, and Surrey’s contribution is £3.6m (compared to an
estimate of £3.5m in 2017) plus project management costs. Opportunities for
additional grant funding are being explored, including from the Department for
Transport. However in the absence of additional grant funding the Council’s
contribution will be met from the Highways & Transport bridge strengthening
capital budget, over a number of years. This would be facilitated by either
reprofiling existing budgets (bringing forward future years’ budgets) or through
a loan from Enterprise M3 LEP, which would allow costs to be repaid from the
bridge strengthening budget over a number of years. Highways & Transport
requests to add this scheme to the capital programme across 2018/19 and
2019/20.

68.

Highways & Transport requests approval for a £1.1m capital virement to the
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) budget, resourced by £0.6m from
Highways Maintenance, in respect of match funding for Epsom Plan E, and
£0.5m from Network Resilience to match fund drainage works on the
Runnymede Roundabout. Highways & Transport also requests approval for a

16

Page 274

10

£0.74m capital virement to the A24 LEP budget from the Major Maintenance
budget.
Investment Strategy
69.

Income of -£6.5m is forecast to be delivered from investment assets this
financial year, of which £5.6m will be from acquisitions made by the Council’s
property company, Halsey Garton Property group (HGP). This income is
comprised of a dividend of -£2.0m and -£3.6m net interest margin on loans
provided to the company by the Council. This -£0.2m increase from last
month’s forecast captures the expected tax benefit from a recent review of
capital allowances.

70.

The net income from investments held directly by the Council is forecast at
-£0.9m, and in total investments will therefore provide -£6.5m income this year.
Offsetting this is spend of £1.6m, which is the revenue cost, in funding terms, of
development activity underway or acquisitions pending development and is
predominantly focused on the former Thales site in Crawley. The Phase 1
office building has completed and is now substantially let to SECAmb and
another tenant with a part floor remaining which is being marketed. The second
phase building becomes operational in 2019. Once these two phases are
completed and fully let, the development will generate an estimated -£1.3m net
income each year.

71.

The net income of -£4.9m is -£0.9m in excess of the income budget of -£4.0m
held within Central Income & Expenditure. The current investment portfolio plus
future commitments such as the Brightwells Farnham scheme and other
development activities are forecast to deliver a net income of -£8.3m in
2019/20.

72.

Forecast capital expenditure in 2018/19 is £44.4m and includes further equity
and loans to HGP for approved investments, the completion of development in
Crawley and Farnham town centre. The capital outturn for the year is reported
net of an estimated -£6.8m in third party contributions.

Table 4

Investment strategy revenue and capital position as at 30 September
2018
YTD
actual
£m
-2.3

Full year
forecast
£m
-6.5

1.0

1.6

Total net income

-1.3

-4.9

Capital expenditure

20.2

44.4

Revenue statement
Income from investments
Less expenditure on developments

Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Page 275

17

10

Balance sheet
73.

Table 5 shows the Council’s balance sheet as at 30 September 2018.
Significant movements since 31 March 2018 include: £13m increase in long
term assets due to £9m increase in Property, plant & equipment net of
depreciation and academy transfers; £10m increase in current assets,
principally due to cash from grants received at the start of the financial year,
less reduction in short term debtors; £45m decrease in current liabilities due to
decreases in short term borrowing as part of the treasury management strategy
and as a result of cash at 31 March 2018 being the low point of the year;
increases in social care creditors; and application of Schools Basic Need Grant
for 2018/19 being received in advance as at 31 March 2018.

Table 5

18

Balance sheet as at 30 September 2018

31 Mar 2017
£m

31 Mar 2018
£m

30 Sep 2018
£m

1,752.3
1.0
54.1
7.0
46.7
124.5
1,985.7

1,723.1
1.0
74.8
7.9
72.1
184.6
2,063.4

0.0
0.8
10.9
1.4
144.7
56.1
213.9

0.0
0.6
10.1
1.0
136.8
51.2
199.7

0.0
-140.7
-190.8
-4.3
-0.1

0.0
-212.7
-207.7
-3.1
-0.1

Cash & cash equivalents
Short term borrowing
Creditors
Provisions
Revenue grants receipts in advance

0.0
-180.2
-216.3
-2.2
0.0

-9.2
-13.3
-358.3

-19.8
-17.9
-461.3

Capital grants receipts in advance
Other short term liabilities
CURRENT LIABILITIES

0.0
-17.9
-416.7

-25.2
-397.8
-1,696.2
0.0
-2,119.1

-18.7
-397.8
-1,709.5
0.0
-2,126.1

-277.9

-324.2

NET ASSETS

-256.2

-341.1

-330.1

Usable reserves

-449.2

619.0

654.3

277.9

324.2

Property, plant & equipment
Heritage assets
Investment property
Intangible assets
Long Term Investments
Long Term Debtors
LONG TERM ASSETS
Short term investments
Intangible assets
Assets held for sale
Inventories
Short term debtors
Cash & cash equivalents
CURRENT ASSETS

Provisions
Long term borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Donated assets account
LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Unusable reserves

1,732.4
1.0
74.8
7.3
73.2
188.1
2,076.8
0.0
0.6
10.1
0.6
93.7
104.9
209.9

-19.2
-397.8
-1,709.1
0.0
-2,126.2

705.5
256.2

Page 276

10

Earmarked reserves
74.

As outlined above, the Council initiated a £40m in year cost reduction
programme with the aim to eliminate the need to use reserves to balance
2018/19. Table 6 shows the Council’s earmarked reserves and general
balances as at 30 September 2018, including:





the closing balances for 2017/18,
the opening balances for 2018/19
actual and forecast movements in 2018/19
current closing balance at 31 March 2019 based on movements to date and
forecast movements in the rest of 2018/19; and
 closing balance based on the 2018/19 forecast outturn, which anticipates
returning £4.1m to the Budget Equalisation Reserve.
Table 6:

Earmarked revenue reserves as at 30 September 2018

Closing
balance
31 Mar 18
£m
11.1
Revolving Infrastructure & Investment Fund
Budget Equalisation Reserve

22.6

Projected
outturn
Planned
Actual
Forecast Current
closing
support Approved Opening movements movements
closing
c/fwds balance
for
up to
to balance balance
2018/19 2018/19 1 Apr 18 30 Sep 18 31 Mar 19 31 Mar 19 31 Mar 19
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
11.1
11.1
11.1
-4.6

-1.3

16.7

0.1

16.7

20.8

13.5

20.2

20.2

9.1

9.1

-0.1

4.9

4.9

-0.1

4.8

4.8

-0.6

3.1

3.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

1.8

1.8

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

71.7

75.8

21.3

21.3

Eco Park Sinking Fund

6.7

6.7

Insurance Reserve

9.1

9.1

Investment Renewals Reserve

5.0

5.0

General Capital Reserve

4.8

4.8

Street lighting PFI Reserve

3.7

Economic Downturn Reserve

9.2

-9.2

0.0

Economic Prosperity Reserve

2.5

-2.5

0.0

Equipment Replacement Reserve

2.3

Business Rate Appeals Reserve

3.6

-3.6

Interest Rate Reserve

1.0

-1.0

Total earmarked revenue reserves

81.6

-20.9

General Fund Balance

21.3

-0.1

0.1

3.7

2.3

-1.3

59.4
21.3

0.4

0.4

-0.9

11.9

Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Debt
75.

During the second quarter of 2018/19, the Accounts Payable team raised
invoices totalling £179.6m. The amount outstanding on these invoices was
£45.7m of gross debt as at 30 September 2018. Table 7 shows the age profile
of the Council’s debts. The overdue debt is the gross debt less those balances
not immediately due (i.e. less than 30 days old).

Page 277

19

10

Table 7:

Age profile of the council’s debts as at 30 September 2018

Account group
Care debt – unsecured
Care debt – secured
Total care debt
Schools, colleges and nurseries
Clinical commissioning groups
Other local authorities
General debt
Total non-care debt

<1
month
£m
5.7
0.4
6.1

1-12
months
£m
4.4
3.0
7.5

1-2
years
£m
2.4
2.0
4.5

+2
years
£m
4.3
3.9
8.2

Gross
debt
£m
16.8
9.3
26.2

Overdue
debt
£m
11.1
8.9
20.1

1.1
6.5
0.6
4.2
12.5

0.8
2.6
1.2
1.5
6.1

0.0
0.2
0.0
0.3
0.6

0.0
0.1
0.0
0.2
0.3

1.9
9.4
1.9
6.3
19.5

0.8
2.9
1.3
2.1
7.1

45.7

27.1

Total debt
18.6
13.6
5.1
8.5
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

76.

Adjusting the gross debt to take into account those balances not immediately
due (i.e. less than 30 days old) or collectable (i.e. secured on property)
produces the overdue debt figures shown in Table 8.

77.

Changes introduced under the Care Act 2014 mean it is no longer possible to
place a charge on an individual’s property resulting in a rise in the level of
unsecured debt (as this debt would previously have been reported as secured).
Over the quarter to 30 September 2018 overdue, unsecured debt rose by
£1.1m.

Table 8:

Overdue, unsecured debt summary as at 30 September 2018

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16
Q2
Q1
Q4
Q4
Q4
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Care related debt
11.1
11.3
9.9
8.9
10.8
Non care related debt
7.1
5.8
5.1
3.8
7.6
Total
18.2
17.1
15.0
12.7
18.4
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

78.

The Council’s debt policy includes a target of 30 days to collect non-care debt.
The average number of non-care debtor days for the period 1 April 2018 to
30 September 2018 was 23 days.

79.

The Director of Finance has delegated authority to write off irrecoverable debts
in line with financial regulations. This quarter (Q2 2018/19) the Director of
Finance has written off 124 such debts of £487,819 total value, of which
£466,198 is care related and £21,621 is non care related debt.

Treasury management
Borrowing
80.

20

The Council borrows money to finance the amount of its capital spending that
exceeds receipts from grants, third party contributions, capital receipts and
reserves. The Council must demonstrate its costs of borrowing are affordable,
prudent and sustainable under the Prudential Code. Table 9 shows movements
in the Council’s long term borrowing.

Page 278

Table 9:

10

Long term borrowing as at 30 September 2018

Debt outstanding as at 1 April 2018
Loans raised
Loans repaid
Current balance as at 31 March 2019
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

£m
397.2
0.0
0.0
397.2

81.

The weighted average interest rate of the Council’s long term debt portfolio is
4.1% as at 30 September 2018.

82.

The Treasury Strategy, approved by County Council in February 2018,
continued the policy of internal borrowing and where necessary, to borrow short
term to meet cash flow liquidity requirements. Table 10 shows the Council’s
short term borrowing activity in 2018/19.

Table 10: Short term borrowing as at 30 September 2018
Debt outstanding as at 31 March 2018
Loans raised
Loans repaid
Current balance as at 30 June 2018
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference
Figures are for Surrey County Council only and do not include Surrey Police Authority

83.

£m
193
385
-408
170

The weighted average interest rate of the Council’s short term external debt is
0.94% for the six months to 30 September 2018. The Council also manages
cash on behalf of Surrey Police (£29.6m as at 30 September 2018) which it
classifies as temporary borrowing.

Authorised limit and operational boundary
84.

The prudential indicators control the Council’s overall level of borrowing. They
comprise the authorised limit and the operational boundary as outlined below.
Table 11 shows the Council’s borrowing against its prudential indicators.
 The authorised limit represents the limit beyond which borrowing is
prohibited. The limit reflects the level of borrowing which, while not
desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable. It is
the expected maximum borrowing needed with headroom for unexpected
cash flow. This is a statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the
Local Government Act 2003.
 The operational boundary is based on the probable external debt during
the course of the year; it is not a limit and actual borrowing could vary
around this boundary for short times during the year. It acts as an
indicator to ensure the authorised limit is not breached.

Page 279

21

10

Table 11

Borrowing against the CFR during the six months to 30 September 2018
Authorised limit
£m

Operational boundary
£m

Gross borrowing
626
Limit / boundary
1,643
Headroom
1,017
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

626
1,059
433

Capital Financing Requirement
85.

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s underlying
need to borrow for a capital purpose. The Council must ensure that, in any one
year, net external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed its
estimated CFR for the next three years. Table 12 shows the Council’s position
against the estimated CFR, as reported to the County Council in February
2018. As at 30 September 2018, the Council shows a net borrowing position
(total borrowing for any purpose) of £561m (£597m total borrowing, less £36m
cash deposits). The difference between net borrowing and the estimated CFR
reflects the Council’s under borrowed position as a result of the strategy to
maximise internal borrowing.

Table 12: The Council’s position against the estimated CFR
Capital Financing Requirement
Net borrowing
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
£1,231m
£1,249m
£1,263m
£516m
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Maturity profile
86.

The Council sets limits for the maturity structure of borrowing in accordance
with the Prudential Code. Table 13 shows the actual amounts as at
30 September 2018, excluding balances invested on behalf of Surrey Police.

Table 13: Maturity profile of the Council’s borrowing as at 30 September 2018
Upper limit
Lower limit
Repayable in 1 year*
50%
0%
Repayable in 1-2 years
50%
0%
Repayable in 2-5 years
50%
0%
Repayable in 5-10 years
75%
0%
Repayable in 10-50 years
100%
25%
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Actual
33.4%
0%
1.6%
0%
65%

Early debt repayment and rescheduling
87.

The Council has not made early repayments or rescheduled debt in 2018/19.

Investments
88.

22

The Council has had an average daily level of investments of £39.7m so far
during 2018/19 and had an average of £68.7m during 2017/18. This reflects the
change in policy in the treasury strategy to reduce the amount of cash held
during the year by borrowing over shorter periods.

Page 280

89.

The Council invests its temporary cash surplus exclusively through the use of
money market funds. Other investment facilities are available, including five
brokers, directly with counterparties through the use of call accounts or direct
deal facilities, or with the Debt Management Office (DMO). No new fixed term
deposits have been agreed during 2018/19 due to the low cash balances held
and the need to maintain high liquidity. Table 14 shows activity for the financial
year to 30 September 2018.

Table 14: Deposit activity for the year up to 30 September 2018
Average value
£m
0
0
0
Individual limit
Instant access
Number
£m
Active call accounts
0
20.0
Active money market funds
5
25.0
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference
Timed deposits
Deals using a broker
Direct deal facilities
Deals with DMO

90.

Number
0
0
0

Total limit
£m
20.0
125.0

The weighted average return on all investments the Council received in the six
months to 30 September 2018 is 0.40%. This compares to the 0.44% average
7-day London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) for the same period as shown in
Table App11.

Table 15: Weighted average return on investments compared to 7-day LIBID
Average
Weighted return
7-day LIBID
on investments
2018/19 quarter 2
0.51%
0.58%
2018/19 quarter1
0.36%
0.21%
2017/18 total
0.21%
0.22%
2016/17 total
0.20%
0.38%
Note: All numbers have been rounded - which may cause a casting difference.

Risk based approach
91.

The Council operates a risk based approach to budget monitoring across all
services. The approach ensures the Council focuses on monitoring those
higher risk budgets due to their value, volatility or reputational impact.

92.

Managers with high risk budgets monitor their budgets monthly, managers with
low risk budgets monitor their budgets quarterly (or more frequently on an
exception basis, if the year to date budget and actual spend vary by more than
10%, or £50,000, whichever is lower).

CONSULTATION:
93.

All Cabinet Members will have consulted their relevant director or head of
service on the financial positions of their portfolios.

Page 281

23

10

10

RISK MANAGEMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
94.

Risk implications are stated throughout the report and each relevant director or
head of service has updated their strategic and or service risk registers
accordingly. In addition, the leadership risk register continues to reflect the
increasing uncertainty of future funding likely to be allocated to the Council and
the sustainability of the MTFP. In the light of the increased and significant
financial risks faced by the Council, the Leadership Risk Register will be
reviewed to increase confidence in directorate plans to mitigate the risks and
issues.

FINANCIAL AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS
95.

The report considers financial and value for money implications throughout and
future budget monitoring reports will continue this focus.

SECTION 151 OFFICER COMMENTARY
96.

The Section 151 Officer confirms the financial information presented in this
report is consistent with the Council’s general accounting ledger and that
forecasts have been based on reasonable assumptions, taking into account all
material, financial and business issues and risks.

97.

The Council has a duty to ensure its expenditure does not exceed resources
available. During 2018/19, the Council plans to deliver £66m MTFP spending
reductions and a reduce spending by a further £40m as it moves towards a
sustainable budget for future years. All services must continue to take all
appropriate action to keep costs down and optimise income (e.g. through
minimising spending, managing vacancies wherever possible). Adverse
variances will require remedial in-year efficiencies and budget reductions.

98.

It is drawn to Members’ attention that the Council’s reserves are already at low
levels bearing in mind the ongoing uncertainty about: future funding, demand
pressures, savings and the transformation programme. For these reasons and
to increase the Council’s financial resilience, the Council needs to achieve all of
its £66m MTFP savings and all of the £40m in year cost reductions Cabinet has
approved. Unless the Council achieves these savings and cost reductions in
2018/19, it risks depleting reserves to unacceptable levels.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS – MONITORING OFFICER
99. The Council is under a duty to set a balanced and sustainable budget. The
Local Government Finance Act requires the Council to take steps to ensure
that the Council’s expenditure (that is expenditure incurred already in year and
anticipated to be incurred) does not exceed the resources available whilst
continuing to meet its statutory duties.
100. Cabinet should be aware that if the Section 151 Officer, at any time, is not
satisfied that appropriate strategies and controls are in place to manage
expenditure within the in-year budget they must formally draw this to the
attention of the Cabinet and Council and they must take immediate steps to
24

Page 282

10

ensure a balanced in-year budget, whilst complying with its statutory and
common law duties.
EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY
101. Any impacts of the budget monitoring actions will be evaluated by the individual
services as they implement the management actions necessary In
implementing individual management actions, the Council must comply with the
Public Sector Equality Duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 which
requires it to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under
the Act; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and foster good
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.
102. Services will continue to monitor the impact of these actions and will take
appropriate action to mitigate additional negative impacts that may emerge as
part of this ongoing analysis.
OTHER IMPLICATIONS:
103. The potential implications for the following Council priorities and policy areas
have been considered. Where the impact is potentially significant a summary of
the issues is set out in detail below.
Area assessed:

Direct implications:

Corporate Parenting / Looked After
Children

No significant implications arising from
this report.

Safeguarding responsibilities for
vulnerable children and adults

No significant implications arising from
this report.

Public Health

No significant implications arising from
this report.

Climate change

No significant implications arising from
this report.

Carbon emissions

No significant implications arising from
this report.

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT:
104. The relevant adjustments from the recommendations will be made to the
Council’s accounts.
Contact Officer:
Leigh Whitehouse, Interim Executive Director of Finance
020 8541 7246

Page 283

25

10
Consulted:
Cabinet, executive directors, heads of service.
Annexes:
Annex 1 – Overall and directorate revenue budget financial position.
Annex 2 – MTFP savings projects 2018/19
Annex 3 – Activity information for the Council’s highest risk budgets.
Annex 4 – In year cost reduction programme 2018/19
Sources/background papers:
Revenue and capital budget movements.

26

Page 284

Annex 1

10

Forecast revenue budget as at 30 September 2018
(excluding £17.7m management actions remaining to achieve in year savings)

Service
Delegated Schools
Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
Safeguarding & Family Resilience
Corporate Parenting
Quality Assurance
Commissioning
Children, Families, Learning & Communities
Adult Social Care
Public Health
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care
Economic Growth
Property
Procurement
Business Operations
Legal Services
Democratic Services
Economy, Growth & Commercial
Highways & Transport
Environment
Surrey Fire & Rescue Service
Trading Standards
Communities Support function
Emergency Management
Highways, Transport & Environment
Strategic Leadership
Communications
Strategy & Performance
Customer Services
Human Resources & Organisational
Development
Information Technology & Digital
Joint Operating Budget ORBIS
Coroner
Customer, Digital & Transformation
Finance
Central Income & Expenditure
Total services’ net revenue expenditure

Full year
gross budget
£m
326.9
312.6
42.0
116.7
6.6
12.4
817.2

Full year
net budget
£m
0.0
70.8
39.5
102.7
5.5
11.2
229.7

YTD
actual
£m
-4.4
37.9
20.6
49.2
2.9
5.6
111.8

Full year
position
£m
0.0
84.6
40.4
101.5
5.9
11.4
243.8

Full year
variance
£m
0.0
13.8
0.9
-1.2
0.4
0.2
14.1

500.6
37.3
538.0

381.9
0.7
382.6

176.7
0.0
176.7

376.9
0.6
377.5

-5.0
-0.1
-5.1

1.0
31.2
0.0
-0.1
4.3
4.5
40.8

1.0
21.8
0.0
-0.1
3.9
3.9
30.4

0.3
8.0
0.0
-0.1
2.1
1.8
12.1

1.0
18.8
0.0
-0.1
4.1
3.5
27.3

0.0
-3.0
0.0
0.0
0.2
-0.3
-3.1

81.0
73.5
45.4
3.9
0.7
0.5
205.0

68.2
69.2
31.5
1.8
0.7
0.5
171.9

29.8
29.0
15.7
0.9
0.2
0.2
75.7

66.4
69.4
31.2
1.7
0.5
0.4
169.6

-1.8
0.2
-0.3
-0.1
-0.2
-0.1
-2.3

0.8
1.7
1.4
3.4
3.8

0.8
1.7
1.2
3.3
3.8

0.4
0.8
0.5
1.5
1.1

0.9
1.5
0.9
3.1
3.0

0.1
-0.2
-0.3
-0.2
-0.8

12.9
35.7
2.4
62.1

12.4
35.6
1.7
60.5

5.1
17.1
1.2
27.7

10.9
34.6
1.9
56.9

-1.5
-0.9
0.2
-3.6

4.3

2.6

1.3

2.6

0.0

54.0

49.8

23.5

40.4

-9.4

1,721.4

927.6

428.9

918.2

-9.4

-15.0
-58.7
-832.6
-906.3

0.0
-23.0
-419.2
-442.2

-9.7
-58.8
-832.6
-901.0

5.3
0.0
0.0
5.3

21.3

-13.3

17.2

-4.1

General funding sources
Capital receipts
General Government grants
Local taxation (council tax & business rates)
Total general funding
Total movement in reserves

Note: All numbers have been rounded - which might cause a casting difference

Page 285

This page is intentionally left blank

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018

10

This annex shows directorates’ performance against their individual savings projects on a gross basis. In some
cases, non-delivery of prior year savings has resulted in a negative adjustment in the current year. In the
other cases, there are partnership arrangements where the savings are inclusive of the all partners and
requires a negative adjustment to remove the other partner's contributions.
Therefore the Council’s overall £66m savings target includes -£6m negative adjustments and £72m total
gross savings projects.

Gross Distribution of MTFP savings schemes
£250k to £1m =
£27.0m

Less than £250k =
59

Number of schemes

Contribution to savings target £4.5m

Over £1m =
£18.0m

Over £1m =
£52.3m

£250k to £1m =
£14.9m

Gross Directorate Savings Targets and Forecasts
£17.4m

£1.7m £1.5m

CFLC

£5.8m
Target = £26.5m

£13.6m

£4.6m

HWA

Under Target by
£0.1m

£1.9m

Target = £20.6m

Under Target by
£0.3m

£3.2m £0.8m£0.8m

H TE

Target = £5.7m

Under Target by
£0.9m

£0.6m

FIN= £0.7m Under Target by
Target
£0.1m
£4.7m

CDT

Target = £5.6m

Under Target by
£0.2m

£0.8m

CIE

£9.2m Target = £12.7m

£2.4m

£0m

£5m

£10m

Under Target by
£1.2m

£15m

Page 287

£20m

£25m

£30m

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018
CFLC - Children, Families and Learning

Schools and
SEND

CFLC - Schools and SEND - Cost Containment Plan

Overachievement £0.4m

£1.1m

£8.7m

£5.2m

Cost Containment Plan

Target = £14.6m

£0m

£4m

£8m

£12m

£16m

Family
Resilience

CFLC - Projects between £1m and £4m
£0.5m £0.2m

£2.6m
Early Help reconfiguration

Target = £3.3m
£2.4m

Schools and SEND

Productivity Efficiencies

Target = £2.4m
£2.0m

Adjustment to grant funding

Target = £2.0m
£0.6m

Home to School Transport - SEND

Under Target
by £0.6m
Target
= £1.2m
£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

Schools and
SEND

CFLC - Projects between £250k and £1m
£789k
Managing Market Inflation

Target = £789k

Family Resilience

£280k

£280k

Managing market inflation

Target = £559k
£140k

£140k

Target = £280k

Support Services Review
£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

CFLC - Projects under £250,000
£112k

Commissioning

£112k

Schools
and SEND

10

Managing market inflation

Target = £224k
£187k

Early Help contract savings

Target = £187k
£50k

Support Functions Reductions

Target = £25k
£75k
£0k

£50k

£100k

Page 288

£150k

£200k

£250k

CLFC - Communities

10

CLFC - Communities - Projects under £250,000
£250k
Surrey Arts

Target = £250k
£220k

Libraries - Reclassification

Target = £220k
£180k

Libraries - Redesign service delivery

Target = £180k

£100k
Libraries - Reduction to resources budget

Target = £100k

Cultural Services

£85k
Heritage restructure

Target = £85k

£46k
Libraries - Team Staffing reductions

Target = £46k

£25k
Registration - Increased income

Target = £25k

Surrey Arts - Additional music income

£25k Target = £25k

£23k

Adult & Community Learning - Improved
marketing

Target = £23k

£5k
Other savings

Target = £5k

£0k

£50k

Page 289

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

10

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018
HWA - Adult Social Care (ASC)
HWA - ASC - Projects between £1m and £4m
Overachievement £0.2m
Target = £3.4m

£3.7m

Housing Related Support decommissioning / retendering of
social exclusion services
£1.8m

Ensure correct application of National Continuing Health Care
framework

£0.4m£0.4m
Target = £2.5m

£0.1m
£0.8m £0.1m
Under Target by
Target = £1.8m
£0.8m

Section 256 client group savings

£0.4m
£1.1m
Target = £1.5m

Family, Friends and Community support - core

£2.3m
Target = £1.5m

Optimisation of Transition pathways

Overachievement £0.8m

£1.3m
£0.2m
Target = £1.5m

Resolution of significant outstanding Continuing Health Care
disputes / assessments
£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

HWA - ASC - Projects between £250k and £1m
£1,000k
Demand Management

Target = £1,000k

£249k

£751k
Family, Friends and Community support - stretch
£158k

£302k

Personalised strategic shift from residential care to community
based provision for people with disabilities

Target = £1,000k
Under Target by
£540k
Target = £1,000k

£822k

Strategic review of Older People In-house services

Target = £822k

Contracts and Grants Review

£506k
Target = £500k

Workforce synergies

£500k
Target = £500k

Surrey Choices efficiency programme

£300k
Target = £300k

Closure of Surrey Information Hubs

£334k
Target = £291k

Optimisation of other contract & grant rates

£288k
Target = £288k
£0k

Overachievement
£6k

Overachievement
£43k

£250k

£500k

HWA - ASC - Projects under £250,000

£250k

Commissioning for Older People with learning disabilities

£750k

£1,000k

Target = £250k

Under Target by £250k
Transport care packages review

Target = £250k
£0k

£50k

Page 290

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

10

HWA - Public Health
HWA - Public Health - Projects between £1m and £4m
£1.0m
Substance misuse integrated service

£0.3m

Target = £1.3m

£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

HWA - Public Health - Projects between £250k and £1m
Contract Management
Target = £0k

Overachievement
£626k

£626k

Phasing of integrated sexual health
service contract and out of area…

Target = £626k
£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

HWA -Public Health - Projects under £250,000
£196k
Savings in non pay

Target = £196k
£8k

Healthy life style services

Target = £11k
£11k

Mental health

Target = £11k
£35k

£74k
Additional
savings
Target
= £0k

Overachievement
£109k

£12k
Service Transformation

Target = £23k
£12k
£0k

£50k

£100k

Page 291

£150k

£200k

£250k

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018
HT & E - Highways, Transport & Environment
HT & E - Projects between £250k and £1m

Place
Place
Developme
Developme
nt and
nt and
Surrey Fire
Waste
Surrey Fire Surrey Fire
Waste
Manageme and Rescue
and Rescue and Rescue Manageme
nt
Service Highways and Transport Service
Service
nt

10

£41k
Countryside review

Target = £350k
£174k

£135k
Fire pension reduced employer contribution rates

Target = £400k
£200k

£200k

Middle management and further savings.

Target = £500k
£500k

Reactive maintenance - Lines

Target = £500k
£250k

£250k

Reactive maintenance - Grass

Target = £700k
£700k

Response cover configuration

Target = £800k
£400k

Under Target by £400k

Waste - Single waste approach
£200k
£0k

Page 292

Target = £1,000k
Under Target by £450k

£350k
£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

10

Place
Develop
Communi
ment and
ties Highways Waste
Support
and Managem Trading
Function Transport ent Standards

Surrey
Fire and
Rescue
Service

Place
Place
Place
Place
Communi Develop
Develop Develop
Develop Communi
ty
ment and
ment and ment and
ment and
ty
Partnersh Waste
Waste
Waste Highways Waste Partnersh
ip & Managem Trading ManagemManagem and Managem ip &
Safety
ent Standards
ent
ent Transport ent
Safety

HT & E - Projects under £250,000
£236k
Community Improvement Fund

Target = £236k
£213k

Savings to be identified

Target = £213k
£178k

Savings to be identified

Target = £178k
£75k

£75k

Planning and Development review

Target = £150k
£75k

£75k

Waste - Materials Management

Target = £150k
£67k

£66k
Additional income generation

Target = £133k
£100k

E&I Support functions

Target = £100k
£92k

Restructure

Target = £92k
£30k

£31k
Target = £61k

Mobilising restructure

£22k £22k
Further savings (marginal gains)

Target = £44k
£41k

Place & Sustainability Review

Target = £41k
£40k

Highways Information team income

Target = £40k
£3k

Support Function Review

Target = £3k
£0k

£50k

Page 293

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018
CIE & FIN - Central Income & Expenditure, Finance, Legal & Coronial
CIE - Minimum Revenue Provision
£6.8m
Minimum Revenue Provision

Target = £6.8m

£0m

£4m

£8m

CIE - Projects between £1m and £4m
£1.6m

£1.6m

Investment Income

Target = £3.2m
£0.8m

£0.8m

Treasury Management (Interest Payable)

Target = £1.6m

Public Health (Other Initiatives)

Under Target by
-£1.2m

Target = £1.2m
£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

Democrati
c Services

FIN - Projects between £250k and £1m
Members Allowances

Target = £300k
£300k
£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

FIN - Projects under £250,000
£122k
Democratic Services

Staff savings

Target = £122k
£22k

Modern Councillor Review

Target = £22k
£22k

VCFS reduction

Target = £22k

Legal
Services

£142k
Rationalisation of posts

Coroner

10

Service efficiencies

Target = £142k

Under Target by
£56k

Target = £56k
£0k

£50k

£100k

Page 294

£150k

£200k

£250k

2018/19 MTFP Savings Tracker as at 30 September 2018

10

CDT - Business Services and Orbis (BS &O)

Orbis Partnership Joint
Operating Budget

CDT - BS&O - Projects between £1m and £4m
£1.6m
Information Technology & Digital

Target = £1.6m

£1.1m
Finance

Target = £1.1m

£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

Orbis Partnership Joint
Operating Budget

CDT - BS&O - Projects between £250k and £1m
£750k
Property

Target = £901k

£774k
Human Resources & Organisational Development

Target = £774k

£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

Orbis Partnership Joint
Operating Budget

CDT - BS&O - Projects under £250,000
Business Operations

£197k

Procurement

Target = £197k

Target
£56k= £56k
£200k

Budgets Managed by the Orbis Partnership

Building running costs

Target = £200k
£160k

Contribution to furniture reserve

Target = £160k
£76k

Orbis Business Plan

Target = £76k
£30k
Target = £30k

Audit Fee
£30k
Infrastructure

Target = £30k
£0k

£50k

£100k

Page 295

£150k

£200k

£250k

CDT - Customers and Transformation Services (CTS)

Strategy &
Performance

CTS - Projects over £250,000
£140k
Target = £140k

Service restructure/priorisation

£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

Communciations Customer Services Communciations

CTS - Projects under £250,000
£140k
Restructuring and external spend

Target = £140k

£105k
Stop appointment bookings (redirecting online)

Target = £105k

£61k
Further savings (incl Marginal Gains)

Target = £61k

£25k
Channel Shift

Customer Services

10

Target = £25k

£25k
Reduction in management team costs

Target = £25k

£10k
Reduce Web and Digital

Target = £10k

£0k

£50k

Page 296

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

Annex 3
Annex 3 - Activity information for the Council’s highest risk budgets
Annex 3 provides some additional information about the Council’s most high risk or volatile budgets.
Annex 3 covers the following budgets:
Children, Families, Learning & Culture

Corporate Parenting

Children, Families, Learning & Culture

Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture

Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care

Highways, Transport & Environment

Waste Management and reduction

Page 297
10

10
Annex 3
Children, Families, Learning & Communities
Revenue +£14.1m overspend (£15m due to SEND high needs block). £3.2m completed of £6.1m management action to achieve in year savings
Financial position as at 30 September 2018

Service
Delegated Schools
Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
Safeguarding & Family Resilience
Corporate Parenting
Quality Assurance
Commissioning
Total

Page 298

Care services volumes

Gross Income
£m
£m
326.9
-326.9
312.6
-241.8
42.0
-2.5
116.7
-14.0
6.6
-1.1
12.4
-1.2
817.2
-587.5

Ongoing savings
Net Forecast Variance
£m
£m
£m
0.0
0.0
0.0
70.8
84.6
13.8
39.5
40.4
0.9
102.7
101.5
-1.2
5.5
5.9
0.4
11.2
11.4
0.2
229.7
243.8
14.1

Mgmnt
action Revised
remaining variance
£m
£m
0.0
0.0
-0.7
13.1
-0.6
0.3
-1.1
-2.3
0.0
0.4
-0.4
-0.2
-2.9
11.2

Service
Delegated Schools
Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
Safeguarding & Family Resilience
Corporate Parenting
Quality Assurance
Commissioning
Total

Budget
£m

Apr 2018
£m

Sep 2018
£m

Change
£m

Special guardianship

432

401

417

4%



In-house fostering

540

525

516

-2%



LAC - UASC
LAC - Non UASC
Looked After Children

107
831
938

107
877
984

0%
6%
5%





Care Leavers - UASC
Care Leavers - Non UASC
Care Leavers

240
308
548

261
316
577

9%
3%
5%





MTFP
savings
£m
0.0
22.0
3.8
0.0
0.0
0.7
26.5

Savings Savings
forecast variance
£m
£m
0.0
0.0
21.8
-0.1
3.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.7
0.0
26.4
-0.1

High
risk
£m
0.0
5.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
5.8

Annex 3
Children, Families, Learning & Communities – Corporate Parenting
If children’s placements activity follows the savings plan (orange) lines below, then the service would achieve cost reductions of £0.9m in each
of external fostering and external residential placements due to cost and volume differentials.

External Fostering Placement Activity Sept 18
270
260
250
240
230
220
210

Page 299

200
Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Fostercare Actual Placements

Sep-18

Oct-18

Fostercare Savings Plan

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Feb-19

Mar-19

Fostercare Budgeted Placements

External Residential Placement Activity Sept 18
110
105
100
95
90
85
80
75
70
Apr-18

May-18

Jun-18

Jul-18

Aug-18

Residential Actual Placements

Sep-18

Oct-18

Residential Savings Plan

Nov-18

Dec-18

Jan-19

Residential Budgeted Placements

10

10
Annex 3
Numbers of children in foster care and with Special Guardianship Orders based on payments data

In house Foster care activity numbers based on payments for
18/19

Special Guardianship Order Payment numbers for
18/19
600

600
540
3
500
95

540

540

3

3

92

95

540

540

540

3

3

3

100

102

99

500

400

400
112

Page 300

97

97

99

110

106
300

300

401

406

414

414

413

417

April

May

June

July

August

September

200

200
315

315

307

314

309

308
100

100

-

0
April

May

June

July

August

September

General Foster Care

Family and Friends Foster Care

Supported Lodgings 18+ Fostering 18+

Supported Lodging LAC

Budget

Special Guardianship orders

Budget

Annex 3
Numbers of looked After Children and care leavers showing proportion of unaccompanied asylum seeker children (UASC)

Looked After Children Numbers 2018/19

Care Leaver Numbers 2018/19

1000

1000

900

800

800

700

600

600

Page 301

500

400

400

300

200

200

100

0

Non-UASC

UASC

Non-UASC

ch
M
ar

ru

ar

y

y
Fe
b

nu

ar

r
Ja

m
be

De

ce

m
be

r

r
ve

be

No

r

Oc
to

be

ly

st

em
pt

gu

Se

Au

Ju

ne
Ju

ay
M

ril
Ap

ch
ar

y
ar
ru

M

y
Fe
b

nu

ar

r
Ja

m
be

De

ce

m
be

r

r
ve

be

No

Oc
to

em

be

r

st

pt

gu

Se

Au

ly
Ju

ne
Ju

ay
M

Ap

ril

0

UASC

10

10
Annex 3
Children, Families, Learning & Communities – Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture
Education, Lifelong Learning & Culture financial position as at 30 September 2018, -£0.7m management actions remaining

Page 302

Other SEND Services and ISPSB
School Agency Placements
SEND Transport
Delegated Budgets
Universal Education Services
Home to School transport
Early Years & SOLD
Cultural Services
Voluntary Sector Support
Income
Management actions
Total

Net
budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

46.3
42.5
28.7
54.6
43.7
8.4
65.1
22.8
0.5
-241.8

46.4
60.6
29.8
55.3
41.3
8.7
65.5
22.2
0.4
-245.6

0.1
18.1
1.1
0.7
-2.4
0.3
0.4
-0.6
-0.1
-3.8

70.8

84.6

13.8

Mgmt
action
£m

Revised
variance
£m

-0.7
-0.6

0.1
18.1
1.1
0.7
-2.4
0.3
0.4
-0.6
-0.1
-3.8
-0.7
13.1

remaining

SEN agency placements 2016/17 to 2018/19

SEND pupils with transport

1,600

3,500

1,400

3,400
3,300

1,200

3,200
1,000

3,100

800

3,000
2,900

600

2,800
400

2,700

200

2,600

0

2,500
Apr

May

2016/17

Jun

Jul

Aug

2017/18

Sep

Oct

Nov

2018/19 actual

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

2018/19 forecast

Apr

May
2016/17

Jun

Jul

Aug

2017/18

Sep

Oct
2018/19

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

2018/19 Forecast

Mar

Annex 3
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care
Revenue -£5.0m forecast underspend and -£5.0m management action remaining
Financial position as at 30 September 2018

Service
Adult Social Care
Public Health
Total

Ongoing savings
Mgmnt
action

Gross
£m

Income
£m

Net
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

remaining

£m

Revised
variance
£m

500.6
37.3
538.0

118.7
36.7
155.4

381.9
0.7
382.6

376.9
0.6
377.5

-5.0
-0.1
-5.1

-5.0
0.0
-5.0

-10.0
-0.1
-10.1

Service
Adult Social Care
Public Health
Total

MTFP
savings
£m

Savings
forecast
£m

Savings
variance
£m

High
risk
£m

18.4
2.2
20.6

18.0
2.3
20.2

-0.4
0.1
-0.3

0.0
0.0
0.0

Adult Social Care Service budgets as at 30 September 2018

Page 303

Service activity budgets
Older People (all care 65+)
Physical Disabilities (26-64)
Learning Disabilities (26-64)
Transition (18-25)
Mental Health (18 -64)
Housing related Support
Carers
Assessment & care Management & Support
Income
Total

Net
budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

209.3
45.7
137.4
34.3
12.1
4.4
6.3
51.1
-118.7
381.9

206.1
45.9
134.1
33.6
12.4
4.1
6.3
49.6
-120.4
371.9

-3.2
0.2
-3.3
-0.6
0.4
-0.3
0.0
-1.5
-1.7
-10.0

The following pages set out Information for the four most significant areas of ASC care expenditure. The analysis shows how the latest forecast
expenditure, service volumes and average costs for these types of care compares to the budgets set for 2018/19 in the 2018-21 Medium Term Financial
Plan. Actual volumes and average costs to date are also shown, which can be compared to the latest forecast for the year to show the changes planned to
meet the latest forecast. Finally, the latest 2019/20 budget plans for each type of care are set out and compared to the current 2018/19 forecast to show
the changes planned / required to deliver next year’s budget. These 2019/20 budget plans take into account the available funding for ASC to ensure that
the Council is financially sustainable and ASC’s transformation plans to change practice within available resources.

10

10
Annex 3
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care - Adult Social Care
Older People Nursing Care
Gross
budget
MTFP
2018/19

Latest
forecast
2018/19

Variance
2018/19

£61.2m

£59.0m

Average no of services across the year

1,461

Average weekly cost of services

£803

Gross expenditure

%
Variance
2018/19

Latest
gross
budget
2019/20

Change
allowable
from 2018/19
forecast

-£2.2m

-3.6%

£61.3m

£2.3m

+3.8%

1,404

-58

-3.9%

1,430

26

+1.9%

£806

£3

+0.4%

£822

£16

+1.9%

Care volumes have changed little since
May, which makes both the 2018/19 and
2019/20 volume forecasts look achievable.
September was the first month this year
when average costs reduced following
agreement of new practices. This is a
positive step in starting to mitigate the
costs of care.

Page 304

Annex 3
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care - Adult Social Care
Older People Home Care
Gross
Budget
MTFP
2018/19

Latest
Forecast
2018/19

Variance
2018/19

£50.0m

£47.3m

Average number of services across the year

3,324

Average weekly cost of services across year

£288

Gross expenditure

%
Variance
2018/19

Latest
Gross
Budget
2019/20

Change
allowable
from 2018/19
forecast

-£2.7m

-5.3%

£46.1m

-£1.2m

-2.5%

3,193

-130

-3.9%

3,168

-26

-0.8%

£284

-£4

-1.3%

£279

-£5

-1.7%

There have been positive reductions in
volumes in the last two months. There
has also been a positive reduction in
average costs in the last quarter.
These trends will need to continue if
future budget volume forecasts are to
be achieved.

Page 305
10

10
Annex 3
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care - Adult Social Care
Learning Disabilities 18-64 Residential Care
Gross
Budget
MTFP
2018/19

Latest
Forecast
2018/19

Variance
2018/19

£70.7m

£69.7m

Average number of services across the year

858

847

Average weekly cost of services across year

£1,579

Gross expenditure

TBC*

%
Variance
2018/19

Latest
Gross
Budget
2019/20

-£1.0m

-1.4%

£63.3m

-£6.4m

-9.1%

-12

-1.4%

799

-47

-5.6%

TBC*

£1,520

TBC*

Change
allowable
from 2018/19
forecast

TBC*

Volume changes remain very
close to the original budget
profile. A very significant
reduction in volumes is
required to get close to next
year’s budget assumptions.

TBC*

* ASC is currently implementing a new pricing structure for Learning Disability residential and supported living care services including fee uplifts backdated to April 2017.
It is not currently possible to assess current average costs accurately until the new pricing structure has been implemented. The ongoing review of sleep in rates following
the Court of Appeal ruling in July 2018, means this is not likely to be completed until towards the end of the current financial year.

Page 306
.

Annex 3
Health, Wellbeing & Adult Social Care - Adult Social Care
Learning Disabilities 18-64 Supported Living
Gross
Budget
MTFP
2018/19

Latest
Forecast
2018/19

Variance
2018/19

£48.0m

£47.6m

Average number of services across the year

1,120

1,109

Average weekly cost of services across year

£823

Gross expenditure

TBC*

%
Variance
2018/19

Latest
Gross
Budget
2019/20

-£0.5m

-1.0%

£50.7m

£3.2m

+6.6%

-11

-1.0%

1,191

82

+7.4%

TBC*

£817

TBC*

Change
allowable
from 2018/19
forecast

TBC*

TBC*

A tapering of volume growth in recent
months means the increase in care
packages is now below the budgeted
profile. Growth in the remainder of the
year, particularly for those individuals
who finished education in the summer,
may yet increase the growth rate.

* ASC is currently implementing a new pricing structure for Learning Disability residential and supported living care services including fee uplifts backdated to April 2017.
It is not currently possible to assess current average costs accurately until the new pricing structure has been implemented. The ongoing review of sleep in rates following
the Court of Appeal ruling in July 2018, means this is not likely to be completed until towards the end of the current financial year.

Page 307
10

10
Annex 3
Highways, Transport and Environment
Revenue -£2.3m underspend and -£1.0m management actions remaining
Financial position as at 30 September 2018

Service
Highways & Transport
Environment
Surrey Fire & Rescue Service
Trading Standards
Communities Support function
Emergency Management
Total

Gross Income
£m
£m
81.0
12.8
73.5
4.4
45.4
13.9
3.9
2.1
0.7
0.0
0.5
0.0
205.0
33.1

Ongoing savings
Net Forecast Variance
£m
£m
£m
66.4
-1.8
68.2
69.4
0.2
69.2
31.2
-0.3
31.5
1.7
-0.1
1.8
0.5
-0.2
0.7
0.4
-0.1
0.5
169.7
-2.3
171.9

Mgmnt
action Revised
remaining variance
£m
£m
-0.5
-2.3
-0.5
-0.3
0.0
-0.3
0.0
-0.1
0.0
-0.2
0.0
-0.1
-1.0
-3.3

Service
Highways & Transport
Environment *
Surrey Fire & Rescue Service
Trading Standards
Communities Support function
Emergency Management
Total

MTFP Savings Savings
savings forecast variance
£m
£m
£m
1.7
1.7
0.0
-0.1
-0.5
-0.4
0.7
0.3
-0.4
0.1
0.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
2.5
1.7
-0.8

* Negative target due to roll forward of previous year’s target

Page 308

Environment service budgets as at 30 September 2018
Net
budget
£m
64.4

Forecast
£m
64.4

Variance
£m
0.0

Countryside

1.4

1.4

0.0

Place & Sustainability

0.0

0.0

0.0

Planning Group

2.2

2.2

0.0

Other Environment costs

0.1

0.3

0.2

68.1

68.3

0.2

1.0

1.0

0.0

69.1

69.3

0.2

Waste Management & Reduction

Environment
Directorate costs
Total

.

High
risk
£m
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Annex 3
Highways, Transport and Environment – Waste Management and reduction
Eco Park
Construction of the Eco Park, while progressing, is delayed. The Council does not start to pay for the facility until it is complete, consequently costs will
also be delayed into future years. The Council intends to manage these cost movements between years through the Waste Sinking Fund. The forecast
outturn therefore assumes that reduced costs in 2018/19, of around £13.5m, will result in a sinking fund contribution in order to meet the costs when they
arise in future years. Cabinet approval will be sought for the sinking fund contribution, once the final amount is known.
Despite the further delay to the Eco Park, processing and disposal costs have not increased as anticipated. This is because of an improvement in
tonnages going into the Council’s main energy from waste outlets recently and falling residual tonnage.

Page 309
10

This page is intentionally left blank

Annex 4: 2018/19 In Year reductions Tracker as at 30 September 2018

10

CFLC - Children, Families and Learning
Corporate
Parenting

CFLC - Projects between £1m and £4m

£0.8m
£0.4m
Children's Services - Maintain External Placement Numbers at
Target = £1.2m
Current Level
£0.1m
£0m

£1m

£2m

Corporat
Corporat
Family
e
e
Schools
Family
Resilienc Parentin Commiss Resilienc
Parentin and
e
Cultural Services Schools and SEND
g
g
SEND
ioning
e

CFLC - Projects between £250k and £1m

£4m

£1,000k

Schools & Learning - Commercial Services

Target = £1,000k

£83k

£645k

£108k

Directorate management 'grip' on spend generally and
specifically on placements, contracts and grants.

Target = £836k

£576k

Directorate management 'grip' on spend generally and
specifically on contracts and grants.

Target = £576k
£400k

1% staff reductions

Target = £400k
£61k
£289k
Target = £350k

Cultural Services - supplies/services and library resources

£35k

£295k
Cultural Services - staffing across cultural services

Target = £330k

Directorate management 'grip' on spend generally and
specifically on placements, contracts and grants.

Target = £321k

£321k
£300k

£300k

C&P - 1% staff reductions

£250k
1% staff reductions

£250k

£250k
1% staff reductions

£250k
£0k

£250k

CFLC - Projects under £250,000

Corpora
te
Quality Family
Cultural Assuran Resilien Parentin Commis
Services ce
sioning
g
ce

£3m

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

£91k

Directorate management 'grip' on spend generally and
specifically on placements, contracts and grants.

Target = £91k

£50k

5% staff transport

£50k

£50k

5% staff transport

£50k

£45k

Directorate management 'grip' on spend generally and
specifically on placements, contracts and grants.

£45k

£20k
Cultural Services - Additional income £20k
£0k

Page 311

£50k

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

HWA - Adult Social Care (ASC)
HWA - Projects over £5m
Adult Social Care

10

Mitigation of budgeted increased costs of care

Overachievement
£0.1m

Target = £4.9m
£3.5m

£1.5m
£0m

£2m

£4m

£6m

£8m

HWA - ASC - Projects between £1m and £4m
£2.2m

£0.4m
Manage care package budgets to deliver underspend through
tight management in CPM process

Target = £2.7m

£0.3m

£2.0m
Increase staffing vacancy factor based on current underspend
pending full service redesign

Overachievement
£0.2m

Target = £2.2m

£0.5m
Overachievement
£1.0m
£0.9m
£0.4m

Achieve surplus on Fees & Charges income

£0m

Page 312

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

HT & E - Highways, Transport & Environment

10

Communi
ties Highways
Support
and
Function Transport

Surrey
Fire and
Rescue
Service

Highways and Transport

Place
Developm
ent and
Waste
Managem
ent

HT & E - Projects between £250k and £1m
Directorate costs SANGS uplift drawdown

£500k
Target
= £500k
£250k

Application of developers contributions

Target = £500k250

£200k
Local Committee spend £53k Target = £400k
147.5

Highways net variation

Target
£348k
= £348k

Overachievement
Fire Service net variation Target = £331k
£164k
£167k
Service underspend£0k

Overachievement
£398k

£398k

Community Support staffing underspend

£224k

£15k

£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

£182k
Car-Parking historical balance drawdown

Surrey Fire and
Rescue Service

Fire Service management action to be identified

Trading Standards net variation

Place
Development
and Waste
Management

Target = £182k

Strategic Transport Historical CT Grant drawdown

Trading
Standards

Highways and Transport

HT & E - Projects under £250,000

Target115
= £115k

Target = £106k

Target
= £62k£3k
£59k

£3k
Balancing figure to be identified
Target = £3k

£0k

£50k

Page 313

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

EGC - Economy, Growth & Commercial
EGC - Projects between £1m and £4m
Managed
by Orbis Property

£0.4m

£1.5m

Repairs & maintenance

Target = £3.0m
£0m

£1m

1
£2m

£3m

£4m

£750k

£1,000k

EGC - Projects between £250k and £1m
Managed by Orbis Property

£600k
Utilities

Target = £600k
£270k

£330k
Limited consultancy spend

£27k

Target = £627k
£0k

£250k

£500k

EGC - Projects under £250,000
£150k
Cleaning & MPS contract

Target = £150k

Close Canteen
Managed by Orbis - Property

10

Target140
= £140k
£135k

Building Rates

£35k
Overachievement
£70k

Target = £100k
£105k

Grounds maintenance

Target = £100k

Closure of offices

Target100
= £100k

Rates Income

Overachievement
£5k

49.5
Target
= £50k
£0k

£50k

£100k

Page 314

£150k

£200k

£250k

10

FIN - Finance, Legal & Coronial

Managed
by Orbis Legal
- Finance Services

FIN - Projects between £250k and £1m
Remodel Legal Services delivery

Target = £300k

Additional insurance recharge to schools

Target = £300k
£0k

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

FIN - Projects under £250,000
£22k

Democratic Services

Dem Serv - Sundry expenses reduction

Reduction to Civic/ Chairmans Budget

£25k
£30k 5
£190k

Dem Serv - Deletion of two posts

Overachievement
£152k

£38k

Changes to members' allowances
Democrat Managed
ic
by Orbis Services Finance

Overachievement
£2k

£20k

Target61
= £61k

Review of contribution to the Insurance Fund

Target100
= £100k
£68k

Remodel Dem Services & Restructure

Target = £151k 83
£0k

£50k

Page 315

£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

CDT - Business Services and Orbis (BS &O)
Contributio
n to Orbis

CDT - BS&O - Projects between £1m and £4m

£0.6m

£0.7m £0.3m

Early implementation of E&Y review of Orbis (HR and IT&D)

Target = £1.6m

£0.0m

£1.0m

£2.0m

£3.0m

£4.0m

Strategy Manage Manage Manage
&
d by
d by
d by
Perform Orbis - Orbis - Orbis ance IT&D HR&OD IT&D

CDT - BS&O - Projects between £250k and £1m
£720k
Modern worker

£690k
Target = £800k

HR

£250k
Strategy and Performance MTFP savings

Overachievement
£150k

£100k

Communciations

Manag Strate Manag Custo Manag
Comm ed by gy & ed by mer ed by
Coron unciati Orbis - Perfor Orbis - Service Orbis IT&D
s
er
ons IT&D mance IT&D

CDT - BS&O - Projects under £250,000

£250k

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

£133k

£30k

£70k

Network maintenance

Target = £233k

£43k
Various Customer Services

£157k

Target = £200k
£150k

Removal of Quest contingency

Target = £150k
£150k

Strategy and Performance vacancies x 3

£75k

BPRE vacancies x 3

Target = £150k
£105k

Overachievement
£70k

Target = £110k
£100k
Target = £100k

Reduction in external campaigns

£100k
Target = £100k

Coroners - No plans

£80k
Target = £80k

Vacancies in Internal Comms x 2

£80k
Target = £80k

Staff impact of reduced campaigns

£20k £22k
£42k

Reduction in DC publications
SFRS IT dedicated support

CIE - Central Income & Expenditure
D&Bs Investment fund contribution

£110k

£150k
250
Target = £400k

IT refresh deferral

Surrey i

£180k

Target = £900k

£0k

Strate Manag
gy & ed by
Managed by Perfor Orbis Orbis - IT&D mance IT&D

10

£30k
Overachievement
£35k £10k
£5k
£20k
£20k

£10k
£130k

Additional Data Centre income
£0k

£50k

Page 316

Overachievement
£130k
£100k

£150k

£200k

£250k

10

CIE - Central Income & Expenditure

Central Income & Expenditure

CIE - Projects over £1m
£1.5m

£1.6m
Efficiency savings across non-front line services

Target = £3.1m

£2.2m
Defer planned contribution to reserves

Target = £2.2m

£1.7m
Reduction in need for MRP

Target = £1.7m
£0m

£1m

£2m

£3m

£4m

CIE - Projects between £250k and £1m
Central Income & Expenditure

£400k
Local agreements with Districts/Boroughs

Target = £400k
£500k

Moratorium on discretionary spend

Target = £500k

Procurement – review of contracts to be let

£500k
Target = £500k
£500k
Target = £500k

Learning and development – review of courses and
administration
£0k

£250k

Page 317

£500k

£750k

£1,000k

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

12

Document is Restricted

Page 319

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

13

Document is Restricted

Page 323

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

13

Document is Restricted

Page 333

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

13

Document is Restricted

Page 335

This page is intentionally left blank

